Special Report No 4 / 2006

EUROPEAN ECONOMY

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

DIRECTORATE-GENERAL FOR ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL AFFAIRS



European Economy appears six times a year. It contains important reports and communications from the Commission to the Council and the Parliament on the economic situation and developments ranging from the *Broad economic policy guidelines* and its implementation report to the *Economic forecasts*, the *EU Economic review* and the *Public finance report*. As a complement, *Special reports* focus on problems concerning economic policy.

Subscription terms are shown on the back cover and details on how to obtain the list of sales agents are shown on the inside back cover.

Unless otherwise indicated the texts are published under the responsibility of the Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs of the European Commission, BU1, B-1049 Brussels, to which enquiries other than those related to sales and subscriptions should be addressed. **European Commission**

EUROPEAN ECONOMY

Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs

Special Report No 4

© European Communities, 2006 Printed in Belgium Labour market and wage developments in 2005, with special focus on labour market adjustment in the euro area

Abbreviations and symbols used

Member States

BE	Belgium
CZ	Czech Republic
DK	Denmark
DE	Germany
EE	Estonia
EL	Greece
ES	Spain
FR	France
IE	Ireland
IT	Italy
CY	Cyprus
LV	Latvia
LT	Lithuania
LU	Luxembourg
HU	Hungary
MT	Malta
NL	The Netherlands
AT	Austria
PL	Poland
PT	Portugal
SI	Slovenia
SK	Slovakia
FI	Finland
SE	Sweden
UK	United Kingdom
EUR-12	European Union Member States having adopted the single currency (BE, DE, EL, ES, FR, IE, IT, LU, NL, AU, PT, FI)
EU-25	European Union, 25 Member States
EU-15	European Union, 15 Member States before 1 May 2004 (EUR-12 plus DK, SE and UK)
EU-10	European Union, 10 Member States that joined the EU on 1 May 2004 (CZ, EE, CY, LV, LT, HU, MT,

PL, SI, SK)

Currencies

EUR	euro
ECU	European currency unit
DKK	Danish krone
GBP	Pound sterling
SEK	Swedish krona
CAD	Canadian dollar
CHF	Swiss franc
JPY	Japanese yen
SUR	Russian rouble
USD	US dollar

Other abbreviations

SCPs	Stability and convergence programmes
PEPs	Pre-accession economic programmes

- NMS New Member States
- SGP Stability and Growth Pact

Acknowledgements

This report was prepared by Unit 3 of the Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs (Labour markets, taxation and quality of public finances) under the supervision of Klaus Regling, Director-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, Jan Host Schmidt, Director for the Structural Reforms and Lisbon Strategy, Economic Evaluation and Declan Costello, Head of Unit. Giuseppe Carone coordinated the production of the report. The main contributors were the following: Giuseppe Carone (chapters 1-2-3), Gilles Mourre (chapter 4), Michael Thiel (chapters 5-6), Alfonso Arpaia (chapter 6), G. Nicodeme (box 3). Jouko Kuosmanen and Etienne Sail provided statistical assistance.

This version of the report has benefited from useful comments and suggestions received from the members of the Labour Market Working Group attached to the Economic Policy Committee, and chaired by Susanne Ackum. Comments and suggestions by colleagues in the Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs (especially from N. Diez Guardia, F. Pierini, B. Przywara and A. Salomaki) as well as by the Directorate-General for Employment and Social Affairs are also gratefully acknowledged.

Secretarial support was provided by Dominique Cornesse.

Comments on the reports would be gratefully received at the following address:

Unit E3 Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs European Commission B-1049 Brussels E-mail: Dominique.Cornesse@ec.europa.eu

DISCLAIMER

The paper has been written under the sole responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily reflect the views of the European Commission.

Contents

M	ain fin	dings	1
1.	Intro	duction	3
2.	Gene	ral developments in 2005	4
	2.1.	Employment and unemployment performance	4
	2.2.	Monitoring the remaining gap with the Lisbon employment targets	10
3.	Empl	oyment developments and economic growth	18
	3.1.	The responsiveness of employment to economic growth	18
	3.2.	The contribution of employment and labour productivity to GDP growth	21
	3.3.	Employment prospects in coming years	22
4.	Mode	elling recent employment developments in the euro area	27
	4.1.	Modelling employment growth in the euro area	27
	4.2.	Analysing the resilience of employment in the recent slowdown	27
	4.3.	Employment outlook for 2006 and 2007	31
5.	Wage	e developments	33
	5.1.	The euro area	33
		5.1.1. Developments in nominal labour costs	33
		5.1.2. Assessment of the impact of labour costs developments	47
	5.2.	Catch-up countries outside the euro area	53
		5.2.1. Aggregate developments	55
		5.2.2. Catch-up growth and sectoral wage developments	58
	5.3.	Other countries outside the euro area: Denmark, Sweden and the UK	60
	5.4.	Overall assessment and outlook	63
6.	Speci	al issue: Labour market adjustment in the euro area	65
	6.1.	Introduction	65
	6.2.	A review of the issues discussed in the economic literature	66
	6.3.	The nature of differentials in output growth and labour market performances	70
	6.4.	The role of initial conditions on labour markets	76
	6.5.	Wage adjustment in the euro area	85
	6.6.	Conclusions	110

Annex 1 — Su	pplementary analysis on labour market adjustment in the euro area	113
Annex 1.1	Growth differentials in a growth accounting framework	113
Annex 1.2	Structural change as a source of productivity growth	115
Annex 1.3	The persistance of employment growth	118
Annex 1.4	How closely is employment in services related to employment in manufacturing?	120
Annex 1.5	Structural change and the reallocation of employment	123
Annex 1.6	Tables and graphs	125
References		129
Annex 2 — D a	ecomposing changes in employment rates: taking account of the population effect nd participation rate effect	133
Statistical ann	ex	137

1.	Labour market indicators	1
1.	Eardenmarker indicators	4
2:	Employment growth — contribution by gender and age groups (in %)	/
3:	Employment rate and participation rate contribution to changes by gender and age groups	8
4:	Decomposing changes in the unemployment rate in 2005	11
5:	Lisbon employment targets: required job performance	12
6:	Employment growth rate used in the simulation	15
7:	Employment rates in 2010, alternative simulation	16
8:	Job-intensity of growth (elasticity of employment to growth)	20
9:	GDP growth and its sources in 2005	22
10:	GDP growth and its sources –1997-2004	23
11:	Commission's forecasts (Autumn 2005 and Spring 2006)	26
12:	OLS estimates of employment equations with and without break over 1970Q1-2005Q4	28
13:	Total tax wedge on labour (including soc. sec. employers)	40
14:	Tax wedge on labour for the average-wage worker and its components	41
15:	Tax wedge on labour for the low-wage worker (67 % of APW) and its components	42
16:	Compensation per employee	48
17:	Real unit labour costs	53
18:	Country specific performance relative to euro area	72
19:	Country specific performance relative to euro area: selected trend variables	73
20:	Sectoral composition of employment 1996-2003	84
21:	Elasticities of wages with respect to prices, productivity and unemployment	
	in the economic literature	92
22:	Dispersion of the level of unit labour costs and its determinants, euro area Member States	97
23:	Correlation of annual sectoral labour costs growth with labour costs growth	
	in manufacturing, 1996-2004	104
Boxes		
1:	Econometric estimation of employment equations	28
2:	Wage indicators — main concepts and conceptual differences	36
3:	The evolution of tax wedges on labour	39

Graphs

1:	Employment growth, 2004-2005	5
2:	Increases in the employment rate (2005, in pp.)	7
3:	Estimates of structural (NAWRU) and cyclical unemployment rates	9
4:	Employed and unemployed persons (age 15-64), euro area	12
5:	Progress towards the Lisbon targets: total and female employment rate, 2005	14
6:	Progress towards the Lisbon targets: total and older workers employment rate, 2005	14
7:	Job-intensity of growth	19
8:	Employment and unemployment expectations; business and consumer surveys	25
9:	Dynamic simulation of employment in the euro area	29
10:	Estimation of trend EU-15 employment rate	29
11:	Actual employment and out-of-sample forecast in the period of economic slowdown (2001-2005)	30
12:	Real labour cost growth in the euro area (deflated by GDP deflator)	31
13:	Forecast employment productivity growth (employment equations and ECFIN)	32
14:	Forecast productivity growth (employment equation and ECFIN) from a longer term perspective	32
15:	Adjusted wage share, EU aggregates	34
16:	Annual nominal wage growth in the euro area	35
17:	Quarterly nominal wage growth in the euro area	35
18:	Output gap, negotiated and actual wage growth, euro area	37
19:	Hourly labour cost growth by sectors, euro area	37
20:	Contribution of non-wage labour costs to total wage growth, euro area	38
21:	Contribution of non-wage labour costs to total wage growth 2005, euro area Member States	39
22:	Wage growth in the euro area, ex DE, EL and IE	44
23:	Acceleration in wage growth, euro area Member States	44
24:	Convergence of hourly labour cost growth across Member States	45
25:	Convergence of per person labour cost growth across Member States	46
26:	Compensation per employee, range and standard deviation among euro area Member States	46
27:	Compensation per hour, range and standard deviation among euro area Member States	47
28:	Ranking of Member States in terms of wage growth, 1999-2005	49
29:	Real wage growth with different price deflators, euro area	49
30:	Real wage growth 2005 with different deflators, euro area Member States	50
31:	Real private consumption growth and increase of the real wage bill 2005, euro area Member States .	50
32:	Real private consumption growth and increase of the real wage per employee 2005, euro area Member States	51
33:	Contribution to the increase of gross disposable income, euro area	51
34:	Composition of gross disposable income 2005, euro area	52
35:	Real unit labour costs, euro area	54
36:	Nominal unit labour costs, euro area	54
37:	Nominal unit labour costs in Member States, 2005	55
38:	Unit labour costs in the new Member States, 2005	56
39:	Real unit labour costs in the new Member States, 2005	57

40:	Change in nominal wage growth in the new Member States, 2005	57
41:	Change in the growth of nominal unit labour costs in the new Member States, 2005	58
42:	Nominal wage growth in the new Member States, 2004 and acceleration 2005	59
43:	Growth of nominal unit labour costs in the new Member States, 2004 and acceleration 2005	59
44:	Contribution of non-wage labour costs to the increase of labour costs, catch-up countries	60
45:	Correlation between wage growth in manufacturing and services in the new Member States, 1999-2005	61
46:	Wedge between the increase in nominal unit labour costs in services and manufacturing in the new Member States, 1999-2004	61
47:	Nominal wage growth (compensation per employee) in Denmark, Sweden and the UK	62
48:	Increase in real unit labour costs in Denmark, Sweden and the UK	62
49:	Nominal unit costs growth and inflation 2001-05	63
50:	Real unit labour costs growth and change in the employment rate 2001-05	64
51:	Dispersion of GDP growth across euro area countries	74
52:	Contribution to variance of GDP growth for EUR-10	74
53:	Ranking of employment and output performance	75
54:	Output and employment clusters 1996-2005	76
55:	Output and employment performance in the cyclical upswing 1996-2000	77
56:	Output and employment performance in the economic slowdown 2001-2005	77
57:	International trends in participation rates	79
58:	Contribution to changes in participation rates 1996-2004	80
59:	Convergence of employment rates 1996-2004	80
60:	Convergence of female employment rates 1996-2004	81
61:	Contribution of male and female employment to employment growth 1996-2004	81
62:	Convergence of unemployment rates	82
63:	Sectoral breakdown of employment in the euro area 2003	82
64:	Change in the sectoral breakdown in the euro area 1996-2003	83
65:	Actual and hypothetical employment growth if the sectoral composition in 1996 had been the same as in the euro area, average 1996-2003	84
66:	Breakdown of sectoral composition effect	85
67:	Initial wage levels in the euro area Member States 1996	86
68:	Initial wage and labour productivity levels in the euro area Member States 1996	86
69:	Relative unit labour cost levels in the euro area Member States 1996	87
70:	Relative unit labour cost levels 1996 and employment growth in the euro area Member States 1996-2005	87
71:	Ranking of employment and wage growth	89
72:	Wage and employment growth 1996-2005	89
73:	Nominal wage growth in boom and slump	90
74:	Nominal unit labour costs growth in boom and slump	90
75:	Real wage growth in boom and slump	91
76:	Real unit labour costs growth in boom and slump	91
77:	Elasticity with respect to unemployment according to different specifications	93

78:	Elasticity with respect to productivity according to different specifications	93
79:	Convergence in hourly compensation	94
80:	Convergence in compensation per employee	95
81:	Convergence in nominal unit labour costs (adjusted for differences in prices of goods and services) .	95
82:	Convergence in nominal unit labour costs (adjusted for differences in goods prices)	96
83:	Convergence in relative nominal unit labour costs (adjusted for differences in prices of goods and services)	96
84:	Response of employment to a real wage shock, results from 4 different estimates	98
85:	Response of employment to a real GDP shock, results from 4 different estimates	98
86:	Unit labour costs in manufacturing and export growth, average growth rates 1996-2005	100
87:	Unit labour costs in the total economy and export growth, average growth rates 1996-2005	100
88:	Unit labour costs in the total economy and in manufacturing	101
89:	Labour costs and employment in manufacturing average 2001-2005	101
90:	Decomposition of output in manufacturing and export growth, average 1996-2005	102
91:	Average wage growth in manufacturing and services, compensation per employee, 1997-2004	103
92:	Average wage growth in manufacturing and market services, hourly labour costs, 1997-2004	103
93:	Growth of labour costs and labour productivity in services relative to manufacturing, 1996-2004	105
94:	Average change in nominal unit labour costs in services relative to manufacturing, 1996-2004	105
95:	Growth of hourly labour costs in services relative to manufacturing and change in the employment share of services, 1996-2004	107
96:	Growth of unit labour costs in services relative to manufacturing and change in the employment share of services, 1996-2004	107
97:	Growth of relative unit labour costs in services relative to manufacturing and change in the employment share of services, euro area 1996-2003	108
98:	Coefficient of correlation between growth of unit labour costs in services relative to manufacturing and change in the employment share of services, Member States 1996-2004	108
99:	Growth of labour costs and initial relative unit labour costs in services, 1996-2004	109
100:	Growth of relative real labour costs and change in the employment share of services, 1996-2004	109

Main findings

Labour market conditions improved in 2005, as employment started to react positively, albeit with its usual delay, to the pick-up in economic growth. Employment growth in 2005 accelerated to 0.7% and the unemployment situation also improved slightly, a development that was confirmed in the first part of 2006.

However, this represents only a moderate improvement in the performance of the labour market, reflecting the still high level of cyclical slack in economic activity in 2005. Furthermore, the cyclical recovery of employment observed at the aggregate EU level masks diverging developments across Member States. And the recovery in labour market conditions follows a period (2001-2004) during which employment creation slowed down due to the deterioration of cyclical conditions.

Looking forward, strengthening economic activity will feed through more forcefully into new jobs in the months ahead. The size and nature of the inactive working-age population on Europe's labour markets suggests that there is potentially significant labour availability.

Looking at the gender dimension, employment growth continued to be faster for women than men in 2005, paralleling the long-term trend of stronger growth in female labour force participation. However, it was also notable that the employment of prime-age males rebounded after a very long period of decline. A further remarkable feature was the continuation of the positive trend in the employment rate of older workers (accounting for around two-thirds of total employment growth over the period 2001-05 in the EU-25).

Output growth became sluggish in the last quarter of 2005, but this was only moderate and short-lived, and therefore had no major spillover onto the labour market. Indeed employment growth accelerated slightly, probably due to labour hoarding by firms expecting the easing in output growth to be temporary. The other side of the employment recovery observed in 2005 was a general-

ised, though still moderate, decline in labour productivity growth. This trend contrasts with the pick-up observed in 2004, which was a cyclical rebound, mainly resulting from lay-offs and a more intense use of the existing workforce. While much of the 2005 weakness in labour productivity growth is also likely to reflect cyclical factors, many countries in Europe are also facing a structural problem of low productivity. This does not bode well for the future as, over the long term, strong labour productivity growth has a major positive impact on the economy and on employment, boosting the incentive to invest in both capital and labour. Nevertheless, in so far as the economic upturn becomes broader and more sustainable, further progress can be expected in both employment and labour productivity performance.

Wage growth did not accelerate in the euro area in 2005 despite a brightening of the economic outlook, gradually declining unemployment and consumer price inflation persistently above 2 %. In some euro area Member States, nominal wage increases above the euro area average translated into a further erosion of intra-area price competitiveness. If the cyclical situation is taken into account, an increase of nominal unit labour costs of more than 2 % can be observed for Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg and Portugal.

In most of the new Member States, high wage growth in 2005 was in line with productivity and price trends. According to the ECFIN forecast, nominal unit labour costs will increase by less than 4 % in 2006 in all countries except Latvia, implying a clear deceleration in those countries that had a high increase in nominal unit labour costs in 2005, namely Estonia, Lithuania, Hungary and Slovakia.

This issue's focus section addresses labour market adjustment in the euro area, showing that differences in economic growth across the euro area are strongly bound up with labour market developments that began well in advance of the launch of the monetary union. Euro area Member States had different starting positions in the mid-1990s in terms of labour market participation, level of labour costs and industrial structure. Employment has grown in countries which had ample labour market slack and therefore some leeway for catch-up growth in terms not only of productivity but also of labour utilisation. This catch-up phenomenon has sparked differences in employment and growth rates that do not necessarily lead to imbalances.

Although the prevalence of long-term trends in employment and unemployment has meant that there has not been much of a role for prices in rebalancing growth differences in the euro area, countries with higher employment growth also had higher wage growth, implying that adjustment via wages has taken place. However, the presence of persistent differences in employment growth, despite wage growth pointing in the right direction, may be caused by differences in countries' starting positions. Wage levels, even adjusted for productivity, were markedly different in the mid-1990s but, according to the calculations presented in the focus section, have converged. Convergence has meant upward pressure on wages in low income countries, making it more difficult to adjust wages downwards in response to adverse external shocks. It also means that the weak employment performance in some of the high-income countries may have been caused by their high initial wage level.

The analysis also shows marked differences in the development of employment in the sectors that are exposed to international competition and those that are not. In the manufacturing sector, despite differences in export performances consistent with the development of relative labour costs, employment trends have been broadly similar. It is mainly job creation in services that accounts for differences in employment growth. Although the crosscountry analysis suggests strong links between wage growth in manufacturing and services, there is no evidence of strong substitution of employment in either sector. Accordingly, sectoral labour flows contribute little either to current account adjustment or, hence, to rebalancing growth differences in the euro area. Apparently, high wage growth in services in countries with strong employment growth has led to service price inflation rather than to less job creation.

1. Introduction

This report analyses labour market and wage developments in 2005 from a macroeconomic perspective, looking at the main geographical aggregations (euro area, EU-15, EU-10 and EU-25). Given that final year data for 2005 only arrived very recently, the analysis is preliminary and subject to further verification and refinement. The analysis contains many of the elements which will be included in a report to be published by DG ECFIN at the end of June 2006, which will be similar to the report covering 2004 that was published by ECFIN in June 2005 and examined by the Labour Market Working Group (LMWG)⁽¹⁾. The report has a macro perspective and does not attempt to provide a detailed description of labour market trends by country, sector or type of employment, nor does it review policy initiatives or labour market reforms at EU level (²). The macroeconomic focus has been adopted in order to shed light on the interaction of employment trends with other macroeconomic developments such as productivity and GDP growth. Within the framework of the revamped Lisbon strategy for 'Growth and Jobs', this report is a contribution to the overall efforts to upgrade the monitoring of macroeconomic developments in the EU (3). To this end, the report presents an analytical interpretation of

An exhaustive panorama of recent developments in European labour markets can be found in the annual Employment in Europe report published by the European Commission (DG Employment) which can be found at http:// $ec.europa.eu/employment_social/employment_analysis/employ_en.htm.$ More detailed analysis on reforms of labour market institutions can be found in reports related to the Lisbon strategy and the Interated Guidelines Package which encompasses the Broad Economic Policy Guidelines (BEPGs) and the European Employment Guidelines. The recent assessment of the national reform programmes, along with a detailed analysis of the employment aspects of the programmes at national level can be found in Communication from the Commission to the Spring European Council, 'Time to move up a gear: the new partnership for growth and jobs' at http://ec.europa.eu/ growthandjobs/annual-report_en.htm. The most recent Joint Employment Report evaluating labour market reforms in 2005 undertaken in response to the Employment Guidelines, within the framework of the Integrated Guidelines for Growth and Jobs (2005-2008), can be found at http://europa.eu.int/ comm/employment_social/employment_strategy/ employ_en.htm and http://ec.europa.eu/growthandjobs/annual-report_en.htm.

the most recent trends and prospects on both the quantity side (participation, unemployment and employment) and the labour cost side (wage and unit labour cost developments).

The remainder of this report is structured as follows. Section 2 presents an overall review of recent labour market developments. In this section the report considers recent employment and unemployment trends in 2005, with a closer look at age and gender specific patterns and the remaining path toward the Lisbon targets, and decomposes main developments according to determining factors such as demographic factors. It also looks at future prospects based on the European Commission's spring 2006 forecast. Section 3 examines the job content of growth, assessing the employment intensity of growth in recent years as well as the interaction between employment and productivity developments. Section 4 describes recent nominal and real wage developments as well as unit labour costs, focusing on both the aggregate situation for the euro area and the performance of the new Member States.

Some technical details on the analytical tools used in this report are presented in a series of annexes. The report includes also a statistical annex which provides data on key labour market aggregates for each Member State as well as for the EU-25, euro area and EU-10.

⁽¹⁾ European Commission (2005).

^{(&}lt;sup>3</sup>) In accordance with the conclusions of the Brussels European Council of 22 and 23 March 2005, the BEPGs will continue to embrace the whole range of macroeconomic and microeconomic policies, as well as employment policy insofar as this interacts with those policies, and the BEPGs will ensure general economic consistency between the three strands (macro, micro, employment) of the strategy. The enhanced macroeconomic focus of the BEPGs and their role in ensuring better coherence between macro-economic and structural policies is reflected in the proposals of the Commission for Integrated Guidelines for Growth and Jobs (see Integrated Guidelines for Growth and Jobs (2005-2008), including a Commission Recommendation for the BEPGs and a proposal for a Council Decision on guidelines for the employment policies of Member States, COM(2005).

2. General developments in 2005

2.1. Employment and unemployment performance

Overall employment performance: mild recovery in 2005

Structural reforms of product and labour markets, together with wage moderation, began to pay off in terms of employment during the second half of the 1990s. However, during the early years of this decade, the economic downturn led to a slow down in employment creation and only 2 million additional jobs were created between 2001-03. Labour market performance was also rather lacklustre in 2004. In 2005, there was a gradual improvement, and employment growth recorded a slight acceleration from 0.6 % in 2004 to 0.9 % in the EU-25 and from 0.6 % to 0.7 % in the

euro area (¹). Employment growth remained reasonably robust even if the overall GDP growth slowed down in 2005, suggestive of increased labour market resiliency in the face of negative shocks. Yet, the pace of growth remained quite below that recorded in the last part of the 1990s. (see Table 1 and Graph 1 – detailed country figures are in the statistical annex).

Labour market indicators

	EU	EU-25		o area
	2004	2005 (¹)	2004	2005 (¹)
Activity rate (as % of population 15–64)	69.5	70.0	69.1	69.8
Male	77.4	77.7	77.8	78.2
Female	61.7	62.4	60.5	61.4
Employment rate (as % of pop, 15–64)	63.0	63.6	62.7	63.4
Male	70.6	71.1	71.3	71.7
Female	55.4	56.2	54.2	55.2
Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0.6	0.9	0.6	0.7
Temporary employment (as % total)	13.5	14.2	15.2	15.9
Part-time (as % of total employment)	17.2	17.9	17.4	18.6
Male	6.3	6.7	5.8	6.3
Female	31.0	32.1	32.8	34.6
Unemployment rate (Harmonised: 15–74)	9.1	8.7	8.9	8.6
Long-term unemployment rate (as % of total unemployment)	44.1	45.5	43.7	44.9

Source: Eurostat (LFS) and Ameco.

⁽¹⁾ These figures are based on national accounts. They differ from employment data resulting from the labour force survey. While national accounts figures record an increase of about 1 million jobs in 2005, labour force survey figures point to an increase of more than 2 million jobs. Most of this discrepancy (about 900 000) is due to the huge difference in German figures. Estimates for 2005 in Germany are not fully comparable with previous years, due to a change in the methodology. Until 2004, only figures referring to the second quarter were based on the Labour Force Survey, while for the other quarters the available figures are based on the LFS.

In 2005, the still moderate growth of employment (based on national accounts figures (¹) at the aggregate EU-25 and euro area level was driven by differing performances across countries. Employment contracted in Germany (by -0.2 % but as indicated in footnote 8, this figure may be subject to upward revision) and in the Netherlands (although by much less than in 2004). Following a strong employment performance during the period 2002-04, Italy employment growth slowed down to a very low pace (only +0.2 %) (²).

All other countries recorded positive employment growth in 2005, with the biggest improvements recorded in Spain (3.6 %, although the regularisation of migrants may have contributed to this increase) and Ireland (4.7 %), followed by Sweden, Finland, Poland, Slovakia and Lithuania.

Increasing use of part-time and temporary labour contracts accounted for more than half of the overall increase in employment in 2005. The share of part-time workers rose to close to 20 % in the EU-25 (18.5 % in the euro area). The incidence of part-time employment

(²) In terms of full-time equivalent employment, that is taking into account hours worked and the use of the Wage Supplementation Scheme (Cassa Integrazione Guadagni-CIG), employment went down by 0.2% in 2005, for the first time since 1995. See Banca d'Italia, Economic Bulletin, N. 46, March 2006. among women in work rose to 32 % in the EU-25 and to almost 35 % in the euro area, as opposed to about 6.5 % among men. The share of temporary contracts went up by half a percentage point, to reach 14.2 % in the EU-25 and almost 16 % in the euro area. The highest increase was recorded in Germany (from 12.5 % of the overall jobs in 2004 to 14.3 % in 2005) and Poland (from 22.6 % to 25.6 %) (see country tables in the statistical annex).

Employment developments by gender shows a balanced contribution of females and males to overall employment growth in 2005

Annual employment growth is broken down by age group and gender in Table 2 (³). Over the period 2001-2004, employment growth was much faster for females than males, reflecting the long-standing trend of stronger growth in labour force participation of women. In 2005, the recovery in the employment growth has benefited also prime-age males, whose employment rose by 0.5-0.6 percentage points in the EU, leading to a more balanced composition of growth by gender.

⁽³⁾ These figures are based on labour force surveys and refer to the age group 15-64. Please note that in some countries (notably Spain, Italy and the UK, but also Germany and Sweden), some official labour market data has been revised over the last two years, following revision in the structure of the labour force survey and updating in the official estimates of population. This may have created some breaks in the series making the comparison with past years more difficult.



⁽¹⁾ National accounts measure employment according to ESA95 methodology and ILO criteria. 'Employment' covers employees and self-employed working in resident production units (i.e. the domestic employment concept). See Eurostat, Euro-Indicators, news release, N.77/2006.

A closer look at developments at national level, (see Table A1 in Annex 1) shows that over the period 2001-2005, the contribution of males has been negative in Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal, Finland and Hungary. A breakdown of employment growth by age groups shows that in particular prime-age (males) in Germany, the Netherlands and Finland, have dragged down the overall employment growth, while in Portugal and Hungary young persons provided a negative contribution. The number of prime-age male workers registered a decrease in other countries as well (DK, FR, AT, SE and UK, MT, PL).

Still significant increases in the employment rate of older workers

The relatively large increase in the employment of older workers has been one of the most remarkable labour market developments of recent years, accounting for more than 90 % of the entire growth in the EU-25 employment during the period 2000-2004, and for about 60 % in the euro area (see Table 2 and Graph 2). Recent reforms in pension systems that have postponed the statutory retirement age and cut incentives for early retirement have reversed the structural decrease in participation of older workers in many Member States. The positive contribution of older workers is offset somewhat by the negative contribution of younger employers (mainly males but also females, though to a much lower degree).

In 2005, the contribution to employment growth of older workers was still positive but relatively less relevant than the year before, due to a recovery in the job creation for younger and prime-age workers. The number of older workers recorded the most remarkable increases in Belgium (close to 10 %), Spain (8 %), Ireland (+8 %), France (6 %), Finland (7 %) and Luxembourg (15 %). In the new Member States, the most significant rise in the number of older workers was recorded in Hungary (7 %), Poland (9 %) and Slovakia (17.5 %). Overall, between 2000 and 2005 the employment rate of older workers increased by more than 6 percentage points both in the EU-25 and the euro area (compared to about 1 percentage point over the previous five years, 1995-99). These promising developments warrant further analysis, however, especially as regards their sustainability if no further changes are made to early retirement schemes and pension systems, attitudes of enterprises towards older workers, wage setting mechanisms (and seniority-based wage increases), and the short-term impact on the employment rate of younger persons (¹).

The impact of population and participation rate effects on the dynamic of employment rates

The contribution of different gender and age groups to the changes in the employment rates and the participation rates is shown in Table 3, along with the contribution provided by the demographic component (detailed country figures are in Table A2 and Table A3 in Annex 1). In recent years, there has been acceleration in the changes in the structure of the European labour force. Over the period of cyclical slowdown (2000-03) and the first part of the recovery in 2004, the increase in both participation and employment rate was almost entirely due to the female component. While male employment has been a drag on the overall trend in employment rate for some time now, it is worth stressing again that the employment performance of males, especially of prime age, has improved considerably in 2005, thus contributing positively to the overall increase in the participation rate and employment rate. The impact of the demographic effect (that is the shift in the relative share of different age and gender groups) on the overall employment rate is also relevant and deserves attention. Indeed, up to one-third of the improvement in the overall employment rate is due to the increasing share of older workers, which has been the most dynamic component in the labour market over the last five years.

Slight reduction in the unemployment rate in 2005

After a substantial fall from 1997 to early 2001, the unemployment rate (²) for the EU-25 started to increase reaching a new peak in 2004. In 2005, the unemployment rate

⁽¹⁾ The impact of recent pension reforms on the labour market was projected by the Commission and EPC as part of the labour force projection used to project age-related expenditure projections, see EPC and European Commission (2005), EPC and European Commission (2006), 'The impact of ageing on public expenditure: projections for the EU-25 Member States on pensions, health care, long-term care, education and unemployment transfers (2004-2050)', European Economy, Special Report No 1, European Commission and Carone (2005), 'Long-term labour force projections for the EU-25 Member States: a set of data for assessing the economic impact of ageing', Economic Papers No 235, European Commission, DG ECFIN. The policy implications of pension reforms which extend working lives. and their relationship with projected future increases in life expectancy at retirement, is examined in Carone, Costello, Diez Guardia, Mourre, Przywara and Salömaki (2006), 'The budgetary impact of ageing populations in the EU-25: an analysis of the results and policy implications of the 2006 age-related expenditure projections of the EPC and European Commission', Economic Paper, European Commission, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, not yet published.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) The 'harmonised' unemployment rate, compiled by Eurostat, referred to people aged 15 to 74, who are unemployed according to the ILO definition.

Employment growth — contribution by gender and age groups (in %)

	2004-05					2001-04						
	EU-25 Euro area		EU-15		EU-25		Euro area		EU-15			
	Growth rate	Contri- bution	Growth rate	Contri- bution	Growth rate	Contri- bution	Growth rate	Contri- bution	Growth rate	Contri- bution	Growth rate	Contri- bution
Employment growth	1.8	(100 %)	1.9	(100 %)	1.7	(100 %)	0.5	(100 %)	0.7	(100 %)	0.1	(100 %)
Young (15-24)	0.5	3	1.0	5	0.4	2 %	- 1.4	- 29	- 1.4	- 23	- 0.9	- 15 %
Prime age (25-54)	1.4	63	1.6	67	1.4	64 %	0.3	36	0.5	58	0.3	37 %
Older (55-64)	5.6	34	4.9	28	5.1	34 %	5.2	93	4.6	65	5.2	78 %
MALE:	1.4	47	1.3	40	1.1	41 %	0.1	11	0.1	4	0.1	10 %
Young (15-24)	2.1	7	1.0	3	2.1	7 %	- 1.2	– 13	- 1.6	- 14	- 0.8	-7%
Prime age (25-54)	1.2	29	1.3	30	1.0	26 %	- 0.3	- 22	- 0.2	– 15	- 0.3	- 21 %
Older (55-64)	2.9	11	1.9	7	2.0	8 %	4.2	46	3.7	33	4.1	38 %
FEMALE:	2.1	53	2.1	60	2.1	58 %	1.1	85	1.1	95	1.3	87 %
Young (15-24)	1.3	4	1.0	2	1.5	4 %	- 1.1	- 10	- 1.2	- 9	- 0.3	-2 %
Prime age (25-54)	2.9	31	2.0	37	1.7	34 %	4.2	53	1.4	72	1.1	53 %
Older (55-64)	7.9	19	9.7	21	7.7	20 %	6.3	43	6.2	32	6.3	36 %

Source: Commission services, based on Eurostat, LFS.



declined by 0.4 percentage points, but remained above the low level reached in 2001. The rate in May 2006 reached 8.2 %, down from the 8.8 % recorded in May 2005 (seasonally adjusted unemployment rate). This reduction brought the number of unemployed persons close to 18 million in May 2006 (almost 2 million less than in 2004). A similar trend was recorded in the euro area, where the unemployment rate reached 8.6 % in 2005, 0.3 percentage point less than in 2004 but still higher than in 2001 (7.9 %). The latest available figures show a further slight decrease to 7.9 % in May 2006 (equivalent to 11.5 million of unemployed persons), down from 8.7 % in May 2005. Although France's jobless rate fell to a three-year low of 8.8 % in May 2006, and in Germany the rate has gone down to 8.3 %, unemployment remains high in the large continental European economies.

Employment rate and participation rate contribution to changes by gender and age groups

	Employment rate										
		E	U-25			Eur	o area				
Rate in:	2	2005	2	2004		2005		2004			
	(63.6	6	53.0	6	3.4	6	52.7			
	p.p. c	hange in			p.p. cl	hange in					
	2001-05		20	00-04	200	01-05	2000-04				
	0.91	100%	0.83	100 %	1.40	100%	1.30	100 %			
	due to shifts i	in employment r	ates of:								
Young	- 0.30	- 33 %	- 0.22	- 27 %	- 0.18	- 13%	- 0.15	– 12 %			
Prime age	0.50	54 %	0.43	52 %	0.60	43%	0.61	47 %			
Older	0.85	93 %	0.71	86 %	0.94	67%	0.74	57 %			
MALE:	- 0.02	-3%	- 0.12	– 15 %	- 0.12	- 9%	- 0.09	-7%			
Young	- 0.19	- 21 %	- 0.14	- 17 %	- 0.13	-9%	- 0.10	-8%			
Prime age	- 0.18	- 20 %	- 0.29	- 35 %	- 0.36	- 25%	- 0.34	- 26 %			
Older	0.34	38 %	0.31	38 %	0.37	26%	0.35	27 %			
FEMALE:	1.06	116 %	1.03	125 %	1.47	105%	1.29	99 %			
Young	- 0.12	– 13 %	- 0.09	- 10 %	- 0.05	-4%	- 0.05	-4 %			
Prime age	0.67	74 %	0.72	88 %	0.95	68%	0.95	73 %			
Older	0.51	56 %	0.40	48 %	0.57	41%	0.39	30 %			
	due to demog	graphic effect:									
TOTAL:	- 0.20	- 22 %	- 0.15	– 18 %	- 0.01	- 1%	0.08	6 %			
Young	- 0.11	- 12 %	- 0.13	- 16 %	- 0.14	- 10%	- 0.21	- 16 %			
Prime age	- 0.36	- 39 %	- 0.26	- 31 %	0.00	0%	0.17	13 %			
Older	0.27	30 %	0.24	29 %	0.13	9%	0.11	9 %			
	due to intera	ction effect:									
	0.04	8 %	0.03	7 %	0.02	4%	0.02	1 %			
	Participation rate										

		E	U -25			Eur	uro area		
Rate in:	20	005	2	2004		005	2	004	
	7	0.0	(69.5	6	9.8	6	9.1	
	p.p. cł	p.p. change in			p.p. ch	nange in			
	2005-04		20	00-04	200	5-04	200	00-04	
	0.49	100 %	0.93	100 %	0.64	100 %	1.53	100 %	
	due to shifts ir	n participation	rates of:						
Young	- 0.02	-3%	- 0.23	- 25 %	0.01	2 %	- 0.12	-8%	
Prime age	0.24	48 %	0.57	61 %	0.24	37 %	0.83	54 %	
Older	0.26	54 %	0.72	77 %	0.34	53 %	0.74	48 %	
MALE:	0.16	34 %	0.10	10 %	0.17	27 %	0.22	14 %	
Young	0.00	0 %	- 0.11	- 12 %	0.02	3 %	- 0.04	-3 %	
Prime age	0.08	17 %	- 0.11	- 12 %	0.06	9 %	- 0.09	-6%	
Older	0.08	17 %	0.31	33 %	0.10	15 %	0.35	23 %	
FEMALE:	0.32	65 %	0.95	102 %	0.42	65 %	1.22	80 %	
Young	- 0.02	-3%	- 0.13	- 14 %	0.00	-1%	- 0.08	-5 %	
Prime age	0.15	32 %	0.67	73 %	0.18	28 %	0.91	60 %	
Older	0.18	37 %	0.40	43 %	0.24	38 %	0.39	26 %	
	due to demog	raphic effect:							
TOTAL:	0.00	1 %	- 0.16	- 17 %	0.06	9 %	0.06	4 %	
Young	- 0.01	-2 %	- 0.16	- 18 %	0.01	1 %	- 0.23	- 15 %	
Prime age	0.01	2 %	- 0.26	- 28 %	0.11	17 %	0.19	12 %	
Older	0.01	1 %	0.26	28 %	- 0.06	- 10 %	0.11	7 %	
	due to interac	tion effect:							
	0.00	0 %	0.03	3 %	0.00	0 %	0.02	1 %	

Source: Commission services.

Although the cross-country dispersion of national unemployment rates has continued to narrow (the standard deviation went down steadily from 4.2 in 2000 to 3 in 2005), the performance at national level remains quite different (see country tables in the statistical annex). Unemployment rates range from 4.3 % in Ireland to 16.4 % in the Slovak Republic and 17.7 % in Poland. In 2005 the unemployment rate declined in 13 Member States with Spain (-1.4 p.p.), Denmark (-0.7 p.p.) and Greece (-0.7 p.p.) recording the highest reduction in the EU-15, although in Spain and Greece unemployment rates remained high and above the EU-25 and euro area average. A substantial deterioration was registered in Portugal (+0.9 p.p.). For the EU-10 Member States, the trend towards a reduction from relatively high unemployment rates has accelerated in 2005, apart from Cyprus and Hungary where rates increased in 2005. Particularly sharp decrease in the unemployment rate was recorded in Lithuania, Estonia, Slovakia, Latvia and Poland.

An indication of the structural nature of unemployment is the share of those out of work classified as long-term unemployed (without a job for 12 months or more), which increased again in 2005 (form 44.5 % to 45.5 % of the overall unemployed in the EU-25), after the slight decline recorded in 2004 (probably due to 'discouraged' workers leaving the labour market). While it remains difficult to assess how much of the recent improvements in labour market performance is cyclical, there is increasing evidence that part of the improvement is structural, and related to reforms enacted in the past five to ten years. The introduction of more flexible working arrangements, the reduction of disincentives to work embedded in tax and benefit systems, a greater link with activation policies and a stronger reliance in ALMPs, the reduction - although moderate - of the tax burden on labour, especially for the low-skilled, and more generally, widespread wage moderation, are all factors that point to a structural improvement in the functioning of labour markets in Europe. DG ECFIN estimates of the NAIRU point to a further, although slight, reduction in the NAIRU for the euro area (8.2 % in 2005, compared to a peak of 9.5 % ten years before). However, these structural rates are still high, and without further reduction they represent a serious limitation to the speed of recovery. Indeed, according to recent DG ECFIN estimates, already at this juncture most of the remaining unemployment is structural in nature (see Graph 3).

Decomposing unemployment developments in their driving forces

Changes in the unemployment rates (for the age group 15-64) can be disaggregated into their main components,



that is changes in the working-age population, labour force (participation rate) and employment growth (¹), in order to get a better understanding of the main driving forces behind the recent evolution of unemployment. The disaggregation presented in Table 4 clearly shows that the reduction in the unemployment rate in the EU-25 in 2005 was due to the increase in employment (1.6 percentage points), more than offsetting the increase in labour supply, that is the combined increase in both the size of the working-age population (+0.6 %) and the participation rate (+0.7 %).

The overall positive trend observed at the aggregate EU level masks quite diverging developments across Member States. Indeed, the decomposition also shows that in two of the biggest Member States, Italy and France, the slight reduction in the unemployment rate occurred in parallel with a reduction in participation rates (displaced workers and job-seekers became discouraged and left the labour market altogether), while in Germany the increase in employment did not keep pace with the increasing 'potential' labour supply (that is, the increase in the number of people of working age: 15-64 years) (²). This is an indication of both weak labour demand and probably some form of discouragement of labour supply in the latter country. In Austria, by contrast, the strong creation of new employment was not sufficient to absorb the increase in both the participation rate and the size of the working-age population, leading to a slight increase in the (harmonised) unemployment rate in 2005. A similar trend was recorded in Sweden (3).

It is apparent from the result of the decomposition described above that it is useful to consider all the different components involved when assessing labour market performance. The contrasting trends as regards developments in employment and unemployment rates in the euro area between 1994 and 2005 are clearly shown in Graph 4, which depicts the evolution in the number of employed (dark line) and unemployed persons (dotted line). The number of employed persons increased sharply since the mid-1990s and continued to grow even during the most recent economic slowdown. The numbers of unemployed persons (with scale presented in reverse order on the right-hand side, i.e. an upward sloping line means a fall in numbers of persons unemployed), also fell in the second half of the 1990s, but increased during 2001-04. In 2005, after the period of diverging trend, there is a return to a parallel movement with employment observed since the mid-1990s. The divergence during the economic slowdown occurred because the structural increase in the labour supply (mainly due to increased female participation) was faster than the creation of additional jobs.

2.2. Monitoring the remaining gap with the Lisbon employment targets

The weakness in employment growth over the first half of this decade and expectations of only a moderate recovery in the next two years suggest that it will be a challenge to fulfil the Lisbon employment targets.

Progress towards the Lisbon employment rate targets since 2000 is shown in Table 5. The overall employment rate in the EU-25 rose only by almost 1.5 percentage points since 2000 to reach 63.8 % in 2005. It needs to record an increase of the same size each year over the remaining five years to reach the target of 70 % in 2010. This, in turn, implies about 21 million additional jobs would need to be created - equivalent to an employment growth rate in the order of 2 % per year between 2005-2010. This is a growth rate by far above that recorded over the most recent period (2001-05) and above the historical average. The contribution provided by each Member State to the fulfilment of the Lisbon targets (which are targets set for the overall EU economy) varies substantially (see Graph 5 and Graph 6). There are only three countries (DK, SE, UK) which already exceed all three targets, while four countries stand out as being particularly far from the three targets (IT, EL, PL and MT).

Looking at the employment target for specific groups, the most feasible seems to be the one set for **females** (60 %). Since 2000 the employment rate of women has increased by almost 3 percentage points in the EU-25 (and

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) We have used the following calculation: U=(Popwa * Pr) – E, where U: unemployed persons, Popwa: working age population (15-64); Pr: participation rate; UR: unemployment rate; E: employment. This can be rearranged as U/ (Popwa * Pr)=1-E/(Popwa * Pr) and (1-UR) = E /(Popwa * Pr). Thus, by taking the logarithm of the expression and differentiating it, we can obtain a decomposition that approximates the changes in the unemployment rate (in percentage points) as : dUR= dPopwa/Popwa + dPr/Pr - dE/E that is as the sum of the % change in the working age population and the participation rate minus the % change in employment.

⁽²⁾ Figures for Germany from different sources are inconsistent as, according to the labour force statistics, employment (age group 15-64) has grown by 2.3 % in 2005, paralleled by an increase in participation rate of 2.4 % while national account figures present a small reduction of employment (-0.2 %).

^{(&}lt;sup>3</sup>) Please note that Swedish figures are still provisional and are not fully comparable with previous years as, from the second quarter of 2005 onwards, they are based on a renewed questionnaire and in particular, contrary to the past, students looking for a job and available to work are now considered unemployed according to the EU definitions. See Eurostat, Statistics in focus: Labour market latest trends, N. 20-2005.

Decomposing changes in the unemployment rate in 2005

Unemployment rate (age 15-64)									
		a .	is equal to						
_	Rate in	Change since (age 15-64)	% Change in active population	% Change in participation rate	% Change in employment				
	2005	2004		+ plus	- minus				
BE	8.5	0.1	0.8	1.3	2.1				
DK	4.9	- 0.7	0.2	- 0.4	0.5				
DE	11.3	0.5	0.5	2.4	2.3				
EL	10.0	- 0.7	0.0	0.5	1.2				
ES	9.2	- 1.8	1.8	1.5	5.4				
FR	9.1	- 0.1	0.6	- 0.1	0.6				
IE	4.4	- 0.2	2.5	1.9	4.6				
IT	7.8	- 0.3	0.8	- 0.4	0.7				
LU	4.9	- 0.2	1.7	1.4	3.2				
NL	4.8	0.2	- 0.2	0.4	0.0				
AT	5.2	0.2	0.6	1.6	1.9				
PT	8.1	1.0	0.4	0.6	- 0.1				
FI	8.5	- 0.4	0.3	0.6	1.4				
SE	7.6	1.0	0.7	1.4	1.0				
UK	4.8	0.1	0.4	0.1	0.5				
Euro area	9.1	- 0.2	0.7	0.9	1.9				
EU-15	8.3	- 0.1	0.7	0.8	1.6				
CY	5.5	0.6	3.8	- 0.3	2.8				
CZ	8.0	- 0.4	0.5	0.6	1.5				
EE	8.1	- 1.8	0.0	0.2	2.3				
HU	7.2	1.1	- 0.2	1.5	0.1				
LT	8.4	- 3.1	0.5	- 1.1	2.9				
LV	9.0	- 1.6	- 0.3	- 0.1	1.4				
MT	7.2	0.1	0.6	- 0.2	0.3				
PL	18.0	– 1.3	0.3	0.6	2.4				
SK	16.3	- 2.0	0.9	- 1.1	2.2				
SI	6.6	0.2	- 0.2	1.2	0.8				
EU-25	9.1	- 0.2	0.6	0.7	1.6				

Source: Commission services, based on Eurostats, LFS data.

four percentage points in the euro area) to reach 56.3 % in 2005. In 2005 the gap was only 3.7 p.p., which requires an average annual growth of only 1.6 % in 2006-2010 compared with an average rate of 2.2 % over the period 1998-2000 and 1.3 % more recently (2001-05). The female target is already achieved by nine Member States (DK, NL, AT, EE, FI, PT, SE, UK, SI). Women from younger generations show higher participation than women from older generations. This cohort effect, fostered by changes in cultural attitudes and by the increasing average level of female education, is bringing female employment closer to the Lisbon target.

The employment rate of **older workers** (those aged 55-64) across the EU-25, despite considerable recent improvements mainly related to pension reforms, is still a long way (42.5 % in 2005) off the 50 % target established by the Council of Stockholm in 2001. More than 6 million additional jobs would need to be created in the EU-25 between 2006-10 for those aged 55-64 in order to achieve the target. This would require an annual growth rate of employment in the order of 5.2 % per year, a rate that is close to, but higher than, that registered in the first half of the decade. The older workers target (50 %) is already exceeded by 8 Member States (Denmark, Ire-



Lisbon employment targets: required job performance

Lisbon Projection	ons				Req	uired	Pro memoria	
					200	5-10	Employment growth	
		2000	2005	2010	New jobs	Annual employment growth	1998-2000	2001-05
Total (15-64)								
Employees (15-64)	(000)	185 534	196 329	217 376	21 047	2.1%	1.4%	0.9 %
Employment rate	(%)	62.2	63.8	70				
Population (15-64)	(000)	298 289	307 725	310 537				
Older workers (55-64)		2000	2005	2010	New Jobs	Annual employment growth		
Employees (55-64)	(000)	17 806	22 145	28 539	6 394	5.2%	1.8%	5.1%
Employment rate	(%)	36.4	42.5	50				
Population (55-64)	(000)	48 944	52 105	57 078				
Female		2000	2005	2010	New Jobs	Annual employment growth		
Employees (15-64)	(000)	80 124	85 879	92 963	7 084	1.6%	2.2%	1.3%
Employment rate	(%)	53.5	56.3	60				
Population (15-64)	(000)	149 811	153 619	154 939				

Source: Commission services, DG ECFIN calculation using Eurostat figures (Europop2004 demographic projections).

land, the United Kingdom, Finland, Portugal, Sweden, Cyprus and Estonia) while another two (Lithuania and Latvia) are already very close to it.

The road ahead to reach national employment rate targets for 2010

Seventeen Member States have set national employment targets in their National Reform Programmes (NRPs) for Growth and Jobs $(^1)$ – a new development in the strategy five years after its launch.

In order to identify what could be feasible national targets for the year 2010 under different employment performances, and to see whether and how these national targets would lead to the fulfilment of the overall EU-25 targets, **we have run a set of simulations.** Taking into account the most recent Eurostat demographic projections for the year 2010, we have calculated for each Member State what the national employment rates would be if the creation of additional jobs over the remaining 5 years (2006-10) were to continue at the same pace as registered over the most recent period (employment growth rate used in the simulation are reproduced in Table 6). For the EU-15, we consider 3 different periods:

1. the most recent (2001-04), featuring a low rate of employment (and for some countries even a negative growth rate) growth as a result of the economic slowdown;

2. the period of buoyant economic and employment growth (1997-2000);

3. the overall period 1997-2004, which averages a very strong performance in the first half with the period of slowdown.

For the new 10 Member States we used the employment growth rate in 2001-04 (setting the growth rate for Poland equal to +1, although it was actually negative), because figures in the previous period were either not available or strongly negative.

The results of the simulation for each country are presented in Table 7. It can be noticed that even if each country records employment growth equal to the high rates recorded in the period 1997-2000 (and during 2001-04 for the new Member States), this will translate into an overall employment rate below the 70 % target. Thus, if the overall target is to be achieved, some of the laggard countries should try to contribute substantially more than what has been done over the last 8-10 years. For the female target, the situation is much less problematic, as the 60 % target could be hit with a return to employment growth close to the average of the period 1997-2004. The result for the older worker deserves attention. Indeed, if the strong acceleration in the employment growth of older workers over the most recent period (2001-2004) is maintained over the remaining 5 years, the target will be achieved.

To sum up, the Lisbon employment targets remain very ambitious, especially in view of the fact that achieving the Lisbon strategy involves efforts both to improve labour market performance and to raise growth. This implies a need for a substantial acceleration in the medium-term labour productivity growth (²). While a strong economic recovery would help meet the Lisbon employment targets, on its own it would not suffice; additional labour market reforms, especially in some laggard countries, are also required to bridge the gap with the employment rate targets set by the European Councils in Lisbon and Stockholm.

⁽¹⁾ The Commission on 12 April 2005 put forward its Communication on Integrated Guidelines for Growth and Jobs (2005-2008). The Integrated Guidelines reflect the new economic governance approach following the outcome of the Mid-Term Review of the Lisbon Strategy. The new set of BEPGs and EGs translates the Spring European Council conclusions on the vital strands of the new start of Lisbon into guidelines for economic and employment policies for the three-year period 2005-2008. According to the new Integrated Guideline No 16: 'Implement employment policies aiming at achieving full employment, improving quality and productivity at work, and strengthening social and territorial cohesion', policies should contribute to achieving an average employment rate for the European Union (EU) of 70 % overall, of at least 60 % for women and of 50 % for older workers (55 to 64), and to reduce unemployment and inactivity. Member States should set national employment rate targets for 2008 and 2010 (Integrated guideline No 16)'.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) For a detailed analysis of the linkages between employment and productivity growth see European Commission (2004) 'Labour markets in the EU: an economic analysis of recent performance and prospects'; Chapter 4 in the EU Economy Review.







Employment growth rate used in the simulation

AGE	Total				Female		0	Older (age 55-64)		
Country	1997-2004	1997-2000	2001-04	1997-2004	1997-2000	2001-04	1997-2004	1997-2000	2001-04	
BE	1.1	2.1	0.7	1.9	3.4	1.4	1.1	2.1	0.7	
DK	0.2	0.6	- 0.1	0.6	1.3	0.0	6.6	7.5	5.1	
DE	0.0	1.0	- 1.0	0.7	1.7	- 0.5	- 0.1	- 0.5	1.3	
EL	1.8	2.4	1.9	2.3	2.6	3.0	- 1.8	- 5.2	1.7	
ES	4.4	5.1	3.7	6.0	6.7	5.5	4.2	2.8	4.6	
FR	1.5	1.8	1.0	1.9	2.0	1.8	6.0	0.4	12.0	
IE	4.5	7.4	2.3	5.6	8.9	3.1	7.1	8.1	5.9	
IT	1.5	1.4	1.4	2.9	2.5	3.0	1.5	- 0.6	4.0	
LU	1.5	2.3	0.4	2.9	4.1	1.3	3.8	6.3	5.7	
NL	1.7	3.1	0.0	2.7	4.3	0.8	9.3	9.8	10.2	
AT	0.6	1.0	0.2	1.0	1.1	0.9	2.0	2.5	2.2	
PT	1.8	3.6	0.1	2.0	3.4	0.6	0.1	- 0.6	0.8	
FI	1.6	3.3	- 0.1	1.7	3.3	0.2	9.0	7.2	8.8	
SE	1.3	1.6	- 0.2	1.3	1.7	- 0.2	5.8	5.6	4.7	
UK	0.6	0.5	0.6	1.1	1.4	0.8	4.7	3.6	5.8	
EU-15	1.3	1.8	0.7	1.9	2.4	1.3	3.1	1.6	5.2	
CY	3.0	3.0	3.0	3.4	3.4	3.4	4.6	4.6	4.6	
CZ	0.1	0.1	0.1	- 0.2	- 0.2	- 0.2	10.0	10.0	10.0	
EE	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.4	1.4	1.4	
HU	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.5	0.5	11.5	11.5	11.5	
LT	2.2	2.2	2.2	0.9	0.9	0.9	4.8	4.8	4.8	
LV	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.3	1.3	1.3	6.1	6.1	6.1	
MT	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	5.7	5.7	5.7	
PL	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 0.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	
SK	0.7	0.7	0.7	- 0.1	- 0.1	- 0.1	8.9	8.9	8.9	
SI	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.1	1.1	1.1	6.2	6.2	6.2	

Source: Commission services, DG ECFIN.

		Rates in 2010 using employment growth rate in:			Employment rate targets set by Member States		
Country	2005	1997-2004	1997-2000	2001-04	(from NRPs)		
BE	61.6	63.4	66.8	62.2	70		
DK	76.0	76.3	77.5	75.1	50 000/60 00	00 extra jobs	
DE	64.3	64.2	67.3	60.9			
EL	60.2	62.2	63.8	62.4	64.1	(projections)	
ES	67.4	76.9	79.8	74.4	66		
FR	64.0	65.9	66.7	64.1			
IE	69.7	82.2	94.0	73.6			
IT	58.1	62.2	61.9	61.9			
LU	61.6	62.3	64.7	58.7			
NL	73.1	77.7	83.4	71.6			
AT	69.1	70.0	71.5	68.7			
PT	67.8	73.6	80.5	67.6	70		
FI	68.6	72.9	79.3	67.2	75	(2011)	
SE	72.9	75.8	77.0	70.3	80	(age 20-64)	
UK	72.0	70.5	70.1	70.5	80	(national definition)	
EU-15	65.7	68.3	70.2	66.2			
СҮ	71.5	71.3	71.3	71.3	71		
CZ	65.2	65.8	65.8	65.8	66.4		
EE	64.5	68.1	68.1	68.1	67.2	(projections)	
HU	56.8	57.2	57.2	57.2	63		
LT	63.0	70.2	70.2	70.2	68.8		
LV	63.1	70.9	70.9	70.9	67		
MT	54.4	50.7	50.7	50.7	57		
PL	53.0	48.7	48.7	48.7			
SK	58.3	58.8	58.8	58.8	yearly increase	1-2 pp	
SI	65.8	68.7	68.7	68.7	67	(2008)	
EU-25	64.3	66.2	67.8	64.4			

Employment rates in 2010, alternative simulation

 Target:
 Employment rate of females
 Rates in 2010 using employment growth rate in:

Employment rate targets set by Member States

Country	2005	1997-2004	1997-2000	2001-04	(from NRPs)	
BE	52.7	57.5	62.5	55.9	60	asap
DK	72.0	74.2	77.1	71.4		
DE	58.5	61.3	65.0	57.1		
EL	46.1	50.8	51.5	52.6	51	
ES	54.2	71.2	74.1	69.0	57	
FR	58.5	63.0	63.4	62.3		
IE	60.0	78.7	94.5	67.8		
IT	45.5	54.2	52.9	54.5		
LU	50.7	56.6	60.5	51.6		
NL	66.5	76.1	83.6	68.1	65	>12 hours
						week
AT	62.3	65.7	65.9	65.1		
PT	61.9	69.4	75.6	64.1	63	(2008)

(Continued on the next page)

FI	66.7	73.1	79.9	66.9		
SE	70.8	74.6	76.2	68.4		
UK	66.3	67.9	69.0	66.8		
EU-15	57.8	64.1	66.2	61.8		
СҮ	60.8	65.2	65.2	65.2	63	
CZ	56.4	56.4	56.4	56.4	57.6	(2008)
EE	62.0	68.5	68.5	68.5	65	
HU	50.8	52.5	52.5	52.5	57	
LT	59.7	63.4	63.4	63.4	61	
LV	59.1	65.9	65.9	65.9	62	
MT	33.8	32.0	32.0	32.0	41	
PL	46.9	42.9	42.9	42.9		
SK	51.3	49.9	49.9	49.9		
SI	61.0	65.6	65.6	65.6	2pp >EU-15	(2008)
EU-25	56.6	61.6	63.4	63.4		

Table 7 (continued)

Target:	Employment rate of older workers	Rates in 2010 using employment growth rate in:
---------	----------------------------------	--

Employment rate targets set by Member States

Country	2005	1997-2004	1997-2000	2001-04	(from NRPs)	
BE	29.6	27.0	28.8	26.4	50	asap
DK	60.8	84.8	89.1	77.7		
DE	41.4	43.6	42.4	47.2		
EL	41.8	32.9	26.6	40.5		
ES	45.6	50.3	46.4	51.5		
FR	39.8	45.5	32.9	63.4		
IE	54.0	68.0	72.2	63.7		
IT	31.6	33.1	29.1	38.2		
LU	29.9	32.3	37.1	36.0		
NL	47.5	70.8	72.8	74.3	40	>12 hours
						week
AT	31.1	36.0	37.2	36.5		
РТ	52.5	47.1	45.4	49.3	50	
FI	54.8	78.0	70.7	77.3		
SE	71.1	97.5	96.0	91.2		
UK	58.1	70.9	66.3	75.2		
EU-15	44.1	49.1	44.8	55.3		
СҮ	52.8	51.0	51.0	56.1	53	
CZ	46.1	57.0	44.0	72.7	47.5	(2008)
EE	55.7	49.2	38.5	57.1	54.8	(2008)
HU	33.2	50.2	43.9	56.2	37	
LT	49.4	59.9	61.6	64.5	50	
LV	49.1	67.7	63.9	71.9	50	
MT	30.5	31.2	23.4	29.0	35	
PL	28.7	17.2	12.3	23.9		
SK	31.7	30.8	29.1	40.6		
SI	30.5	33.5	26.9	37.1	35	(2008)
EU-25	42.7	46.4	41.8	52.9		

Source: Commission services, DG ECFIN calculation.

3. Employment developments and economic growth

3.1. The responsiveness of employment to economic growth

The elasticity of employment to growth has increased

Employment growth usually lags the pick-up in aggregate demand, and the lags are typically higher when the recovery in activity is sluggish or uncertain. This seems to have been the case for the last two years. In 2004, the pace of GDP growth averaged 2 % in the euro area and 2.4 % in the EU for the year as a whole (¹), (although with a deceleration in the second half of the year). For some quarters, employment performance at the EU level was lagging improvement in the economic growth and the risk of a 'jobless recovery' was raised.

There are a couple of possible explanations as to why that performance was rather subdued. One explanation is that the more tempered response of employment in the downturn has led to a similarly more nuanced response in the first phase of the recovery (²). Firms may have been 'hoarding' labour to try to avoid hiring and firing costs. Over the first part of the cyclical upswing, that labour hoarding will have unwound as demand conditions improved and this will have been reflected in the recovery in labour productivity. The other explanation, which is to some extent related to the first one, is that this initial underperformance can at least partly be attributed to the high uncertainty surrounding the strength of the economic recovery. After the pick-up in 2004, the pace of output growth slowed down again in the first and the last quarters of 2005 and the annual GDP growth was lower than in 2004. Yet, employment growth gained further, although limited, speed. There are a number of possible explanations for the apparently diverging trend. The most likely seems that, believing that the easing in GDP growth in 2005 would prove temporary, firms have adjusted by means of a slight decline in the average hours worked per worker. The generalisation of more flexible working time arrangements and the increase in part-time jobs may have made it possible to react to the moderate and temporary softening in output growth in some quarters of 2005 through a less intensive use of the existing workforce. The creation of new jobs during sluggish economic growth is also explained by the growing relevance of the services sector, which has a high employment content of each unit of value added.

The evolution of the job-intensity of growth can be better observed looking at the elasticity of employment to GDP growth (see Graph 7). Over the previous boom period (1998-2001), the (apparent) elasticity of employment to GDP growth increased quite substantially. Employment was also quite resilient to the economic slowdown of 2001-2003 when annual employment growth recorded only a moderate softening compared to past cyclical episodes. After the drop to lower levels in 2003-2004, in 2005 there was a rebound. In terms of average hours per worker, the relative drop since the start of the slowdown in 2001 was more accentuated, confirming the hypothesis of substantial labour hoarding, compensated by a reduction in the intensity of use of the workforce (more short-time working and reduction of overtime, reflected in lower number of hours worked). Indeed, a recovery in the intensity of hours worked started already in late 2002 and has continued until 2005.

The apparent resilience observed in the elasticity of employment to GDP growth can partly be attributed to the

⁽¹⁾ For a detailed analysis of past trends and future developments see DG ECFIN Economic Forecasts-Spring 2006. http://europa.eu.int/comm/ economy_finance/publications/european_economy/2006/ee206en.pdf.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) The subdued response of the job creation to the 2004 recovery may to some extent have been an effect of the small downward adjustment of employment during the previous slowdown. For a detailed analysis of the risk of jobless growth in Europe see European Commission (2005) 'Labour market and wage developments in 2004, with special focus on the risk of jobless growth' in European Economy Special Report No 3, Brussels.



Graph 7: Job-intensity of growth

nature of the recent economic slowdown, which has been rather prolonged but not very sharp. It may also, however, be at least partly the result of structural change in the labour market. Some observers attribute the atypically resilient employment performance to a sort of short-term trade-off effect arising from labour market reforms focused on better integrating low-skilled (and low-productivity) workers into the economy. However, it is too soon to make a proper assessment of the impact of recent reforms on the overall behaviour of labour market and productivity growth.

Diverging developments across Member States

The cyclical recovery of employment at the aggregate EU level masks diverging developments across Member States. This is the result of two factors that are difficult to disentangle:

- Member States undergo cyclical swings of different length and depth; and,
- the performance of labour markets differs even under the same cyclical conditions, due to different structural features.

Looking at country performances, only Belgium, Spain, Ireland, Luxembourg and Finland (see Table 8) display a job-intensity of growth close to the high values recorded over the previous expansionary period (19962000). In Germany, in 2005 there was a drop in both employment (-0.2 %) and average hours worked per employee (-0.4) that, notwithstanding the pick-up in productivity, was associated to lacklustre GDP growth of 0.9 %. In France, there was no reduction in labour utili-

sation, as the fall in employment rate was counterbalanced by a positive demographic development (an increase in the working-age population). The drop in productivity led to a substantial reduction in GDP growth (1.4 % compared to 2.3 % in 2004).

Table 8

Job-intensity of growth (elasticity of employment to growth) (1)

	Previous slowdown		Annual average			Spring forecast	İ
	1991-1993	1991-1995	1996-2000	2001-04	2005	2006	2007
BE	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.7	0.4	0.4
CZ			- 0.4	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
DK	- 0.3	- 0.1	0.4	- 0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1
DE			0.3	- 1.1	- 0.2	0.2	0.3
EE			- 3.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1
EL	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4
ES	0.6	0.4	0.9	0.9	1.0	0.9	0.8
FR	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3
IE	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.5	1.0	0.6	0.5
IT	1.2	0.6	0.6	11.7	- 5.6	0.4	0.4
СҮ			0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4
LV	0.3	1.6	- 0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1
LT	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1
LU	0.8	1.0	0.8	1.1	0.7	0.7	0.7
HU			0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
MT			0.2	1.6	0.6	0.2	0.3
NL	0.7	0.6	0.6	2.8	- 0.3	0.5	0.4
AT	- 0.3	- 0.2	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.4
PL			- 0.1	- 1.0	0.7	0.5	0.4
РТ	0.0	- 0.2	0.5	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2
SI			- 0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1
SK			- 0.5	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.1
FI	3.1	1.9	0.5	0.3	0.8	0.4	0.3
SE	2.6	1.6	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.3
UK	- 1.7	- 0.9	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.2
US	1.9	1.4	0.5	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.2
JP	1.1	0.7	1.0	- 3.0	0.2	0.1	0.1
Euro area			0.5	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5
EU-25			0.4	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4
EU-15			0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4
LU-15 ¹) Data are from nation	al accounts statistics and C	ommission's foreca	0.5 sts.	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4

3.2. The contribution of employment and labour productivity to GDP growth

The temporary slowdown in annual output growth in 2005 has not been matched by a slowdown in annual employment growth. The flip side of this employment recovery is the slowdown in labour productivity (measures in terms of hours worked), from 1.7 % in 2004 to 1 % in 2005 in the EU-25.

The relative contribution to GDP growth of its two main components, labour productivity and labour utilisation, can be assessed using the standard accounting framework (¹).

GDP = *Labour productivity x Labour utilisation*

or

GDP = <u>GDP</u>x (<u>Hours</u> <u>Employment</u> <u>Working Age Pop.</u>)x Population Hours Employment Working Age Pop. Population

The level of GDP is given by the product of labour productivity (GDP per hour worked) by the different components of labour utilisation, that is average hours worked per person, the employment rate, the share of working-age population and the population. GDP growth is (roughly) equivalent to the sum of the growth rates of these variables. This simple accounting rule is reproduced in Table 9 and Table 8. The decomposition confirms that in 2005, the slowdown in the GDP growth rate in the EU-25 is mostly due to the slowdown in productivity growth (GDP per hour worked was close to 0.9 % in the euro area after having increased by more than 1.3 % in 2004).

In most euro area countries, labour productivity growth was lower in 2005 than in 2004 (only in Germany and Portugal was it slightly higher). Overall, all Member States, with the exception of Germany and Italy, registered an increase in labour utilisation. However, the contribution of labour utilisation to GDP growth was less relevant than the employment contribution because of the new (structural) reduction in average hours per worker after the pick-up in 2004 (²), and also because the

demographic trend provided a less positive contribution to growth. The reduction in the average hours per worker is paralleled by a further increase in the share of part-time work (from 15.8 % in 2000 to 17.2 % in 2004 and 17.9 % in 2005 in the EU-25).

For the EU-10 Member States, labour productivity growth recorded a strong deceleration, from 4.4 % in 2004 to 2.6 % in 2005, due particularly to a sharp fall in Poland (from 4.2 % in 2004 to only 0.9 % in 2005), but also to declines in Latvia, Lithuania, Hungary and Slovenia.

Looking at the recent productivity trends in the EU, it appears highly likely that a great deal of the resurgence observed in 2004 was of a cyclical nature, the result of companies shedding labour when demand was weakening. Firms were faced with uncertainty regarding both current economic growth and demand for their products and were therefore rather reluctant to hire workers. This is a typical short-term behaviour of firms, which tend to respond to shifts in demand by limiting the adjustment to a change in the intensity with which they use their labour and capital, instead of a costly modification of the overall amount of productive factors. As the signals of the recovery consolidate, labour demand increases follow the initial increase in productivity and profit margins.

To sum up, as typically occurs during the early stages of recovery, productivity was the dominant engine of growth in output during 2004, but was much less dynamic in 2005. This is the flip side of a recovery in employment growth, within a framework of still subdued GDP growth. A similar pattern can be observed in the US, where the strong growth in 2004 (4.5 %) was entirely due to increase in productivity and in population, while the labour utilisation was stagnating as it was in the EU, but this situation was partly reversed in 2005, as the recovery started to consolidate.

To conclude this section, it is worth looking also at the contribution of demographic trends (both in terms of the dynamics of the overall size of population and the share of working-age population) to growth. Figures in Table 9 and Table 10 clearly show that the positive contribution of an increasing population in the US is twice as much as in the EU in 2005 and broadly compensates for the slight decrease in the share of working age population. Demographic trends have been an important factor in the differing relative performance of the EU versus the US over the last decade, and are projected to be even more relevant in the coming decades given the faster pace of ageing in Europe.

For a similar analysis and an assessment of the medium-term prospects see Goldman-Sachs Global Economics paper No 121, January 2005.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) Over the period 2001-04, there was a cyclical reduction in per capita hours worked that played the role of buffer in the presence of labour hoarding. This added up to the trend decline in average hours worked that reflects both the increased participation of women, who are more likely to work part-time and persons choosing more leisure time as real income rose.

GDP growth and its sources in 2005

	GDP growth in 2005	Due to growth in: productivity (GDP/hour)	Labour utilisation of which:	Hours worked per employee	Employment rate	Share of working age population	Population	GDP per capita growth in 2005
	1 = 2+3	2	3 = 4+5+6+7	4	5	6	7	8 = 1-7
BE	1.2	0.9	0.3	- 0.6	0.4	0.1	0.3	0.9
CZ	6.0	4.8	1.1	0.2	0.9	- 0.3	0.2	5.7
DK	3.1	1.5	1.5	0.9	0.6	- 0.1	0.1	2.9
DE	1.0	1.6	- 0.6	- 0.4	- 0.2	0.0	0.0	1.0
EE	9.8	7.1	2.5	0.5	1.3	0.4	0.2	9.5
EL	3.7	2.0	1.6	0.2	1.1	0.1	0.2	3.5
ES	3.4	0.5	2.9	- 0.6	2.0	0.1	1.4	2.0
FR	1.2	1.0	0.2	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.5	0.6
IE	4.7	0.6	4.0	- 0.7	2.2	0.3	2.2	2.5
IT	0.0	0.4	- 0.4	- 0.6	0.0	- 0.4	0.6	- 0.6
СҮ	3.8	2.2	1.5	0.0	- 1.0	0.0	2.5	1.3
LV	10.2	8.0	2.0	0.5	2.0	0.4	- 0.8	11.0
LT	7.5	1.9	5.7	2.8	3.6	0.0	- 0.6	8.1
LU	4.0	1.1	2.9	0.0	2.2	0.0	0.7	3.3
HU	3.6	3.8	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.1	0.1	- 0.2	3.8
MT	2.5	4.0	- 1.4	- 3.0	0.0	0.9	0.7	1.8
NL	1.1	1.3	- 0.2	0.1	- 0.4	- 0.1	0.2	0.9
AT	1.9	1.3	0.6	0.0	- 0.3	0.3	0.6	1.3
PL	3.2	0.9	2.3	0.0	1.9	0.5	0.0	3.3
РТ	0.3	0.5	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.5	- 0.1	0.6	- 0.3
SI	3.9	2.1	1.7	1.0	0.6	0.0	0.2	3.7
SK	6.0	2.8	3.1	1.0	1.9	0.2	0.1	5.9
FI	2.1	0.4	1.7	0.0	1.5	- 0.1	0.3	1.7
SE	2.7	2.2	0.5	- 0.2	0.1	0.2	0.4	2.3
UK	1.8	1.4	0.4	- 0.6	0.1	0.3	0.6	1.2
US	3.5	2.1	1.4	- 0.4	0.9	- 0.1	0.9	2.6
Euro area	1.3	0.9	0.4	- 0.3	0.2	- 0.1	0.5	0.8
EU-25	1.6	0.9	0.7	- 0.2	0.4	0.0	0.4	1.2
EUR-15	1.5	1.1	0.4	- 0.3	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.9
EU-10	4.5	2.5	1.9	0.2	1.5	0.3	0.0	4.5

Source: Commission services.

3.3. Employment prospects in coming years

Business and consumer expectations and DG ECFIN forecasts point to better but still slow employment prospects. Since the trough in 2003, survey measures of employment intentions and household perceptions of labour market conditions have improved significantly. According to the latest *Business and Consumer Survey* results, in April 2006, the overall 'economic sentiment' index rose to the highest level for five years and industry

and service sectors were more optimistic about future employment developments (see Graph 8). Upbeat purchasing managers' indices (PMIs) in May also indicated that euro area manufacturing employment growth is accelerating. Yet, in both March and April 2006, consumers had a slightly less optimistic view of unemployment developments compared with previous months (¹).

http://europa.eu.int/comm/economy_finance/indicators/ business_consumer_surveys/2005/bcs0405_en.pdf
Table 10

GDP growth and its sources 1997-2004

				Due to gro	wth in:			GDP ner
	GDP growth in 2001- 2004	Productivity GDP/hour)	Labour utilisation	Hours worked per employee	Employment rate	Share of Working age	Population	capita growth in 2001-2004
			of which:			population		
	1 = 2 + 3	2	3 = 4 + 5 + 6 + 7	4	5	6	7	8 = 1-7
BE	1.5	1.4	0.1	- 0.3	0.0	0.0	0.4	1.1
CZ	3.0	4.2	- 1.1	- 1.3	- 0.1	0.4	- 0.2	3.2
DK	0.9	1.3	- 0.3	- 0.2	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.3	0.6
DE	0.7	1.3	- 0.7	- 0.5	0.0	- 0.3	0.1	0.6
EE	7.1	6.0	1.0	0.1	0.9	0.4	- 0.4	7.4
EL	4.6	3.8	0.8	- 0.2	0.7	- 0.1	0.3	4.3
ES	3.1	0.6	2.4	- 0.3	1.1	0.1	1.5	1.6
FR	1.6	2.0	- 0.3	- 1.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	1.0
IE	5.3	3.6	1.6	- 0.8	0.4	0.4	1.7	3.6
IT	0.8	0.0	0.8	- 0.6	1.2	- 0.3	0.5	0.3
CY	3.0	- 0.4	3.5	2.0	- 1.0	0.9	1.6	1.4
LV	7.6	6.5	1.0	- 0.6	1.8	0.5	- 0.6	8.2
LT	7.7	7.4	0.3	- 0.4	0.6	0.5	- 0.5	8.1
LU	3.1	1.2	1.8	- 1.2	2.1	0.0	0.8	2.3
HU	4.2	4.8	- 0.6	- 0.8	0.3	0.2	- 0.3	4.4
MT	- 0.6	- 0.7	- 0.1	- 0.5	- 0.8	0.4	0.7	– 1.3
NL	0.9	1.1	- 0.2	- 0.3	- 0.3	- 0.1	0.6	0.3
AT	1.4	1.2	0.2	0.1	- 0.5	0.2	0.5	0.9
PL	2.9	4.4	- 1.4	- 0.1	- 1.6	0.5	- 0.2	3.1
РТ	0.7	0.2	0.5	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.7	0.0
SI	3.2	4.0	- 0.7	- 1.2	0.3	0.1	0.1	3.1
SK	4.6	5.3	- 0.7	- 1.0	- 0.3	0.7	- 0.1	4.7
FI	2.4	2.1	0.2	- 0.5	0.6	- 0.1	0.2	2.1
SE	2.1	2.5	- 0.3	- 0.6	- 0.3	0.3	0.3	1.8
UK	2.5	2.1	0.5	- 0.5	0.2	0.3	0.5	2.0
US	2.3	2.8	- 0.5	- 0.9	- 0.8	0.3	1.0	1.3
JP	1.1	2.1	- 1.0	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 0.5	0.1	1.0
Euro area	1.4	1.1	0.3	- 0.4	0.4	- 0.1	0.6	0.8
EU-25	1.7	1.6	0.1	- 0.5	0.2	0.0	0.4	1.3
EU-15	1.6	1.3	0.3	- 0.5	0.3	- 0.1	0.5	1.0
EU-10	3.5	4.5	- 0.9	- 0.5	- 0.7	0.5	- 0.2	

				Due to gro	wth in:			GDP per
	GDP growth in 1997- 2000	Productivity (GDP/hour)	Labour utilisation of which:	Hours worked per employee	Employment rate	Share of Working age population	Population	capita growth in 1997-2000
	1 = 2+3	2	3 = 4+5+6+7	4	5	6	7	8 = 1-7
BE	3.0	1.6	1.5	0.1	1.2	- 0.2	0.2	2.8
CZ	0.8	2.2	- 1.3	0.3	- 2.0	0.5	- 0.1	0.9
DK	2.9	0.9	2.0	1.0	0.9	- 0.2	0.4	2.5
DE	2.3	1.9	0.3	- 0.8	1.1	- 0.1	0.1	2.2
EE	5.9				– 1.5	0.4	- 0.8	6.7
EL	3.7	2.6	1.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.5	3.2
ES	4.5	0.0	4.5	0.1	3.9	0.1	0.5	4.0
FR	3.2	2.6	0.7	- 1.0	1.3	- 0.1	0.4	2.8
IE	10.0	5.7	4.2	- 2.0	4.3	0.8	1.2	8.9
IT	2.2	1.5	0.8	- 0.3	1.4	- 0.3	0.0	2.2
CY	4.3				- 0.3	0.7	1.2	3.1
LV	5.8				0.2	0.6	- 0.9	6.7
LT	4.1				- 1.0	0.1	- 0.7	4.8

(Continued on the next page)

Table 10 (contin	ued)							
LU	7.3	2.9	4.3	- 0.2	3.3	- 0.1	1.3	6.0
HU	4.7	2.7	2.0	0.4	1.7	0.2	- 0.2	4.9
MT	4.7				- 0.7	0.4	0.6	4.0
NL	4.2	1.9	2.3	- 0.4	2.2	- 0.2	0.6	3.6
AT	3.0	2.3	0.7	- 0.5	0.8	0.2	0.2	2.9
PL	5.2				- 1.3	0.7	- 0.1	5.3
PT	4.2	3.1	1.1	- 0.9	1.5	0.1	0.4	3.8
SI	4.6	4.6	0.0	0.0	- 0.2	0.2	0.0	4.6
SK	3.1	5.1	- 1.9	- 0.4	- 2.4	0.8	0.1	3.0
FI	5.0	2.8	2.2	- 0.3	2.1	0.1	0.2	4.8
SE	3.7	2.7	1.0	- 0.2	0.9	0.2	0.1	3.6
UK	3.4	2.5	0.8	- 0.5	0.9	0.2	0.3	3.1
US	4.2	2.1	2.1	- 0.1	0.8	0.3	1.2	3.1
JP	0.6	1.7	- 1.1	- 0.9	0.1	- 0.5	0.2	0.4
Euro area	3.0	1.7	1.3	- 0.5	1.6	- 0.1	0.3	2.8
EU-25	3.1				1.1	0.1	0.2	2.9
EU-15	3.1	1.9	1.2	- 0.5	1.5	0.0	0.3	2.8
EU-10	4.2				- 1.1	0.6	- 0.2	

Source: Commission services.

Looking forward, the latest (spring 2006) Commission Economic Forecasts (see Table 11) point to a further acceleration in employment growth, to 0.9 % in 2006, in both the EU-25 and the euro area, supported by the strengthening of output growth in most Member States (¹). The EU as a whole is expected to create $3\frac{1}{2}$ million new jobs over the period 2006-07 (2.4 million of which will be in the euro area), in addition to the nearly 3 million created in the previous two years. The unemployment rate is projected to fall from a peak of 9 % in 2004 to 8.2 % in 2007 in the EU-25 (but only from 8.4 % to 8.3 % in the euro area). However, even after these improvements, unemployment will remain a severe economic and social problem, a manifestation of the still poor labour market performance in many Member States.

The overall pace of employment growth in the EU is expected to accelerate somewhat, especially in the services sector, although it is foreseen to remain below 1 % and below the brisker trend rates observed in late 1990s even in 2007. Compared to October 2005, DG ECFIN employment forecasts have recently (May 2006) been revised slightly downwards.

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) According to the flash estimate for the first quarter of 2006 recently released by Eurostat (see Eurostat Press release, 11 May 2006) the euro area and the EU-25 GDP growth rate was 2 % and 2.2 % respectively compared to the first quarter of 2005 (+0.6 over the previous quarter), in acceleration compared to the previous 2-3 quarters.



Graph 8: Employment and unemployment expectations; business and consumer surveys

Table 11

Commission's forecasts (autumn 2005 and spring 2006)

	(per	Total em centage change	ployment on preceding y	vear)	(as a	Number of percentage of c	unemployed civilian labour f	orce)
	2006		20	07	20	06	20	07
	XI-2005	IV-2006	XI-2005	IV-2006	XI-2005	IV-2006	XI-2005	IV-2006
BE	0.6	0.9	0.7	0.9	7.9	8.2	7.8	8.0
DE	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.3	9.3	9.4	9.1	9.2
EL	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	10.0	9.7	9.7	9.4
ES	2.4	2.7	2.2	2.2	8.5	8.7	8.1	8.3
FR	0.5	0.4	0.9	0.6	9.3	9.4	8.9	9.3
IE	2.2	2.9	2.0	2.4	4.4	4.4	4.5	4.5
IT	0.6	0.2	0.6	0.2	7.6	7.7	7.5	7.7
LU	3.2	3.0	3.4	3.0	5.6	5.7	5.8	5.8
NL	0.5	0.8	1.0	0.8	4.9	4.3	4.2	4.0
AT	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.9	5.0	5.2	5.1	5.2
PT	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.3	7.7	8.1	7.8	8.3
FI	0.7	1.4	0.7	0.8	7.8	8.0	7.2	7.7
Euro area	1.2	0.9	1.1	0.8	8.4	8.4	8.1	8.3
CZ	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.5	7.5	7.5	7.4	7.2
DE	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.1	4.2	4.0	4.0	3.8
ES	0.6	0.8	0.8	0.6	6.0	7.0	5.4	6.2
СҮ	1.3	1.5	1.3	1.5	4.8	5.7	4.6	6.1
LV	0.7	1.0	0.6	0.7	9.4	8.7	9.3	8.5
LT	0.7	0.9	0.6	0.6	8.1	7.0	7.5	6.3
HU	0.6	0.1	0.3	0.5	6.9	7.8	6.7	7.7
MT	0.8	0.3	0.8	0.5	7.1	7.5	7.1	7.4
PL	1.2	2.2	1.2	1.8	16.8	16.7	15.5	15.5
SL	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.4	5.7	6.2	5.6	6.0
SK	0.9	1.2	0.8	0.9	16.2	15.5	15.8	14.9
SE	1.1	1.6	0.7	1.0	5.9	5.7	5.6	5.4
UK	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.6	4.9	5.0	4.7	4.8
EU-25	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.8	8.5	8.5	8.1	8.2
EU-15	1.0	0.8	1.0	0.8	7.7	7.7	7.4	7.6
BG	1.0	1.0	0.7	0.8	9.9	9.1	9.4	8.6
RO	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.2	6.1	7.3	5.9	7.1
US	1.2	1.4	0.6	0.6	5.0	4.8	5.3	5.1
JP	0.2	0.4	0.0	0.3	4.2	4.3	4.2	4.3

Source: Commission's forecast. Unemployment rate: series following Eurostat definition, based on the labour force survey.

4. Modelling recent employment developments in the euro area

The purpose of this section is threefold: (i) to present an equation modelling accurately employment in the euro area; (ii) to analyse the resilience of employment observed since the start of the current economic downturn in 2001 and examine whether the employment pattern has changed compared with the economic boom of the late 1990s; (iii) to discuss the outlook for employment using ECFIN's forecast and the employment equation.

4.1. Modelling employment growth in the euro area

The ratio of employment growth to real GDP growth indicates that real GDP growth has been more job-intensive in the euro area over the last ten years than in the late 1980s and the first half of the 1990s.

A traditional labour demand equation is estimated for the euro area as a whole using a CES specification of the production function. The estimation of the employment equation over the period 1970-2005 confirms the existence of the break for the full period 1997-2005 (see Box1). According to the employment equation, the break in the employment equation amounts to an extra annual employment growth of 0.7 percentage point between 1997 and 2001 and 0.65 of a percentage point between 1997 and 2005, which is not explained by the traditional determinants (i.e. the employment simulated using the standard equation - without a break - estimated over the period 1970-1996). It corresponds to an upward shift in the long-term relationship in levels, which translates into a higher but temporary employment growth rate until the new long-term level is reached. It may be interpreted as a rise in the labourintensity of the method of production. This is likely to have been caused by the labour market reforms carried out since the mid-1990s in many euro area countries as well as the gradual shift of the sectoral composition of the euro area economy towards services, which are growing faster and are more job-intensive than manufacturing. Conversely, the introduction of the break does not affect the short-term (cyclical) dynamic of the equation around the long-term relationship.

Graph 9 presents the dynamic simulation of the employment equation with a break from 1997 onwards, which fits well the actual employment data over a long period and in particular in the late 1990s and the first half of the 2000s (¹).

The existence of the break is also consistent with the rise in the trend employment rate (corrected for the economic cycle), which was computed by ECFIN (European Commission 2004a) using OECD estimates of the NAIRU and HP-filtered labour force participation. The trend employment rate increases more sharply (by around 0.5 % point per annum) between 1997 and 2003 than in the first half of the 1990s (around 0.2 % point per annum), as shown in Graph 10.

4.2. Analysing the resilience of employment in the recent slowdown

Employment has been resilient to the economic downturn of 2001-2005, as suggested by the relatively labour productivity (Graph 12 in the next subsection) or alternatively the high job intensity of growth (ratio of employment growth to GDP growth). On the other hand, the strong period of economic expansion of the late 1990s saw buoyant employment creation that the traditional

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) The standard equation (without a break) has been estimated over the period 1971Q2–1996Q4, as its coefficients start to be very unstable from 1997 on according to recursive estimates. When estimated over the full period 1971Q2–2004Q3 leads, the dynamic simulation performs quite poorly in the 1990s (i.e. far from actual employment series) and the error correction term is barely significant.

Box 1: Econometric estimation of employment equations

Econometric estimation of employment, using a single error correction equation, shows that the lagged impact of economic growth and real labour costs, a total factor productivity trend (capturing the imperfect substitutability between labour and capital) and employment growth 'inertia' can account for most of the employment developments between 1970 and the early 1990s. However, these traditional determinants can only explain part of the employment development seen in recent years (1997-2005). In a recent paper, Mourre (2006) shows sound evidence of a structural break in the aggregated labour demand equation in the euro area in the late 1990s. Using a similar CES specification of the production function with updated data (1), we derived an error correction employment equation with a break in the intercept. The break, captured by a dummy, is very significant from a statistical standpoint (at below 1 %), as shown by Table 12. The fit is also improved when a break is added. Moreover, the correlation LM test does not signal first- and fourth-order autocorrelation and the ECM term appears highly significant.

Table 12

	Equation WITHOUT break (1)	Equation WITH break (²
Estimation period	1970Q1-2005Q4	1970Q1-2005Q4
Coefficients		
(t-statistics)		
Δ InE.	0.604***	0.545***
1-1	8.76	6.89
$\Delta \ln Y_{\star,\star}$	0.062*	0.064***
t-1	1.75	2.71
$\Delta \ln Y_{+2}$	0.061***	0.063*
1-2	2.65	1.85
∆ ln (w/p)+₅	- 0.013	- 0.012
	(- 0.57)	(- 0.54)
$ECM = E_{t-1} - InY_{t-1}(1)$	- 0.014**	- 0.025***
	(- 2.11)	(- 3.25)
In (w/p) t (long term relationship)	- 0.608*	- 0.389***
(ingreen readorship)	(- 1.62)	(- 3.25)
Time trend to 1	- 0.0023	- 0.00351*
	(- 1.47)	(– 1.90)
Dummy 1975Q2	- 0.002	- 0.002*
	(– 1.59)	(- 1.70)
Dummy 1984Q1	- 0.002***	- 0.003***
	(- 8.84)	(– 9.35)
Dummy 1989Q4	0.003***	0.003*
	9.39	8.52
Dummy 1992Q3	- 0.004***	- 0.004***
	(- 6.88)	(- 6.92)
Intercept	- 0.016*	- 0.036***
	(- 1.77)	(- 6.92)
Break= Dummy (year>1996)		0.0014***
		2.65
Main statistics		
R ²	0.773	0.786
Adjusted R ²	0.753	0.766
Serial correlation of order 1	0.21	0.28
LM(1) (²)	(0.65)	(0.6)
Serial correlation of order 4	6.31	4.13
LM(4) (²)	(0.22)	(0.39)
	• •	

Note: Absolute value of t statistics in parentheses,

* significant at 10%,; **significant at 5%; *** significant at 1%,

As some heteroskedasticity has been detected, the t-statistics are computed with the White heteroskedasticity-consistent standard errors, (¹) The t-statistics of the ECM term should be compared with -1,61, -1,93 and -2,56, which is the MacKinnon critical value at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively,

 $(^{2})$ Breusch-Godfrey correlation LM test (asymptotic test),

 $(^{1})$ Data obtained from Fagan, G., J. Henry and R. Mestre, 'An Area-Wide Model (AWM) for the Euro Area', ECB working paper series, No 42, January. The most recent quarters have been extended using Eurostat ESA95 National Accounts.







determinants (GDP growth, moderate real labour cost developments, employment inertia, trend TFP) cannot fully explain (Decressin et al. 2001, Garibaldi and Mauro 2002, Mourre 2006).

In this context, it is helpful to check whether the break in the standard equation recorded in the late 1990s is still

seen when we extend the time sample to the period of sluggish economic growth which followed in the first half of the 2000s. Indeed, there is no reason to believe that the break in the employment equation should completely disappear in a period of slow economic growth, as this break is - by definition - not explained by the economic cycle. However, the magnitude of the break could be slightly altered if we consider a longer time sample, as its underlying causes could evolve over time (¹).

The idea is to run the equation up to the end of the past expansion in 2001, to forecast employment over 2001-2005 and then to compare the result with actual employment.

Graph 11 presents the performance of the out-of-sample forecast of employment. Unlike the standard equation (without break) estimated both before the break in 1997 and on the full period 1970-2001, the equation with break performs well over the period 2001-2005. In particular, the equation estimated before 1997, i.e. the onset of the break, predicted that employment would stall in 2001-2005, while it actually significantly increases, albeit at a lower pace than during the late 1990s. The outof-sample dynamic simulation is close to the actual employment dynamics, although it displays a smoother pattern than the actual series, which may show some sign of overshooting (slight labour shedding in 2002 followed by labour hoarding in 2004-2005). It emerges that the employment pattern seen in the period of strong employment growth in the late 1990s (characterised by a break in the employment equation) suffices to explain the behaviour of employment in the downturn. The resilience during the recent slowdown is therefore mainly accounted for by the job-richer economic growth already recorded between 1997 and 2001 (long-term employment pattern) rather than a change in the cyclical response of employment (short-term employment behaviour) in the current slowdown compared with the upturn of 1997-2001. In brief, the structural change recorded in 1997-2001 is still seen in the subsequent period, which is characterised by very different cyclical conditions. The resilience during the recent slowdown is therefore mainly accounted for by the jobricher economic growth already recorded between 1997 and 2000 (which is therefore likely to be related to structural factors (past and ongoing labour market reforms and more favourable sectoral structure). Indeed, the break in the intercept corresponds to a permanent increase in the long-term level of employment, which reflects the fact that the economic activity is more intensive in labour (whatever the cyclical conditions) than in the past and implies higher employment growth in a transitory period only to reach this new employmentricher regime. This explains why the growth in employment was broadly similar in the late 1990s and the late 1980s despite significantly lower GDP growth in the late



30

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) The pace of reforms of labour institutions which may explain part of the break could differ between periods of slow and strong economic growth.

1990s and why employment growth remains positive after 2001 despite the drop in GDP growth. However, further rises in labour intensity would be needed to make the increase in the employment growth last.

In addition to the positive break, wage moderation is also an explanatory factor, which acts with some lags (see Graph 12). According to the equation with break, a 1 % point decline in real labour cost growth leads to around a 0.4 % point increase in employment growth in the long run (with a mean lag of around two years). In the period 2001-2005, labour costs (deflated by GDP deflator) barely increased (at an annual rate of only 0.05 %), while real labour costs grew by 1.6 % in 1990-1992, on the eve of the recession of 1993.

4.3. Employment outlook for 2006 and 2007

According to DG ECFIN's spring 2006 forecast, employment is predicted to grow at 0.9 % in 2006 and 0.8 % in 2007 compared with 0.7 % in 2005. This rise would reflect the expected movements in GDP growth from 1.3 % in 2005 to 2.1 % in 2006 and 1.8 % in 2007. As seen in Graph 13, the employment equation confirms that this profile is reasonable and that no strong recovery in employment should be expected in the coming two years; any growth will very likely remain below 1% per annum. For 2006, the employment forecast derived from the equation is very close to DG ECFIN's spring forecast (0.8 % compared with 0.9 %). However, for 2007, the forecast derived from the equation is slightly more pessimistic than ECFIN's spring forecast (0.6 % compared with 0.8 %).

Looking at the productivity profile in more depth, both the spring 2006 forecast and the employment equation point to a weak rebound in productivity growth in 2006 followed by a decline, as depicted by Graph 14. The expected recovery in productivity projected for 2006 is consistent with recent observed developments, as it is of a similar magnitude to the local pick-up registered in early 2004. However, it is of a lesser magnitude than those recorded in 1998, 2000 and early 2004 (which were themselves much smaller than those observed in the 1970s, 1980s and early 1990s). This lower amplitude of the productivity cycle can be related to the lesser fluctuation of GDP growth. Historically, the productivity cycle was highly correlated to the business cycle.

Moreover, both forecasts capture well the fact that trend productivity has been lower since the mid-1990s. Average HP-filtered productivity is around 0.9 % in the period 1997-2005, compared with 1.8 % in the period 1986-1996. This 'lower productivity' might partly reflect the higher job-intensity of economic growth: past and ongo-





Graph 13: Forecast employment productivity growth (employment equations and ECFIN)

ing labour market reforms combined with a sustained period of moderate and stable wage developments are likely to have contributed to higher labour utilisation in the euro area. However, it should be borne in mind that this is not the full picture as the decline in labour productivity growth is also attributed to the lack of innovation combined with the delay in the completion of the single market and the rigidities in the product markets.



5. Wage developments

Brightening economic conditions have not translated in accelerating wage growth. In 2005, the dominating issue in the wage sphere was whether growth of labour costs is going to accelerate and how fast. Against the background of continuously high prices for energy on world markets and with consumer price inflation in the euro area persistently above the 2 % margin, the emergence of second-round effects from wages appeared to be a genuine threat to price stability. The fact that wage moderation has prevailed for a considerable time, while an economic rebound set in, the rates of unemployment improved and profitability rebounded, added credibility to a scenario of accelerating wage growth.

In the end, the scenario did not materialise in 2005. Labour cost growth, measured as compensation per employee, was smaller in 2005 than in 2004 in 13 of the 25 EU Member States, yielding a deceleration of wage growth to 2.6 % in the EU-25 aggregate from 2.9 % the year before and 2.0 % from 2.2 % in the euro area. The picture is similar for hourly labour costs. The increase in hourly compensation slowed down in 13 Member States. At the aggregate level, growth rates of hourly labour costs remained broadly constant in the EU-25 and euro area.

With respect to the cyclical situation, developments in 2005 appear as a mirror image to those during the early phase of the economic slowdown in 2001-02. At that time, wage growth responded belatedly and slug-gishly to the weakening of economic activity, which depressed profitability and possibly dented investment activity. This time, labour costs failed to accelerate, at least in the majority of countries and the EU aggregates, despite economic activity having gained pace, which should be beneficial for both investment and job creation. As in the previous episode, the reason for this behaviour can be found in both structural and cyclical factors. Related to wage bargaining structures and possibly the design of social benefit systems

in EU Member States, wages typically respond stickily to changes in economic conditions. But there was also immense uncertainty surrounding the sustainability of the cyclical rebound, which might have held back wage claims.

Combined with consumer price inflation hovering above 2 % and employment growth below 1 % in most Member States, the moderate increase in nominal wages translated into a small expansion of real wages. The growth rate of real compensation per employee had been below 1 % per annum in each year since 1999 in the euro area and not much higher in the EU-25. In 2005, real compensation per employee did not grow in the euro area and in the EU-15 and EU-25 it increased by a mere 0.5 %. This means that the wage bill was almost exclusively driven by changes in employment. Since employment growth rebounded in 2005, the wage share declined much less in 2005 than in the previous year, reaching 66.8 % in the EU-25 and 64.7 % in the euro area (see Graph 15). As regards the euro area, this is the lowest wage share recorded ever $(^1)$.

5.1. The euro area

5.1.1. Developments in nominal labour costs

Aggregate developments

All harmonised wage indicators show that low wage growth has prevailed in the euro area in 2005. The increase of 2.0 % of compensation per employee in 2005 has been the lowest since 1999. In 2004, it was still 2.2 %. When transformed in hourly rates, compensation increased by 2.3 % in 2005, which is marginally higher than the 2.1 % seen in 2004, but considerably below those in the years 1999-2003. Eurostat's hourly Labour Cost Index confirms the image of prevailing wage mod-

⁽¹⁾ The adjusted wage share is defined here as compensation per employee as percentage of GDP at factor cost per person employed. Historical data since 1960.



Graph 15: Adjusted wage share, EU aggregates

eration. It picked up to 2.6 % in 2005 after 2.5 % the year before, which is also markedly below the rates recorded in previous years (see Graph 16).

While the data on compensation per employee suggests the picture of a further deceleration in 2005 of the growth of labour costs in the euro area, indicators of hourly wage growth indicate a bottoming out, but no further deceleration. The latter is also supported by the profile of quarterly wage growth. The quarter-on-quarter increase in Eurostat's labour cost index has meanwhile been constant for ten quarters in a row (see Graph 17). Thus, it would also be premature to interpret the slight acceleration of hourly wage growth in the year 2005 as a clear sign of a reversal towards accelerating growth of labour costs.

Reasons behind continuously moderate wage growth

Market forces, as well as the behaviour of social partners in collective bargaining, contributed to continuously moderate wage growth in the euro area. The contribution of non-wage labour costs to labour cost growth, which reflects the impact of non-economic forces, has been small.

According to the ECB indicator of negotiated wages, the wage increase agreed in collective bargaining was 2.1 % in 2005, the same rate as the year before. Graph 18 suggests that the increase in negotiated wages has followed the development of the euro area output gap with a lag. It did not start decelerating when the output gap closed. Considerably lower wage increases were agreed once the output gap became negative. Similarly, collectivelyagreed wages increases did not pick up on the improvement in the output gap 2004. That they remained at a relatively low level might be due to the fact that the output gap remained negative and deteriorated again in 2005 (1). An important reason for the lagged response of negotiated wages to cyclical conditions is that they are often negotiated for a period of at least one year.

The wage drift, which is defined here as the gap between the increase in hourly compensation and the growth of negotiated wages, tended to move alongside negotiated wages. It appears to be more responsive to cyclical conditions than negotiated wages, having increased in 2002 when the slowdown was assumed to be short lived, and strongly declined thereafter. In 2005, the wage drift turned slightly positive, which might be a lagged response to the rebound in economic activity in 2004. Note, however, that cyclicality and sign of the wage drift depend on the indicator of labour costs. The gap between per head labour costs and negotiated wages is smaller and less cyclical if negotiated wages are compared with compensation per employee.

The observation of no acceleration in negotiated wages would also be in (1)line with the notion that the improvement of the output gap in 2004 was largely due to a calendar effect, driven by 2.8 more working days in the euro area in 2004 than on average.





The relevant wage variable has been so far labour costs, which includes wages paid to employees as well as nonwage labour costs. The latter item relates to social security contributions paid by employers. In the euro area, most of these expenses are legally required (for details on the most recent trends in non wage-labour cost and more generally on the tax wedge see Box 2). However, they also include employers' contributions to contractual and private benefit plans. Therefore non-wage labour costs do not only depend on legally defined contribution

35

Box 2: Wage indicators — main concepts and conceptual differences

1. **Compensation per employee** and **compensation per hour** capture the development in total labour costs borne by firms. They include gross wages and salaries (i.e. wages plus employees' social security contributions) and employers' social security contributions. Employers' social security contributions drive a wedge between labour costs and wages. Compensation per employee and compensation per hour worked are derived from the data on total compensation, employees and hours worked in the national accounts whereas other indicators are mostly based on surveys. It is the relevant concept when it comes to compare labour costs growth to labour productivity developments, or, putting it differently, to compute unit labour costs (i.e. labour costs borne by a firm for each unit of output).

2. **The labour cost index** (*LCI*) captures the evolution in *hourly* labour costs, which is meant to give a better estimate of labour cost developments, correcting for distorting compositional effects of the numbers of hours worked (namely, the changes in overtime hours and the developments of part-time employment). Unlike compensation, the information covers only the non-agricultural market-related economy ('business sectors') excluding the non-market services (administration, education, health and social services) in many countries. Therefore, the difference between the *LCI* and compensation per employee captures not only the correction of the number of hours worked but also diverging wage developments in the public and private sector.

3. **ECB indicator of negotiated wages for the euro area** aggregates information from non-harmonised indicators of collectively agreed wages from national sources. It indicates the wage pressures arising from both employees' wage claims and the outcome of wage bargaining process, regardless of any governmental measures on employers' social security contributions and any 'wage drift' (i.e. pay rise above or below what it is negotiated). In this respect, by comparing this information with compensation per hour (adjusted for employers' social security contributions), one can in theory derive information about **wage drift**, which is the gap between wages actually paid and negotiated wages. Despite the fact that the aggregation of non-harmonised components is an important methodological weakness, the indicator appears to reflect relatively well wage developments in a timely manner.



4. ECFIN wage indicator for the euro area and the EU-15, based on the most timely national wage statistics, gives in general a (crude) indication of gross monthly earnings (gross wages), although underlying data for some countries refers to hourly data or to total labour costs. This implies a complete lack of harmonisation of the indicator's country components. This indicator and their country components are conceptually similar to Eurostat's indicator of gross monthly earnings, which is not produced any longer because of its lack of harmonisation and reliability.







rates to social security but can also be influenced by changes in firms' pension reserves, for example, to take account of changes in life expectancy (¹).

On a competitive market, changes in non-wage labour costs should translate into opposite changes in wages, keeping total labour costs constant in the long run. In the short to medium run, changes in non-wage labour costs may not be neutral. Thus, increases in employers' social security contributions could increase total labour costs and reductions in social security contributions may lead

 $^{(^{\}rm i})$ $\,$ This effect has had a significant impact on total labour costs in Germany in 2000 and in the first quarter of 2005.

to a decline in labour costs (¹). The available breakdown in the national accounts and the LCI allows a look at the contribution of these non-wage elements to total wage growth.

There are currently two different statistical sources available to calculate the impact of non-wage labour costs, namely the data from the national accounts and from the LCI. Both show that the annual increase of non-wage labour costs continued to be higher than wage growth in 2005. Non-wage labour costs per employee grew by 2.2 % per employee according to the national accounts and by 2.9 % per hour according to the LCI. The contribution to the increase to the growth of total labour costs was, however, small in the euro area. Both sources suggest that the contribution to the increase of total labour costs was between 0.2 and 0.3 percentage point in 2005 (Graph 20).

The euro area aggregate hides substantial differences among Member States. A high contribution of non-wage labour costs to the growth of total labour costs has been around 1 % on average in 2002-2004 as well as in 2005 in the Netherlands. A change to employers' contribution to healthcare led to a negative contribution in Germany in 2005. That is, the increase in wages and salaries in 2005 was slightly higher than the increase in labour costs in Germany and five other euro-area Member States, whereas the opposite holds for four countries. They grew in tandem in Austria.

Sectoral breakdown

Labour cost developments have been different across sectors. After having shared a downward trend in the last years, sectoral hourly labour costs moved in different directions in 2005. In 2005, wage growth in market services picked up, albeit from very low rates in 2004, whereas hourly labour costs in manufacturing and construction continued to decelerate. This observation sparks off the interesting question of whether the trend reversal in market-services gives an indication for a general change in trends in 2006. The traditional view considers wages in manufacturing to lead overall wage developments. However, a lead of developments in market-service wages over manufacturing wages is also visible in 2001/02. At that time, wages in construction followed with a further delay.



⁽¹⁾ In some countries, for example Germany, there is a direct link between the contributions to the social security system paid by the employees and the one paid by the employers.



Graph 21: Contribution of non-wage labour costs to total wage growth 2005, euro area Member States

Box 3: The evolution of tax wedges on labour

A comprehensive analysis of the development of wages in the European Union needs to take into account the tax and social security components that create a gap between the cost of labour for employers and the net earnings received by the workers.

In 2005, the total tax wedge on labour (including employers' social security payments) for an average-wage worker (¹) varied in the European Union (²) from 25.7 % in Ireland to 55.4 % in Belgium (See **Table 13**). At 44.4 %, the GDP-weighted EU average remains about 15 percentage points above the US level, and this despite a gradual decrease over the last years. The 0.8 % decrease for the EU average since 2000 reflects a reduction taking place in 12 of the 19 European countries from the sample and has been most marked in Slovak Republic, Finland, Ireland, Denmark and Luxembourg.

The changes from 2004 to 2005 have been relatively modest for most countries, probably partly reflecting small changes in the average wages or small adjustments in the thresholds of tax and social security payments brackets (See **Table 14**). There are, however, a few noticeable exceptions. The total tax wedge in Slovak Republic decreased by an impressive 4.1 percentage points, thanks to a dramatic decrease in the employers part in social security contributions. The German reform of personal income taxes allowed for a reduction in the tax wedge of 1.5 percentage points. A rather substantial decrease in tax wedge also occurred in Hungary, mainly due to a decrease in personal income taxation. Several other Member States (Austria, Ireland, Portugal and Sweden) have also seen their tax wedge decreased but at smaller rates. On the other hand a number of Member States have seen their tax wedge increased, albeit in a modest way.

(Continued on the next page)

⁽¹⁾ The reference is a single person without children in the manufacturing industry. The figures are coming from OECD's publication on taxing wedges. For additional measures of taxation on labour, see also European Commission's publication on 'Structures of taxation systems in the European Union', which provides real-life data on the implicit tax rate on labour. This report can be found at http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/taxation/gen_info/ economic_analysis/tax_structures/index_en.htm

⁽²⁾ Bar Cyprus, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, and Slovenia which are not OECD members.

Box 3 (continued)

Several reforms of personal income tax schemes have allowed for a reduction in the tax wedge. Germany has decreased its marginal tax rates. For example, as a last step of the Tax Reform 2000, the basic tax rate and the top rate have decreased from 16 % to 15 % and from 45 % to 42 % respectively. Portugal has chosen to mainly target the decrease in marginal rates to the first brackets. Austria has applied a similar reform, raising the thresholds from which incomes are taxed, suppressing the 21 % tax bracket but slightly increasing at the same time the marginal tax rates over the middle range. Hungary had a three-bracket tax structure in 2004 and has decided to suppress the middle bracket by aligning its rate with the 18 % applicable to the first bracket instead of 26 %. The top bracket is left unchanged at 38 %. Finally, Ireland has simply decided to raise both the tax credit offered to all taxpayers and the threshold of the top bracket (taxed at 42 % compared to 20 % for the first bracket) of its two-bracket personal income tax system.

The exact same trends can be observed for low-wage workers (¹) as for average-wage ones (see **Table 15**). One noticeable exception is France which did specific efforts to decrease employers' social security payments on this category of workers and hence reducing their total tax wedge by almost one percentage point. Over the last years, several Member States have targeted their reduction in labour costs to this category of workers leading to a 1.7 percentage point decrease in the total tax wedge between 2000 and 2005. Here again, the most dramatic reduction has been achieved by France and Hungary.

(1) Defined as a single person without children in the manufacturing industry and earning 67 % of the average earnings of a full-time production worker.

Table 13

Total tax wedge on labour (including soc. sec. employers)

Total tax	S	Single pe	erson wi (1	thout ch 00 % of	ildren, a APW)	average	wage	8	Single pe	erson wi	thout ch	ildren, (67 % of	APW
labour	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	Difference 2000-05	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	Difference 2000-05
AT	47.3	46.9	47.1	47.4	47.5	47.4	0.1	43.2	42.9	43.1	43.5	43.4	42.5	- 0.7
BE	57.1	56.7	56.3	55.7	55.4	55.4	- 1.7	51.3	50.7	50.5	49.6	48.9	49.1	- 2.2
CZ	42.7	42.6	42.9	43.2	43.5	43.8	1.1	41.4	41.3	41.5	41.7	41.9	42.1	0.7
DE	53.9	53	53.6	51.5	53.3	51.8	- 2.2	48.6	47.7	48.2	45.5	47.9	46.7	- 1.9
DK	44.3	43.6	42.6	42.6	41.3	41.4	- 3	41.2	40.5	39.8	39.8	39.3	39.3	- 1.9
EL	38.4	38.1	37.7	37.7	38.3	38.8	0.4	35.5	35.1	34.3	34.4	34.4	34.4	- 1.1
ES	38.6	38.8	39.1	38.5	38.7	39	0.4	34.7	35.3	35.7	34.7	35.2	35.7	1
FI	47.8	46.4	45.9	45	44.5	44.6	- 3.2	43	41.4	40.9	40	39.4	39.5	- 3.5
FR	49.6	49.8	49.8	49.8	49.8	50.1	0.5	47.4	47.6	47.4	45	42.3	41.4	- 5.9
HU	52.7	54	53.7	50.8	51.8	50.5	- 2.2	48.5	48.1	48.2	44.5	44.8	42.9	- 5.6
IE	28.9	25.8	24.5	24.2	26.2	25.7	- 3.2	18.1	17.3	16.7	16.2	20.5	19.9	1.8
IT	46.4	46	46	45	45.4	45.4	- 1	43.1	42.7	42.7	41.1	41.4	41.7	- 1.3
LU	38.2	36.2	33.6	34.1	34.6	35.3	- 2.9	32.5	30.6	28.6	28.9	29.2	29.8	- 2.7
NL	39.7	37.2	37.4	37.1	38.6	38.6	- 1.1	42	38.9	39.1	40	40.4	41.3	- 0.7
PL	43.2	42.9	42.9	43.1	43.3	43.6	0.3	42.2	41.8	41.7	41.9	42.2	42.4	0.2
PT	37.3	36.4	36.6	36.8	36.8	36.2	- 1.1	33.2	32.2	32.3	32.4	32.4	31.7	- 1.5
SE	50.1	49.1	47.8	48.2	48.4	47.9	- 2.2	48.6	47.8	46.8	47	47.1	46.5	- 2.1
SK	41.8	42.8	42.5	42.9	42.5	38.3	- 3.4	40.6	41.3	40.8	40.9	39.6	35.3	- 5.3
UK	32.1	31.8	31.9	33.3	33.4	33.5	1.4	28.3	28	28.1	29.6	29.7	29.9	1.5
EU *	45.2	44.6	44.6	44.2	44.7	44.4	- 0.8	41.6	41.1	41.1	40.1	40.2	39.9	- 1.7
US	29.7	29.6	29.4	29.2	29.1	29.1	- 0.6	27.2	27.1	27	26.7	26.7	26.7	- 0.5
СН	30	30.1	30.1	29.7	29.4	29.5	- 0.5	27.3	27.3	27.3	26.9	26.6	26.7	- 0.6
NO	38.6	39.2	38.6	38.1	38.1	37.3	- 1.3	35.1	35.2	35.2	34.9	35	34.3	- 0.8

* From January 2005, Slovak Republic has introduced the fully funded pillar, Under this system, 9 percentage point of the social security contributions paid by the employer to the pension insurance go directly to pension funds and not to the social insurance company as previously, The pension funds are treated outside of the general government so that these contributions are not accounted for in the OECD calculations, Hence, the 2005 employers' social security contributions are assumed to be 26.2 % (OECD, taxing wedges report),

Source: OECD, Taxing wages report, Single person without children, 100 % and 67 % of APW, * GDP-weighted average for those countries above,

Table 14

nponents
con
l its
and
rker
[0M
e B
e-wa
verag
e averag
the averag
for the averag
our for the averag
labour for the averag
on labour for the averag
wedge on labour for the averag

Single person			Of which			Difference	e 2004-05			Differenc	e 2000-04	
without children, 100 % of APW	Total tax wedge 2005	Personal income tax	Social security contribution employee	Social security contributions employer	Total tax wedge	Personal income tax	Social Security contribution employee	Social security contribution employer	Total tax wedge	Personal income tax	Social security contribution employee	Social security contribution employer
АТ	47.4	10.9	14	22.6	- 0.1	- 0.2	0	0	0.2	1.2	0.2	- 1.2
BE	55.4	21.4	10.7	23.3	0	0	0	0	- 1.7	- 0.5	0.2	- 1.5
Ŋ	43.8	8.6	9.3	25.9	0.3	0.3	0	0	0.8	0.8	0	0
DE	51.8	17.3	17.3	17.3	- 1.5	- 1.5	0	0	- 0.7	- 1.1	0.2	0.2
DK	41.4	30.2	10.6	0.5	0.1	0.2	0	0	- 3.1	- 2.1	-	0.1
EL	38.8	4.3	12.5	21.9	0.5	0.5	0	0	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.1	0.1
ES	39	10.7	4.9	23.4	0.3	0.3	0	0	0.2	0.2	0	0
E	44.6	20.1	5.1	19.4	0.1	- 0.1	0.2	0	- 3.3	- 1.4	- 0.6	- 1.3
FR	50.1	10.8	9.6	29.7	0.2	0.1	0	0.1	0.3	- 0.2	0.1	0.4
ΠH	50.5	14.3	10	26.3	- 1.2	1.1	0	- 0.2	- 0.9	- 1.6	0.7	0
ш	25.7	11.4	4.7	9.7	- 0.4	- 0.5	0	0	- 2.7	- 1.7	0	-
F	45.4	13.6	6.9	24.9	0	0	0	0	-	- 0.5	0.1	- 0.6
B	35.3	11.1	12.3	11.9	0.7	0.4	0.1	0.1	- 3.6	- 3.2	- 0.1	- 0.3
NL	38.6	9.5	19.7	9.5	0.1	0.3	- 0.4	0.2	- 1.1	1.2	- 1.9	- 0.4
PL	43.6	5.3	21.3	17	0.2	0.1	0.2	0	0.1	- 0.4	0.5	0
РТ	36.2	8.1	8.9	19.2	- 0.6	- 0.6	0	0	- 0.5	- 0.5	0	0
SE	47.9	18.1	5.3	24.5	- 0.4	- 0.3	0	- 0.1	- 1.8	- 1.7	0	- 0.1
SK	38.3	6.9	10.6	20.8	- 4.1	0.4	0.7	- 5.3	0.7	1.1	1.2	- 1.6
UK	33.5	15.7	8.2	9.6	0.1	0.1	0	0	1.3	0.1	0.7	0.5
SU	29.1	14.6	7.3	7.3	0	0	0	0	- 0.5	- 0.5	0	0
Н	29.5	9.6	10	10	0.1	0.1	0	0	- 0.6	0.2	- 0.4	- 0.4
NO	37.3	18.8	6.9	11.6	- 0.9	- 0.9	0	0.1	- 0.4	- 0.6	0	0.2
Source: OECD,	faxing wages rep	oort.										

Table 15

42

s components
nd it
a
of APW)
~0
6
9
worker
low-wage
hel
or t
r fé
abou
l n c
wedge (
Tax

Cincle noncon			Of which			Difference	e 2004-05			Difference	e 2000-04	
Single person without children, 67 % of APW	Total tax wedge 2005	Personal income tax	Social security contribution employee	Social security contribution employer	Total tax wedge	Personal income tax	Social security contribution employee	Social security contribution employer	Total tax wedge	Personal income tax	Social security contribution employee	Social security contribution employer
AT	42.5	9	14	22.6	- 0.9	- 0.9	0	0	0.2	1.2	0.2	- 1.2
BE	49.1	16.8	10.3	22	0.2	0	0.1	0.1	- 2.4	- 0.4	0.3	- 2.3
Ŋ	42.1	6.9	9.3	25.9	0.2	0.2	0	0	0.5	0.5	0	0
DE	46.7	12.2	17.3	17.3	- 1.1	- 1.1	0	0	- 0.7	- 1.2	0.2	0.2
DK	39.3	26.7	11.8	0.8	0	0.1	- 0.1	0	- 1.9	, - 1	- 1.1	0.1
EL	34.4	0	12.5	21.9	0	0	0	0	- 1.1	- 1.2	0.1	0.1
ES	35.7	7.4	4.9	23.4	0.6	0.6	0	0	0.5	0.5	0	0
Ē	39.5	15.1	5	19.4	0.1	- 0.1	0.2	0	- 3.6	- 1.6	- 0.7	- 1.3
FR	41.4	9.7	10.8	20.9	- 0.9	0.3	0.2	- 1.4	- 5.1	0.7	1.1	- 6.8
Η	42.9	6.1	9.9	26.9	- 1.9	- 1.7	0	- 0.2	- 3.7	- 5	0.7	0.6
≝	19.9	5.9	4.3	9.7	- 0.6	- 0.7	0.1	0	2.4	- 3.7	4.2	1.9
F	41.7	10	6.9	24.9	0.4	0.4	0	0	- 1.7	- 1.2	0.1	- 0.6
Ľ	29.8	5.5	12.2	12.1	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.1	- 3.3	- 2.9	- 0.2	- 0.2
NL	41.3	3.5	23.5	14.3	0.8	0.6	0.2	0	- 1.5	- 1.6	- 0.3	0.4
Р	42.4	4.2	21.3	17	0.3	0.1	0.2	0	0	- 0.5	0.5	0
PT	31.7	3.6	8.9	19.2	- 0.7	- 0.7	0	0	- 0.8	- 0.8	0	0
SE	46.5	16.7	5.3	24.5	- 0.6	- 0.5	0	- 0.1	- 1.5	- 1.4	0	- 0.1
SK	35.3	3.9	10.6	20.8	- 4.4	0.2	0.7	- 5.3	- 0.9	- 0.6	1.2	- 1.6
UK	29.9	13.7	7.5	8.7	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	1.3	0.2	9.0	9.0
US	26.7	12	7.3	7.3	0	0	0	0	- 0.6	- 0.5	0	0
Ĥ	26.7	6.8	10	10	0.1	0.1	0	0	- 0.7	0.1	- 0.4	- 0.4
NO	34.3	15.8	6.9	11.6	- 0.8	- 0.8	0	0.1	0	- 0.2	0	0.2

Source: OECD, Taxing wages report.

A finer sectoral breakdown shows that the pick-up in 2005 was caused by the development of labour costs in trade-related services (wholesale and retail trade, transport, information and storage and less so in hotels and restaurants, real estate and business services) while hourly labour costs in financial intermediation continued to decelerate.

- The acceleration of labour costs in the service sector is also visible, although much smaller, if compensation per employee is looked at. This suggests that the acceleration is not driven by a shift towards fewer hours worked for the same increase of pay as in the year before. In this case, compensation per employee should have decelerated.
- It would also be indicative of a trend reversal if the acceleration in sectoral hourly labour costs was widespread across countries. Indeed, it was shared by 5 out of the 7 euro area countries for which sectoral data is available to date. For two of them, the acceleration can be considered a correction from extraordinary low pay increases the year before, namely from 0.1 % to 0.8 % in Germany, and from minus 2.8 % to plus 5.3 % in Austria.

The convergence of wage growth in manufacturing and services in 2005 suggests that the differential observed in 2004 was caused by special factors, but did not represent a lasting decoupling of sectoral wage developments. On average 1999-2005, hourly labour cost growth in market services was 3.2 %, the same rate as in the manufacturing sector. The origin for the persistently high differential between service inflation and goods inflation (¹) cannot be found in differing labour cost growth between manufacturing and services but seems related to the lower productivity growth in services than in manufacturing (²). Therefore, wage growth in services appears much less aligned to productivity than wage growth in manufacturing, creating upward pressure on service prices in the euro area.

Country-specific developments

Differences in wage growth across Member States have remained pronounced in 2005. The 2.0 % increase of compensation per employee in the euro area must be seen against a range from 0.2 % in Germany to 6.1 % in Greece. The historically low rate of a 2 % increase in nominal compensation per employee in the euro area needs to be seen in conjunction with the very low wage growth recorded in Germany. Excluding Germany from the euro area aggregate would yield a growth rate around 3 % in 2004-2005.

- As regards Germany, the low rate means the continuation of a trend. The country had the lowest wage growth of all euro area Member States in each year since the beginning of the euro area, except 2001, when wage growth was lower in Austria (³).
- The highest wage growth has been recorded in Ireland and Greece, which is also a continuation of over-proportionally high wage growth in both countries.
- In terms of hourly wage growth in 2005, there is a clustering of countries in a quite narrow range 2.8 % to 3.1 %, encompassing Spain (⁴), Belgium, Finland, Italy, Portugal and France.

The central insight of no acceleration in wage growth in the euro area does not depend on extreme observations. The median of the euro area Member States indicates no acceleration in 2005. The same message emerges from an aggregate of the euro area excluding Germany, Ireland and Greece (see Graph 22) (5).

Wage growth decelerated in 2005 in the majority of Member States and the deceleration in these countries was on average stronger than the acceleration in those where wage growth picked up. Portugal was the only country that had an acceleration of hourly wage growth in 2005 of

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) In the euro area, average services inflation has been 2.3 % since 1999, compared to 0.7 % for non-energy industrial goods.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) It appears as if high productivity growth in some service sectors such as financial intermediation and communication is overcompensated by low or even negative productivity growth in some other service sectors, for example hotels and restaurants, community social and personal services. Lower productivity growth in services than in manufacturing is usually attributed to a higher labour-intensity of production as well as to less competition, in particular less exposure to international competition.

⁽³⁾ The growth rate of labour costs in Germany in 2004 and 2005 is distorted because of a composition effect. Labour market reforms made it more attractive to accept a low-wage job while at the same time, but not necessarily causally linked, the number of employees in normal jobs, i.e. contributing to the social security system, declined. Despite this effect, the German wage growth was very likely the lowest among the euro area Member States.

⁽⁴⁾ Somewhat odd appears the increase in hourly wages of less than 3 % and of compensation per employee of close to 2.5 % in Spain in 2005. According to the Labour cost index, hourly wage growth has decelerated to 3.7 % in 2005 from 4.1 % in 2004.

⁽⁵⁾ It also holds for a euro area aggregate excluding Germany.

more than 1 percentage point whereas decelerations by a similar or larger amount were observed in Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Greece and Finland. Moreover, changes to hours worked mattered as evidenced by the observation that among those 5 countries where the growth of compensation per employee accelerated, there were 2 in which the growth of hourly compensation decelerated. These were Greece and Belgium.





Convergence of wage growth across the euro area Member States

Convergence of wage growth has implications for the role of wages to contribute to rebalancing differences in economic performance. But it may also imply converging inflation across Member States in dependence on the extent differences in wage growth determine inflation differences. This issue is dealt with more in-depth in the special focus section of this report. As regards developments in 2005, it can be noted that there are some signs of convergence in the growth rate of nominal compensation. Evidence is much weaker for convergence in the growth rates of either nominal or real unit labour costs. In a longer term perspective, there are also indications of convergence in wage growth for some countries but not for the euro area as a whole.

Broadly speaking, wage growth accelerated in those countries in 2005, in which wage growth had been low the year before and vice versa. Evidence of convergence in wage growth among the euro area Member States is pronounced for hourly wages (Graph 24) and less so for wage growth per employee (Graph 25). For hourly data, the variation of wage growth in 2004 explains 50 % of

the cross country variation in the acceleration of wage growth. When using per employee data, this is only the case if the observations for Germany, Ireland and Greece are removed from the sample $(^1)$.

Convergence of wage growth is, however, not observable if convergence indicators such as the standard deviation of growth rates across countries or the range of wage growth are used (Graph 26 and Graph 27). The standard deviation shows no clear trend neither for compensation growth per employee nor per hour worked. The width of 6 percentage points of the range between the highest and the lowest rate of labour cost growth in 2005 was very close to the average range 1999-2004. The lowest range so far has been 4.1 % in 2003. Since then it has widened again. In terms of hourly compensation growth, the range narrowed in 2005, fluctuating around its 1999-2004 average. There is no visible trend in the range of either of the two series.

⁽¹⁾ Similar graphs relating the growth of nominal and real unit labour costs in 2004 with their acceleration in 2005 does not yield a significant negative slope term that would indicate convergence.







Graph 26: Compensation per employee, range and standard deviation among euro area Member States

At first sight, the observation of a constant range of wage growth among the euro area Member States stands in contrast to the issue of wage convergence, because convergence usually implies a declining range over time. In

order to resolve this apparent puzzle, Graph 28 lists a ranking of Member States, showing the average wage growth in 1999-2005 and the dispersion of the ranking around this average.

46



Graph 27: Compensation per hour, range and standard deviation among euro area Member States

It turns out that Greece and Ireland on the one hand as well as Austria and Germany on the other hand had both polar positions and a small standard deviation. This means that they had the highest and lowest rate of wage growth, respectively, in most years. Average rankings are closer and standard deviations higher for the other 8 other Member States, suggesting that convergence of wage growth may have been largely restricted to these countries, while there are persistent differences in wage growth relative to the euro area in the other four. The notion of convergence of wage growth for a number of countries is also confirmed by the development over time of the standard deviation of wage growth of 8 euro area Member States, i.e. excluding Ireland, Greece, Germany and Austria.

5.1.2. Assessment of the impact of labour costs developments

The standard wage rule implies that wages could grow as fast as the sum of price increases and productivity growth, taking labour market conditions into account. Since the labour market situation in the euro area as a whole has not deteriorated in 2005, one would have expected that workers draw some benefits from the recorded improvement in productivity. Since nominal wage growth did not exceed inflation in 2005 while productivity growth was positive, they have not. The growth of real unit labour costs was minus 0.5 % in 2005, leading to the continuous decline in the wage share presented above.

Real wage growth

The annual growth rate of compensation per employee was the same as that of consumer price inflation, leading to virtually unchanged real wages in the euro area 2005. Adjusting nominal wages for the increase in the HICP yields a decline in real compensation per employee. While the amount of the decline is marginal, it appears remarkable that there has not been any notable increase in real wages for four years in a row in the euro area, i.e. since 2002.

When interpreting the growth of real wages, it is important to note that price developments over the last years have been strongly driven by soaring energy prices. These represent a change in relative prices that temporarily increase the overall rate of inflation and there is currently no standard procedure for controlling this effect. A possibility would be to deflate the growth of nominal wages with a price indicator that excludes the energy component. Such an indicator is available for the HICP but not for the price deflators from the national accounts.

The use of alternative price deflators confirms the picture of very low real wage growth, albeit suggesting that small increases occurred each year. Since non-energy consumer price inflation declined in 2005 increased by 0.5 %, which is the highest rate since 2001. Whether a price index that excludes several items could be a useful

Table 16

Compensation per employee

			Annua	percentage	e change						
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006 (1)	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
BE	2.1	3.6	3.8	1.7	2.1	2.4	2.4	1.5	2.2	2.1	3.7
DK	3.7	4.4	3.8	3.8	2.1	3.7	3.8	4.1	4.8	2.9	3.6
DE	1.9	1.6	1.4	1.5	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.4	0.1
EL	6.0	5.7	10.0	4.6	5.8	6.1	5.9	:	:	:	:
ES	2.8	3.6	3.3	3.3	3.3	2.1	3.3	0.6	3.3	2.5	3.2
FR	2.4	2.4	3.4	2.8	3.4	2.8	3.3	:	:	:	:
IE	8.0	7.4	5.1	5.6	5.5	5.1	5.0	:	:	:	:
IT	2.2	2.9	2.2	2.4	3.1	2.5	2.4	1.8	0.9	1.2	3.9
LU	5.3	3.5	3.9	1.8	4.1	4.6	3.5	:	:	:	:
NL	4.7	5.0	4.3	3.8	3.1	2.0	1.8	2.2	2.2	1.9	1.9
AT	2.2	1.2	2.1	1.9	2.1	2.4	2.8	2.5	2.5	2.4	6.4
PT	6.7	5.3	4.4	3.1	2.4	2.9	2.7	:	:	:	:
FI	3.7	4.7	1.8	2.8	3.5	2.9	2.8	2.6	2.4	5.8	5.0
SE	7.5	4.5	2.9	3.0	3.7	3.4	3.7	3.4	3.4	3.7	4.6
UK	5.9	5.0	3.6	4.8	4.3	4.4	4.3	4.4	4.2	4.5	4.3
CY	2.2	1.0	4.1	9.3	3.5	4.4	3.5	0.9	1.2	3.2	2.6
CZ	5.4	7.4	6.0	7.7	6.2	4.7	4.8	4.7	5.0	6.7	5.4
EE	8.7	7.8	10.4	10.3	11.1	11.7	11.3	9.8	9.9	12.6	15.1
HU	15.6	16.1	12.6	9.5	9.8	9.1	5.3	:	:	:	:
LV	6.9	3.4	4.0	11.1	15.1	14.4	15.0	13.9	13.8	15.0	13.7
LT	1.3	3.8	5.1	8.9	8.2	8.7	8.9	6.1	7.4	8.1	12.8
MT	2.1	4.8	2.2	3.3	1.6	1.4	2.9	-0.3	1.9	0.9	0.5
PL	11.0	10.1	2.3	1.8	1.9	0.5	4.4	:	:	:	:
SK	11.9	6.3	9.3	6.0	10.8	9.2 (¹)	7.3	3.9	4.4	5.9	6.1
SI	12.4	11.6	8.5	7.8	7.7	5.0	5.2	:	:	:	:
EU-25	4.1	3.9	3.2	3.1	2.9	2.5	2.8	1.8	1.7	:	:
Euro area	2.6	2.8	2.8	2.5	2.3	1.9	2.2	1.3	1.4	:	:

(1) Commission spring 2006 forecast

signpost depends on the assumption on to what extent changes in relative prices should have an impact on the benchmark. Using the rate of inflation excluding the energy price component for the calculation of real wages assumes that households accept some deterioration in purchasing power as their contribution to cope with high energy prices. Applying an all-encompassing price index implies that households' purchasing power should remain unaffected by changes in relative prices, although they may lead to a temporary increase in overall inflation (¹).

(1) In a mechanical way, this is the case because the weights of the different goods are adjusted with a delay. Therefore, the price index does not capture the effect of higher energy prices on the structure of consumption. Differences across the euro area Member States in real wage growth 2005 were marked, varying from -1 % in Spain and Germany to rates above +3 % in Ireland. Real wage growth was higher when nominal wages are deflated with non-energy inflation than with headline inflation in almost all countries. The exceptions were Luxembourg and France, where both were equal. In some countries, e.g. Belgium, Portugal, the Netherlands, Greece and Finland, the difference between both concepts was substantial.

Disposable income and consumption

Households' purchasing power depends not only on price developments, but to an important extent on employment performance. Whereas it is often argued that the moderate



Graph 28: Ranking of Member States in terms of wage growth 1999-2005



increase in wages and especially in real wages contributed to the weakness of private consumption in the euro area, it would be more appropriate to attribute this role to the real wage bill, which is the product of wages per employee and the number of employees. The graphs below demonstrate a relatively strong link between the variation in real private consumption growth among euro area Member States and the growth rate of the real wage bill in 2005. Almost 2/3 of the variation in real private consumption growth could be attributed to cross-country differences in the increase of the wage bill. Therewith in contrast, the growth in real compensation per employee is very weakly linked to private consumption growth. The fit would improve when the outliers ES and EL are deducted from

Labour market and wage developments in 2005

the sample, but remains far below the fit with the wage bill (¹). The cross-country perspective reveals that house-

(1) The same message emerges with wages and salaries instead of compensation as relevant wage variable. The link with private consumption is, however, weaker for this alternative wage variable than for compensation. holds' real consumption growth in 2005 was stronger correlated with employment growth in 2005 than for real wage growth per employee. The trend line with employment growth explains 56 % of the variation, compared to 0.16 for real wage growth per employee and 64 % for the real wage bill.











Graph 32: Real private consumption growth and increase of the real wage per employee 2005,

Graph 33: Contribution to the increase of gross disposable income, euro area



Note: Euro area excluding IE and LU. Net redistribution includes employers' social security contributions. Source: Commission services.



Graph 34: Composition of gross disposable income 2005, euro area

Concerning the weakness of private consumption in the euro area in 2005, it is apparent that all three components of gross disposable income contributed to it (¹). The contribution of the wage bill to the increase of disposable income deteriorated relatively little. Most of the deceleration in disposable income growth is due to a smaller increase of non-labour income than in the year before, especially of households' gross operating surplus. This item accounted for a quarter of households' gross disposable income in 2005, compared to a share of 56 % of wages and salaries (see Graph 34).

Productivity and unit labour costs

Since wage growth and inflation were almost equal in the euro area in 2005, all productivity increases translated 1:1 in declining real unit labour costs (²). Indeed, real unit labour costs have not increased in the euro area any year since the introduction of the euro in 1999. The combination of a weakening in economic growth and a gradual acceleration in employment growth in 2005 means that labour productivity growth decelerated and in consequence real unit labour costs declined by less than in the previous year. This behaviour of labour productivity seems to be largely a reflex of cyclical movements, namely the lagged response of employment in 2005 to the acceleration of GDP growth in 2004. Therefore, it appears more appropriate to assess the change in unit labour costs with respect to trend productivity growth rather than actual labour productivity growth.

The change in trend unit labour costs suggests that a further, albeit small, deceleration took place in 2005, which largely reverted the relation between actual and trend unit labour costs recorded in 2004. Overall, the reading of the trends suggests that real unit labour costs in the euro area remained on their downward path whereas nominal unit labour costs have remained comfortably below the 2 % ceiling that is considered consistent with the upper range of the ECB's inflation target.

Graph 35 illustrates that trend unit labour costs and core inflation moved relatively closely together over the last years, with trend unit labour costs being less volatile as well as leading core inflation by a year. If this relationship continues to hold in 2006, it suggests a further fall in core inflation. Indeed, core inflation in the first quarter 2006 was a mere 1.3-1.4 % compared to 1.6-1.7 % a year earlier. Though HICP inflation is projected to remain unchanged at 2.2 % on average in 2006 and 2007, this is

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) There is currently no data on households' net disposable income in 2005 for any euro area Member State except Germany and Finland. In both countries the ratio of gross to net disposable income was the same in 2005 as in 2004. The ratio was also constant between 2000 and 2003 in the EUR-10 (excluding IE and LU). Note that taxes on income and wealth are already deducted from gross disposable income, belonging to the aggregate of net redistribution together with transfers paid, transfers received and employers' social security contributions.

⁽²⁾ The level of unit labour costs is conventionally expressed relative to a base year, meaning that its change over time is informative rather than its level. The absolute value of real unit labour costs is equal to the wage share (in GDP prices).

Table 17

Real unit labour costs

	Annual percentage change										
	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006 (1)	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
BE	– 1.5	2.2	0.3	- 1.0	- 2.1	- 0.1	- 0.9	- 0.6	- 0.3	0.2	- 0.1
DK	- 2.4	1.9	0.9	- 0.1	- 1.9	- 1.4	- 2.1	1.5	- 2.6	- 3.7	- 0.3
DE	1.3	- 0.4	- 0.7	- 0.4	- 1.7	- 1.4	– 1.6	- 0.2	- 2.0	- 1.7	- 1.8
EL	- 4.2	- 1.6	2.1	- 2.2	0.6	0.0	0.6	:	:	:	:
ES	- 0.6	- 0.9	- 1.4	- 1.0	- 1.2	- 2.1	– 1.2	- 2.9	- 2.1	- 1.6	- 1.7
FR	- 0.3	0.3	0.6	- 0.1	- 0.6	0.0	0.3	:	:	:	:
IE	– 1.9	- 1.4	- 4.1	1.0	1.8	2.0	0.2	:	:	:	:
IT	- 1.4	0.1	0.2	0.9	- 0.6	0.7	- 0.5	1.7	- 0.1	- 0.5	0.9
LU	0.5	6.4	0.5	- 3.0	1.1	- 0.6	- 1.0	:	:	:	:
NL	- 1.1	0.1	0.9	0.7	- 0.9	- 1.0	- 0.9	- 0.3	- 1.4	- 1.0	- 1.3
AT	– 1.9	- 0.8	- 0.3	- 0.8	- 2.2	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 1.9	- 1.1	- 0.2	- 0.5
PT	1.4	1.3	0.1	1.1	- 1.3	- 0.2	0.3	:	:	:	:
FI	- 1.6	0.5	- 0.1	1.5	- 0.1	0.9	- 0.1	0.2	- 0.7	0.3	0.4
SE	4.1	3.2	- 0.6	- 1.0	- 1.4	0.2	0.3	1.5	- 0.8	- 0.3	0.8
UK	1.7	1.3	- 0.7	0.3	0.0	1.5	0.1	1.2	1.3	2.3	1.0
CY	- 4.1	- 3.9	0.8	3.2	- 1.3	- 0.7	- 1.1	- 2.9	- 1.5	0.1	- 0.9
CZ	- 0.4	0.2	3.2	0.4	- 1.9	- 0.3	- 1.1	- 2.5	- 1.3	0.1	– 1.9
EE	- 5.8	- 3.3	- 0.1	2.8	0.0	- 2.3	- 0.1	- 0.4	- 3.3	- 3.8	- 0.8
HU	1.2	3.1	- 0.2	0.6	- 0.4	2.3	- 1.4	:	:	:	:
LV	- 6.5	- 3.9	- 4.2	1.9	0.3	- 3.3	- 0.2	0.5	- 5.6	- 3.9	- 5.1
LT	- 8.1	- 5.3	2.2	1.9	- 1.7	- 2.0	- 1.4	- 1.4	- 4.5	- 2.9	0.9
MT	- 3.4	4.1	- 0.6	2.5	0.7	- 2.2	- 1.9	0.9	- 1.1	- 4.5	- 3.8
PL	- 2.3	2.9	- 4.3	- 3.5	- 5.7	- 3.2	1.9	:	:	:	:
SK	- 0.7	- 1.1	- 0.1	- 1.3	0.0	2.7 (¹)	- 1.5	- 1.7	- 1.5	- 0.8	- 0.9
SI	3.3	0.4	- 1.3	- 1.0	0.6	0.8	- 0.7	:	:	:	:
EU-25	- 0.1	0.3	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 1.1	- 0.4	- 0.5	- 0.5	- 1.3	:	:
Euro area	- 0.4	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.2	- 1.1	- 0.7	- 0.8	- 0.2	- 1.3	:	:

(1) Commission spring 2006 forecast

largely due to factors unrelated to labour costs, namely high energy prices in 2006 and the German VAT increase in 2007.

The use of trend unit labour costs instead of actual nominal unit labour costs has some implications on the consistency of unit labour cost developments in the Member States with the inflation ceiling. The change of actual nominal unit labour costs in 2005 implies that 8 of the 12 euro area Member States recorded an increase of more than 2 %, implying that the positive assessment of the labour cost pressure on inflation in the euro area as a whole would be caused by favourable developments in three countries only, namely Germany, the Netherlands and Austria. The reading from the increase in trend unit labour costs suggests a less alarming interpretation. Labour cost developments in five countries surpassed the 2 % ceiling. Four of them have already been highlighted in last year's Labour market review as being at risk of a steady erosion of their price and cost competitiveness. These were Greece, Ireland, Portugal and Italy. According to Graph 37, Spain did no longer belong to this group.

5.2. Catch-up countries outside the euro area

The 10 countries that joined the EU in 2004 share the feature of a substantially lower GDP per capita than the EU average. The 8 countries from central and eastern Europe (CEEC) exhibited strong economic growth over





the last years and are forecast to continue catching-up to the EU. This structural force has been the dominating determinant of economic growth, while cyclical forces have been less important. Starting from a higher level of labour productivity than the CEEC, Malta and Cyprus have not witnessed a comparably dynamic economic growth (¹). In the case of Malta, catch-up to the EU average would rely strongly on a higher utilisation of labour.

⁽¹⁾ In both Malta and Cyprus, GDP per person employed was 82 % of the EU-25 average in 2005. This compares to an average of 52 % for all 10 new Member States.



Graph 37: Nominal unit labour costs in Member States, 2005

Labour productivity is forecast to grow vigorously in all these countries, except possibly Malta, and this can be expected to result in strong increases in earnings. Key for the sustainability of their catch-up process will be that labour costs remain in line with productivity. If the expectation among wage-setters of continuously high wage growth became entrenched, there is a risk that in the future a cyclical slowdown in labour productivity growth would yield severe economic consequences in terms of higher inflation, higher unemployment and squeezed profit margins.

5.2.1. Aggregate developments

Developments in 2005

Nominal wages grew stronger in the catch-up countries than in the euro area in the last years and continued to do so in 2005. The highest rates of growth of compensation per employee were registered in the three Baltic countries. They were above 10 % in all of them. Hungary and Slovakia followed with increases of 9 % (¹). At the lower end of the spectrum, wage growth in Malta and Poland was around the level seen in the euro area Member States. In both countries it accelerated from the very low rates recorded in 2004. The high wage growth in most of the catch-up countries was in line with productivity and price trends in 2005. The increase in nominal unit labour costs, headline or adjusted for trend productivity, was below or close to 2% in 5 of them. It was markedly higher in the three Baltic countries, Hungary and Slovakia. Among them, Latvia and Hungary were the countries with the highest increase in the consumer price deflator in the EU-25 in 2005 (²).

The very low increase in nominal unit labour costs in 2005 in some countries is to some extent caused by cyclical effects. This is evidenced by the observation that the growth rate of wages adjusted for the trend in labour productivity is markedly higher than unadjusted unit labour costs for example in the Czech Republic and Malta. However, it should be borne in mind that the trend series is based on data that starts in 1995 in many cases, i.e. capturing only one business cycle that was dominated by structural forces such as transformation to a market economy and rapid catch-up growth.

In terms of real unit labour costs, which is the relevant variable to assess the labour market impact of wage devel-

⁽¹⁾ The number for wage growth in Slovakia used here stems from the ECFIN spring 2006 forecast. Note that it is not consistent with the Eurostat data on compensation of employees, which yields a much lower rate of wage growth per employee in Slovakia in some statistics.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) There are significant differences in inflation trends across the three main price indicators, HICP, Consumer price deflator and GDP deflator. Independent from the indicator chosen, Latvia had the highest rate of inflation in the EU-25 in 2005 whereas the position of the other three catch-up countries with a high increase in nominal unit labour costs (Estonia, Lithuania and Hungary) differs across the indicators used.

opments, there are some other countries that deserve close monitoring than for nominal unit labour costs. The reason for the dissimilarity is largely to be seen in different price trends. Note that the price deflator used to calculate real unit labour costs is the GDP deflator, which is often dissimilar from the consumption deflator or the HICP (1). In Latvia, the wedge between high growth of nominal unit labour costs and shrinking real unit labour costs is due to high inflation. Both the GDP deflator and consumer prices increased by about the same amount. In Estonia and Lithuania, overall consumer price inflation accounts for only half of the wedge between the development of nominal and real unit labour costs. Both countries, and also Latvia, registered a high increase in the price of investment goods, which inflated the change in the GDP deflator but did not affect consumer prices (²).

Most countries exhibited falling real unit labour costs in 2005. The exceptions were Slovakia, Hungary and Slovenia. In all three countries, wage growth decelerated, but labour productivity decelerated more, leading to an increase of real unit labour costs. This development needs to be seen in context with an outstandingly high rate of labour productivity growth in 2004 and the forecast of somewhat higher rates of productivity growth in 2006.

A small increase in real unit labour costs was recorded in Poland, after three years of substantial drops in the order of around 5 % per annum. This implies that when the trend increase in labour productivity is taken into account, real unit labour costs have hardly increased. The opposite effect can be noted to have played a role in the Czech Republic. The small decline in real unit labour costs in 2005 changes into an increase of the same order of magnitude as the one in Slovenia, if wages are adjusted for trend productivity instead of actual productivity growth in 2005.

Acceleration of wage growth and convergence

Rather than looking at the rates of growth, it is interesting to analyse the change in the rate of growth from 2004 to 2005. Here a split of the catching-up countries is notable. Wages as well as nominal unit labour costs accelerated in 6 countries and decelerated in the 4 remaining countries. Large decelerations were recorded in Slovenia and, if unit labour costs is looked at, in the Czech Republic and Latvia. Lithuania exhibited a strong acceleration. The different signs of the change in unit labour costs and





⁽¹⁾ Differences are usually marked in times of strong variations in exchange rates, which affect import and export prices, thus driving a wedge between GDP and consumption deflator.

 $^(^{2})$ It is not straightforward to relate the strong increase in the price of investment goods to economic conditions. In previous years, the price increase was relatively low despite strong investment growth. In Estonia, an increase in the taxes on production has contributed to the pick-up in investment prices

trend unit labour costs in Malta and Poland are the result of volatile employment growth in the past, which makes it difficult to decide which of the two series allows for a more appropriate assessment.

Graph 42 and Graph 43 suggest some convergence in wage growth among the catch-up countries. Those countries with the highest growth of wages and nominal unit labour costs in 2004 saw a strong deceleration in 2005

and vice versa. Latvia and Slovakia on the one hand and Malta and Poland on the other hand are the polar cases pertaining wage growth. Poland's strong acceleration in nominal unit labour costs in 2005 may be related to falling nominal unit labour costs in 2004. This is consistent with the observation of a much less pronounced increase in nominal unit labour costs in Poland if wages are adjusted for trend productivity (see Graph 38). Overall, the relationship between growth rates in 2004 and their







Graph 41: Change in the growth of nominal unit labour costs in the new Member States, 2005

change in 2005 is looser for the catch-up countries than for the euro area Member States, as indicated by the lower R2 of the trend line in the graphs (compared to Graph 24 and Graph 25). A large deviation from the trend line can be observed for Lithuania. The acceleration of both wage growth and the increase of nominal unit labour costs was out-of-portion with the country's low growth of unit labour costs in 2004. Slovenia, which is foreseen to join the euro area in 2007, had wage growth strongly coming down in 2005 from high wage growth the year before.

The impact of non-wage labour costs

The contribution of non-wage labour costs to labour cost developments is different across countries and in some cases across data sources. The available information indicates that the contribution of non-wage labour costs to the increase in labour costs has been small in all countries in 2005, with the exception of Slovenia and Hungary. In the former it added 1 ppt to the increase of hourly labour costs and in the latter it deducted 0.3 ppt from the 2005 increase in hourly labour costs. The small contribution of non-wage labour costs in 2005 is a continuation of the trend in previous years. Hungary is the only country with an average 2001-2004 contribution higher than 0.5 %, but even this contribution needs to be seen against a nominal increase of labour costs of more than 9 %. The small average magnitude of the contribution as well as different sign of the contribution in 2005 and the average 2001-04 in some of the catch-up economies suggests that the tool of adjustment of non-wage labour costs was not used in a systematic way to reduce labour cost pressure.

5.2.2. Catch-up growth and sectoral wage developments

Traditionally, catch-up growth is largely driven by strong productivity improvements in the tradable sector. In the CEEC, average productivity growth in 1999-2004 was 4 percentage points higher in manufacturing than in services. If wage growth in the tradable and the non-tradable sector is similar, but productivity growth is less dynamic in the non-tradable sector, the so-called Balassa-Samuelson effect leads to high price increases in the non-tradable sector. Although the empirical literature points to a little impact of the Balassa-Samuelson effect on inflation trends in the CEEC, sectoral wage developments warrant some monitoring.

Wage growth in the manufacturing and the service sector has been closely correlated over the period 1999-2004 in most catch-up countries as Graph 45 reveals. The coefficient of correlation exceeds 0.9 for Latvia, Lithuania and Hungary. Interestingly, there is some correspondence between these countries and those highlighted with a strong growth in nominal unit labour costs. The correla-


Graph 42: Nominal wage growth in the new Member States, 2004 and acceleration 2005



Graph 43: Growth of nominal unit labour costs in the new Member States, 2004 and acceleration 2005



Graph 44: Contribution of non-wage labour costs to the increase of labour costs, catch-up countries

tion is generally higher for hourly labour costs as measured by Eurostat's Labour cost index than for compensation per employee (¹). However, there is only one country, namely the Czech Republic, where both indicators suggest different conclusions.

A high correlation does not necessarily mean that wage growth is the same in both sectors. A more detailed analysis is, however, prevented by statistical problems. For example, comparing wage growth in both sectors yields equivocal results. Data on compensation per employee shows that manufacturing wages tend to grow faster than service wages. However, the opposite result appears if the hourly labour cost index is used. Given the large difference in productivity growth across sectors, unit labour costs has unambiguously grown faster in services than in manufacturing in all CEECs for which data is available. The wedge between the average increase of unit labour costs in services and those in manufacturing in 1999-2004 was above 5 % per annum in Latvia, Poland, the Czech Republic and Hungary. It was a narrow 1 % in Latvia and Slovakia. It is important to note that this wedge has been very volatile in the past and therefore the information from Graph 46 would need to be confirmed by further analysis.

5.3. Other countries outside the euro area: Denmark, Sweden and the UK

Denmark, Sweden and the UK share the position of being outside the euro area and being endowed with a GDP per capita level well above the EU-25 average. Although these countries are quite different in terms of openness to external trade, the exchange rate regime in place and labour market institutions, they have in common that wage growth used to be higher than in the euro area. This was also the case in 2005. Nominal compensation per employee grew at 3.4 % in Sweden, 3.7 % in Denmark and 4.4 % in the UK. This means an acceleration from a rate of growth comparable to the euro area in Denmark and stable wage growth in the other two countries.

The comparison with the development of real unit labour costs in the euro area suggest that real unit labour costs tend to respond stronger to cyclical conditions in these three countries. They decelerated more markedly during the growth slowdown 2001-04 than in the euro area and in 2005 a stronger acceleration can be observed in all three countries. In the UK, real unit labour costs increased by 1.5 %, which is the second

Note that Eurostat's labour cost index captures market-services only whereas compensation includes also non-market services.





Note: Compensation in service wages lagged by 1 year for the Czech Republic, Estonia, Lithuania and Poland, LCI in services lagged by 1 year for Estonia. Annual observations. *Source:* Commission services.

Graph 46: Wedge between the increase in nominal unit labour costs in services and manufacturing in the new Member States, 1999-2004



Note: 1999-2002 for Hungary and Poland, 1999-2003 for Estonia. *Source:* Source: Commission services.

Labour market and wage developments in 2005

highest increase among all old EU Member States. Only Ireland fared a higher growth of real unit labour costs in 2005. Looking forward to 2006 and 2007, productivity growth is forecast to rebound in the UK, leading to the prediction of close to stable real unit labour costs in the current and the next year.





Graph 48: Increase in real unit labour costs in Denmark, Sweden and the UK

5.4. Overall assessment and outlook

Labour costs continued to grow moderately in 2005. Developments in some countries will nevertheless deserve monitoring in the future because they possess the potential to have adverse consequences on inflation and employment. This holds in particular for countries where continuously strong increases in nominal unit labour costs come together with high rates of inflation and for countries where weak labour market performance is accompanied by a trend increase in real unit labour costs. Whereas cross-country comparisons suggest a consistently positive and highly significant relationship between the increase in nominal unit labour costs and inflation across countries (Graph 49), the empirical support is less straightforward for the link between real unit labour costs and employment performance (Graph 50). Though there is a significant inverse relationship between the average increase of real unit labour costs and the change of the employment rate, it explains only a small share of the variation in employment performances across the EU Member States.

Wage growth did not accelerate in the euro area in 2005 despite a brightening of the economic outlook, gradually declining unemployment and consumer price inflation in the euro area persistently above 2 %. The observed pattern in 2005 looks like a mirror-image of the develop-

ments in 2001/02, when wage growth responded belatedly and sluggishly to a deteriorating economic outlook. The non-acceleration in 2005 is to some extent due to the agreement on small increases in nominal pay in collective wage bargaining. There are some indications that non-collective wage agreements have been more responsive to the cyclical upswing. The wage drift, i.e. the wedge between actual wage growth and negotiated wage increases, has picked up slightly and wage growth in services, which is on average less covered by collective agreements, has accelerated whereas wage growth in manufacturing did not.

There is some evidence of wage convergence among some euro area Member States. However, those countries where nominal wage growth has been high, especially Ireland and Greece, or particularly low, i.e. Germany, seem not to fully participate in this trend. Moreover, the low rate of wage growth in Germany reduced the increase in nominal compensation per employee in the euro area by 1 percentage point. Excluding Germany, nominal wage growth would have been 3 % instead of 2 %. In some of the euro area Member States, nominal wage increases above the euro area average translated into a further erosion of intra-area price competitiveness. An increase of nominal unit labour costs of more than 2 % is registered for a number of countries. In some cases, the increase can be attributed to





cyclical developments of labour productivity. Nevertheless, even if the cyclical situation is taken into account, an increase of nominal unit labour costs of more than 2 % can be observed for Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg and Portugal.

According to the Commission's spring 2006 forecast, wage growth will remain close to the low 2005 rate in the euro area also in 2006 and 2007. Some acceleration is predicted to occur in Spain, the Netherlands and Austria in 2006 whereas wage growth in all other Member States is forecast to remain around or below the rates seen in 2005. Euro area developments in 2007 will be strongly influenced by the envisaged reduction of social security contributions in Germany. This measure is estimated to deduct 0.6 percentage points from wage growth in Germany, possibly leading to a fall in compensation per employee in this country in 2007.

Nominal wage growth continued to grow strongly in the catch-up countries in 2005. In most of them, high wage growth was in line with productivity and price trends. However, the three Baltic countries, Hungary and Slovakia saw nominal unit labour costs increasing by around or more than 4 % in 2005. Among them, Latvia and Hungary were the countries with the highest increase in the consumer price deflator in the EU-25 in 2005. Labour productivity growth decelerated more in 2005 than wage growth in Slovakia, Hungary and Slovenia, leading to an increase in real unit labour costs. This increase may be a one-time development if labour productivity growth recovers in 2006 as presently embedded in the ECFIN forecast.

Nominal compensation per employee is forecast to come down markedly in Hungary and Slovakia in 2006 while some acceleration is expected to occur in Poland. According to the ECFIN forecast, nominal unit labour costs will increase by less than 4 % in all countries except Latvia, implying a clear deceleration in those countries that had a high increase in nominal unit labour costs in 2005, namely Estonia, Lithuania, Hungary and Slovakia. Real unit labour costs are forecast to fall in all catch-up countries in 2006 except in Poland, where the 2005 increase is likely to accelerate. Key for the sustainability of the catch-up process in these countries will be that the expectation of continuously high wage growth does not become entrenched in order to weather a cyclical slowdown in labour productivity growth.

6. Special issue: Labour market adjustment in the euro area

6.1. Introduction

Many observers have drawn attention to the impact of persistent growth differences among the euro area Member States for the smooth functioning of EMU: in general, growth rates have been above average for small countries and persistently weak for the largest countries. In particular, concerns have been expressed on the capacity of heterogeneous countries to put in place mechanisms that are able to cope with asymmetric shocks, or common shocks with asymmetric effects, given that control on national monetary policy has been relinquished and the nominal exchange rate is no longer available. An inadequate adjustment capacity of euro area countries may impinge upon the inter-temporal decisions of firms and consumers, with the risk of entrenching persistently diverging growth rates. Persistent growth differentials among euro area countries can be a threat for the macro-financial stability, complicate the conduct of monetary policy and the coordination of budgetary policies.

The European Commission has regularly analysed the reasons and consequences of growth differences in the euro area. To date, the issues tackled have included the risk of overheating (¹), business cycle convergence (²), inflation differences (³), growth differences (⁴), and the contribution of EMU to nominal and real convergence (⁵). This chapter undertakes a comprehensive review of labour market adjustment in the euro area, bringing together the issues discussed in the economic literature with analysis

on the actual economic performance of the euro area Member States. Since the labour market plays a crucial role in the absorption of shocks, this paper describes how the labour market has actually adjusted to differences in economic performance within the euro area (⁶). This analysis on labour markets is part of a wider research project of the European Commission on adjustment mechanisms in EMU, the full results of which will be published in late 2006.

The remainder of this chapter is structured as follows. Chapter 6.2 takes a fresh look at the optimal currency area literature, a topic that has benefited from recent analyses that explore the role of countries' heterogeneity in wage institutions.

Chapter 6.3 studies the cyclical and structural nature of growth differentials in the euro area Member States. The reason for doing so is that analysing countries' adjustment performance in the early years of the euro is difficult because their adaptation to the new monetary regime interacts with the response to the ups and downs of the economic cycle. The tension between short-term responses and long-term trends may potentially end up in country specific adjustment problems. The run up to EMU led to fundamental economic changes, inter alia the reduction of risk premia, to which members are adapting differently according to their initial conditions and long-term trends. These initial conditions interact with the normal functioning of a monetary union where economic performance is influenced by shocks, which may be symmetric, asymmetric or entail an asymmetric impact because of differences in economic structures.

⁽¹⁾ Chapter 1.5 in European Commission (2001).

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) Chapter 1.6 in European Commission (2002), Quarterly Report on the Euro Area No 2/2004.

⁽³⁾ Quarterly Report on the euro area No 4/2002 and 4/2004

^{(&}lt;sup>4</sup>) Chapter 1.5 in European Commission (2004a), Quarterly Report on the euro area No 2/2005.

⁽⁵⁾ Chapter 1.4 in European Commission (2004b).

⁽⁶⁾ Note that this analysis on the labour market is part of a wider research effort by the European Commission on adjustment in the euro area.

The link between output growth and employment growth and the role of countries' initial positions is investigated in Chapter 6.4. Starting conditions prior to EMU had been different among the Member States, and some growth differences may reflect catching up or supplyside trends, development which would not motivate any concerns about possible negative effect of the monetary union on its members.

Chapter 6.5 analyses the role of wages in labour market adjustment. It considers how wages respond to labour market imbalances, and how the variation in employment growth can be related to differences in wage developments across countries. In principle, adjustment means a return to a balanced situation. In practice, it is usually not clear how the equilibrium looks like and whether the observed factors lead to a return to the old equilibrium, a new equilibrium or aggravate the disequilibrium. For example, differences in inflation and wage growth may be either a symptom of an emerging imbalance or of an economy returning to equilibrium. The subject of cross-border labour flows is not dealt in this chapter because the available evidence suggests that it has a limited role in re-balancing growth performances across countries and the data currently available would not add new insights to this issue. Chapter 6.6 outlines the main conclusions.

6.2. A review of the issues discussed in the economic literature

One problem in analysing the experience of the early years of EMU for participating countries is that the change in the monetary regime overlaps with exogenous transformations such as globalisation and population ageing, or country specific trends in total factor productivity (TFP) and labour supply. To analyse countries' experience during the first years of monetary union, it is useful to distinguish between two types of adjustments, namely:

- changes in the labour and product market institutions needed to cope with exogenous trends; and,
- structural changes required to have a monetary area working smoothly.

Of course, the two interact with one other.

With a common monetary policy, the option to use the exchange rate as a substitute for structural reforms is no

longer available and the costs of inefficient institutions became more apparent. EMU is a fundamental change which modifies the way in which members should respond to shocks. The main issue is to what extent EMU will affect the incentives to develop alternative adjustment mechanisms.

The literature on optimal currency area (OCA) has cast light on the conditions under which countries may beneficially adopt a common currency. Inter alia, these include having a similar economic structure so that real symmetric shocks are more frequent than country-specific shocks, having economies that are closely linked by trade in goods and services, factor mobility (Krugman and Obstfeld, 2003), and flexible wages and prices.

According to the proponents of the endogenous currency area argument, the criteria for a common currency could be met ex-post if not ex-ante as the process of economic integration strengthens the trade links between its members (Frankel and Rose, 1998) (1). Others contend that an increase in the integration would enhance countries' specialisation patterns in the production of goods and services where they a have a comparative advantage and increase the likelihood of asymmetric shocks (Krugman, 2003). Membership of EMU may also lead to endogenous structural reforms on the grounds that EMU provides a precautionary motive to speed up labour and product market reforms because it makes evident the costs of non-reform (Calmfors, 2001). However, not all commentators share the view that a common currency accelerates the process of structural reform. For example, with a common monetary policy, the inflation bias (2), which might affect the conduct of national monetary policies, vanishes together with the incentives to pursue reforms that reduce equilibrium unemployment (Calmfors, 1998). Also, by increasing transparency and competition in markets, a greater demand for protection in sheltered sectors of the economy may be induced hindering the structural reform process.

The prevalence of asymmetric shocks does not imply that it is sub-optimal to adopt a common currency as long as countries are capable to adjust to shocks through

⁽¹⁾ An OCA can also be *self-validating* if the new monetary regime causes an endogenous adaptation of the price setting of the behaviour of export-oriented firms which makes the new environment sustainable (Corsetti and Pesenti, 2002).

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) The influential papers by Kydland and Prescott (1977) and Barro and Gordon (1983) have shown that the rate of inflation is higher in a setting where policy-making is guided by discretion than by rules.

mechanisms other than domestic monetary policy and exchange rate policy. The lack of a nominal exchange rate puts the burden of adjustment on markets (1). If some markets fail to adjust others are expected to overshoot to compensate for this rigidity. More specifically, once countries have decided to adopt a common currency, the interaction between real exchange rate developments, nominal interest rates and divergent inflation rates may contribute to periods of over-heating or overcooling, which delays adjustment (e.g. Deroose et al., 2004). Growth differences may emerge not only from asymmetric shocks but also from differences in the exposure to symmetric shocks and in the adjustment pattern to shocks. Differences in the latter two are considered to be crucially influenced by inherited differences in institutions (²).

The appropriate response to shocks strongly depends on the nature of the shock, i.e. whether it affects the demand or the supply side of the economy, whether it is permanent or temporary, of internal or external origin, exogenous or policy induced. The response can be policy-related or market-based, relying on a stimulus to demand, a change in relative prices or a structural change in supply. Strengthening demand may contribute to a swift adjustment, but at the cost of softening the pressure to reform that a shock would entail. In this case, the policy response encounters the same limit of the exchange rate used as a surrogate of other structural policies. In the case of a temporary shock of external origin, the adjustment can be achieved through a change in the real exchange rate. With flexible prices and wages, the correction in the relative prices needed to absorb the shock may be straightforward and smooth with minor adjustment on the quantity side. In contrast, with sticky prices and wages, the changes in relative prices occur only indirectly and usually within a relative long time-horizon through the effects of economic activity on these prices. Finally, when a country is faced with a permanent shock, the optimal response would require a permanent adjustment of its economic structure, while any attempt to

delay such adjustment would violate the inter-temporal budget constraint of the economy.

The criteria that make a region an OCA identify the adjustment mechanisms needed to cope with idiosyncratic shocks in a common currency area. As far as the labour market is concerned, a country hit by an asymmetric shock may respond through a change in price competitiveness or through labour mobility.

The competitiveness channel

In EMU, the need for adjusting the real exchange rate has not disappeared. Adjustment can be achieved through movements in the relative prices and wages, either internal or external, and entails a temporary asymmetry in short-term inflation differentials (³). Since the external relative price depends on the internal relative price in the home country relative to the foreign country and on the price of domestic to foreign tradable goods, changes in price competitiveness can be achieved through movements in one or both of these relative prices. In a highly integrated area, the price of tradable goods is set by international markets. Thus, movements in the domestic to foreign ratio of the price of non-tradable goods account for the variations in the external relative prices (4). Competition in domestic product and labour markets influences the price and wage formation mechanisms and the internal relative prices and wages.

A widely held explanation of long-term inflation differentials across countries is given by the Balassa-Samuelson (B-S) effect. Under very restrictive assumptions, it pre-

⁽¹⁾ The macroeconomic adjustment depends also on the interactions between flexibility in the labour market on the one hand and flexibility in the product/capital market on the other hand. In addition, the degree of competition in product markets determines to a large extent the degree of wage flexibility that is needed to induce the necessary changes in prices (and the real exchange rate).

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) For example, in a common currency area, the characteristics of national specialisation models or heterogeneous labour market institutions may also make asymmetric the effects of common shocks (Andersen, 2006).

^{(&}lt;sup>3</sup>) The 'internal' relative price is defined as the ratio between domestic tradable and non-tradable goods; the 'external' relative price is measured by the ratio of foreign to domestic values of some broad-based index such as CPI or GDP deflator. The price between tradable and non-tradable goods ('internal' relative price) is q₁= p_T/p_{NT} and the price between the domestic and foreign CPIs (the 'external' relative price) is q₂= p^{*}/p. With Cobb-Douglas preferences the domestic CPI is a geometric average of tradable and non-tradable goods: p=p_T^{*} p_{NT}^{*}^T. A similar relation holds for the foreign CPI. If the weights of tradable and non-tradable goods are the same across countries, the relationship between the external and internal relative price is given by log q₂= γ (log q₁-logq^{*}₁) +log p_T/p^{*}_T. Hence a change in q₂ can be obtained through different combinations of changes in domestic and foreign internal prices and in the price of domestic relative to foreign tradable goods. See Giovannini et al (1993).

^{(&}lt;sup>4</sup>) Deviations from the law of one price may occur when firms fix the price in the currency of the buyer to neutralise volatility of the exchange rate (Engel, 2000). Although the volatility of the nominal exchange rate disappear in a monetary union, fluctuation of the relative price of tradable goods are still possible if the exportable sector use non-tradable inputs produced in domestic and foreign markets with different degree of substitution. In this case deviation from the PPP may derive from changes in the relative prices of non-tradable goods. The existence of differentiated traded good leads to a violation of the law of one price (Benigno and Thoenissen, 2002).

dicts that during a catch-up period, countries with high growth rates would experience a real exchange rate appreciation and an increase in 'equilibrium' inflation (¹). It can be shown that contrary to the predictions of the B-S effect, with imperfect substitution between traded goods, productivity or mark-up shocks in the traded sector reduce the price of home-produced goods and worsen the terms of trade, which reduces the pressure on wages and prices of the non-tradable sector to adjust (²). The presence of nominal wage rigidities creates further persistency in the shocks, in addition to that accounted for by the exogenous shocks themselves, and generates price and inflation dispersion (Altissimo et al., 2004); wage and price rigidity slows down the adjustment to the long-run equilibrium and may amplify the output and consumption cycle (³).

The adjustment of relative prices involves a temporary deviation of the inflation differential from the underlying long-run path (⁴). Differences across countries in wage stickiness are a source of heterogeneous adjustment to both common and country specific supply shocks, which affects output and inflation locally and union-wide (⁵).

(¹) The B-S effect requires perfectly competitive firms, perfectly mobile factors of production and the law of one price. This implies that the terms of trade are fixed, and any improvement in the productivity of the tradable relative to the non-tradable sector increases the wage paid to workers in the tradable sector. Labour mobility across sectors equalises wage, increases the marginal costs in the non-tradable sector, the non-tradable prices and the inflation differential. Within a currency area, when tradedgoods are homogeneous, demand-side factors that change the relative (domestic to foreign) productivity may generate inflation differentials consistent with the Balassa-Samuelson effect (Cova, 2004). With more realistic assumptions, the inflation differential depends on the interaction between the competition in domestic and foreign markets, the share in domestic consumption of traded-goods and the elasticity of the labour supply (Altissimo et al., 2004).

- (²) See Benigno and Thoenissen (2003), Altissimo et al. (2005). In contrast, productivity or mark-up shocks in the non-tradable sector are the primary cause of prices and inflation differentials in the domestic relative to foreign non-traded sector and the main factor behind the cross-country variability of real wages.
- (³) See Fagan et al, (2003). However the effect of wage stickiness is model dependent. For example in Altissimo et al (2004), wage stickiness does not necessarily dampen the effect of productivity shocks to the traded sector as it also slows down the response of the terms of trade, implying that the inflation differential cycle around and even over-shoots its long-run equilibrium.
- (⁴) Together with Balassa-Samuelson effects, long-term inflation differentials may derive from different preferences, yielding different goods and services in the consumption basket, and different industrial structures, for example share of services or energy-intense production.
- (5) In an inter-temporal general equilibrium model of currency union, Andersen (2004) shows that shocks are transmitted via the current account, through changes in the terms of trade, and propagated differently in national labour markets. In response to common and country specific shocks, more real wage flexibility (domestic or foreign) and more domestic nominal flexibility always reduce domestic output volatility. In the case of common shocks, more domestic and nominal wage flexibility has ambiguous effects because it increases the volatility of the terms of trade. Finally, in the case of country specific shocks, more nominal wage flexibility in the foreign country reduces domestic output variability when the nominal rigidity in the foreign country is low.

Similarly, different responses of sectoral wages to real shocks are required when shocks are sector specific or workers heterogeneous (Aizenman and Frenkel, 1986). How rapidly temporary deviations from long-term inflation differential are absorbed depends on the wage response to temporary shocks (6). Nominal and real wage rigidities delay the adjustment of relative prices to asymmetric shocks, making unemployment more vola-i.e. the increase in unemployment needed to trigger a change in competitiveness (Blanchard, 2006). Apart from the well-known effects on equilibrium unemployment, rigid real wages influence the stickiness of relative prices and reinforce the causes of nominal wage rigidity (Andersen, 1994, 2004). Hence, an increase across all countries of the real and nominal wage flexibility reduces the sensitivity of the euro area output to common and country specific shocks.

Sources of wage rigidity

There are three sources of nominal wage rigidity:

- with staggered contracts only a fraction of workers has its wage revised when the economic conditions change, and this is a source of persistent wage inflation and costly disinflation;
- long contract periods increase the lags between price and wage changes and create wage stickiness;
- social norms or fairness considerations make workers to resist wage cuts or low nominal wage growth especially when inflation is low (Holden, 2004 and Holden and Wulfsberg, 2005).

Among the main explanations for real wage rigidity, the role of product market integration and unions' bargaining power has been widely documented. The common argument is that product market integration raises the price-elasticity of labour demand and constrains real wages. The extent of centralisation of wage bargaining

^{(&}lt;sup>6</sup>) The reduction in the risk premium which comes with the participation in the monetary union may entail an economic boom and a rise in real wages (Hohohan and Lane, 2005). With sticky wages, the decline of the interest rate leads to overheating, destabilises the real interest channel, and makes wage growth unsustainable. Some have argued that to avoid a loss of competitiveness, wage growth should be adjusted downward. However, others have claimed that, when the adjustment requires a reduction in the external demand, inflation may accelerate the correction while a more moderate wage growth might delay the adjustment needed, especially when the structural unemployment is low (Blanchard, 2001). In both cases the response depends on the flexibility of nominal wages.

influences the final outcome. It is well known that both highly centralised and decentralised bargaining are associated with better labour market outcomes. However, the risk of loosening market shares for open economies reduces the disadvantage of intermediate bargaining systems (Calmfors 1993). Finally, the nature of wage bargaining affects the difference between actual earnings and negotiated wages (wage drift) and influences the response of relative wages and prices to sectoral and aggregate shocks.

Will EMU increase nominal and real wage flexibility?

To what extent EMU creates the incentives for higher nominal and real wage flexibility without reforming labour market institutions is a hotly debated topic. Several arguments warrant consideration:

- contract length may be the outcome of an optimal choice balancing the costs arising from changing the wage contract with the losses from not adjusting wages to unexpected shocks (Ball, 1987). If EMU implies that asymmetric shocks entail large demand fluctuations, because domestic central banks cannot stabilise the domestic economy (Obstfeld, 1998) or common monetary policy affects its members differently (Dornbusch et al. 1998), there is an incentive to shorten the duration of wage contracts and the timing of wage negotiations (Calmfors, 1998). This would imply less inertia through wage settlements and more stable cyclical unemployment. The incentive to shorten contract duration would be higher for larger than for smaller countries;
- however, if wage setters fail to internalise the effects of high flexibility on the terms of trade, differences in nominal wage flexibility across countries may lead to excessive nominal wage flexibility. Moreover, when countries do not internalise the positive effect of higher domestic real wage flexibility on foreign output volatility, each country may end up with too little real wage flexibility (Andersen, 2004);
- in an environment of low (actual and expected) inflation, the incentives to shorten contract duration are weak because wages need to be adjusted less frequently;
- despite the need of more nominal wage flexibility in a monetary union, the presence of coordination fail-

ures in wage bargaining can make such flexibility an unfeasible objective (Calmfors, 1998)(¹);

finally, the fact that monetary policy is set on the basis of the aggregate euro area inflation makes asymmetric shocks equivalent to local shocks within countries with a national monetary policy. This implies that national bargaining will internalise only partially the costs of wages fixed for long periods, depending on the influence of national wages on the area-wide inflation rate.

The question of whether EMU would entail higher wage flexibility boils down to its effects on national bargaining. A common monetary policy would weaken the incentives for intermediate coordination. Compared to the case of national monetary policy, EMU imposes less discipline on the wage setters because the threat of a domestic monetary reaction is less biting. Hence, the incentives to coordinate wage settings at the national level rather than at the industry level are stronger inside than outside the EMU, implying a tendency towards higher levels of coordination within the EMU (Holden, 2001). However, within a monetary union there is also a stronger incentive to decentralise bargaining because within EMU wage setters do not internalise monetary policy reactions while this may occur at least partly outside (Calmfors, 2001).

The presence of asymmetric behaviour in nominal wage growth with the well known downward rigidity constrains the role of relative prices as a unique source of adjustment. When inflation is low and wage growth moderate, it becomes unlikely that any deterioration in productivity growth is accompanied by a downward revision of nominal wages growth. In this case, other adjustment mechanisms would be required.

The labour mobility channel

A second potential venue of adjustment is geographical labour mobility. When a region is hit by an adverse idiosyncratic shock, workers could migrate to expanding regions, contributing to mitigate the effects of asymmetric shocks and reducing the business cycles asymmetries across regions and countries. Blanchard and Katz (1992) showed that labour mobility is an important, probably the

⁽¹⁾ Each individual firm would prefer to reduce the length of their wage contracts only if the variability of its own demand rises. However, if others firms were to reduce the contract duration, the rest of the economy would benefit from higher flexibility, preventing the output volatility that would put pressure on each firm to change the contract length.

most important, adjustment channel in the USA. Because of the limited role played by labour mobility in the euro area, enhancing the adjustment through migration is clearly desirable. However, with heterogeneous inflation rates across countries, a high labour mobility may delay the adjustment because migration to expanding (declining) regions spurs (or discourages) labour supply and reduces the wage response, making the economy to cycle around its long-run equilibrium (Honohan and Leddin, 2005). Finally, labour mobility is only a medium-term adjustment channel, as the decision to move entails transactions costs, and cannot be a surrogate of more intense reallocation of labour from expanding to shrinking sectors. An increase in demand can be only partly satisfied by an increase in the net imports because the supply of domestic traded goods responds only slowly while nontraded goods cannot be imported (1). Hence, labour mobility across sectors increases the supply of non-traded goods, smoothes the adjustment and makes sustainable the net foreign asset position (Fagan and Gaspar, 2005).

6.3. The nature of differentials in output growth and labour market performances

Growth divergences may derive from an imperfect adjustment to EMU, from asymmetric output cycles or from different long-term growth rates. These divergences would not be a matter of concern if they were a temporary response to asymmetric shocks or reflected a catching up from low- to high-income countries. However, they may also signal difficulties in adapting to the new regime. Section 6.3.1 investigates whether countries' performance have been influenced by their participation in the EMU. Section 6.3.2 explores the structural or cyclical nature of the growth differential and the contribution of factors' accumulation to the long-term growth differential. This is followed in Section 6.3.3 by an analysis of cross-country differences in employment and unemployment and of their links with differences in output growth.

6.3.1. How countries adapted to EMU?

Table 18 and Table 19 report the main macroeconomic indicators relative to the euro area aggregate (²). Since

the intention is to distinguish between underlying longterm trends and the adjustment that followed participation in EMU, for each country the observations are split into the pre- and post-euro years. A significant change between the two periods identifies a country-specific change emerging after EMU, which is subsequently interpreted as an asymmetric shock. The significance of this change is established on the basis of the standard deviation of the difference of each country specific indicator vis-à-vis the euro area aggregate. Given the relative short-time span, a change larger than one standard deviation is considered as statistically significant. The '*average*' column shows the average of countries' deviations from the euro area aggregate. A large average deviation signals the prevalence of major asymmetric shocks.

Looking at the '*average*' column, there is evidence of a favourable shock to capital accumulation and the labour market. While the fall in the risk premium explains the first shock, the labour market shock is driven by positive long-term developments. Although no major GDP shock hit the euro area after 1999, four countries experienced an asymmetric GDP shock, favourable for Greece and Spain and unfavourable for Netherlands and Portugal. In the first two countries, GDP relative to the EU average accelerated significantly in the post-euro years. However, with the exception of a rapid accumulation of physical capital in the post-euro years common to both countries, significant differences emerge in the pattern followed by other variables.

- In Greece, the GDP shock was driven by a positive shock in actual and trend TFP growth while the labour market was hit by an unfavourable shock, almost entirely of structural nature, which kept subdued both wage inflation and the growth rate of unit labour costs (ULC) relative to the euro area.
- For Spain, the positive GDP shock reflected favourable labour market shocks, namely improvements in the long-term employment rate and NAIRU (³).
- The Netherlands and Portugal experienced an unfavourable GDP shock, which, especially for Portugal, was partly due to a deterioration of its potential output growth. Although there is no evidence of a statistically significant change compared to the pre-

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) In the short-run the increase in the demand for non-traded goods should be accompanied by an increase in its relative price – i.e. a fall in the ratio of traded to non-traded goods, the internal relative price (Aizenan and Frenkel, 1986) which creates the incentives to shift resources from the traded to the non-traded sector.

⁽²⁾ The table follows the approach adopted by Wyplosz (2006).

⁽³⁾ In both countries the labour market shock takes the form of a change in the same direction of the employment and participation rates such that unemployment respectively increases and declines substantially.

EMU period in the unemployment rate in these countries, in the first years of the euro the labour market underwent specific adjustment paths. In the Netherlands, a positive employment and participation rate shock, despite the deterioration in the longterm trends, created cost pressures that led to a loss of competitiveness. In contrast in Portugal, a negative labour demand shock, mainly structural, dominated the fall in participation. The downward adjustment in relative wage inflation, although statistically significant, was insufficient to trigger a downward change in the relative ULC because of poor productivity developments.

Other countries experienced asymmetric shocks limited to the labour market. Between the pre- and post-euro years, a negative labour market shock can be identified in Germany and Austria, where the fall in employment rate and the increase in the unemployment rate is matched by changes of the same order in the long-term trends. Finally, in France an asymmetric shock hit both labour demand and labour supply, which explains the substantial stability of the unemployment rate (relative to the euro area) before and after the introduction of the euro.

The behaviour of unit labour costs (ULC) highlights country specific adjustments to the change in the monetary regime. The combination of relatively low nominal wage growth and positive productivity growth allowed Germany and Greece to improve their price competitiveness, measured by the ULC either of the total economy or of the manufacturing sector (¹). This was not the case of countries such as Italy, France and the Netherlands where, especially in the manufacturing sector, growth in the nominal wage was higher than productivity growth.

As far as the determinants of economic growth and labour costs are concerned, the analysis suggests that countries adapted differently to the creation of EMU. Countries such as Greece, Spain, Ireland and Finland experienced acceleration in the rate of capital accumulation consistent with the downward convergence of interest rates. Others (e.g. Spain, Ireland, the Netherlands, Germany, Greece, Austria and Portugal) recorded a significant change in labour market performance, with or without an impact on the overall growth performance.

6.3.2. Is the growth differential in the euro area cyclical or structural?

The output growth differential is not particularly high by historical standards (Graph 51). Abstracting from temporary increases in the dispersion in the early 1970s and 1990s, this differential was stable until 1997 and declining afterwards (²). The variability of output growth across country conceals different combinations of shortterm and long-term differences over time. Graph 52 shows the contribution of the cyclical and trend component to the variance of total output growth. The dispersion in growth rates due to differences in the economic cycle was high in the 1970s and 1980s as evidenced by the large variance of the output gap. After the peak of the early 1990s, there has been a decline in the relative importance of short-term growth differentials (measured by the output gap) and an increase in the contribution of the long-term growth differential (measured by potential growth rates). Divergences in potential output growth, already present before the EMU, dominate the dispersion of actual output growth rates (³).

The breakdown of the variation of growth across countries in supply side factors provides support to the notion that the observed growth differences in the euro area are largely of structural rather than of cyclical nature. Moreover, the analysis also suggests that differences in total factor productivity growth account for a stable share over time of the overall growth differential while labour market trends were at the core of differences in growth performance in the more recent period (Annex 1). The historical perspective adopted in the growth accounting exercise suggests that most of the changes observed during the early years of EMU were already occurring before the change in the monetary regime.

6.3.3. Documenting the link between growth and employment differences 1996-2005

As a complement to the analysis above, this section documents the persistence of differences in growth and employment performance across the euro area countries. The comparison between employment and output

⁽¹⁾ However, for Greece the improvements in the relative ULC for the manufacturing sector are not statistically significant.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) However, this pattern is determined by the 'extreme' growth countries, in particular the deceleration of growth in Ireland. Indeed, on the basis of the interquartile range, a more robust measure to extreme values, the growth differential increased from 1999 to 2003 and thereafter fell, hovering around the historical average.

⁽³⁾ The decomposition is based on the assumption that the cyclical and trend component are uncorrelated. The trend is ECFIN potential output. Results do not change for the euro area and are invariant to alternative measure of dispersion such as the quartile range.

Table 18

Country specific performance relative to euro area

	BE	DE	EL	ES	FR	IE	IT	NL	AT	РТ	FI	LU	Average
GDP growth													
1990-1998	- 0.1	0.1	0.0	0.4	- 0.2	4.5	- 0.6	0.8	0.4	0.7	- 0.7	2.9	0.7
1999-2005	0.1	- 0.6	2.6	1.7	0.2	4.0	- 0.7	- 0.5	0.0	- 0.6	0.9	2.4	0.8
Difference	0.2	- 0.7	2.6	1.3	0.4	- 0.5	0.0	- 1.3	- 0.4	- 1.3	1.6	- 0.5	0.1
S.D.	0.5	0.9	1.8	0.9	0.5	2.2	0.5	0.8	0.7	1.3	3.2	2.0	0.6
TFP growth													
1990-1998	- 0.3	0.1	- 0.5	- 0.8	- 0.2	2.7	- 0.5	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.7	0.3	0.2
1999-2005	0.2	0.2	1.8	- 0.3	0.5	1.5	- 0.7	- 0.4	0.0	- 0.9	1.1	- 0.1	0.2
Difference	0.5	0.1	2.3	0.5	0.7	- 1.2	- 0.2	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 1.2	0.4	- 0.4	0.1
S.D.	0.8	0.5	2.2	0.7	0.7	1.8	0.8	1.0	0.9	1.3	1.9	2.0	0.5
Capital growth													
1990-1998	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.2	- 0.1	0.8	- 0.3	- 0.4	0.7	1.4	- 2.2	2.0	0.3
1999-2005	- 0.4	- 0.9	1.4	2.2	0.3	3.3	- 0.1	- 0.4	0.2	1.1	- 1.1	2.7	0.7
Difference	- 0.4	- 0.9	1.4	1.0	0.4	2.4	0.1	0.0	- 0.5	- 0.4	1.2	0.7	0.4
S.D.	0.3	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.3	1.6	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.8	0.9	1.1	0.3
Hours worked	per emplo	yed (rate	e of grow	th)									
1990-1998	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.2	- 0.7	0.4	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.3	0.9	0.1	0.1
1999-2005	0.3	0.0	0.6	- 0.3	- 0.4	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.7	0.6	0.2	0.2	- 0.3	0.1
Difference	0.0	- 0.1	0.3	- 0.8	- 0.6	0.6	- 0.5	0.8	0.8	0.5	- 0.7	- 0.3	0.0
S.D.	0.8	0.7	1.4	0.7	0.8	1.2	0.6	1.3	1.3	2.0	1.1	1.1	0.4
Employment g	rowth												
1990-1998	0.0	- 0.2	0.4	0.7	- 0.1	2.9	- 0.5	1.5	0.1	0.0	- 1.8	2.7	0.5
1999-2005	- 0.2	- 0.9	- 0.1	2.2	- 0.2	2.1	0.3	- 0.6	- 0.7	- 0.4	0.1	2.6	0.3
Difference	- 0.3	- 0.6	- 0.6	1.6	0.0	- 0.8	0.8	- 2.1	- 0.8	- 0.5	1.9	- 0.1	- 0.1
S.D.	0.6	0.7	1.9	1.3	0.5	1.8	0.7	1.2	0.7	0.7	2.6	0.7	0.4
Employment ra	te												
1990-1998	- 3.7	6.5	- 8.4	- 9.3	- 1.1	- 5.9	- 4.4	6.2	12.8	7.1	2.5	15.6	1.5
1999-2005	- 4.3	4.7	- 11.7	- 4.3	- 1.9	1.7	- 4.5	9.7	10.1	5.9	2.1	29.9	3.1
Difference	- 0.6	- 1.8	- 3.3	5.0	- 0.8	7.6	- 0.1	3.6	- 2.6	- 1.2	- 0.4	14.2	1.6
S.D.	0.7	1.1	2.0	2.8	0.6	4.5	0.8	2.8	1.6	1.0	3.0	8.3	1.0
Participation ra	te												
1990-1998	- 4.5	5.9	- 9.5	- 5.1	- 0.1	- 4.0	- 4.1	4.0	9.5	5.1	4.9	11.4	1.1
1999-2005	- 5.0	5.3	- 11.2	- 2.5	- 1.2	- 0.9	- 4.4	6.6	7.6	4.2	3.1	27.4	2.4
Difference	- 0.5	- 0.6	- 1.7	2.7	- 1.1	3.1	- 0.2	2.5	- 1.9	- 0.9	- 1.9	15.9	1.3
S.D.	0.8	0.4	1.3	1.5	0.7	1.7	0.4	1.9	1.2	0.8	1.6	9.0	0.7
Unemployment	t rate												
1990-1998	- 1.4	- 2.3	- 1.1	6.7	0.8	2.9	0.4	- 4.2	- 6.0	- 4.0	2.2	- 7.3	- 1.1
1999-2005	- 0.8	- 0.2	2.1	2.6	0.8	- 4.0	0.4	- 5.1	- 4.3	- 3.1	0.6	- 5.2	– 1.3
Difference	0.6	2.1	3.2	- 4.1	0.0	- 6.9	0.0	- 0.9	1.6	0.9	- 1.6	2.1	- 0.2
S.D.	0.4	1.2	1.7	2.6	0.3	4.3	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.0	2.3	1.4	1.1
Wage inflation													
1990-1998	0.0	1.3	7.3	1.7	- 0.5	1.5	0.6	- 0.4	0.2	4.3	- 0.5	0.2	1.3
1999-2005	0.1	- 0.6	3.8	0.7	0.1	3.5	0.5	1.6	- 0.4	1.7	0.7	0.8	1.0
Difference	0.1	- 1.9	- 3.5	- 1.0	0.6	2.0	- 0.1	2.0	- 0.6	- 2.7	1.3	0.6	- 0.3
S.D.	1.5	1.4	3.0	1.3	1.1	1.8	1.6	1.7	1.1	2.1	2.1	1.4	0.8

(Continued on the next page)

Table 18 (continued)

	BE	DE	EL	ES	FR	IE	IT	NL	AT	РТ	FI	LU	Average
Nominal unit labour costs rate of growth													
1991-1998	0.0	0.0	8.1	1.7	- 1.0	- 0.3	0.2	0.0	- 0.5	3.3	- 2.4	0.3	0.8
1999-2005	- 0.1	– 1.3	1.1	1.4	0.0	1.8	1.2	1.3	- 0.9	2.1	0.1	1.4	0.7
Difference	- 0.1	- 1.2	- 6.9	- 0.4	1.0	2.1	1.0	1.3	- 0.4	- 1.2	2.5	1.1	- 0.1
S.D.	1.0	0.9	4.0	0.8	0.9	2.3	1.7	1.3	0.9	1.7	2.8	2.0	0.3
Nominal unit labour costs rate of growth: Manufacturing													
1991-1998	0.0	0.8	5.5	2.8	- 2.3	- 4.9	0.8	- 0.5	- 1.3	2.1	- 3.3	- 2.2	- 0.7
1999-2005	0.1	- 2.0	2.4	1.8	0.6	- 1.3	3.1	1.7	- 1.7	2.9	- 1.5	1.6	0.6
Difference	0.1	- 2.8	- 3.1	- 1.0	3.0	3.6	2.3	2.2	- 0.4	0.7	1.8	3.8	1.4
S.D.	1.8	2.1	4.5	1.6	2.1	5.6	2.1	1.9	1.6	2.8	4.6	3.0	1.1

Source: Commission Service; S.D. standard deviation calculated on the deviation from the euro area average for the entire sample period. In bold significant differences.; For Greece 1995-1998. Each number is calculated as the difference between the variable of interest of a certain country and the euro area weighted average. The column average represents the un-weighted average of all countries.

Table 19

Country specific performance relative to euro area: selected trend variables

	BE	DE	EL	ES	FR	IE	IT	NL	AT	РТ	FI	LU	Euro area average country
Potential GDP	growth												
1990-1998	- 0.1	0.1	0.0	0.5	- 0.3	4.5	- 0.6	0.5	0.3	0.8	- 0.7	3.0	0.7
1999-2005	0.1	- 0.8	1.7	1.7	0.3	4.7	- 0.7	0.1	0.2	- 0.2	1.3	2.7	0.9
Difference	0.1	- 0.9	1.7	1.1	0.6	0.2	0.0	- 0.4	- 0.1	- 1.0	1.9	- 0.3	0.2
S.D.	0.1	0.6	1.0	0.6	0.3	1.2	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.5	1.3	0.4	0.3
TFP trend grow	vth												
1990-1998	- 0.2	0.3	- 0.4	- 0.7	0.0	2.6	- 0.4	- 0.2	0.2	0.1	0.7	0.5	0.2
1999-2005	0.1	0.0	1.0	- 0.5	0.3	2.0	- 0.7	- 0.2	0.1	- 0.6	1.1	0.1	0.2
Difference	0.3	- 0.3	1.4	0.2	0.3	- 0.7	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.6	0.4	- 0.3	0.0
S.D.	0.2	0.2	0.9	0.1	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.1
Potential emp	loyment gi	rowth											
1990-1998	0.0	- 0.1	0.0	1.1	- 0.3	2.6	- 0.5	1.3	- 0.1	0.0	- 1.6	2.7	0.4
1999-2005	- 0.2	- 0.9	- 0.5	2.3	- 0.1	2.7	- 0.1	0.2	- 0.4	- 0.3	0.3	2.5	0.5
Difference	- 0.1	- 0.8	- 0.5	1.2	0.3	0.1	0.4	- 1.1	- 0.3	- 0.3	1.9	- 0.1	0.1
S.D.	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.7	0.3	1.1	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.2	1.4	0.4	0.2
NAIRU													
1990-1998	- 1.0	- 2.2	- 1.8	5.9	0.6	3.1	0.5	- 4.0	- 5.6	- 4.4	1.7	- 7.1	- 1.2
1999-2005	- 0.8	- 0.4	1.0	3.0	1.1	- 3.8	0.4	- 5.4	- 4.3	- 3.0	0.5	- 5.1	- 1.4
Difference	0.2	1.8	2.8	- 2.9	0.6	- 7.0	- 0.1	- 1.4	1.3	1.4	- 1.2	2.0	- 0.2
S.D.	0.3	1.0	1.4	1.7	0.3	3.8	0.2	0.9	0.8	1.0	1.5	1.2	0.2
Potential emp	loyment ra	ite											
1990-1998	- 4.0	6.4	- 7.9	- 8.9	- 1.0	- 5.8	- 4.5	5.8	12.3	7.1	3.3	15.4	1.5
1999-2005	- 4.1	4.9	- 10.9	- 4.6	- 2.2	1.3	- 4.4	9.8	10.2	5.8	2.2	29.8	3.1
Difference	- 0.1	- 1.5	- 3.0	4.3	- 1.2	7.1	0.1	4.0	- 2.1	- 1.4	- 1.1	14.4	1.6
S.D.	0.3	0.8	1.7	2.4	0.7	3.9	0.3	2.5	1.2	0.8	2.2	8.2	0.9

Source: Commission Service; S.D. standard deviation calculated on the deviation from the euro area average for the entire sample period. In **bold** significant differences.





Graph 52: Contribution to variance of GDP growth for EUR-10



Source: Note: EUR-12 excluding Ireland and Luxembourg. *Source:* Commission services.

growth focuses on the period 1996-2005, and the subperiods 1996-2000 and 2001-2005. The choice of these periods is motivated by three factors. First, preparation for EMU led to stable nominal bilateral exchange rates and macroeconomic policies well before the introduction of the euro in 1999 (¹). Second, the period 1996-2005 broadly covers a full business cycle. Thirdly, previous research has located a break in the employmentoutput relationship in the mid-1990s (²). The chosen period is not influenced by this break.

Countries with higher real economic growth in 1996-2005 also recorded higher employment growth and vice versa. This link is particularly apparent if countries are ranked according to their employment and output growth (Graph 53). Exceptions are Italy, the median country for employment growth but with the lowest GDP growth, and Greece, with a relatively good output growth and a mediocre employment performance. The strength of this association is higher in the period 1996-2005 than over past decades (see Graph A1/Graph A2 in the Annex)⁽³⁾.

Two qualifications need to be mentioned. First, there was still limited fluc-

tuation in nominal exchange rates in 1996 and for some countries, notably

Ireland, Italy and Finland in 1997. Second, Greece entered the euro area

See Mourre (2005) and European Commission (2005, Annex III).

 $(^{1})$

 $(^{2})$

only in 2001

For the average growth rate over the 1996-2005 period, countries gather around different clusters (Graph 54). Ireland, Luxembourg and Spain witnessed strong employment and output growth. Of the nine countries closely clustered around the euro area average, three are located at the margins. Finland and Greece stand somewhat distant in terms of higher real output growth, while Germany had the lowest employment growth and the second-weakest GDP growth. Using the change in the rate of unemployment rather than employment growth does not yield a systematically different picture. Differences in employment performance match differences in the change of unemployment rates (⁴).

The ranking of employment growth is relatively stable in the economic boom 1996-2000 as well as in the slowdown period 2001-2005. Thus, relative employment differences appear to be as persistent as growth differences. However, some countries experienced a change in their

⁽⁴⁾ The notable exception is Luxembourg. The country combined strong employment growth with a sizeable increase in the rate of unemployment, reflecting its special situation as regards very low rates of unemployment in the 1990s that varied between 2 and 3 % and the large inflow of crossborder commuters in response to labour supply shortages.



Source: Commission services.

⁽³⁾ A linear regression line Graph 1 for the period 1996-2005 yields an R2 of 0.56. For the periods 1975-1995 and 1985-1995, it would be 0.04 and 0.36, respectively.



relative employment performances, which is indicative of some form of economic adjustment. While the Netherlands and Portugal were not able to sustain the strong job creation of the first period, Italy had relatively little job creation during the economic upswing 1996-2000, but ranked among the best performers in the period of cyclical slowdown, i.e. after accession to the euro area (¹). The same pattern can be observed for Greece in terms of real GDP growth. Finally, Spain was little affected by the cyclical slowdown, continuing to expand both GDP and jobs by around 3 % per annum after 2001.

The link between employment growth and GDP growth was particularly strong in the boom phase 1996-2000 (Graph 55). Only for Spain, the Netherlands and Greece does the elasticity of employment to GDP over the cycle differ from the average. The recovery was more labour-intensive in Spain and the Netherlands and more productivity-based in Greece. The link is looser for the period of economic slowdown as implied by a smaller share of employment growth that can be explained by output growth (i.e. the lower R^2 in Graph 56). Employment

growth was lower than expected by the respective GDP growth in Greece, Germany and Austria and higher than expected in Spain, Luxembourg and Italy (²).

What should be retained from the analysis?

- There is a strong relationship between employment and economic activity. Trends in labour productivity may be important for understanding economic performance in countries such as Italy, Spain and Greece.
- The weaker link between employment and output in the slowdown relative to the upswing suggests that country-specific forces were more important in the slowdown than in the upswing. Faced with an economic slowdown, countries may have responded differently in terms of labour hoarding and possibly to industrial adjustment via creative destruction.

6.4. The role of initial conditions on labour markets

Although the run-up to the EMU led to strong nominal convergence, countries entered the new monetary regime with different real conditions. Looking into the

⁽¹⁾ Notably, the relatively good employment performance in Italy was not accompanied by an improvement in the relative growth performance. The opposite development can be observed for France, where a better relative GDP growth performance was not associated by a similar improvement in its relative employment performance.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) These results also hold if Ireland and Luxembourg, outliers in terms of both employment and output growth, are deducted from the sample.



Graph 55: Output and employment performance in the cyclical upswing 1996-2000



starting position of countries may help identifying the potential for catching-up and the differences in the growth rates that might have emerged in the early years of EMU. Three factors which may drive convergence on labour markets are analysed: differences in the initial slack on labour markets (Section 6.4.1), the sectoral composition of economic activity (Section 6.4.2) and differences in initial wage levels (Section 6.4.3).

6.4.1. Differences in labour supply: Convergence of participation and unemployment

This section analyses whether cross-country differences in the utilisation of labour supply in the mid-1990s may have had an impact on differences in employment growth and therewith on output growth. If employment growth has been particularly strong since the mid-1990s in countries with ample labour market slack and vice versa, accumulated cross-country differences in economic growth over the period 1996-2005 would not necessarily imply a build-up of imbalances. This has also implications on the expected adjustment. Whereas one usually attributes strong employment growth with strong wage growth, an increase in labour supply actually exerts downward pressure on wages.

Since the mid-1990s, participation rates have been remarkably increasing in the euro area, more than in other OECD countries, reversing the negative trend of the 1970s and 1980s (Graph 57). Changes in the participation behaviour of different socio-economic groups have modified the overall participation rate over the last decade (Table A1). The entrance in the labour market of more educated age groups, with higher labour market attachment, has been a main factor behind the increases in labour supply. Moreover, socio-economic changes, stimulated by the spread of part-time work and the improved access to childcare facilities, may explain the outstanding increase in female participation, especially in countries where the female participation rate had been low. Finally, a high share of people entering the age group 30-45 where participation is traditionally high, and the effect of reforms of early retirement on the incentive to work for older workers contributed to the more recent pick up in participation rates.

In Portugal, Greece and to a lesser extent Italy, demographic forces have been an important driving force, accounting for 25 % to close to 45 % of the increase in the participation rates between 1996 and 2004 (Graph 58). Demographic factors play a little role in Ireland and Belgium while they constrained the increase in participation rates in Finland, Netherlands, Austria, France and Germany. In contrast, the change in participation rates of specific age groups contributed to the increase in participation more in countries such as the Netherlands, Ireland and Spain than in the euro area average. In Germany, France and Austria the contribution of age specific change in participation was lower than in the euro area. In France, the negative demographic effect was compensated by the combination of a rising population in age groups where participation rates also increased. Overall, despite the positive relationship between the importance of the demographic factor and the increase in the participation rate, this factor accounted for only about one eighth of the increase in the euro area participation rate.

Potential for catch-up can be derived from checking whether the increase in the employment rate between 1996 and 2004 was larger in low than in high employment rate countries. A simple test of the so-called 'beta'-convergence shows that countries such as Spain and Ireland with low employment rates in 1996 had a relatively more dynamic employment rate in the subsequent ten years (Graph 59) (¹). The most obvious exceptions are Luxembourg and Greece.

In some countries, employment growth has been strongly determined by changes in female employment, especially in Italy, Belgium, the Netherlands, and Germany (²). In the Netherlands the female component was particularly dynamic, despite an already high employment rate in 1996, whereas the lower increase in female employment in Germany and Austria is consistent with the relatively high rates of 10 years ago (³). In countries such as Spain and Ireland, despite the strong catching up to the euro area average, female employment was not the main driving force behind the overall increase in employment (Graph 61).

Member States started EMU preparations with substantial differences in unemployment rates, which, however, declined during the last decade. The fall in unemployment was the highest in countries which ranked among the worst performers in the mid-1990s (i.e. Spain, Ireland and Finland). In contrast, unemployment increased

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) In symbols, catching up in employment and unemployment rates implies $\Delta n_i = -\alpha n_0$ and $\Delta u_i = -\beta u_0$. Since $u \approx l$ -n where l is the participation rate combining the expressions we have $\Delta l_i = -\beta u_0 - \alpha n_0$ and expressing the unemployment rate in terms of employment and participation rates $\Delta l_i = -\beta l_0 + (\beta - \alpha) n_0$. Since $\beta > \alpha$ the increase in participation rate is high in low-participation rates countries but this increase is reduced if the employment rate is also low. Hence most of the decrease in unemployment comes from an increase in employment rather than from a decrease in the participation rate.

⁽²⁾ As regards changes to employment rates of young and old workers, evidence of convergence is unclear. A remarkably positive development has been the strong contribution of employment from older workers (55-64) and younger workers (15-24) to employment growth in the Netherlands and Finland. On the other side of the spectrum, negative contribution of older workers despite an overall positive employment performance was recorded in Greece, and of younger workers in Greece, Portugal, Italy and Luxembourg.

⁽³⁾ The female employment rate in 1996 is only weakly significant in a regression on the increase in the employment rate 1996-2004 in a cross-country panel of euro area Member States, if the estimate is controlled for the contribution of male employment to total employment growth.

in traditional low unemployment countries such as Luxembourg and Austria. The convergence in unemployment rate is also observed for non-EMU countries (¹) and some new Member States (²) which implies that the monetary union was not the main reason for this convergence.

The evidence above suggests that the strong employment growth of the past 10 years might have been driven by a catching-up process in countries with low employment and high unemployment rates. In Ireland and Spain, and to some extent also in Italy and Finland, output growth was supported by an increase in employment and a decline in unemployment. Higher rates of employment and lower unemployment in Germany and Austria in the mid-1990s, as well as negative demographic factors meant little leeway to benefit from convergence. Relevant exceptions are the Netherlands and Portugal because high employment growth during the expansion of the late 1990s was not apparently related to the initially available slack in the labour market (³). Moreover, demographic factors constrained employment growth in

(2) The exceptions are PL and SK where the unemployment increase in the last year from already high levels. some countries, namely Germany, Austria, France, Finland and the Netherlands.

Among the main determinants of the long-term growth differentials, the increase in labour supply, driven in some countries by favourable demographic shocks, contributed to the catching up of employment and to the consequent growth differential observed since the mid 1990s. In other countries, the increase in female participation boosted employment growth. Since socio-demographic trends are exogenous with respect to output, the differences in employment dynamics may explain the observed output growth differences vis-à-vis the euro area aggregate.

6.4.2. Differences in labour demand: The impact of the sectoral composition on employment performance

Cross-country differences in labour demand may be influenced by the sectoral distribution of employment in each country. Graph 63 displays the breakdown of employment in the euro area in main sectors. Table 20 shows that differences in the sectoral composition are

(3) Portugal benefited from a favourable demographic factor; participation in the Netherlands was strongly driven by the increase in female participation.



^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) These are DK, SE, UK as well as the USA, JP, CA, CH, NO, IS, KO, AU, NZ.





large across countries, especially as regards the share of agriculture and construction. A breakdown of employment in 56 branches confirms that job-creation has taken place mainly in services. Interestingly, among the top 5 sectors with respect to their contribution to total employment growth, there are service sectors employing predominantly high-skilled as well as low-skilled employees (Table 20).

'Other business services', 'health and social work' as well as 'legal, technical and advertising' services have contributed strongly to job-creation in all Member





States. Notable differences from the euro area developments can be seen in the Dutch and Spanish 'retail sector', which grew more strongly in these countries rather than in others. Similarly, 'construction' contributed strongly to employment growth in Spain, Portugal, Ireland and Finland while in Germany and Austria, it was the sector with the highest job destruction. The contribution of employment growth in 'public administration' was negative only in Germany, France and Italy.





Despite these differences, basically the same sectors contributed most to the 1996-2003 employment growth across countries. Low employment growth sectors have also been relatively similar. The similarity is stronger for market services than for manufacturing sectors, which suggests that common factors drove employment in services whereas specialisation or other country-specific trends influenced employment growth in manufacturing (¹). Although the expanding or shrinking sectors were the same in most countries, the magni-

⁽¹⁾ The correlation of employment creation in non-market services across countries is comparable to that of market services, with the notable exceptions of Italy and Spain. Many more jobs were created in public administration in Spain than in the euro area. In Italy, employment creation in health, education and private households was weaker than in the euro area.



Graph 64: Change in the sectoral breakdown in the euro area 1996-2003

tude of employment growth differed noticeably across countries. Cross-country differences in the sectoral contribution to employment growth were generally smaller in manufacturing, but were pronounced in construction and services, with the exception of R & D.

The impact of the sectoral composition on the differences across countries in employment growth can be seen comparing the actual with the hypothetical growth when all countries have the composition of the euro area aggregate. The effect of composition is small relative to the differences across countries in employment growth of each sector (Graph 65). This effect has been mainly determined by a small share of employment in growing sectors rather than by a large share in shrinking sectors (Graph 66). The largest effect is recorded for Austria, Portugal, Finland and Ireland, all having a large employment share in branches of the services and manufacturing sectors that contributed most to employment growth in the euro area. In addition, they benefited from more rapid employment creation in less dynamic sectors in the euro area at large, i.e. 'computer services' in Finland, 'chemicals' in Ireland, 'construction' and 'trade services' in Portugal, or 'instruments and motor vehicles' in Austria (1).

From the labour demand side, the evidence suggests that the initial structure of employment had only a small impact on employment trends. Although the service sector was the most dynamic sector in all Member States, large differences exist in the contribution of different service activities. In the case of manufacturing, the differences across countries were relatively limited. Crosscountry differences in sectoral employment performance were most marked in construction. Thus, labour demand has been different across euro area Member States and it is reasonable to assume that these differences are caused by differences in output growth or determinants of output growth.

6.4.3. Differences in initial wage levels: Are they related to differences in employment trends?

Increasing economic integration implies that price and wage differences across countries become more important. By increasing price transparency and consequently the comparability of labour costs, EMU may have strengthened the incentives for enterprises to move production across borders especially into countries with low wage levels.

On the basis of the compensation per employee – which include wages, salaries and social security contributions

⁽¹⁾ The Graphs A3 and A4 in the Annex report the results if the sectoral composition had been similar to the USA in 1996. Since employment grew mainly in services and the share of services is higher in the USA, all Member States would have had higher employment growth if they had the sectoral composition of the USA of the mid-1990s.

Table 20

Sectoral composition of employment 1996-2003

	EUR-12	BE	DE	ES	FR	IE	IT	NL	AT	РТ	FI
Share of employment in total employment											
Primary	4.2	2.5	2.5	6.8	4.1	8.2	5.1	3.6	13.8	10.7	6.3
Industry, mining, energy	18.8	17.0	22.3	18.9	16.2	19.2	23.3	14.1	17.5	21.3	20.8
Construction	7.1	5.9	7.3	10.0	6.1	9.3	6.6	6.1	6.9	9.5	6.4
Market-services	39.9	41.9	39.0	36.6	39.4	37.9	37.0	44.4	37.8	32.1	33.6
Non-market services	30.1	32.7	28.9	27.6	34.2	25.3	27.9	31.6	24.0	26.4	32.9
Five sectors with highest job creation in the euro area (rank of contribution to total employment growth 1996-2003)											
Other business services	1	2	1	3	1	6	1	2	1	5	3
Health and social work	2	1	2	5	2	2	11	1	3	3	1
Legal, technical and advertising	3	3	5	7	4	9	2	4	2	10	12
Hotels and catering	4	4	3	4	8	3	3	11	6	4	11
Other community, social and personal services	5	9	4	14	3	5	6	6	5	2	5
Five sectors with highest job destruction in the euro area (rank of negative contribution to total employment growth 1996-2003)											
Agriculture	1	1	3	1	1	1	1	2	2	1	1
Clothing	2	4	14	7	2	2	2	7	6	9	7
Textiles	3	2	17	23	5	3	5	5	8	2	10
Electricity, gas and water supply	4	14	13	3	29	16	6	4	13	21	3
Mining and quarrying	5	22	6	2	6	26	15	15	24	25	25

Source: GDGC, Commission services.







– in 1996, labour costs in Portugal and Greece were less than half of the euro area average whereas in Belgium and Luxembourg they were 30 % higher (Graph 67). Domestic prices, however, are important for firms that serve the domestic market but less so for those that sell to the euro area market. The range is smaller if purchasing power standards are used because richer countries have both higher wages and prices. A further factor is differences in hours worked. Employees in richer countries tend to work fewer hours, which leads to higher cross-country difference in hourly labour costs than in labour costs per employee.

A further important factor that needs to be taken into account is productivity differences. Indeed, Graph 68 shows that wage differences in 1996 were closely tied to differences in labour productivity. Graph 69 presents a comparison of relative unit labour costs (ULC) adjusted for cross-country differences in 1996 price levels (¹). Thus, the bars represent labour costs from the perspective of firms employing domestic labour but selling output abroad, i.e. domestic prices do not matter for its price competitiveness. Although cross-country differences in these adjusted labour costs are much smaller than for nominal labour costs, some countries were positioned well below the euro area average (Portugal, Greece, Italy, Spain, Ireland). These are broadly the same countries that witnessed a strong growth or employment performance over the last years. Countries with a high adjusted labour cost level in the mid-1990s had weak employment growth over the following decade (Germany and Austria) (Graph 70).

The results emerging from the labour supply and labour demand perspective are not necessarily contradictory. Employment has grown in countries with ample labour market slack, implying that they had some leeway for catch-up growth not only in terms of productivity but also in terms of labour utilisation. This catch-up process was also supported by initial lower labour costs in some countries. This also holds if productivity differences are accounted for. EMU might have affected these employment trends either by inducing further industrial specialisation across countries or by fostering cyclical adjustment patterns. These issues will be addressed in the next section.

6.5. Wage adjustment in the euro area

The previous chapter identified persistent differences in employment performance among the euro area countries over the last 10 years. This chapter assesses whether

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) This was done by deflating nominal labour productivity by purchasing power standards and comparative GDP price levels. Usual indicators of nominal ULC are calculated as an index, which means that prices are set equal to 100 for the base year. This means that the price level in the base year is assumed to be equal across countries. The method used here explicitly adjusts for price level differences in the base year.







Graph 68: Initial wage and labour productivity levels in the euro area Member States 1996

wage developments contributed to re-balance these differences. The issue of wage adjustment is analysed at the aggregate and at the sectoral level. Section 6.5.1 explores the response of wages to employment as large differences in wage trends across countries could contribute to rebalance differences in employment performance. Section 6.5.2 discusses the impact of a change in wages on employment. Both sections try to clarify the role of labour market institutions as determinants of cross-country differences. Section 6.5.3 deals with sectoral adjustment, looking into differences across countries in relative wages and employment. As shifts in the size of the tradable and the non-tradable sector contribute to current account adjustment, the analysis focuses



Graph 69: Relative unit labour cost levels in the euro area Member States 1996

Graph 70: Relative unit labour cost levels 1996 and employment growth in the euro area Member States 1996-2005



Source: Commission services.

mainly on the distinction between sectors exposed to and sheltered from international competition. Finally, the role played by differences in sectoral wages in sectoral reallocation is analysed (¹).

6.5.1. Impact of labour market performance on wage developments

Descriptive analysis of the wage-employment relationship in the euro area countries

Despite significant differences in the wage formation systems across euro area countries, wage developments over the past 10 years appear broadly in line with cross-country differences in employment performance (Graph 71). Countries with relatively low employment growth also had relatively low growth of hourly labour costs over the period 1996-2005. Portugal and Greece, with a relatively high wage growth and weak employment performance, are the most notable exceptions. Greece joined the euro area only in 2001 and the high wage growth may be explained by the devaluation of the Greek currency relative to the euro before the adoption of the euro (²).

Many countries had a combination of employment and wage growth close to the euro area aggregate (Graph 72). Consistent with their low employment performance and the high relative wage level identified in the previous section, Germany and Austria experienced relatively little wage growth. Starting from a low wage level in the mid-1990s, Ireland combined strong employment and wage growth. Greece, Portugal and Spain, all with relative low wage levels in the mid-1990s, had different prices and quantities dynamics over the last ten years. Only Spain managed to combine high wage growth with high employment growth (³). Overall and across the different indicators, employment growth is consistently linked to lower wage growth in those euro area Member States with a high initial wage level (⁴).

It may be informative to split the period 1996-2005 into two sub-periods, covering the cyclical upswing 1996-2000 and the slow growth period 2001-05. Graph 73 shows that wage growth was relatively similar in most countries in both periods (i.e. they cluster around the euro area average), suggesting that wage developments in the euro area are little influenced by cyclical conditions. Deviations from the euro area average can be noticed for four countries. Austria and Germany had the lowest wage growth in both periods, concurring with their weak relative employment performance. In contrast, in Greece and Ireland, wages grew markedly above the euro area average in both periods in line with, respectively, their strong employment growth and GDP performance. In countries with high employment growth such as Spain and the Netherlands, wage growth was close to the euro area aggregate in the first period, but above it in the slow growth period. The opposite can be observed for Italy. In Finland, Greece and Belgium, real wages increased during the slowdown more than they did during the expansion while in Austria, Germany, Italy and Portugal real wages grew markedly less in the period of slowdown.

Graph 74 suggests that productivity developments over the cycle contributed to keep nominal ULC growth during the period of slowdown above the rates observed for the upturn, implying that wages failed to keep pace with the cyclical slowdown in productivity. As suggested by the development of real unit labour costs (Graph 76), in several countries nominal ULC grew by less than the price of final output (the GDP deflator) during the slowdown. Unit labour costs rose above that of final output only in Italy, Luxembourg, Finland and Portugal. In Portugal, ULC grew at the same rate in both recovery and slowdown. Finally, in Germany and Spain, real ULC declined during the slowdown more than during the expansion, implying a further consolidation of the gains in competitiveness achieved during the expansion.

^{(&}lt;sup>1</sup>) Wages expressed in common currency implies the perspective of a firm that produces with domestic labour as the only — or at least dominant — production factor and sells at the euro area market, i.e. considering the euro area inflation rate as relevant. Since this viewpoint is not relevant for all kind of goods, the sectoral part explicitly takes up the distinction between tradable and non-tradable goods. For most of the period under investigation, countries shared the euro area only in 2001. Moreover, the Italian currency was stable against the ecu/euro only from 1997 onwards. A further special effect related to Italy was change in the calculation of compensation, which distorts figures in 1998. In the analysis below, a proxy that is closer to the true developments in 1998 than the observation published in the national accounts is used.

⁽²⁾ Greek producers that only serve the domestic market were less exposed to wage pressure than the graphs suggest. However, Greek producers that operate on the euro area market were faced with the highest increase in domestic labour costs in the euro area.

⁽³⁾ The use of alternative indicators such as compensation per employee or nominal ULC does not change the pictures substantially (See Graphs A17-A21 in the Annex). The ranking is less stringent for compensation per employee because of different trends in the spread of part-time employment across Member States. The ranking in terms of ULC, finally, is somewhat more uneven because the productivity performance differed from wage developments in some countries.

⁽⁴⁾ The reasoning is based on compensation per hour worked as relevant indicator of wage developments. The use of alternative indicators such as compensation per employee or nominal unit labour costs does not change the pictures substantially.





Note: Low ranks imply better employment performance (x-axis) and high wage growth (y-axis). *Source:* Commission services.



89





The elasticity of real wages with respect to unemployment and productivity

The estimation of the elasticity of real wages to unemployment and productivity allows for a systematic analysis of the response of real wages to labour market conditions. Several multi-country studies have recently reported the results of estimated macroeconomic wage equations and NAIRU-equations. Differences in the elasticity across countries could reflect differences in the flexibility of national labour markets. As shown in Table 21, the euro area and the USA have similar elastic-







ity of wages with respect to prices and unemployment. Wages in the USA seem to be more responsive to productivity than in the euro area.

The similarity between the euro area and the US elasticity contrasts with the patterns observed during the slowdown of 2001-03. Wage growth decelerated quickly and

Table 21

Elasticities of wages with respect to prices, productivity and unemployment in the economic literature

	USA	UK	Euro area
Prices – average of 4 studies	0.9	0.7	0.9
Van den Horst	0.6	0.5	1.0
Barrell/Dury		0.4	0.7
EFN – level	1.1	1.1	0.9
EFN- difference	0.9	1.0	1.0
Productivity –average of 6	1.1	0.3	0.9
Van den Horst	0.6	0.5	1.0
ECFIN	0.8	0.4	0.5
EFN – level	1.9	0.9	1.4
EFN – difference	0.6	- 0.1	0.5
AQR/IWH – level	0.8	0.2	1.4
AQR/IWH – difference	1.6	0.1	0.5
Unemployment* – average of 7	- 0.3	- 0.4	- 0.4
Van den Horst	- 0.4	- 0.8	- 1.4
ECFIN**	- 0.5	- 1.2	- 0.2
Barrell/Dury	NA	- 0.2	- 0.3
EFN – level	- 0.1	- 0.1	- 0.1
EFN – difference	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 0.5
AQR/IWH – level	- 0.2	- 0.1	- 0.2
AQR/IWH – difference	- 0.2	- 0.1	- 0.1

Note: In some studies, there is no euro area estimate. In this case, the euro area observation is the weighted average of the elasticities of euro area Member States. The weights are the Member States' share in euro area compensation. * semi-elasticity, ** uses cyclical unemployment.

markedly in the USA whereas it was sluggish in the euro area. The similarity across the Atlantic of the average response of wages to unemployment is not a surprise. Indeed, both high occupational and geographical mobility and the stabilisation of regional demand through federal transfers makes the adjustment of wages in the USA less relevant than in the euro area where alternative adjustment mechanisms are less prevalent.

Rather than using the USA as a benchmark for the euro area, the following comparisons document differences in the responsiveness of wages to unemployment and productivity across the euro area countries. This can help identifying differences in wage flexibility and their institutional determinants. Graph 77 shows the response of wages to a one percent point increase in the unemployment rate. Countries are ordered according to the average elasticity from four different specifications. The elasticity varies markedly across countries and empirical specifications. Across different estimating techniques, the wage response is relatively high in Portugal and low in Luxembourg, Ireland, Spain, France, and Germany. Graph 78 shows the elasticity of wages to productivity found and the lower panel of Table A2 in the Annex gives a ranking across alternative methods used in the empirical literature. Wages respond relatively little to changes in productivity in France and Portugal, whereas the response is much stronger in Belgium, Austria, Spain and Germany. The differences in the results are greater across studies than across countries, implying that it is difficult to establish a robust hierarchy of countries with respect to wage flexibility.

A related concept is that of downward nominal wage rigidity, which is particularly relevant in a low-inflation environment because the nominal wages cuts needed to absorb labour market disequilibria are less feasible. Preliminary results from the international wage flexibility project indicate that nominal wages are less downwardly rigid in most euro area Member States than in the USA (¹) where nominal wages are relatively rigid. Among the euro area countries, Greece, Italy and Portugal have a degree of downward nominal wages rigidity similar to the USA. However, real wages in almost all euro area Member States were found to be more rigid downwards than in the USA.

The available studies are not conclusive as regards the key determinants of wage rigidity and the direction of the influence. For example, Holden and Wulfberg (2005) find that downward nominal wage rigidity is more prevalent when inflation is high, unemployment is low, union density is high and employment protection is low. AQR/ IWH (2005) estimates that the response of real wages to an unemployment shock is greater the higher the bargaining power of trade unions. In contrast to the findings of Holden and Wulfberg and AQR/IWH, the preliminary results from the international wage flexibility project indicate a positive relationship between wage rigidities and unemployment and suggest that unionisation may reduce nominal wage rigidity while raising real wage rigidity. Bauer et al. (2003) find that higher inflation is associated with lower nominal and higher real wage rigidity. While Campoli and Faia (2006) detect that the variability of both wages and ULC is higher, i.e. more flexible, the lower the benefit replacement rates; benefit replacement rates are no significant determinants of wage flexibility in AQR/IWH (2005).

⁽¹⁾ See Ward-Warmedinger (2006).







6.5.2. Contribution of wage developments to employment performance

To shed light on why differences in employment growth have been persistent despite marked differences in wage growth, this section looks at the response of employment to wages. The impact of factors such as the initial level of wages on the relationship between wages and employment is analysed first. The section then reviews the values of the elasticity of employment to wages in econometric estimates and discusses the effect of labour costs on export performance.

Wage level convergence as a determinant of wage growth

A reason why differences in wage growth contributed little to rebalance employment growth could be that wage growth reflected cross-country convergence rather than domestic labour market conditions. Previous sections have shown that countries with a low initial wage level experienced higher average employment growth than those having a high level of wages ten years earlier. At the same time, there was a positive correlation across countries between employment growth and wage growth.

Graph 79 and Graph 82 reveal that these two findings can be combined into a consistent relationship between the initial level of wage, or relative ULC, and wage (or ULC) growth. Countries with a low wage or ULC level in the mid-1990s had in the period 1996-2004 higher wage growth and vice versa. Examples are Germany and Austria for the combination of high initial wage levels and low wage growth and Portugal, Ireland, Finland and Greece for a low initial wage level combined with high subsequent wage growth. The wage convergence is less rapid than the convergence in nominal unit labour costs. This different pattern is explained by the low convergence of productivity. This low convergence of productivity can be harmful for the competitiveness of countries with relative low productivity and low wage levels, but high wage growth. Indeed, the relative low productivity growth makes it difficult to adjust downward unit labour costs through wage compression if wages grow faster because of catching up. This is also evident from Graph 82. The graph reports the convergence in the nominal ULC of each country with respect to the remaining countries of the euro area. The relative unit labour cost is therefore an index of wage competitiveness. Clearly countries with relative high labour costs gained competitiveness while countries with low labour costs lost competitiveness.

These findings suggest that differences in employment and wage growth reflect the convergence of wages to a common level. This implies that wage growth has not necessarily rebalanced employment growth and that differences in employment growth are likely to persist until labour cost convergence has been achieved. Hence, the functioning of the wage channel in the EMU adjustment process has been undermined by wage convergence.






Graph 81: Convergence in nominal unit labour costs (adjusted for differences in prices of goods





Source: Commission services. The circle symbol represents the euro area average.



Source: Commission services. The horizontal axis reports the ULC in PPS of a certain country relative to the unweighted average of the remaining countries.

Together with wage convergence, price convergence contributed to reduce the differences across countries in unit labour costs (Table 22) (¹). The dispersion of hourly compensation, expressed as the standard deviation of labour costs relative to the euro area, declined between 1996 and 2004. Although the dispersion of labour productivity in current prices increased, the dispersion of relative ULC declined stronger than the dispersion of price levels. Remaining differences in 2004 are far from negligible for all indicators, though it is notable that the standard deviation of relative ULC has become smaller than that of prices.

The responsiveness of employment to wages in econometric estimates

The standard practice for studying the effect of a change in real wages to employment is the estimation of labour demand equations. A recent study for the European Commission has analysed the wage and output elasticity of the labour demand results for different econometric specifications and time horizons (response of employ-

Table 22

Dispersion of the level of unit labour costs and its determinants, euro area Member States

	Standard deviation 1996	Standard deviation 2004	Change 1996-2004
Relative unit labour costs (GDP prices)	15.3	7.5	- 7.9
Relative unit labour costs (goods prices)	10.9	6.7	- 4.2
Compensation per hour	30.4	28.5	– 1.9
Compensation per employee	25.5	23.5	- 2.1
Labour productivity per hour	29.7	30.5	0.7
Labour productivity per person employed	25.7	26.5	0.8
GDP prices	14.4	10.8	- 3.6
Good prices	9.4	8.8	- 0.6

Note: Standard deviation among the 12 euro area Member States, with EUR-12=100 for each variable and year. Nominal unit labour costs with labour productivity deflated either with comparable GDP price level or good price levels. Compensation and labour productivity in current prices in euro. ment after 2, 5 and 10 years). As far as the comparison between the euro and the USD is concerned, this evidence is rather inconclusive.

Using the results of the VAR analysis, Graph 84 shows the response of employment to a real wage shock after two years in four different specifications. Countries are ordered according to the average impact of the wage shock over the four different estimates, indicating that real wages would have the strongest impact on employment in Ireland, Spain, Belgium and the Netherlands and the lowest impact on employment in Italy and Austria (²).

Graph 85 shows the response after two years of employment to a real GDP shock. According to the average results, the responsiveness of employment is low in the three largest euro area Member States. The strongest employment response was found in Ireland, the Netherlands and Belgium. For the other countries, the high variation of results over the different specifications prevents any conclusive statement about the employment response. The response of employment to a GDP is of the same order in Austria, Greece, Spain, Luxembourg and Finland and stronger than in France, Germany and Italy.

Little is known about the institutional determinants of the wage channel. The difference between the response of employment to an output shock in big and small countries suggest that the degree of exposure to international competition might have an important effect. The results in AQR/IWH (2005) suggest that the response of employment to a real wage shock is weaker, the stronger the trade unions, the tighter the employment protection and the more spending is devoted to public employment services.

Cross-country differences in the responsiveness of employment to real wages are not evidently linked to differences in employment performance among the euro area countries. It is equally difficult to relate the relatively high responsiveness of employment to real wages in Ireland, Spain and the Netherlands to the adjustment observed in these countries after 2000. While the wage channel may have contributed to bring employment

⁽¹⁾ For GDP prices, the range declined from 72-117 % of the euro area level in 1996 to 82-111 %. When prices of goods are used, which contain a larger share of tradables, the range declined from 83-115 % in 1996 to 90-114 % in 2004.

⁽²⁾ However only in Spain the different estimates are similar. The high variation across estimates in Germany and Greece suggests that little can be said with confidence about the impact of wages on employment in these countries.





Graph 85: Response of employment to a real GDP shock, results from 4 different estimates 0.008 Response of employment to real GDP shock after 2 years Jobs-L 0.007 \bigtriangleup Hours-L 0.006 Jobs-D ▲ Hours-D \triangle 0.005 0.004 0.003 \bigtriangleup \bigtriangleup 0.002 \triangle Ţ 0.001 0.000 -0.001DE FR IT PT AT EL ES LU FI BE NL IE *Note:* L = estimate in levels, D = estimate in differences. Source: AQR/IWH (2005), Commission services.

growth in the Netherlands more in line with the euro area average, in Spain and Ireland high wage growth did not visibly reduce the demand for labour.

The impact of differences in labour costs on export performance

The openness of the economy may influence the contribution of wage developments to re-balancing growth differences in the euro area. Member States differ substantially in their degree of openness, with smaller countries being more open to international trade. This section analyses the relationship between ULC and, respectively, export performance and employment in the export sector. The next section focuses on the interdependence between wage developments in the tradable and the non-tradable sector.

Changes in labour costs have an impact on changes in price competitiveness and export performance. Changes in wages in one country translate into changes in price competitiveness against euro area countries directly through their trade links, and indirectly through the effect on competitiveness towards partners of non-euro area countries that trade regularly with different euro area Member States. Graph 86 suggests for the period 1996-2005 that countries with high ULC growth in manufacturing had a worse export performance than countries with low unit labour cost growth (1). The relationship between ULC and export performance is much looser when ULC refer to the total economy (Graph 87) rather than to manufacturing, implying that international competition exerts some control on wage moderation in manufacturing, but fewer to other sectors (2).

Evidently, labour costs have some effect on export performance. Cross-country differences in labour cost developments seem to have contributed to adjustment in the euro area via their impact on external demand. In line with economic theory, there is also an inverse relationship between labour cost developments in manufacturing and employment in manufacturing. However, this relationship is not robust. An explanation of this finding is that a large part of the cross-country differences in the growth of manufacturing output was due to differences in productivity performance. For example, output growth in Ireland, Finland, Germany and Austria was mainly driven by strong growth of labour productivity in manufacturing in 1996-2005, while these countries displayed markedly different trends in job-creation in manufacturing. A further reason may be related to different trends in domestic demand, leading to a shift in manufacturing output from domestic purposes to exports (³). The strength of the link between competitiveness and employment is stronger for the change of the employment share in manufacturing than for employment growth in manufacturing, but only for the sub-period 2001-05 (Graph 89) (⁴). This outcome may be driven by the world demand and domestic demand being less buoyant in this sub-period than in 1996-2000, which may have increased the importance of cost considerations in firms' hiring decisions.

6.5.3. The impact of relative wages on sectoral adjustment

The analysis at the aggregate level focused on the impact of wage developments on employment performance. This section looks at sectoral adjustment, namely at the impact of price competitiveness changes on the allocation of labour between tradable and non-tradable sectors. As discussed in section 6.2.1, the loss in international price competitiveness followed by shift of employment from the tradable to the non-tradable sector may contribute to absorbing current account disequilibria and excess employment in the tradable sector (⁵).

This section will describe the differential patterns followed by labour costs in the tradable and the non-tradable sector and then the differences in employment growth in these sectors. Close correlation of wage growth in both sectors may delay adjustment and lead to persistent cross-country differences in employment growth. Countries losing external competitiveness

⁽¹⁾ However, excluding Ireland and Italy does not change the position of the trend line, but lowers the R2 substantially from 0.42 to 0.13, i.e. the goodness of fit.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) The above findings are robust towards a number of different specifications: (a) The link between labour costs and export performance is stronger if relative labour cost is used, i.e. the effective real exchange rates based on ULC. It makes hardly any difference whether intra-euro area effective exchange rates rather than exchange rates vis-à-vis other industrial countries are used; (b) The link is stronger for trade in goods than for trade in goods and services. Using the change in world market shares rather than export growth does not yield a different picture; (c) The tightness of the relationship has increased over time. Rather than the effects of a structural change, this finding may reflect the slowdown in world demand of 2000, increasing the importance of price effects in a less dynamic environment.

⁽³⁾ In practice, this may also mean an increase of input goods from abroad in the production of manufacturing goods.

⁴) The change in the employment share has the advantage of implicitly controlling for different trends in GDP and employment growth across countrice.

⁽⁵⁾ Obstfeld, Rogoff (2005).







Graph 87: Unit labour costs in the total economy and export growth, average growth rates 1996-2005



Graph 88: Unit labour costs in the total economy and in manufacturing



Graph 89: Labour costs and employment in manufacturing, average 2001-2005

Note: Trend line excluding IE and LU. *Source:* Commission services.





would have pressure to relocate employment from the tradable to the non tradable sector.

Although not all manufacturing sectors are equally exposed to international trade and services have become increasingly tradable, the standard practice of considering manufacturing as tradable and services as non-tradable is adopted here. Annex 4 presents some results on how closely employment in different service sectors is coupled with employment in manufacturing in order to arrive at a broader notion of an economy's tradable sector.

Trends in relative wages

In all euro area Member States except Greece, Spain and Portugal, the average growth of compensation per employee was higher in manufacturing than in services (Graph 91). Given the large diffusion of part-time work in services, hourly wages provide a more robust indication of labour cost developments (¹). The picture is more disperse for the hourly labour costs index (²). In four countries, the increase in hourly labour is stronger in manufacturing than in services (Graph 92). The differ-

 However, hourly labour costs suffer from differences in the coverage and source across countries, which reduce the value of cross-country comparisons.

(2) There is currently no data on hours worked per sector in the national accounts that could be used to calculate compensation per hour worked in the different sectors. Note that although Eurostat's LCI is defined as an hourly index, it does not represent genuine hourly labour costs in all countries. ence between the growth rates of the two depends on the different trends in working time in both sectors.

Wage growth in the manufacturing sector has moved together with wage growth in services (Table 23). The correlation of wage growth in manufacturing with the construction sector is of the same order despite the diverse employment experiences in this sector (³). The high correlation at the euro area level is driven by aggregation. The correlation is smaller in almost all Member States, mainly because wage growth in Member States is more volatile than in the euro area. In some countries, the correlation of the sectoral increase in labour costs per employee is even negative, which probably reflects different trends in hours worked in manufacturing and services. This explanation is supported by a higher correlation for hourly labour costs than for labour costs per employee in many countries, partly due to the large diffusion of part-time jobs in services (4).

^{(&}lt;sup>3</sup>) It should be considered that a correlation does not imply causality and that it is not informative of the strength of the link between two variables. The correlation is informative only of the co-movements between the two variables independently of the difference between them.

⁽⁴⁾ This finding impedes the comparison of labour cost developments across sectors. For example, labour costs per employee in services relative to manufacturing declined by 12 % between 1996 and 2005 in Germany. On the basis of the hourly labour costs the deterioration hardly reaches 5 %. In contrast, Spain, registered in the same period a 5 % increase in labour costs per person in services relative to manufacturing, which should be compared with an almost unchanged ratio of hourly labour costs in both sectors.



Graph 91: Average wage growth in manufacturing and services, compensation per employee, 1997-2004





Note: 2001-2004 for Ireland, LCI except EL, NL, and FI which are based on the Labour cost survey, NL is 1998-2004, EL 1997-2003. Commission services.

Based on the correlation of sectoral hourly wage growth in market services and manufacturing, euro area countries can be divided in three groups. The highest correlations of around 0.9 are observed for Belgium, France, Ireland and Finland, suggesting that wage growth in the tradable and non-tradable sector closely follows the same pattern over time. A second group, with a coefficient of correlation between 0.5 and 0.7, consists of Germany, Greece, Spain, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and Austria. There is some scope in these countries for the differences to widen or to narrow. Sectoral wage differentiation in the second group should be more supportive for the reallocation of labour between the tradable and the non-tradable sector than in the first group. Italy and Portugal form a third group, which is not possible to classify either because of a lack of sectoral wage data at hourly basis in services or because alternative data sources reveal substantially different results (1).

Based on nominal ULC, the correlation of growth rates between manufacturing and services is generally smaller than for wage growth, suggesting that labour productivity growth is little correlated across sectors (Table 23). Two issues, however, may limit the information from the inclusion of sectoral productivity developments.

- Productivity is difficult to measure in services, especially if changes to prices and quality of services need to be taken into account.
- Labour productivity developments are not invariant to changes in employment. Thus, job destruction in the manufacturing sector may increase the productivity of remaining workers, which reduces unit labour costs. The favourable development of ULC in some countries could be the result of a shrinking tradable sector and should not be confused with an indication of improving employment opportunities in the tradable sector.

Growth rates of both labour costs and labour productivity were higher in manufacturing than in services over the period 1996-2004 in almost all euro area Member States (Graph 93). Italy stands out in terms of lower accumulated growth of labour productivity in manufacturing relative to services than growth of labour costs. On the other side of the spectrum, productivity growth was much stronger in manufacturing than in services in Finland and Austria. Average wage growth in manufacturing relative to services was highest in Germany whereas it was on average lower in services in Greece, Spain and marginally in Portugal and France over the period 1996-2004 (²).

Table 23

	BE	DE	EL	ES	FR	IE	LU	NL	AT	РТ	FI	EUR-12
With the growth rate of compensation per employee 1996-2004												
Construction	0.58	0.16	0.53	0.76	- 0.46	- 0.11	0.90	0.88	0.62	0.76	0.75	0.86
Services	0.66	0.00	0.34	0.39	0.23	0.01	0.20	0.87	0.12	0.61	0.75	0.91
With the growth rate of hourly labour costs 1997-2005 (LCI)												
Construction	0.84	0.63	0.88	0.38	0.90	0.15	0.69	0.58	0.84	0.59/ 0.09	0.80	0.78
Market services	0.92	0.70	0.53	0.62	0.89	0.97	0.60	0.59	0.50	- 0.33/ 0.85	0.83	0.93
Non-market services	0.86	NA	0.67	NA	0.31	NA	- 0.18	0.34	NA	0.82	0.02	NA
With the growth rate of nominal unit labour costs 1996-2004												
Construction	0.71	0.42	0.33	0.71	- 0.41	NA	0.10	0.71	- 0.16	- 0.31	- 0.13	NA
Services	0.21	0.07	0.49	0.21	0.46	NA	0.46	0.82	0.09	0.30	0.61	NA

Correlation of annual sectoral labour costs growth with labour costs growth in manufacturing, 1996-2004

Note: Growth rate of hourly labour costs according to Labour Cost Survey for EL, NL instead of LCI. LCI and Labour Cost Survey for Portugal. Annual earnings for labour costs in non-market services 1996-2004 for all countries except LU, PT and FI. LCI 2001-2005 for Ireland. LCI 2000-2005 for FI. Nominal unit labour costs growth 1996-2003 for BE, FR and PT.

Source: Commission services.

⁽¹⁾ The two data sources used in the table for hourly labour costs are the Labour cost index and the annual survey of labour costs.

^{(&}lt;sup>2</sup>) Note that this comparison is based on compensation per employee and therefore may be biased by differences in the trend of hours worked across sectors.



Graph 93: Growth of labour costs and labour productivity in services relative to manufacturing, 1996-2004





Note: 1996-2003 for France, Luxembourg and Portugal. *Source:* Commission services.

Overall, with the only exception of Italy, productivity gains in manufacturing relative to services have been higher than the relative increase in labour costs (Graph 94). It is also evident that differences in ULC growth between manufacturing and services are predominantly driven by sectoral productivity differences. The only countries where productivity developments did not dominate the change in ULC were Italy, Portugal and to a lesser extent Germany, Greece and Spain.

Finland, Austria and Germany saw the strongest increase in relative sectoral ULC in the service sector owing to much weaker productivity growth in services than in manufacturing. That is, unit labour cost developments create the strongest signal to expand output and employment in the tradable sector in these countries. In Italy, Spain, Greece and the Netherlands, the smaller change in relative ULC suggests a relatively stronger incentive to increase output and employment in services.

Trends in the sectoral composition of employment

Despite the increase in relative ULC in services, there has been ongoing sectoral change towards stronger employment in services and declining employment in absolute terms in manufacturing in all euro area Member States except Spain, Ireland and Finland where absolute manufacturing employment increased in 1996-2005. The magnitude of the decline in the share of employment in manufacturing is essentially unrelated to the size of the manufacturing sector in the mid-1990s. In all countries, employment-creation in services was more buoyant, implying a declining share of employment in manufacturing in total employment.

This section links changes in the structure of employment to changes in relative labour costs. The relationship between labour costs and employment is not significant, if both labour costs growth and employment growth in manufacturing are expressed relative to services. This holds for the cross-country variation in hourly wages (Graph 95) as well as for ULC (Graph 96). Moreover, there is also little correlation over time between the change in relative ULC and the change of the share of service employment in total employment in the euro area (Graph 97) as well as in most Member States (Graph 98) (¹). In services, there is no evidence in favour of an inverse relationship between cross-country differences in the change of labour costs and employment performance over different periods (Graph 95, Graph 96). This finding suggests that service employment is not very sensitive to cost considerations. However, before jumping to this conclusion, two possible explanations need to be considered.

First, the level of both wages and relative ULC was very different in the euro area Member States in the mid-1990s. Differences in wage growth in services could be related to nominal convergence. Graph 99 evidences a significant relationship between the level of relative ULC in 1996 and the average growth rate over the 1996-2004 period. Two-thirds of the variation in the growth rates across countries can be explained by differences in the initial level of relative ULC.

Second, one should bear in mind that in the non-tradable sector output is sold only in the domestic market. In contrast to manufacturing producers, the providers of services can increase prices in response to higher labour costs (²). Accordingly, service inflation should and actually is higher in the catch-up countries. Graph 100 shows, however, that even if domestic relative prices are taken into account and relative real unit labour costs are calculated, there is no relationship between the cross-country variation in the increase of the share of service employment and the increase in relative real unit labour costs.

Overall, the cross-country analysis suggests strong links between wage growth in manufacturing and services, but little substitution of employment in both sectors. Accordingly, sectoral labour flows contribute little to current account adjustment and, therefore, to rebalancing growth differences in the euro area. Though crosscountry differences in wage growth led to differences in export performance, the latter have not translated in marked differences in employment growth in sectors more exposed to international competition. In manufacturing, there is much more cross-country heterogeneity in productivity growth than in employment growth. The

The coefficient of correlation is statistically different from zero only in the case of Germany, Portugal and Italy.

⁽²⁾ Against this background, the interest rate convergence prior to the introduction of the euro should have stimulated investment in non-tradables stronger than investment in tradables in the catch-up countries. Former would calculate their relevant real interest rate with respect to the expected high domestic inflation rate whereas the producers of tradables would need to take the lower euro area or global inflation rate into account as relevant price index for their output.



Graph 95: Growth of hourly labour costs in services relative to manufacturing and change in the employment share of services, 1996-2004

Graph 96: Growth of unit labour costs in services relative to manufacturing and change in the employment share of services, 1996-2004



Note: 1996-2003 for France, Luxembourg and Portugal. *Source:* Source: Commission services.



Graph 97: Growth of relative unit labour costs in services relative to manufacturing and change





Note: 1996-2003 for France, Luxembourg and Portugal. Employment lagged by one year for all countries except Portugal, Greece, Finland, France and the euro area, where the contemporaneous correlation was higher. Source: Commission services.



Graph 99: Growth of labour costs and initial relative unit labour costs in services, 1996-2004



Graph 100: Growth of relative real labour costs and change in the employment share of services, 1996-2004

Note: 1996-2003 for France, Luxembourg and Portuga *Source:* Commission services.

sectoral analysis shows that there is no inverse relationship between wage or ULC developments and employment performance in services. Apparently, high wage growth in services has been transferred more to higher prices than to less employment.

6.6. Conclusions

This focus has shown that differences in economic growth across the euro area are strongly bound up with labour market developments. Some have argued that the origin of these differences reside in the euro area not fulfilling the criteria of an optimum currency area. Before the launch of EMU the expectations were that these criteria would have been satisfied ex-post through deeper trade integration and the change towards more flexible and adaptable labour markets.

In contrast to the USA, the euro area lacks a system of redistributive transfers able to smooth consumption across countries. This reduces the role of non-market adjustment mechanisms to the working of automatic stabilisers, whose effectiveness in stabilising the economy depends on the design of labour market policies. While important, non-market adjustment mechanisms alone cannot cater for all the corrections required in case of asymmetric shocks. The criteria identified by the literature on optimum currency areas help to clarify the different adjustment mechanisms in a monetary union. As far as the labour market is concerned, wage and price flexibility and cross-border mobility have been considered as the main channels to absorb asymmetric shocks. An efficient wage/competitiveness channel would be clearly desirable in the case of the euro area countries, especially as far as the wage response to firm/sector specific shocks is concerned. However, there are limits to the capacity of wages and prices to absorb specific shocks. For example, in a low inflation environment, wage convergence may increase downward nominal wage rigidity in particular in countries where the wage level is low. Cross-border mobility is the alternative adjustment channel, which in practice can be effective only in the medium term. However, adjustment may also occur through occupational mobility, whose role has not yet been considered by the 'optimum currency areas' literature.

Against this background, this focus has investigated the structural or cyclical nature of the growth differential and its relationship with labour market developments. The main finding is that the differences in economic growth rates across the euro area Member States are strongly bound up with labour market developments that began well in advance of the launch of the monetary union. The prevalence of long-term trends in employment and unemployment has meant that there has not been much of a role for prices in rebalancing growth differences in the euro area. The breakdown of the variation of growth across countries in supply side factors provides support to the notion that the observed growth differences in the euro area are largely due to structural rather than cyclical developments.

Moreover, labour market developments were at the core of differences in growth performance. Euro area Member States had different starting positions in the mid-1990s in terms of labour market participation, level of labour costs and industrial structure. Employment has strongly grown in countries, which had ample labour market slack and therefore some leeway for catch-up growth in terms not only of productivity but also of labour utilisation. This catch-up process was also supported by initial lower labour costs in some countries. This also holds if productivity differences are accounted for. This catch-up phenomenon has sparked differences in employment and output growth rates. Thus, growth differences in the euro area are not necessarily a sign of divergence but also of real convergence. The analysis identifies some country-specific labour market shocks and differences in the development of unit labour costs, suggesting differences in the adjustment to shocks.

Countries with higher employment growth also had higher wage growth, meaning that adjustment via wages has taken place. However, the presence of persistent differences in employment growth, despite wages growth pointing in the right direction, may be caused by differences in countries starting positions. Wage levels, even adjusted for productivity, were markedly different in the mid-1990s, but according to the calculations presented in this focus section, have converged. Convergence has meant upward pressure on wages in low income countries, i.e. Ireland, Spain Greece and Portugal, making it more difficult to adjust wages downwards in response to adverse external shocks. It also means that the weak employment performance in some of the high-income countries such as Germany, Austria and, to a lesser extent, Belgium and France, may have been caused by their high initial wage level. The fact that convergence of real unit labour costs occurs at higher speed than for unit labour costs suggests that changes in relative prices (or better, the external real exchange rate) have been an effective adjustment mechanism.

The analysis also showed marked differences in the development of employment in sectors that are exposed to international competition and those that are not. In the manufacturing sector, despite differences in export performances consistent with the development of relative labour costs, employment trends have been broadly similar. It is mainly job-creation in services that accounts for differences in employment growth. While the same service sectors experienced strong job-creation across Member States, the contribution to total employment growth

differed markedly. Although the cross-country analysis suggests strong links between wage growth in manufacturing and services, there is no evidence of strong substitution of employment in either sector. Accordingly, sectoral labour flows contribute little either to current account adjustment or, hence, to rebalancing growth differences in the euro area. Apparently, high wage growth in services in countries with strong employment growth has led to service price inflation rather than to less jobcreation.

Annex 1 — Supplementary analysis on labour market adjustment in the euro area

Annex 1.1 — Growth differentials in a growth accounting framework

This annex presents the results of a growth accounting exercise in which the cross-country variation of economic growth is decomposed into the supply-side determinants of economic growth, namely labour input, capital accumulation and TFP growth.

The relation that links inputs of production with potential output provides a natural way to compute the part of cross-country potential output growth accounted for by cross-countries' differences in factor accumulation and TFP growth (Ross and Levine (2001)) (¹). The variance of potential output can be decomposed in the variances of its components and the co-variances between them. The Graph A5 shows the decomposition of cross-country dispersion in potential output over time (²). Consistent with what was found by other authors (Klenow Rodriguez-Clare (1997), Jones (1997),

be interpreted as holding in the medium term.



Graph A1: Cross-country dispersion of potential output growth and its main contributions in the EUR-10

In reality TFP computed as a Solow residual does not reflect only technological improvements but also improvements in factor quality, changes in the degree of competition of markets (i.e. errors in the assumptions regarding factor shares), changes in the capacity utilisation.
(2) Taking the variance as measure of dispersion, in the case of a Cobb-Doug-

Taking the variance as measure of dispersion, in the case of a Cobb-Douglas production function, the following variance decomposition holds for the potential output growth $var g(y) = var g(TFP) + \alpha^2 var g(K) + (1-\alpha)^2 var g(L) + 2\alpha cov (g(K);$ $g(TFP)) + 2\alpha (1-\alpha) cov (g(K); g(L)) + 2 (1-\alpha) cov (g(L); g(TFP))$ Results do not change if the variance of output growth is normalised with its average growth rate. The presence of Ireland and Luxembourg in the sample influences the variance decomposition of the sample. To avoid the effect of these outliers these country have been excluded. In interpreting these results one should keep in mind that in steady state all growth is attributable to TFP and population growth. Here the decomposition should

Easterly and Levine (2001)), the growth in TFP accounts for more than 50 % of potential output growth differential in the EU-10. With exception of the 1980s, this proportion is stable over time with no significant change between the pre- and post-euro years (see table).

- As regards labour input growth, its contribution to the potential output growth differential doubled in the pre-euro years and in the following years reverted back to the average of the 1970s and 1980s. Furthermore, the dispersion in physical capital accumulation is responsible for a declining proportion over time of total cross-country variation in output growth.
- Dispersion in capital accumulation explained 50 percent of total growth differential in the 1970 but only 20 percent in the most recent post-euro years, the high share of the pre-euro years being determined by rapid accumulation in Luxembourg, Ireland and Portugal.

The potential output growth differential depends also on the contribution from the co-variances between factors growth rates and between these and the growth rate of TFP. These co-variances capture feedbacks between different inputs of the production function and when positive magnify the growth differential due to different rate of accumulation of factor input. As well known, in a standard neoclassical growth model in steady state the capital-labour ratio is constant and the capital stock grows at the same growth rate of investment. The positive co-variance between capital growth and labour growth is consistent with the predictions of this model (¹). More puzzling is the negative contribution stemming from the co-variance between TFP growth and factors accumulation. The co-variance is consistently negative over time and plays an important role in reducing the euro area growth differentials. Since inputs are not adjusted for quality improvements, changes in TFP can be partly explained by the changes in the quality of labour and capital. More generally, the correlation between inputs growth and TFP growth captures unmeasured effects of input growth. Alternatively, it may reflect unmeasured effects of TFP growth. A negative contribution may also be interpreted as the outcome of an excessive or moderate growth in inputs that induces movements in the TFP on the other side. For example, the high negative co-variance between labour input growth and TFP growth in the early 1980s may be indicative of the adjustment to the second oil shock which in some countries occurred via a reduction of labour supply and an increase in labour efficiency. The fact that the co-variance between labour input growth and TFP growth reaches the highest negative value in coincidence with the low growth years is suggestive of a correction in the labour input as alternative mechanism to the adjustment in labour efficiency. A negative covariance between TFP growth and labour input is consistent with models where nominal frictions make the 'quantity' the adjusting variable to transitory technology shocks (Gali' (1999)).

Table A24

Variance decomposition of potential output growth: EU-10

	g(TFP)	g(Labour)	g(capital)	Cov(g(k);g(l))	Cov(g(tfp);g(dl))	Cov(g(tfp);g(k))
1970-1979	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	- 0.5	- 0.2
1980-1989	1.1	0.4	0.2	0.1	- 0.7	- 0.1
1990-1998	0.6	0.8	0.4	0.4	- 0.7	- 0.5
1999-2005	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.2	- 0.1	- 0.2

Source: Commission Services. Each column shows the contribution to potential output growth differentials. See footnote 3.

⁽¹⁾ In steady state the co-variance between growth of capital and labour should be equal to the variance of labour input growth (i.e. the correlation between should be 1). Hence, the difference between the co-variance and the variance is a measure of the deviation from a steady state growth rate. Data suggests that this difference achieved the lowest level in the 1970s, increased in the 1980s and in the pre-euro years; in the post-euro years it fell but still at a value higher than that observed for the 1970s.

Annex 1.2 — Structural change as a source of productivity growth

The change in sectoral distribution of employment is one mechanism driving productivity growth in the longterm. The flexibility of the economic structure determines the ability of a country of shifting resources from less towards more dynamic industries to respond to technological advances and changes in consumers' preferences. To the extent that the flexibility of the economic structure differs across countries, structural change may explain part of the growth differences across countries.

The importance of structural change for productivity performance can be analysed through a shift-share analysis, which decomposes productivity growth in three components. The first component measures the productivity growth within each industry; the second component measures the effect of labour relocation from industries with low productivity to high productivity levels (shift effect or static structural change effect); the third measures the increase in total productivity growth due to the increase (decrease) in relative employment in sectors with increasing (decreasing) productivity growth (interaction effect).

The shift-share decomposition of total productivity growth has been carried out for selected euro area countries over seven-year intervals for the 1982-2003 period with an industry detail of 57 industries (first sets of graphs below). Rolling shift share analysis shows how the different contribution to productivity growth has changed over time. A seven-year window has been chosen to match the reference period for the EMU chosen in this study; it roughly coincides with the length of the average business cycle.

In the more recent period, the dynamic of productivity within each industry appears to be the main source of overall productivity growth. The sectoral reallocation of labour appeared to be an important source of productivity growth in earlier periods in Italy, Portugal and France (in the 1980s and first half the 1990s). This effect continued to play an important role in the latest periods in Germany (although less prominent than in the first half of the 1990s) and in Spain. In the Netherlands, the reallocation effect, negative but not very significant in general, became a slight drag on labour productivity in the second half of the 1990s. The combination of sectoral employment changes with sectoral productivity growth contributes negatively to overall productivity growth when sectors with growing productivity have declining employment or when sectors with falling productivity grow in size. This component which is often negative, has dragged significantly aggregate productivity growth in Italy (in the 1980s), in Germany (in the 1990s), in Portugal (between the second half of the 1980s and the second half of the 1990s). In Ireland this effect contributed positively to productivity growth in the 1990s but turned negative in the latest period.

Evidence of further gains from structural changes across industries can be gained by simulating productivity growth in one country assuming that its industry structure of employment and change is the same as in the US. The second set of graphs below shows for some euro area countries the effective productivity growth (unadjusted series in the charts) and the simulated productivity growth adjusted with the US employment structure (unadjusted series in the charts). This simulation suggests that the structure of employment by industry and its evolution was not an impediment to productivity growth in the 1980s and first half of the 1990s in France, Italy, Portugal, Germany and in Spain, with the exception of the second half of the 1980s and early 1990s. With the only exception of the Netherlands, all other countries considered would have benefited from the intense reallocation experienced by the US in the 1990s. Hence countries that were joining the EMU would have benefited from higher employment relocation, the more the exchange rate agreement became binding. For the Netherlands, adopting the US employment structure would have improved productivity growth in all periods considered. The shift share analysis reveals that this finding reflects the combination of relatively low (high) employment in sectors with high (low) productivity growth.

The evidence in this annex shows that the employment structure plays also a limited role for explaining differences in output growth. However, this does not imply that labour market reallocation is not needed for productivity growth. In this respect, institutions would be employment-friendly if they do not distort incentives to supply labour and promote labour reallocation between sectors and occupations. Labour market institutions should be adaptable to rapidly changing technologies of production and increasing heterogeneity of the labour force, while the failure to introduce reforms in the labour market is a source of poor performance.

Labour market and wage developments in 2005



Graph A2: Rolling shift-share analysis for different countries



Source: Commission services.



117

Annex 1.3 — The persistence of employment growth

There are a number of factors that may reduce the impact of wage developments on employment performance. The stimulating impact of employment via disposable income and consumer confidence on private consumption would be an example of a factor that is capable of increasing existing imbalances. Countries with strong employment growth would benefit from strong aggregate demand, which further strengthens employment growth. This factor may offset the balancing impact of rising wages. A further example would be that people entering the workforce may become more productive over time, which improves price competitiveness and firms' profitability. This, in a next step, may attract better financing conditions for investment, which further increases labour productivity.

This annex analyses the stickiness of employment growth, assuming that all possible self-reinforcing channels mentioned above lead to persistence of differences in employment growth. That is, once employment growth has gained certain dynamics, it may continue to grow robustly for some time. There is reason to believe that similar effects are at work in countries with a weak labour market performance, aggravating the dismal performance for some time. A simple measure of the persistence of employment growth is the coefficient of autocorrelation. This measure indicates how closely developments in one period are related to past developments, capturing the momentum or internal dynamics of trends. The higher the coefficient, the stronger employment growth is influenced by its own history and -- ceteris paribus — the weaker the potential influence of wages on employment growth.

The Graph A8 below shows the measure of persistence for the annual growth rates of employment in both persons and in hours worked over the period 1996-2005 (¹). The coefficients for the volume of work done in hours are relatively high for Austria, Luxembourg and Ireland. The comparison with the same measure for the USA (line in the graph) suggests that hours worked in almost all euro area Member States were less sticky than in the USA. The results are somewhat different for the persistence of the number of persons employed, which are stickier in around half of the euro area Member States than in the USA, especially in the Netherlands. Differences in the degree of stickiness are, however, not visibly related to differences in the employment performance.

The degree of persistence is higher for the volume of work done in persons than in hours for all countries except Greece and Belgium (²). This difference can be interpreted as adjustment in average hours worked. Adjustment in working time seems to play an important role in the Netherlands, in those three countries, which show the least sticky adjustment in terms of hours worked (Italy, Portugal and France) and further three countries, which have also high degree of persistence of hours worked (Austria, Luxembourg and Ireland). The small difference between both measures in Ireland, Belgium and Spain suggests that variation in average hours worked plays little role for the adjustment in these countries. That is, the number of jobs changes rather than the working time in a job. The results for Greece are difficult to interpret. According to both measures, employment appears to be relatively adaptable in this country.

The ranking of Member States in terms of persistence of employment growth over the past 10 years has little relationship to the same measure over past decades. The second set of Graphs show the coefficient of autocorrelation for the change of the employment rate as a moving 10 years window for the Member States, indicating the volatility of this measure over time (³). Measures of persistence over shorter periods (for example 5-year periods) seem to be indicate more stickiness in periods of buoyant economic growth than in periods of slowdown, suggesting some asymmetry in the strength of internal dynamics over the business cycle.

⁽¹⁾ The degree of persistence, measured this way, of annual changes in employment rates, annual changes in unemployment rates and growth rates of employees is relatively similar to the persistence of employment growth.

 $^{(^2)~}$ A further country where hours are also stickier than employment is the USA.

⁽³⁾ Using the annual change of the employment rate rather than employment growth has the advantage that changes in working-age population, which may drive results over longer time horizons, are controlled for.



Graph A4: Persistence of employment 1995-2005



Graph A5: Persistence of employment over time – autocorrelation of annual changes in employment growth

Annex 1.4 — How closely is employment in services related to employment in manufacturing?

The usual equalisation of manufacturing with the tradable sector and of services with the non-tradable sector is largely determined by data availability. Whereas there are indicators of export exposure for manufacturing sectors, typically indicating a high to very high exposure, little is known about how exposed the different services are to international trade. Moreover, since some services provide output for manufacturing sectors, employment in these sectors is indirectly affected by trends in manufacturing.

There are possibilities to calculate the closeness of the relationship between employment growth in different

service sectors and those in manufacturing as a measure of the strength of these indirect effects. The results, however, turn out to depend on both the method used and the time period. For example, employment growth in inland transport appears highly correlated with manufacturing employment in the panel 1980-2003. It is not significant in 1996-2003. The opposite case can be observed for financial intermediation.

The graph gives an overview of the size of different nonmanufacturing sectors in the euro area in dependence of their correlation with employment in manufacturing. The margins of each cluster were chosen so as to get

Table A25

Service sectors in which employment is significantly related with employment in manufacturing, euro area

Sector	Elasticity
Financial intermediation, except insurance and pension funding	1.3
Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles; repair of personal and household goods	1.2
Other community, social and personal services	0.9
Wholesale trade and commission trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles	0.5
Communications	0.3
Activities auxiliary to financial intermediation	0.3
Computer and related activities	0.2
Based on OLS with constant 1996-2003, annual observations	



0

clear differences between the groups. Table 9 reports the elasticity of those sectors that were found significant in simple OLS estimates. It turned out that rather independent from the method employment growth retail trade is closely correlated with employment growth in manufacturing. The high elasticity of financial intermediation is a rather recent phenomenon. The high and significant elasticity of other community services is somewhat surprising. It is robust as regards the period and may be more driven through an indirect link, namely the impact of employment in manufacturing via communal financial resources on employment in community services.

The inclusion of the service sectors listed in the table in the tradable sector does not change the picture presented in the main text. Similar to employment in manufacturing, all countries witness a similar decline in the share of employment in the tradable sector. Again the exception is Ireland and again there is no visible link between the size of the tradable sector in the mid-1990s and its subsequent change. A difference is notable concerning the countries in which employment in the tradable sector increased. Whereas it increased in only 3 countries in manufacturing, namely Spain, Ireland and Finland; there are seven countries if the tradable sector is more broadly defined. In addition to the mentioned countries, these are France, Italy, the Netherlands and Portugal. Overall, the variation across countries is larger if the more broadly defined tradable sector is used than the manufacturing sector. The ranking of countries is not coherent. Spain and Finland seem to have seen a stronger decline of the tradable sector for the broadly defined measure whereas the opposite holds for Germany and the Netherlands.







Annex 1.5 — Structural change and the reallocation of employment

The pace of overall sectoral change can be captured by calculating the annual change of the share of employment in the different sectors. The more detailed the sectoral breakdown the more informative is the resulting index. The graph shows an indicator built on a breakdown into 56 sectors, which was available for 10 out of 12 euro area Member States. On average 1996-2003, the index is relatively similar across the euro area Member States. Ireland is an outlier with a very high rate of sectoral change. But also Portugal, Finland and, given its size, Germany experienced relatively fast sectoral change. The index for the euro area aggregate is lower than for each Member State, since some sectoral changes cancel out through aggregation, suggesting that sectoral changes in the Member States occurred independently from each other. It also suggests that the size of a country may matter for the measurement of allocation. This is also supported by the observation of a lower index of sectoral reallocation in the USA than in each euro area Member State, albeit still slightly higher than the euro area aggregate index.

The analysis of the change over time of the index of sectoral reallocation suggests a slowing pace of sectoral change. The average index was higher in all Member States in 1980-95 than in 1996-2003, except for Ireland and Germany, where the German data is strongly influenced by two strong increases in the pace of reallocation, having taken place in 1992-94 and 1999-2000. The process of slowing sectoral change continued in 1996-2005 in six out of 10 euro area Member States. The right-hand side graph suggests a convergence of the pace of reallocation, with those countries experiencing an acceleration that had a relatively low index in 1995-97 and those seeing the largest decline that had a relatively high index in the mid-1990s.







Annex 1.6 — Tables and graphs

Table A1

Contribution to change in participation rates by age and gender, 1996-2004

	BE	DE	EL	ES	FR	IE	IT	LU	NL	AT	РТ	FI	EUR-12
Participation rate 2004	65.9	72.1	66.5	68.7	69.5	69.5	62.7	64.6	76.6	71.3	73.0	74.2	69.1
Change 1996-2004	3.7	1.7	5.5	7.1	1.3	7.2	4.6	3.4	6.7	0.2	5.5	2.5	3.4
Contribution of group-specific shifts of participation rate to changes in the overall participation rate													
TOTAL	3.5	1.9	3.0	5.1	1.8	6.5	3.2	2.6	7.9	1.3	2.7	4.0	3.1
Young	0.5	- 0.5	0.0	0.9	0.7	2.4	- 0.5	- 2.4	2.0	- 0.4	0.2	0.4	0.2
Prime age	1.6	1.6	3.5	3.3	0.0	3.2	3.3	4.3	3.8	1.8	1.9	1.4	1.9
Older	1.4	0.8	- 0.1	1.0	1.2	0.9	0.4	1.4	2.2	- 0.1	0.8	2.2	0.9
MALE:	0.6	0.0	- 0.3	1.0	0.4	1.4	0.0	- 0.8	2.5	- 0.4	- 0.1	1.9	1.3
Young	0.2	- 0.2	0.0	0.6	0.5	1.2	- 0.3	- 1.5	1.0	- 0.1	0.0	0.1	0.3
Prime age	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.1	- 0.6	0.0	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.0	- 0.2	0.9	0.0
Older	0.5	0.3	- 0.2	0.5	0.5	0.2	- 0.1	0.3	1.2	- 0.3	0.0	0.9	0.3
FEMALE:	2.9	1.9	3.3	4.1	1.4	5.0	3.2	3.4	5.4	1.7	2.8	2.0	2.5
Young	0.3	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.2	0.2	1.2	- 0.2	- 1.2	0.9	- 0.3	0.1	0.3	0.1
Prime age	1.8	1.6	3.3	3.4	0.6	3.2	2.9	3.9	3.4	1.9	1.9	0.5	1.9
Older	0.8	0.5	0.1	0.6	0.7	0.7	0.5	0.6	1.0	0.2	0.8	1.3	0.5
				De	magraph	ia offoat							
				De	mograph	lic effect							
TOTAL	0.2	- 0.1	1.9	1.8	- 0.6	0.7	1.1	0.1	- 1.5	- 1.0	2.6	- 2.0	0.4
Young	- 0.2	0.6	- 0.9	- 2.2	- 0.1	- 1.7	- 1.5	- 0.1	- 0.6	- 0.3	- 2.1	0.1	- 0.6
Prime age	0.4	- 0.4	3.9	4.0	- 1.0	1.7	2.6	0.2	- 1.9	- 1.4	5.5	- 3.8	1.0
Older	0.1	- 0.4	- 1.2	0.0	0.4	0.7	0.1	0.0	1.1	0.7	- 0.8	1.7	0.1
Interaction effect													

			IIIt	eraction	ll effect							
0.0	- 0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	- 0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3	- 0.1	0.1	0.5	0.0

Source: Commission services.

Table A2

Country ranking in wage equations and NAIRU estimates

Panel A: Strength of the response of wages to unemployment

Rank			AQR-IV	VH (2005)			ECFIN (2006)	DRS (2006)	Barrel/ Dury (2001)	Fabiani/ Palenzuel a (2001)	Fabiani/ Morgan (2003)	Plasmans et al. (2002)	Horst (2003)	DIW (2004)
	TSLS-L	TSLS-D	OLS-D	OLS-D	VAR-L	VAR-D	ugap	IV, Ecm	Ecm	SVAR	OLS	Ecm		Ecm
1	IT	PT	IT	PT	PT	IE	LU	FR	DE	PT	DE	IT	DE	FR
2	FI	IT	PT	IT	FI	FI	AT	EL	IT	AT	ES	FR	NL	NL
3	PT	NL	FI	FI	LU	PT	PT	IT	FI	ES	IT	NL	FR	DE
4	BE	FR	EL	BE	NL	BE	IE	FI	BE,ES, FR,IR, NL,AT, PT	NL	FR	BE	ES	ES
5	AT	BE,EL	AT	NL	BE	EL	FR	DE		FR	NL	DE		
6	DE	DE	NL	AT	FR	LU	EL	AT,BE		BE				
7	EL	ES	BE, ES	DE,EL	DE	FR	NL	ES		DE				
8	NL	FI	DE, FR	ES	ES	IT	BE	NL,PT		IT				
9	ES	IE	IE	IE	IT	AT	DE	IE						
10	FR	AT	LU	FR	EL	ES	ES							
11	IE	LU		LU	IE	DE	IT							
12	LU				AT	NL								

Panel B: Strength of the response of wages to productivity

Rank			AQR-IV	VH (2005)			ECFIN (2006)	DRS (2006)	Plasmans et al. (2002)	Horst (2003)	DIW (2004)
	TSLS-L	TSLS-D	OLS-D	OLS-D	VAR-L	VAR-D	ugap	IV, Ecm	Ecm		
1	IT	ES	IT	BE	PT	LU	DE	DE	DE	DE	FR
2	AT	BE	AT	EL	FI	PT	NL	IT	NL	ES	DE
3	BE	LU	BE	ES	LU	FI	AT	FI	BE	FR	NL
4	DE	EL	DE	PT	EL	FR,NL	FR	ES			
5	NL	IT	NL	AT	IE	AT	BE	IE			
6	FI	IE	FI	DE	AT	IT	ES	NL,FR			
7	FR	AT	ES	NL	NL	IE	EL	BE			
8	ES	NL	EL	IE	FR	DE	LU	EL,AT			
9	EL	FI	IE	IT	DE,IT	ES	IT,FI	PT			
10	FR	PT	FR	LU	ES	BE	IE				
11	PT	DE	PT	FR	BE	EL					
12	IE	FR	LU	FI							

Notes: OLS Ordinary least squares, TSLS Two stage least squares, VAR vector auto regression, D estimation in differences, L estimation in levels, Ecm long term elasticity in error correction mechanism, ugap difference between actual unemployment and NAIRU, IV estimation with instruments, SVAR structural VAR.







Graph A12: Ranking of employment and output performance 1985-1995





Source: GDGC, Commission services.



References

(Section 6)

AIZENMAN, J. AND J. FRENKEL (1986), 'Sectorial wages and the real exchange rate', *NBER Working Paper No* 1801.

ALTISSIMO, F., P. BENIGNO AND D. RODRIGUEZ-PALEN-ZUELA (2004), 'Inflation Differentials in a Currency Area: Facts explanations and policy', Mimeo.

ALTISSIMO, F., P. BENIGNO AND D. RODRIGUEZ-PALEN-ZUELA (2005) 'Long-run Determinants of Inflation Differentials in a Monetary Union', *CEPR*, *Discussion Paper No 5149*.

ANÀLISI QUANTIATIVA REGIONAL (AQR), UNIVERSITY OF BARCELONA AND INSTITUT FÜR WIRTSCHAFT HALLE (IWH) (2005), 'The contribution of wage developments to labour market performance', *European Economy Special Report No 1/2005*.

ANDERSEN, T. (1994), 'Price rigidity, Causes and Macroeconomic Implications', *Oxford University Press*.

ANDERSEN, T. (2004), 'Heterogeneous wage formation under common monetary policy', *CEPR Discussion Paper No 4430*.

BAIER, S. L., G. P. DWYER JR. AND R. TAMURA (2002), 'How Important Are Capital and Total Factor Productivity for Economic Growth?' *Working Paper 2a, Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta*.

BALL, L. (1987) 'Externalities from Contract Length', *American Economic Review*, Vol. 77, pp. 615-29.

BARRELL, R. AND K. DURY (2001), 'Asymmetric labour markets in a converging Europe: Do differences matter?' *ENEPRI Working Paper* No 2.

BAUER, T., H. BONIN AND U. SUNDE (2003) 'Real and nominal wage rigidities and the rate of inflation – Evidence from West German micro data', *IZA Discussion Paper No 959*.

BENIGNO, G. AND C. THOENISSEN (2003), 'Consumption and real exchange rates with incomplete financial markets and non-traded goods', *CEPR Discussion Paper* No 5580.

BENIGNO, G. AND C. THOENISSEN (2003), 'Equilibrium Exchange Rate and Supply-Side Performance', *Economic Journal*, Vol. 113, No 486, pp. 103 – 24.

BLANCHARD, JEAN OLIVIER, LAWRENCE F. KATZ (1992), 'Regional evolutions', *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1:1992, pp. 1-75.

BLANCHARD, O. (2001), 'Country adjustments within Euroland. Lessons after two years', paper prepared for the CEPR report '*Monitoring the European Central Bank*'.

BLANCHARD, O. (2006), 'Adjustment within the euro. The difficult case of Portugal', Mimeo.

CALMFORS, L. (1993), 'Centralisation of wage bargaining and macroeconomic performance – A survey', OECD Economic Studies, No 21, p. 161-191.

CALMFORS, L. (1998), 'Macroeconomic Policy, Wage Setting and Employment. What difference does the EMU make?' Seminar Paper No 657, *Institute for International Economic studies*, Stockolm University.

CALMFORS, L. (2001), 'Wages and Wage-Bargaining Institutions in the EMU – A survey of the Issues', *Empirica*, 28, 325-351.

CALMFORS, L. AND A. JOHANSSON (2002), 'Nominal wage flexibility, wage indexation and Monetary Union'. Seminar Paper No 716, *Institute for International Economic studies*, Stockolm University.

CAMPOLI, ALESSIA AND ESTER FAIA (2006), 'Cyclical inflation divergence and different labour market institutions in the EMU', *ECB Working Paper No 619*.

CARDOSO, A. R. AND P. PORTUGAL (2004), 'Bargained wages, wage drift and the design of the wage-system', *CEPR Discussion Paper No 4405*.

CORSETTI, G. AND P. PESENTI (2002), 'Self-validating Optimum Currency Areas', *CEPR Discussion Paper No* 3220.

CORSETTI, G. (2005), 'Monetary Policy in heterogeneous currency unions: Reflections based on a microfounded model of Optimum Currency Areas' paper prepared for the ECB Conference 'Monetary Policy Implications of Heterogeneity in a Currency Area'.

COPACIU, M. (2004), 'Asymmetric Shocks Across European Monetary Union: Can Labour Mobility act as an Adjustment Mechanism?', in *New Patterns of Labour Migration in Central and Eastern Europe, D.Pop ed.*

COVA, P. (2004), 'Demand shocks and Equilibrium Relative Price in the Euro Area', mimeo.

DE GREGORIO, J., A. GIOVANNINI AND T.H. KRUEGER (1993), 'The behaviour of Non-tradable Goods Prices in Europe' *IMF Working Paper No 45*.

DENIS, CÉCILE, DANIEL GRENOUILLEAU, KIERAN MC MORROW AND WERNER RÖGER (2006), 'Calculating potential growth rates and output gaps — A revised production function approach — *European Commission*, *Economic Papers No 247*.

DEROOSE, S., S. LANGEDIJK AND W. ROEGER (2004), 'Reviewing adjustment dynamics in EMU: from overheating to overcooling', *European Commission, Economic Paper No 198*.

DIW BERLIN (2004), 'Auswirkungen von länderspezifischen Differenzen in der Lohn-, Preisniveau- und Produktivitätsentwicklung auf Wachstum und Beschäftigung in den Ländern des Euroraums', *Report for the Federal Ministry of Economics and Labour.*

R. DORNBUSCH, FAVERO C. F. AND F. GIAVAZZI (1998), 'The immediate challenges for the European Central Bank', *NBER Working Paper No* 6369.

DUQUE, JUAN CARLOS, RAÚL RAMOS, JORDI SURIÑACH (2006), 'Wages and productivity: the role of labour market institutions in OECD countries', *Empirica*, forthcoming.

EICHENGREEN, B. AND IVERSEN, T. (1999). 'Institutions and economic performance: evidence from the labour market', *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, Vol. 15 No 4.

ENGEL, C. (2000), 'Long-run PPP may not hold after all', *Journal of International Economics*, Elsevier, vol. 51(2), pages 243-273,

EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2001). 'The EU Economy 2001 Review', *European Economy*, No 73/2001.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2002). 'The EU Economy 2002 Review', *European Economy*, No 6.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2004a). 'The EU Economy 2004 Review', *European Economy*, No 6.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2004b). 'EMU after 5 years', *European Economy Special Reports*, No 1.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2005), 'Labour Market and Wage Developments in 2004, with special focus on the risk of jobless growth', *European Economy Special Report No 3*.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2006), 'The EU Economy 2006 Review', *European Economy*, forthcoming.

FABIANI, S. AND D. RODRIGUEZ-PALENZUELA (2001), 'Model-based indicators of labour market rigidity', *ECB Working Paper No 57*.

FABIANI, S. AND J. MORGAN (2003), 'Aggregation and euro area Phillips curves', *ECB Working Paper No 213*.

FAGAN, G., V. GASPAR, AND A. PEREIRA (2003), 'Macroeconomic adjustment to structural change', Paper prepared for the conference 'Monetary Strategies for Accession Countries', organised by the National Bank of Hungary.

FAGAN, G., V. GASPAR, (2005). 'Adjusting to the Euro area: some issues inspired by the Portuguese experience', mimeo.

FRANKEL, JEFFREY AND ANDREW K. ROSE (1996): 'The endogeneity of the optimum currency area criteria', *NBER Working Paper, No 5700.*

HOFER, H. AND K. PICHELMANN (1999), 'Employment and Wage Adjustment in Euroland's Labour Market', *Economic Series No 78, Institute for Advanced Studies, Vienna.*

HONOHAN, P. AND A. J. LEDDIN (2005), 'Ireland in EMU: More Shocks, Less Insulation', *CEPR Discussion Paper No 5349*.

HOLDEN, S. (2004), 'Wage formation under low inflation', *CESifo Working Paper No 1252*.
HOLDEN, S AND F. WULFSBERG. (2005), 'Downward Nominal Wage Rigidity in the OECD', *Memorandum No 10, Department of Economics, University of Oslo.*

KLENOW, PETER J. AND RODRIGUEZ-CLARE, ANDRES (1997), 'The neoclassical revival in growth economics: has it gone too far?' *NBER Macroeconomics Annual*, 73-103.

KRUGMAN, P. AND M. OBSTFELD (2002), '*International Economics: Theory and Policy*', Addison and Wesley.

LANE, P. (2006), 'The Real Effects of EMU', *IIIS Discussion Paper No 115*.

HOLDEN, S. (2001), 'Monetary Regimes and Co-ordination of Wage Setting', *CESifo Working Paper No* 429.

MOURRE, GILLES (2005), 'Did the pattern of aggregate employment growth change in the euro area in the late 1990s?', *Applied Economics*, vol. 38(15), pp. 1783, 1807.

OBSTFELD, M. (1998), 'EMU: Ready, or Not?', *NBER Working Paper No* 6682.

OBSTFELD, M. AND K. ROGOFF (2005), 'Global current account imbalances and exchange rate adjustments', *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 1:1995, pp. 67-146.

PLASMANS, J. ET AL. (2002), 'The unemployment benefit system and wage flexibility in EMU: Time varying evidence for five countries', *University of Antwerp*.

STIROH, K. (2006), 'Volatility Accounting: A Production Perspective on Increased Economic Stability', *Staff Report No 245, Federal Reserve Bank of New York.*

VAN DEN HORST, A. (2003), 'Structural estimates of equilibrium unemployment in six OECD economies', *ENEPRI Working Paper No 22*.

WARD-WARMEDINGER, M. (2006), 'Analysis of micro data from the international wage flexibility project', presentation at EPC Labour Market Working Group, Brussels, 15 March 2006.

WYPLOSZ, C. (2006), 'European Monetary Union: the dark side of a major success', *Economic Policy*, pp. 207-261.

Annex 2 — Decomposing changes in employment rates: taking account of the population effect and participation rate effect

By applying a simple shift-share analysis, the change in the overall participation rate (PR) can be algebraically decomposed into changes over time (from time 0 to time 1) in its three main components, a population composition effect, a participation rate effect and an interaction effect:

$$PR^{1} - PR^{0} = \sum_{i} (PR_{i}^{1} \times p_{i}^{1}) - \sum_{i} (PR_{i}^{0} \times p_{i}^{0})$$

where PR= participation rate, p= share of population

Thus, adding

$$\sum_{i} [(PR_{i}^{1} \times p_{i}^{0}) + (PR_{i}^{0} \times p_{i}^{0}) + (PR_{i}^{0} \times p_{i}^{1})] - \sum_{i} [(PR_{i}^{1} \times p_{i}^{0}) + (PR_{i}^{0} \times p_{i}^{0}) + (PR_{i}^{0} \times p_{i}^{1})]$$

and rearranging one obtains:

$$PR^{1} - PR^{0} = \sum_{i} PR_{i}^{0} \times (p_{i}^{1} - p_{i}^{0}) + \sum_{i} p_{i}^{0} \times (PR_{i}^{1} - PR_{i}^{0}) + \sum_{i} (p_{i}^{1} - p_{i}^{0}) \times (PR_{i}^{1} - PR_{i}^{0})$$

where the first part is the *population composition effect*, due to changes in the demographic structure, had the participation rate remained constant; the second part is *the participation rate effect*, due to changes in participation rate of specific cohort, keeping constant the population structure, and the third represents the effect due to the interaction of the changes in the two components. Even if the participation rate effect is assumed to be zero (when $PR^1=PR^0$), the overall participation rate may change because of changing demographic structure (changes in p_i).

The same decomposition can be applied to the overall employment rate (ER) or to the number of employees or the size of labour supply for each age-cohort. For example, for the number of employees (E) in a given agecohort i, the change over time can be expressed as:

$$E_{i}^{1} - E_{1}^{0} = \left\lfloor p_{1}^{0} \times (ER_{i}^{1} - ER_{i}^{0}) \right] + \left[ER_{i}^{0} \times (p_{i}^{1} - p_{i}^{0}) \right\rfloor + \left\lfloor (p_{i}^{1} - p_{i}^{0}) \times (ER_{i}^{1} - ER_{i}^{0}) \right\rfloor$$

Results of such decompositions for each Member State are reproduced in Table A1-Table A3.

Table A3

Decomposing contribution to employment growth, 2001-2005

Contribution to employment growth (age 15-64) — annual rate 2001-2005 (in percentage points) Contribution to annual employment growth by:

Country	Total annual growth rate: 2001-05	Young	Prime age	Older	MALE:	Young	Prime age	Older	FEMALE:	Young	Prime age	Older
BE	1.4	- 0.1	0.5	1.0	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.2	1.4	0.0	0.5	0.8
DK	0.0	0.1	- 0.6	0.5	0.0	0.0	- 0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	- 0.3	0.4
DE	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.4	0.2	- 0.4	0.0	- 0.4	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.2
EL	1.7	- 0.4	1.8	0.3	0.7	- 0.2	0.8	0.2	1.0	- 0.2	1.0	0.1
ES	4.1	0.1	3.4	0.5	1.8	0.0	1.5	0.3	2.2	0.1	1.9	0.3
FR	0.8	0.1	- 0.1	0.7	0.1	0.1	- 0.3	0.4	0.6	0.0	0.2	0.4
IE	2.8	- 0.1	2.2	0.6	1.3	- 0.1	1.1	0.3	1.5	0.0	1.1	0.3
IT	1.2	- 0.2	1.0	0.3	0.3	- 0.1	0.2	0.1	0.9	- 0.1	0.8	0.2
LU	1.4	0.0	0.9	0.5	0.4	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.9	- 0.3	0.9	0.3
NL	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.6	0.7	- 0.4	- 0.1	- 0.7	0.4	0.3	- 0.1	0.1	0.3
AT	0.6	0.4	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.2	- 0.2	0.1	0.6	0.2	0.2	0.2
РТ	- 0.1	- 0.8	0.6	0.2	- 0.3	- 0.5	0.2	0.0	0.2	- 0.3	0.4	0.2
FI	0.2	- 0.1	- 0.7	0.9	- 0.1	- 0.1	- 0.4	0.5	0.2	0.0	- 0.3	0.5
SE	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.5	0.7	0.1	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.4	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.3	0.3
UK	0.5	0.0	- 0.1	0.6	0.2	0.0	- 0.2	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.3
Euro area	1.0	- 0.1	0.6	0.4	0.2	- 0.1	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.5	0.2
EU-15	0.9	- 0.1	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.4	0.3
CY	2.9	0.0	2.4	0.5	1.6	0.2	1.1	0.3	1.4	0.0	1.3	0.1
CZ	0.2	- 0.8	0.1	0.9	0.3	- 0.3	0.2	0.5	- 0.1	- 0.5	0.0	0.4
EE	1.2	0.2	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.3	- 0.1	0.9	0.2	0.4	0.4
HU	- 0.1	- 1.2	0.4	0.7	- 0.1	- 0.7	0.3	0.3	0.0	- 0.5	0.1	0.4
LT	2.4	0.0	1.8	0.5	1.6	0.1	1.3	0.2	0.7	- 0.1	0.5	0.3
LV	1.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	1.1	0.3	0.6	0.2	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.4
MT	0.3	- 0.6	0.7	0.2	0.0	- 0.2	0.0	0.1	0.3	- 0.3	0.5	0.1
PL	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.0	0.2	- 0.2	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.1
SK	1.0	- 0.3	0.7	0.5	1.0	0.0	0.7	0.4	0.0	- 0.3	0.1	0.2
SI	0.9	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.0	0.4	0.1
EU-25	0.8	- 0.1	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.6	0.0	0.3	0.2

Source: Commission services.

Table A4

Decomposing contribution to changes in employment rate, 2004

Contributi	ion to changes	by gender a	nd age gr	oups (in p	ercentag	e points	unless oth	terwise in	dicated)									
		, ,		Contrib	ution of §	group-sp	ecific shil	fts of ER	to chang	tes of agg	regate em	iploymen	it rates			emograp	hic effect	
Country	Employment rate 2005	% change 2004-05	TOTAL	, Young	Prime age	Older	MALE:	Young	Prime age	Older	EMALE:	Young	Prime age	Older	TOTAL	Young	Prime age	Older
BE	61.1	0.7	1.0	- 0.1	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.6	0.1	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.3	0.1
DK	75.9	0.2	0.4	0.0	0.5	- 0.2	0.1	0.0	0.3	- 0.2	0.3	0.0	0.3	0.0	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.5	0.2
DE	65.4	1.2	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.8	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.4	- 0.5
Е	60.1	0.7	0.4	- 0.3	0.4	0.4	0.1	- 0.2	0.1	0.2	0.3	- 0.1	0.3	0.2	0.3	- 0.2	0.4	0.0
ES	63.3	2.2	2.0	9.0	1.2	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.1	1.4	0.3	0.9	0.2	0.2	- 0.2	0.3	0.1
H	63.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.4	0.2
ш	67.6	1.4	1.2	0.2	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.9	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.1	- 0.3	0.4	0.1
F	57.6	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.3	0.1	0.2	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	- 0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0
2	63.5	0.9	1.6	0.2	1.0	0.3	0.3	- 0.1	0.3	0.1	1.3	0.3	0.8	0.2	- 0.6	0.1	- 0.9	0.2
NL	73.2	0.1	0.3	- 0.1	0.3	0.2	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.3	0.2	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.4	0.2
АТ	68.6	0.9	0.7	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.2	0.6	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.1	- 0.1
Ы	67.5	- 0.4	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.4	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.3
Ē	68.4	0.8	1.0	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.2	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.6	0.3
SE	72.3	0.2	0.4	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	- 0.2	0.1	- 0.5	0.2
λ	71.7	0.0	0.1	- 0.3	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.0	0.0	0.2	- 0.1	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.2	0.1
Euro area	63.4	0.7	0.7	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.5	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	- 0.1
EU-15	65.0	0.6	0.6	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
ک ا	68.5	- 0.6	- 0.6	- 0.1	- 0.6	0.0	- 0.4	- 0.1	- 0.3	0.0	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.3	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ŋ	64.8	0.6	0.6	- 0.1	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	- 0.2	0.2	0.1	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.2
Ш	64.5	1.4	1.4	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.2	1.1	0.4	0.4	0.4	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.1	- 0.1
Ĥ	56.9	0.2	0.0	- 0.3	0.1	0.3	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.0	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.1	0.0
5	62.6	1.5	1.5	0.2	1.0	0.3	0.7	0.1	0.5	0.1	0.8	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
≥	63.3	1.0	1.1	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.0	- 0.1
MT	53.9	- 0.2	0.2	- 0.3	0.2	- 0.2	- 0.5	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.3	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	- 0.1	0.0
Ч	52.8	1.1	1.2	0.2	0.9	0.1	0.9	0.1	0.7	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.2
SK	57.7	0.8	0.7	- 0.2	0.4	0.5	0.7	0.0	0.4	0.2	0.0	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.2	0.0	- 0.1	0.0	0.1
SI	66.0	0.7	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.4	- 0.2	0.7	0.0
EU-25	63.6	0.6	0.6	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Source: Con	mission services.																	

Table A5

136

Decomposing contribution to changes in participation rate, 2004

Contribution to changes by gender and age groups (in percentage points unless otherwise indicated)

	Particip % c	ation rate hange	Cont	ribution (of group-	specific s	hifts of pa	rticipati	on rates t	o changes	of aggreg	ate partic	cipation 1	rates	D	emograp	hic effect	
Country	2005	2004-05	TOTAL	Young	Prime age	Older	MALE:	Young	Prime age	Older Fl	EMALE:	Young	Prime age	Older	TOTAL	Young	Prime age	Older
BE	66.7	0.9	1.1	0.0	0.8	0.3	0.4	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.7	0.1	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.3	0.1
DK	79.8	- 0.3	- 0.2	0.0	0.0	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.0	0.1	- 0.2	0.0	0.0	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.5	0.3
DE	73.8	1.7	1.6	0.4	0.3	0.9	0.8	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.8	0.2	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.5	- 0.6
EL	66.8	0.3	0.0	- 0.5	0.2	0.3	- 0.1	- 0.3	0.0	0.2	0.1	- 0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3	- 0.2	0.5	0.0
ES	69.7	1.0	0.9	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	- 0.1	0.0	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	- 0.3	0.4	0.1
H	69.5	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.4	0.2
Е	70.8	1.3	1.1	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.9	0.1	0.5	0.3	0.1	- 0.3	0.4	0.1
F	62.5	- 0.3	- 0.3	- 0.4	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.2	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0
3	66.8	0.9	1.5	0.1	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.9	- 0.1	0.8	0.2	- 0.6	0.1	- 0.9	0.2
NL	76.9	0.3	0.5	- 0.1	0.3	0.2	0.0	- 0.1	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.3	0.2	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.5	0.2
АТ	72.4	1.1	0.9	0.3	0.1	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.6	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.1	- 0.1
РТ	73.4	0.4	0.4	- 0.1	0.5	0.1	0.0	- 0.1	0.1	0.0	0.5	- 0.1	0.4	0.1	0.0	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.3
H	74.7	0.5	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.6	0.4
SE	78.2	1.0	1.2	0.5	0.7	0.0	0.8	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.3	0.2	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.2	- 0.5	0.2
NK	75.3	0.1	0.2	- 0.2	0.2	0.1	0.0	- 0.1	0.0	0.0	0.2	- 0.1	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.3	0.2
Euro area	69.8	0.6	0.6	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	- 0.1
EU-15	70.9	0.5	0.5	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
ç	72.4	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.2	- 0.3	- 0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.1	- 0.4	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ŋ	70.4	0.4	0.4	- 0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	- 0.2	0.2	0.2	- 0.1	- 0.1	- 0.2	0.2
EE	70.1	0.2	0.3	0.0	- 0.3	0.5	- 0.3	- 0.2	- 0.3	0.1	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.4	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.1	- 0.1
ΗU	61.3	0.9	0.8	- 0.2	0.5	0.4	0.3	- 0.1	0.2	0.2	0.5	- 0.1	0.4	0.2	0.1	- 0.1	0.1	0.0
Ŀ	68.4	- 0.7	- 0.7	- 0.2	- 0.5	0.0	- 0.3	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.0	- 0.4	- 0.1	- 0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
R	69.6	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.4	0.2	0.1	0.1	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.0	- 0.1
MT	58.1	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.2	0.4	- 0.2	- 0.5	- 0.5	0.0	0.0	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.1	- 0.1	0.0
PL	64.4	0.4	0.5	0.0	0.4	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.2
SK	68.9	- 0.8	- 0.8	- 0.6	- 0.6	0.4	0.0	- 0.2	0.0	0.2	- 0.7	- 0.4	- 0.6	0.2	0.0	- 0.2	0.0	0.1
SI	70.7	0.9	0.4	0.0	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.4	- 0.3	0.7	0.0
EU-25	70.0	0.5	0.5	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Source: Commission service.

Statistical annex

Country tables

Work status of persons Belgium

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	10 263	10 310	10 356	10 396	10 477	0.8	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	6 729	6 758	6 791	6 819	6 876	0.8	%
as % of total population	65.6	65.5	65.6	65.6	65.6	0.0	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	4 320	4 378	4 409	4 493	4 589	2.1	%
Male	2 479	2 490	2 493	2 528	2 557	1.2	%
Female	1 841	1 888	1 917	1 965	2 032	3.4	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	64.2	64.8	64.9	65.9	66.7	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24)	35.7	35.7	35.0	35.3	35.0	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	81.2	81.9	82.3	83.4	84.6	1.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	25.9	27.7	28.9	31.2	33.3	2.1	p.p.
Male	/3.2	/3.2	72.9	73.4	/3.9	0.5	p.p.
Prime and (25 E4)	59.0 01.0	50.9 01.2	56.4	57.7	37.0	0.0	p.p.
Older (55.64)	91.0	91.5	90.9	91.0	92.2 A2 A	2.0	p.p.
Female	55.1	56.3	56.9	58.2	59.5	1.3	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24)	31.7	32.4	31.4	32.8	32.3	- 0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	71.2	72.4	73.6	74.7	76.8	2.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	15.9	18.2	19.3	22.1	23.3	1.2	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	59.9	59.9	59.6	60.3	61.1	0.7	p.p.
Young (15-24)	29.7	29.4	27.3	27.8	27.5	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	76.6	76.5	76.5	77.3	78.3	1.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	25.1	26.6	28.1	30.0	31.8	1.8	p.p.
Male	68.8	68.3	67.3	67.9	68.3	0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	33.2	32.1	29.9	30.1	29.7	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	86.5	86.1	85.0	85.8	86.1	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	35.1	36.0	37.8	39.1	41.7	2.7	p.p.
Female	50.9	51.4	51.8	52.7	53.8	1.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	26.0	26.5	24.7	25.4	25.2	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	66.5	66.8	67.8	68.5	70.4	1.9	p.p.
Older (55-64)	15.4	17.6	18.6	21.1	22.1	1.1	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	4 033	4 047	4 047	4 114	4 199	86	Th.
Male (as % of total)	57.8	57.4	56.8	56.8	56.2	- 0.6	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	42.2	42.6	43.2	43.2	43.8	0.6	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	1.4	- 0.1	- 0.1	0.6	0.9		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	- 0.8	0.4	0.0	1.6	2.1		p.p.
Male	- 0.9	- 0.3	- 1.0	1.6	1.1		p.p.
Female	- 0.9	1.3	1.3	1.8	3.4	0.2	p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	8.7	8.7 10.1	8.0 10.0	8.3	0.5 10.2	0.2	p.p.
Male	10.0	10.1	10.0	9.9	10.2	0.5	p.p.
9 Tomporary omployment (as % total)	0.9	0.0	8.4	0.2	0.4 2.0	0.2	p.p.
Male	6.3	5.7	6.2	6.4	6.8	0.1	p.p.
Female	12.0	11.2	11 1	11.7	11.4	-03	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	18.4	19.0	20.3	21.2	21.7	0.5	p.p.
Male	4.9	5.3	6.1	6.6	7.1	0.5	p.p.
Female	36.8	37.4	39.0	40.4	40.4	0.0	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	6.6	7.5	8.2	8.4	8.4	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	17.1	17.8	21.8	21.1	21.5	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	5.6	6.6	7.1	7.3	7.4	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	3.0	3.9	2.9	3.9	4.6	0.7	p.p.
Male	5.9	6.7	7.6	7.5	7.6	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	16.3	17.3	22.1	20.1	21.0	0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	4.9	5.7	6.5	6.5	6.6	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)_	3.6	3.9	2.8	3.3	3.8	0.5	p.p.
Female	7.5	8.6	8.9	9.5	9.5	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	17.9	18.1	21.3	22.4	22.0	- 0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	6.5	7.8	7.8	8.4	8.4	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	3.2	3.8	3.5	4.8	5.3	0.5	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	49.0	10.0	AF 4	10.1	E1 7	26	n n
(as % of total unemployment)	40.0	40.0	45.4	49.1 26 E	26.7	2.0	p.p. %
is. worked nours (average actual Weekly nours)	3/.1	3/.1	30.7	30.5	30./	0.5	% 0/
	40.5	40.3	40.2	40.1 21.2	40.1	0.2	% 0/2
14. Sectoral employment growth	J2.4	52.7	52.0	0.10	J2.1	1.1	/0
Agriculture	- 4.1	- 4.1	- 4 4	- 3.0	- 1.2		p.p.
Building and construction	1.4	- 2.1	- 0.8	- 0.3	0.6		p.p.
Services	1.8	0.9	0.7	1.3	1.4		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	0.8	- 3.6	- 2.8	- 2.3	- 1.0		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Belgium

				Ann	ual % cl	hange			
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	3.6	3.8	1.7	2.1	2.4	1.5	2.2	2.1	3.7
Compensation of employees per hour worked	3.9	4.1	2.1	3.5	3.1	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	5.0	5.0	1.3	2.2	:	:	:	:	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	4.0	2.1	0.7	0.1	2.1	1.6	1.9	2.5	2.1
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	2.2	0.3	- 1.0	- 2.1	- 0.1	- 0.6	- 0.3	0.2	- 0.1
Wages and salaries	3.4	1.3	- 0.5	1.2	2.9	1.9	3.2	3.5	3.4
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wages share (% of GDP at current market prices)	70.9	71.1	70.3	69.2	68.6	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	32.4	32.9	29.0	30.3	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs)	67.6	67.2	71.0	69.7	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	57.3	54.4	54.4	69.1	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	30.7	30.6	28.9	30.3	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.2	1.1	0.1	0.0	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	je develo	opments	can be a	assessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	- 0.4	1.7	1.0	2.0	0.3	- 0.1	0.3	- 0.4	1.6
Hourly labour productivity	- 0.6	1.7	1.3	3.3	0.9	:	:	:	:
GDP	1.0	1.5	0.9	2.6	1.2	1.2	1.5	1.0	1.3
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	7.8	7.7	7.7	7.6	7.5	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	0.8	0.3	- 0.7	0.0	- 0.9	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	2.1	2.1	1.7	1.4	1.4	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.6
GDP deflator	1.8	1.8	1.7	2.3	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.3	2.2
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	15.7	- 13.0	17.8	- 6.6	- 6.9	- 12.5	- 6.4	- 4.5	- 2.3
Industry excluding construction	4.4	0.7	- 0.2	- 1.4	1.3	0.6	0.8	3.4	1.4
of which: manufacturing	4.0	- 0.3	0.0	- 1.5	0.0	:	:	:	:
Construction	2.1	2.4	0.4	- 1.8	- 0.2	- 4.4	3.1	0.0	1.6
Trade, transport and communication	1.9	2.4	- 2.0	1.9	0.7	2.4	0.1	- 0.2	0.6
Finance and business services	5.1	0.3	0.8	0.9	2.7	2.8	2.1	3.1	2.4
Non-market-related services	3.8	5.3	2.0	2.6	2.9	2.4	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	3.4	1.0	- 0.1	0.2	1.3	1.3	1.1	1.9	1.3
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee	2.6	2.0							
Iotal industries	3.6	3.8	1./	2.1	2.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	6.4	3.3	3.1	6.0	1.6	- 2.3	2.5	3.3	4.5
of which: manufacturing	3.3	4.4	1./ 2.1	3.2	2.0	1.7	2.1	2.4	1.8
Construction	1.4	3.0	2.1	۵.2 ۵.1	0.6	- 4.6	4 1	23	1 4
Trade transport and communication	3.1	5.0	2.2	3.0	1.8	1 7	1.7	1.9	2.0
Finance and business services	6.4	1.2	1.9	0.5	0.9	0.7	0.4	0.9	1.3
Non-market-related services	3.4	4.8	1.9	1.6	4.0	2.7	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 8.1	18.7	- 12.5	13.5	9.1	11.8	9.5	8.2	7.0
Industry excluding construction	- 1.1	3.7	1.9	4.8	0.7	1.1	1.3	- 0.9	0.5
of which: manufacturing	- 0.8	4.4	2.0	4.8	2.4	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 0.6	0.6	1.8	6.0	0.8	- 0.2	1.0	2.3	- 0.2
Trade, transport and communication	1.2	2.5	4.1	1.1	1.2	- 0.6	1.6	2.1	1.4
Finance and business services	1.3	0.9	1.1	- 0.4	- 1.7	- 2.1	- 1.6	- 2.1	- 1.1
Non-market-related services	- 0.4	- 0.5	- 0.1	- 1.0	1.1	0.2	1.3	1.6	1.5
Market-related sectors	0.3	2.5	1.8	2.2	0.2	- 0.3	0.5	- 0.1	0.3

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Czech Republic

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	10 176	10 171	10 179	10 196	10 229	0.3	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	7 121	7 149	7 182	7 231	7 270	0.5	%
as % of total population	70.0	70.3	70.6	70.9	71.1	0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	5 045	5 048	5 044	5 063	5 119	1.1	%
Male	2 786	2 799	2 792	2 815	2 857	1.5	%
Female	2 259	2 249	2 252	2 248	2 262	0.6	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	70.8	70.6	70.2	70.0	70.4	0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	41.5	38.7	36.8	35.2	34.0	- 1.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	88.4	88.2	87.8	87.8	88.3	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	39.0	42.5	44.2	45.1	40.9	1.8	p.p.
Male Young (15-24)	/ 8.0	/8.0	78.0	77.9	78.4	0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25.54)	43.1	42.3	94.4	94.5	58.8 04.9	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	55.0	59.2	59.9	60.2	62.1	2.0	p.p.
Female Female	63.2	62.7	62.5	62.2	62.4	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	37.9	35.2	33.9	31.5	28.9	- 2.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	81.8	81.5	81.0	80.9	81.6	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	24.5	27.2	30.0	31.3	33.0	1.6	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	65.0	65.4	64.7	64.1	64.8	0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	34.2	32.2	30.0	27.8	27.5	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	82.1	82.5	81.7	81.4	82.0	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	37.1	40.8	42.3	42.6	44.5	1.8	p.p.
Male	73.2	73.9	73.1	72.3	73.3	1.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	37.0	35.2	32.4	30.1	31.3	1.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	89.7	90.2	89.7	89.2	89.8	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	52.6	57.1	57.5	57.2	59.3	2.1	p.p.
Female	56.9	57.0	56.3	56.0	56.3	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	31.4	29.1	27.6	25.4	23.4	- 2.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	74.4	74.7	73.5	73.4	74.0	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	23.2	25.8	28.5	29.4	30.8	1.4	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	4 631	4 677	4 647	4 638	4 710	72	Th.
Male (as % of total)	56.0	56.3	56.4	56.4	56.7	0.3	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	44.0	43.7	43.6	43.6	43.3	- 0.4	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0.4	1.5	- 1.4	0.1	0.9		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	0.1	1.0	- 0.6	- 0.2	1.5		p.p.
Male	0.2	1.4	- 0.5	- 0.2	2.2		p.p.
Female	0.0	0.5	- 0.8	- 0.2	0.7	0.7	p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	10.6	11.3	12.2	12.1	11.4	-0.7	p.p.
Male	13.3	14.4	15.5	15.5	14.7	- 0.8	p.p.
• Temperary employment (as % tetal)	7.0	7.3	8.0	7.7	7.1	- 0.6	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	6.3	7.5	0.4	0.4 7.0	6.9	- 0.3	p.p.
Female	8.3	8.7	10.0	10.0	9.2	- 0.2	p.p.
10 Part-time (as % of total employment)	4.3	43	4.5	4 3	<u>, 2</u>	0.0	p.p.
Male	1.5	1.5	1.7	1.7	1.4	- 0.1	p.p.
Female	7.7	7.8	8.0	7.7	8.0	0.3	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	8.0	7.3	7.8	8.3	7.9	- 0.4	D.D.
Young (15-24)	17.6	16.9	18.5	21.0	19.2	- 1.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	7.1	6.5	7.0	7.3	7.1	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	4.8	4.0	4.4	5.4	5.2	- 0.2	p.p.
Male	6.7	5.9	6.2	7.1	6.5	- 0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	17.9	16.7	18.2	22.2	19.4	- 2.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	5.5	4.9	5.0	5.6	5.3	- 0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	4.4	3.5	3.9	5.0	4.5	- 0.4	p.p.
Female	9.7	9.0	9.9	9.9	9.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	17.2	17.2	18.7	19.5	19.2	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	9.1	8.3	9.3	9.3	9.4	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	5.6	5.1	5.0	6.1	6.5	0.4	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	F0.4	54.0	40 7	F ()	F0.4	2.1	
(as % of total unemployment)	52.1	50.3	48.7	51.0	53.0	2.1	p.p.
13. worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	41.5	41./	41.8	41./	41.7	0.1	%
Male F	43.3	43./	43.9	43.7	43.6	- 0.2	%
14 Sectoral employment growth	39.0	38.9	38.9	39.0	39.1	0.3	%
Acriculture	_ <u>8</u> /	_ <u>2</u> 0	80	_ 10	_ 1 9		nn
- Ruilding and construction	- 0.4	- 6.2	7 9	- 0.4	- 1.0		p.p.
Services	0.7	2.9	- 1.3	1.0	1.1		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	2.9	3.3	- 5.0	- 1.4	1.0		p.p.
	2.5	5.5	5.0		- 1.0		P.P.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Czech Republic

				Ann	ual % cha	ange			
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	7.4	6.0	7.7	6.2	4.7	4.7	5.0	6.7	5.4
Compensation of employees per hour worked	11.8	7.9	6.6	5.6	5.4	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	13.1	7.5	5.8	6.1	4.5	4.0	4.2	3.8	6.0
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	5.1	6.0	2.9	1.5	- 0.3	- 0.6	- 0.5	0.9	- 1.2
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.2	3.2	0.4	- 1.9	- 0.3	- 2.5	– 1.3	0.1	1.9
Wages and salaries	7.0	4.6	6.0	4.5	- 3.2	3.6	4.6	6.4	5.7
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	57.5	59.6	59.6	59.3	59.4	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	28.0	28.2	28.2	28.1	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	72.0	71.8	71.8	71.9	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	62.9	62.9	63.0	63.0	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	26.6	26.9	26.9	26.9	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.2	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	2.2	0.0	4.6	4.6	5.0	5.3	5.5	5.8	6.6
Hourly labour productivity	7.0	0.9	5.1	3.9	4.8	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.6	1.5	3.2	4.7	6.0	5.3	5.8	5.8	6.9
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	7.0	7.3	7.3	7.4	7.5	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	- 1.5	- 2.8	- 3.2	- 2.3	- 0.2	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	3.1	2.0	0.4	2.5	0.9	1.4	0.7	0.5	0.8
GDP deflator	4.9	2.8	2.0	3.4	0.0	2.0	0.9	0.7	0.8
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	9.6	1.1	2.5	- 12.7	1.0	- 16.8	- 19.4	5.4	- 1.5
Industry excluding construction	17.9	10.1	- 8.1	2.3	- 2.5	- 5.3	- 3.3	- 4.9	- 7.8
of which: manufacturing	11.8	- 2.7	- 5.6	1.9	- 4.7	:	:	:	:
Construction	16.8	9.7	6.1	3.5	7.4	8.9	7.5	2.6	- 1.9
Trade, transport and communication	4.7	20.3	- 3.7	1.7	2.0	- 3.0	- 4.7	0.2	- 0.6
Finance and business services	2.6	25.6	2.9	0.8	14.6	0.5	1.8	- 0.1	5.5
Non-market-related services	13.2	21.3	/.3	2.8	15.4	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	•		•	0.3	- 7.5	- 3.4	- 3.0	- 0.7	- 2.4
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	12.2	17.2	4.2	6.0	12.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	11.2	14.2	- 0.9	7.9	13.9	1.6	4.4	3.5	3.1
Industry excluding construction	9.7	15.7	3.0	7.1	6.5	2.6	4.2	5.2	5.1
of which: manufacturing	5.0	4.3	6.8	7.3	4.6	:	:	:	:
Construction	9.6	20.5	2.8	7.5	- 2.1	2.3	3.7	3.8	2.9
Trade, transport and communication	13.3	16.0	3.9	7.0	15.1	4.7	4.5	6.9	5.2
Finance and business services	11.6	12.7	5.8	5.5	71.2	2.9	2.9	1.9	2.7
Non-market-related services	15.5	21.1	6.7	2.8	4.7	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	1.5	13.0	- 3.3	23.6	12.8	22.1	29.5	- 1.8	4.7
Industry excluding construction	- 6.9	5.0	12.1	4.8	9.2	8.3	7.8	10.6	13.9
of which: manufacturing	- 6.1	7.2	13.1	5.3	9.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 6.2	9.8	- 3.1	3.9	- 8.8	- 6.0	- 3.5	1.1	5.0
Trade, transport and communication	8.3	- 3.6	7.8	5.3	12.9	7.9	9.7	6.6	5.8
Finance and business services	8.7	- 10.3	2.9	4.7	49.4	2.4	1.1	2.0	- 2.6
Non-market-related services	2.1	- 0.1	- 0.6	0.0	- 9.2	- 1.9	0.3	2.8	3.9
IVIAI KEL-FEIATEO SECTORS	1.4	0.3	6.6	5.9	12.9	1.2	7.6	6.0	7.3

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Denmark

1. Population (total) 1000 pers. 5329 5339 5339 5339 5396 6366 100 1000 a basic force (15-6) 1000 pers. 2832 2830 2830 2836 2850		2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
2. Population (working age: 15-64) as % of tot3 population 5. Labour force (15-64) 3. Labour force (15-64) 4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64) 4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64) Prime age (25-54) Male 4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64) Prime age (25-54) Prime age (25-55) Prime age (25-55) Prime age (25-55) Prime age (25-55) Prime age (25-54) Prime age (25-54) Prime age (25-54) Prime age (25-54) Prime age (25-55) Prime age (25-56) Prime age (25-56) Prime age (25-56) Prime age (25-57) Prime ag	1. Population (total) 1 000 pers	. 5 322	5 339	5 359	5 379	5 396	0.3	%
a arks of total <i>jopulation</i> 66.6 66.3 66.2 66.2 66.1 0.1 p.p. <i>Male</i> 1002 1493 1503 2853 2826 0.2853 2826 0.02 883 4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64 mailed in the second se	2. Population (working age: 15-64)	3 545	3 538	3 548	3 559	3 566	0.2	%
3. Labour force (15-44) 1000 pers. 2 822 2 815 2 826 2 833 2 846 -0.2 Ms Male 1302 1193 1503 1511 1514 -0.2 Ms 4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64) 780 9 87.8 80.9 1511 1574 -0.4 % 4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64) 780 9 87.8 80.9 87.7 10.0 0.4 p.p. Male 83.8 83.6 83.8 83.6 83.8 83.6 83.8 83.0 83.7 0.4 0.9 p. Male 95.8 9 75.9 75.4 75.1 75.2 75.9 70.0 0.4 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 80.4 83.7 86.4 63.3 66.0 66.3 0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 80.4 83.7 86.4 63.3 66.0 66.3 0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 84.4 83.7 88.3 84.7 84.7 84.2 0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 84.4 83.7 88.3 84.7 84.7 84.9 2.0 0.9 p. Prime age (25-54) 84.4 83.7 88.3 84.7 84.5 0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 84.8 83.8 80.9 79.8 73.7 75.7 75.9 0.0 0.4 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.8 66.4 63.3 60.0 66.3 0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.8 66.4 63.5 66.8 63.9 0.9 p. Prime age (25-54) 85.8 86.8 65.5 67.3 67.3 66.7 3 80.8 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 86.8 83.8 75.8 63.5 66.8 0.8 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 86.8 83.8 75.8 63.5 66.8 0.8 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 86.8 83.8 75.8 75.3 65.6 77.3 65.7 1.8 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 86.8 2 86.7 3 75.7 75.9 1.8 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 86.8 2 86.8 2 63.9 2.75.9 1.8 0.9 p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 86.8 2 85.8 67.3 87.3 85.5 1.8 0.9 p. Prime age (25-64) 85.7 64.8 2 83.3 87.9 87.6 88.4 0.8 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 85.7 64.8 40.8 46.8 46.8 46.8 46.8 40.9 0.1 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 85.7 55.4 55.8 55.9 55.9 1.8 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 85.7 55.4 55.8 55.9 1.8 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 86.8 2 86.8 2 63.9 2.75 9.9 1.9 p. Prime age (25-64) 85.7 55.9 55.9 55.9 1.8 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 85.7 55.9 55.9 55.9 1.8 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 85.9 75.9 7.5 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9	as % of total population	66.6	66.3	66.2	66.2	66.1	- 0.1	p.p.
Mate 1 503 1 503 1 503 1 503 1 503 1 503 0 503 0 503 4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64) 739 726 725 80.1 738 703	3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers	. 2832	2 815	2 820	2 853	2 846	- 0.2	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64) 753 726 727 137 1322 137 1322 133 132 133 132 133 132 133 </td <td>Mal</td> <td>e 1502</td> <td>1 493</td> <td>1 503</td> <td>1 511</td> <td>1 504</td> <td>- 0.4</td> <td>%</td>	Mal	e 1502	1 493	1 503	1 511	1 504	- 0.4	%
A. Actiony rate (as 's of papulation (3-Bay) biolog (15-24) #33 733	Femal	e 1330	1 322	1 317	1 342	1 341	0.0	%
Nome Boss Boss <th< td=""><td>4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)</td><td>/9.9</td><td>79.0</td><td>79.5</td><td>80.1</td><td>79.8</td><td>- 0.3</td><td>p.p.</td></th<>	4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	/9.9	79.0	79.5	80.1	79.8	- 0.3	p.p.
Image Image Bots <	Prime age (25-54) 87.9	87.8	87.8	88.2	88.1	0.0	p.p.
Mole 83.8 83.6 83.8 84.0 83.6 9.0 9.0 Prime app (25-4) 91.4 91.9 91.7 91.5 91.7 0.2 p.p. Prime app (25-4) 91.4 91.9 91.7 71.2 68.2 -2.2 p.p. Femule 75.9 75.4 75.1 76.2 75.9 -0.2 p.p. Young (15-24) 65.8 66.4 65.5 56.6 66.3 0.3 p.p. Prime app (25-54) 84.4 83.7 63.7 75.7 75.9 0.2 p.p. Prime app (25-54) 84.4 84.1 0.3 59.5 66.3 60.3 90.0 Young (15-24) 66.4 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5 61.6 65.5	Older (55-64) 60.5	60.4	63.3	63.9	62.7	- 1.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 70.2 70.7 67.7 69.7 70.0 0.4 p.p. Didar (55-64) 68.3 67.1 70.5 71.2 66.7 2.2 p.p. Young (15-24) 68.3 66.4 63.5 66.0 66.3 0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 64.4 83.7 78.7 75.9 0.2 p.p. Didler (55-64) 75.1 75.7 75.9 0.2 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 64.4 83.7 83.7 84.5 0.0 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 84.4 84.1 83.5 85.5 62.3 60.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.3 80.0 75.6 77.7 75.8 0.1 P.p. Prime age (25-64) 85.5 66.5 61.6 63.5 61.6 63.5 61.8 P.p. Prime age (25-64) 80.0 71.7 70.5 71.6 71.9 70.0 70.0 70.0 70.0 70.8 </td <td>Mal</td> <td>e 83.8</td> <td>83.6</td> <td>83.8</td> <td>84.0</td> <td>83.6</td> <td>- 0.4</td> <td>D.D.</td>	Mal	e 83.8	83.6	83.8	84.0	83.6	- 0.4	D.D.
Prime age (25-54) 91.4 91.7 91.5 97.7 0.2 0.2 p.p. Ibler (55-64) 66.3 67.1 70.5 71.2 66.7 0.3 P.p. Nama (1524) 65.8 66.4 65.5 56.5 56.6 0.0 P.p. Delar (55.64) 51.9 53.0 55.9 55.5 56.8 0.0 P.p. Steppiopment rate (as % of population 15-64) 75.2 75.7 75.7 75.8 0.0 P.p. Noing (15-24) 66.4 65.5 66.6 66.3 50.5 P.p. Noing (15-24) 66.4 65.5 66.16 66.3 50.8 P.p. Noing (15-24) 66.4 65.5 66.15 66.3 66.7 P.p. P.p. Noing (15-24) 60.0 61.4 67.3 67.5 P.B. Noing (15-24) 80.0 61.7 7.5 71.6 7.7 7.0 7.5 7.1 P.P. P.P. P.P.	Young (15-24) 70.2	70.7	67.7	69.7	70.0	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64) 68.3 67.1 70.2 71.2 66.7 7.2 7.5 7.6 7.9 9.0 9.0 Prime age (55-64) 8.2 8.33 8.79 8.73 6.33 6.32 6.3 6.35 6.10 6.03 9.0 9.0 Prime age (25-54) 8.64 7.9 7.0 7.16 7.19 9.0 9.0 9.0 <td< td=""><td>Prime age (25-54</td><td>) 91.4</td><td>91.9</td><td>91.7</td><td>91.5</td><td>91.7</td><td>0.2</td><td>p.p.</td></td<>	Prime age (25-54) 91.4	91.9	91.7	91.5	91.7	0.2	p.p.
Female 75.9 75.4 75.1 76.2 75.9 70.2 <	Older (55-64) 68.3	67.1	70.5	71.2	68.7	- 2.5	p.p.
Young (15-24) 65.8 66.4 63.7 84.7 84.5 91.3 00.3 p.p. 5. Employment rate (as % of polyticion 15-64) 76.2 75.9 75.1 75.7 75.9 00.3 p.p. 5. Employment rate (as % of polyticion 15-64) 76.2 75.9 75.1 75.7 75.9 07.3 P.p. Prime age (25-54) 84.4 84.1 83.5 83.7 84.5 0.4 P.p. Prime age (25-54) 84.4 84.1 83.5 83.7 84.5 0.1 P.p. Prime age (25-54) 85.2 88.3 87.9 87.6 88.4 0.4 P.p. Prime age (25-64) 80.0 77.0 70.5 71.6 77.9 0.3 P.p. Prime age (25-64) 80.0 61.4 75.6 61.0 80.6 0.8 P.p. Prime age (25-64) 80.0 79.0 79.8 80.6 1.3 T.P.p. Fermade (35 of total) 65.7 66.6 66.7 <t< td=""><td>Femal</td><td>e 75.9</td><td>75.4</td><td>75.1</td><td>76.2</td><td>75.9</td><td>- 0.2</td><td>p.p.</td></t<>	Femal	e 75.9	75.4	75.1	76.2	75.9	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 84.4 83.7 83.7 84.7 74.8 (Young (15-24) 65.8	66.4	63.5	66.0	66.3	0.3	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64) 76.2 75.9 75.7 75.9 0.2 0.0 pp. Young (15-24) 62.3 63.5 59.5 62.3 62.3 0.0 pp. Older (55-64) 84.4 83.1 83.7 84.5 0.8 pp. Male 80.3 80.0 79.6 79.7 79.8 0.1 pp. Young (15-24) 64.6 65.5 61.6 63.5 63.8 0.0 pp. Prime age (25-54) 88.2 88.3 87.9 87.6 68.4 0.8 pp. Voung (15-24) 65.0 61.4 57.6 61.0 60.5 -0.5 pp. Prime age (25-54) 88.0 79.8 88.6 0.8 p.0 0.3 p.0 0.3 9.2 53.2 53.5 0.3 pp. Colder (55-64) 49.7 50.4 52.9 53.2 53.5 0.3 p.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4<	Prime age (25-54) 84.4	83.7	83.7	84.7	84.5	- 0.3	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-94) 76.2 7.2.3 7.5.1 7.5.7 7.5.9 0.02 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 63.4 84.1 83.5 83.7 64.5 0.8 p.p. Male 80.3 80.0 79.5 67.7 79.8 0.1 p.p. Male 80.3 80.0 79.5 67.7 79.8 0.1 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 65.5 64.5 67.3 67.3 65.7 -1.8 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 88.2 88.3 87.9 87.6 6.88.4 0.8 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 80.6 67.3 67.3 65.2 3.3 0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-64) 80.6 79.9 79.0 79.8 80.6 80.6 80.6 1.3 To.1 p.p. Female (25.64) 49.7 50.4 64.4 46.8 46.9 0.1 p.p. Female (25.64) 67.3 51.2 63.2 63.2 63.2 63.2 63.2 63.2 63.2 63.2	Older (55-64) 51.9	53.0	55.9	56.5	56.8	0.3	p.p.
Loung (13-4) De2.3 De3.5	5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	/6.2	/5.9	/5.1	/5./	/5.9	0.2	p.p.
Inite of Case 64-4 64-7 60-3	Foung (15-24 Prime age (25-54) 62.3	03.5 8/L1	29.5	02.3 92.7	02.3 84.5	0.0	p.p.
Link (a) (a) (b) (b) Jun	Clider (55-64) 57.0	57.8	60.1	60.3	59.5	- 0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24) 64.6 65.5 61.6 63.5 63.9 0.4 pp. Prime age (25-54) 88.2 88.3 87.9 87.5 68.4 0.8 p.p. Older (55-64) 65.5 64.5 67.3 67.5 61.6 60.5 -1.8 p.p. Young (15-24) 60.0 61.4 57.6 61.0 60.5 -0.5 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 80.6 79.9 79.0 79.8 80.6 0.8 p.p. Control (55-64) 40.7 50.4 52.2 53.2 53.1 -0.1 p.p. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1000 pers.) 27.00 2.685 2.666 2.694 2.706 1.3 Th.p. Employemt growth (%) (Ational accounts) 0.8 -0.1 -1.2 0.00 0.0 2 0.0 P.p. Employemt growth (%) (Ational accounts) 0.8 -0.1 -1.1 0.0 2 0.5 -5.20 0.2 P.p. Employemt growth (%)	Mal	P 80.3	80.0	79.6	79.7	79.8	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 88.2 88.3 87.9 87.6 88.4 0.8 p.p. Older (55-64) 65.5 64.3 67.3 65.5 -1.8 p.p. Young (15-24) 60.0 61.4 57.6 61.0 60.5 -0.5 p.p. Differ sig (25-54) 80.6 7.9 7.90 7.88 80.66 0.8 p.p. 6.Employed persons (age 15-64, 1000 pers.) 27.00 2.68 2.666 2.694 2.706 1.3 Th. 6.Employment growth (%) (national accounts) 0.8 -0.1 -1.2 0.0 0.6 p.p. 7.Employment growth (%) (Lf.5, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. 6.soff employed (% of total employment) Male -0.1 -0.7 -0.0 0.2 0.3 p.p. 7.Employment growth (%) (Lf.5, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. 8.51f employed (% of total employment) Male 5.7 5.4 5.8 5.3 -0.5 p.p. 9. Temployment (as % total) <	Young (15-24) 64.6	65.5	61.6	63.5	63.9	0.4	p.p.
Older (55:64) 65.5 64.5 77.3 77.3 67.4 67.4	Prime age (25-54) 88.2	88.3	87.9	87.6	88.4	0.8	p.p.
Female 720 71.7 70.5 71.6 71.9 0.3 p.p. Noung (15-24) 60.0 61.4 57.6 61.0 60.5 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 80.6 79.9 79.8 80.6 0.8 p.p. 6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1000 pers) 2700 2665 2564 259.2 53.3 10.3 p.p. <i>Female</i> (as % of total) 53.3 53.2 53.6 53.7 -0.1 p.p. <i>Female</i> (as % of total) 46.7 46.8 46.4 46.8 46.9 0.0 p.p. Female (as % of total) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. Employment growth (%) (IrS, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 2.1 2.3 2.3 2.6 0.4 p.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 9.1 9.1 9.2 3.3 3.2.4 -0.1 p.p.	Older (55-64) 65.5	64.5	67.3	67.3	65.5	- 1.8	p.p.
Young (15-24) 60.0 61.4 57.6 61.0 60.5 -0.5 p.p. Older (55-64) 49.7 50.4 52.9 53.2 53.5 0.3 p.p. 6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1000 pers.) 2700 2685 2566 53.2 53.7 -0.1 P.p. 7. Employment growth (%) (Iris, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.0 0.6 P.p. Female (as % of total) 0.8 -0.1 -1.2 0.0 0.6 P.p. Employment growth (%) (Iris, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 P.p. Employment growth (%) (Iris, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 -0.5 P.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 400 7.5 4 5.4 5.8 5.3 -0.5 P.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 2.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 P.p. 1.10 Male 7.7 7.8<	Femal	e 72.0	71.7	70.5	71.6	71.9	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 80.6 79.9 79.0 79.8 80.6 0.8 p.p. 6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.) 2700 2685 2666 2694 2706 13 Th. Maile (as % of total) 53.3 53.2 53.6 53.2 53.7 -0.1 p.p. Female (as % of total) 0.8 -0.1 -1.2 0.0 0.6 P.p. Employment growth (%) (LFS, as 0.564) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 P.p. Employment growth (%) (LFS, as 0.564) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.0 0.6 P.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 P.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.0 P.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 10.4 5.1 5.4 5.8 5.5 -0.1 P.p.	Young (15-24) 60.0	61.4	57.6	61.0	60.5	- 0.5	p.p.
Older (S5-64) 49.7 50.4 52.9 53.2 53.5 0.3 pp. 6. Employed persons (ag 15-64, 100 person) 2700 2685 2666 2694 2706 13 Th. 7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts) 0.8 -0.1 -1.2 0.0 0.6 -p.p. Employment growth (%) (national accounts) 0.8 -0.1 -1.1 0.5 -p.p. Female (as % of total) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 -p.p. Female (as % of total) 0.2 -0.5 -1.5 2.0 0.7 -p.p. Female 0.7 -0.5 -1.5 2.0 0.7 -p.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 40 3.9 4.4 4.0 -0.1 p.p. 9. Termaie 5.7 5.4 5.8 5.3 -0.5 p.p. 9. Termaie 10.7 7.8 8.1 8.6 8.4 -0.3 p.p. 9. Termaie	Prime age (25-54) 80.6	79.9	79.0	79.8	80.6	0.8	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1000 pers.) 2700 2683 2665 2694 2706 13 Th. Male (as % of total) 53.3 53.2 53.6 53.2 53.1 -0.1 p.p. Female (as % of total) 46.7 46.8 46.4 46.8 46.9 0.1 p.p. Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. 8. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 5.1	Older (55-64) 49.7	50.4	52.9	53.2	53.5	0.3	p.p.
Male (as % of total) 45.3 53.2 53.4 53.4 53.7 -0.1 p.p. Female (as % of total) 46.7 46.8 46.4 46.8 46.9 0.1 p.p. Employment growth (%) (hational accounts) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. Female 2.1 2.1 2.3 2.3 2.6 0.4 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 27.5 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 <t< td=""><td>6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)</td><td>2 700</td><td>2 685</td><td>2 666</td><td>2 694</td><td>2 706</td><td>13</td><td>Th.</td></t<>	6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	2 700	2 685	2 666	2 694	2 706	13	Th.
Templayment growth (%) (national accounts) 0.8 -0.1 -1.2 0.0 0.6 p.p. Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 1.1 0.5 p.p. Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.6 -0.7 0.0 0.2 0.3 p.p. 8. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. 8. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % total) Male 7.7 7.8 8.1 8.6 8.4 -0.3 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 27.5 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 5.7 -0.3 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.0	Male (as % of total) 53.3	53.2	53.6	53.2	53.1	- 0.1	p.p.
A Employment growth (%) (LtS, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.1 -0.1 0.1 0.5 0.5 $p.p.$ Employment growth (%) (LtS, age 15-64) 0.2 -0.7 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.3 $p.p.$ Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 $p.p.$ B. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 $p.p.$ B. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 $p.p.$ S. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 $p.p.$ In Deart-time (as % of total employment) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 $p.p.$ In Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) $A.5$ $A.6$ 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 $p.p.$ In Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) $A.5$ 4.6 5.4 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4	7 Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	/ 46./	40.8	40.4	40.8	46.9	0.1	p.p.
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Employment growth (%) (LES age 15-64)	0.8	- 0.1	- 1.2	0.0	0.0		p.p.
Female 0.7 -0.5 -1.5 2.0 0.7 p.p. 8. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. 8. Self employed (% of total employment) Male 5.7 5.4 5.4 5.8 5.3 -0.5 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 2.3 2.3 2.6 0.4 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 10.2 10.8 11.2 21.5 2.1 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 10.2 10.8 11.2 11.7 0.5 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. <t< td=""><td>Mal</td><td>e - 0.1</td><td>- 0.7</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.2</td><td>0.3</td><td></td><td>p.p.</td></t<>	Mal	e - 0.1	- 0.7	0.0	0.2	0.3		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment) 4.0 3.9 4.0 4.1 4.0 -0.1 p.p. Male 5.7 5.4 5.4 5.8 5.3 -0.5 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.0 4.2 4.9 5.0 4.1 -0.7 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.0 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 8.8 8 -0.1 p.p. Prime age (25-5	Femal	e 0.7	- 0.5	- 1.5	2.0	0.7		p.p.
Male 5.7 5.4 5.4 5.8 5.3 -0.5 p.p. Female 2.1 2.1 2.3 2.3 2.6 0.4 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. Female 10.7 7.8 8.1 8.6 8.4 -0.3 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.0 4.2 4.9 5.0 4.1 -0.9 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.48 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Molg 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Molg (55-64) 4.2 3.8 4.2 4.3 3.7 -0.6 p.p. Prime age	8. Self employed (% of total employment)	4.0	3.9	4.0	4.1	4.0	- 0.1	p.p.
Female 2.1 2.1 2.3 2.3 2.6 0.4 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. 01der (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. 01der (55-64) 4.2 3.8 4.4 5.5 4.7 -0.6 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 3.5 3.8 <td< td=""><td>Mal</td><td>e 5.7</td><td>5.4</td><td>5.4</td><td>5.8</td><td>5.3</td><td>- 0.5</td><td>p.p.</td></td<>	Mal	e 5.7	5.4	5.4	5.8	5.3	- 0.5	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total) 9.1 9.1 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.4 p.p. Male 7.7 7.8 8.1 8.6 8.4 -0.3 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.0 5.0 4.1 -0.9 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Mole 5.5 5.7 5.9 4.5 -1.3 p	Femal	e 2.1	2.1	2.3	2.3	2.6	0.4	p.p.
Male 7.7 7.8 8.1 8.6 8.4 -0.3 p.p. Female 10.7 10.3 10.4 10.3 11.3 1.0 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. Male 9.4 10.2 10.8 11.2 11.7 0.5 p.p. Inumployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.0 4.2 4.9 5.0 4.1 -0.9 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Young (15-24) 7.9 7.3 9.1 8.8 8.8 0.1 p.p. Young (15-24) 7.9 5.3 3.8 4.2 4.3 3.7 -0.6 p.p.	9. Temporary employment (as % total)	9.1	9.1	9.2	9.4	9.8	0.4	p.p.
Female 10.7 10.3 10.4 10.3 11.3 1.0 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Male 5.0 5.0 6.1 6.0 5.3 -0.7 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.5 5.7 5.9 4.5 -1.3 p.p.	Mal	e 7.7	7.8	8.1	8.6	8.4	- 0.3	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment) 19.6 19.4 20.7 21.5 21.5 -0.1 p.p. Male 9.4 10.2 10.8 11.2 11.7 0.5 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 3.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 3.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Male 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 3.5 3.8 4.2 4.3 3.7 -0.6 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 3.8 4.4 5.5 4.7 -0.8 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.8 7.6	Femal	e 10.7	10.3	10.4	10.3	11.3	1.0	p.p.
Male 9.4 10.2 10.8 11.2 17.7 0.5 p.p. Female 31.2 29.8 32.1 33.3 32.4 -0.8 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.0 4.2 4.9 5.0 4.1 -0.9 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 7.9 7.3 9.1 8.8 8.8 -0.1 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.2 3.8 4.4 5.5 4.7 -0.6 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.7 5.9 4.5 -1.3 p.p. Prime age (25-5	10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	19.6	19.4	20.7	21.5	21.5	- 0.1	p.p.
Ternale 31.2 29.8 32.1 33.3 32.4 -0.8 p.p. 11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74) 4.5 4.6 5.4 5.5 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.0 4.2 4.9 5.0 4.1 -0.9 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 7.9 7.3 9.1 8.8 8.8 -0.1 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 3.5 3.8 4.2 4.3 3.7 -0.6 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 3.8 7.6 8.8 1.2 p.p. 12. Long-term unemployment rate - - 5.7 5.9 4.5 1.3 p.p. 13. Worked hours	Mal	e 9.4	10.2	10.8	11.2	11.7	0.5	p.p.
11. Onemployment rate (naminoscie, 15-74) 4.3 4.3 5.4 5.3 4.8 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.5 7.4 9.3 8.3 8.7 0.4 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 4.3 5.0 5.5 5.1 -0.4 p.p. Male 4.1 4.3 4.8 5.1 4.4 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 7.9 7.3 9.1 8.8 8.8 -0.1 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 3.5 3.8 4.2 4.3 3.7 -0.6 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.2 3.8 4.4 5.5 4.7 -0.8 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 3.5 5.0 6.1 6.0 5.3 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.8 7.6 9.3 7.6 8.8 1.2 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.5 5.7 5.9 4.5 -1.3 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.1 4.9 5.4 5.9 5.9 -0.1 p.p.	Female 11 Unomployment rate (barmonicody 15,74)	e 31.2	29.8	32.1	33.3	32.4	- 0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)4.04.24.95.06.1 -0.4 p.p.Older (55-64)4.24.35.05.55.1 -0.4 p.p.Male4.14.34.85.14.4 -0.7 p.p.Young (15-24)7.97.39.18.88.8 -0.1 p.p.Prime age (25-54)3.53.84.24.33.7 -0.6 p.p.Older (55-64)4.23.84.45.54.7 -0.8 p.p.Prime age (25-54)3.55.06.16.05.3 -0.7 p.p.Female5.05.06.16.05.3 -0.7 p.p.Young (15-24)8.87.69.37.68.81.2p.p.Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5 -1.3 p.p.Older (55-64)4.14.95.45.95.9 -0.1 p.p.Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5 -1.3 p.p.Older (55-64)4.14.95.45.95.9 -0.1 p.p.12. Long-term unemployment rate -1.7 -1.3 $3.5.0$ 34.7 35.1 1.2 %Marke hours (average actual weekly hours)35.635.3 35.0 34.7 35.1 1.2 %13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)35.6 35.3 35.0 34.7 35.1 1.2 %Marke fermale <td>Young (15-24</td> <td>4.5</td> <td>4.0</td> <td>93</td> <td>83</td> <td>4.0</td> <td>- 0.7</td> <td>p.p.</td>	Young (15-24	4.5	4.0	93	83	4.0	- 0.7	p.p.
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Prime age (25-54) 4.0	4.2	4.9	5.0	4.1	- 0.9	p.p.
Male4.14.34.85.14.4 -0.7 $pp.$ Young (15-24)7.97.39.18.88.8 -0.1 $p.p.$ Prime age (25-54)3.53.84.24.33.7 -0.6 $p.p.$ Older (55-64)4.23.84.45.54.7 -0.8 $p.p.$ Female5.05.06.16.05.3 -0.7 $p.p.$ Young (15-24)8.87.69.37.68.8 1.2 $p.p.$ Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5 -1.3 $p.p.$ Older (55-64)4.23.87.69.37.68.8 1.2 $p.p.$ Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.9 4.5 -1.3 $p.p.$ Older (55-64)4.95.45.95.9 -0.1 $p.p.$ 12. Long-term unemployment rate V V V V V V (as % of total unemployment)19.719.2 20.4 21.6 23.5 1.9 $p.p.$ 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)35.635.3 35.0 34.7 35.1 1.2 $\%$ Male38.3 37.9 37.8 37.6 37.9 0.9 $\%$ female32.3 32.2 31.7 31.3 31.7 1.4 $\%$ Male38.3 37.9 37.8 -1.1 -1.1 $p.p.$ Building and construction -0.6 </td <td>Older (55-64</td> <td>) 4.2</td> <td>4.3</td> <td>5.0</td> <td>5.5</td> <td>5.1</td> <td>- 0.4</td> <td>p.p.</td>	Older (55-64) 4.2	4.3	5.0	5.5	5.1	- 0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)7.97.39.18.88.8 -0.1 p.p.Prime age (25-54)3.53.84.24.33.7 -0.6 p.p.Older (55-64)4.23.84.45.54.7 -0.8 p.p.Female5.05.06.16.05.3 -0.7 p.p.Young (15-24)8.87.69.37.68.81.2p.p.Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5 -1.3 p.p.Older (55-64)4.14.95.45.95.9 -0.1 p.p.12. Long-term unemployment rate7.919.220.421.623.51.9p.p.13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)35.635.335.034.735.11.2%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Female2.231.731.331.71.4%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Manufacturing industry -0.6 -1	Mal	e 4.1	4.3	4.8	5.1	4.4	- 0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)3.53.84.24.33.7- 0.6p.p.Older (55-64)4.23.84.45.54.7- 0.8p.p.Female5.05.06.16.05.3- 0.7p.p.Young (15-24)8.87.69.37.68.81.2p.p.Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5- 1.3p.p.Older (55-64)4.14.95.45.95.9- 0.1p.p.12. Long-term unemployment rate(as % of total unemployment)19.719.220.421.623.51.9p.p.13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)35.635.335.034.735.11.2%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%14. Sectoral employment growth1.4%Services1.30.6-0.50.70.9p.p.Manufacturing industry-0.2-2.7-4.1-2.6-1.6p.p.	Young (15-24) 7.9	7.3	9.1	8.8	8.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 4.2 3.8 4.4 5.5 4.7 -0.8 p.p. Female 5.0 5.0 6.1 6.0 5.3 -0.7 p.p. Young (15-24) 8.8 7.6 9.3 7.6 8.8 1.2 p.p. Prime age (25-54) 4.5 4.5 5.7 5.9 4.5 -1.3 p.p. Older (55-64) 4.1 4.9 5.4 5.9 5.9 -0.1 p.p. 12. Long-term unemployment rate	Prime age (25-54) 3.5	3.8	4.2	4.3	3.7	- 0.6	p.p.
Female5.05.06.16.05.3 -0.7 p.p.Young (15-24)8.87.69.37.68.81.2p.p.Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5 -1.3 p.p.Older (55-64)4.14.95.45.95.94.5 -1.3 p.p.12. Long-term unemployment rate7.68.81.29.9 -0.1 p.p.13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)35.635.335.034.735.11.2%13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)35.635.335.034.735.11.2%14. Sectoral employment growth7.6 -3.2 0.0 -4.3 -1.1 -1.1 -1.1 -1.7 Building and construction -0.6 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 4.9 $p.p.$ Services1.3 0.6 -0.5 0.7 0.9 $p.p.$	Older (55-64) 4.2	3.8	4.4	5.5	4.7	- 0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24)8.87.69.37.68.81.2p.p.Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5-1.3p.p.Older (55-64)4.14.95.45.95.9-0.1p.p.12. Long-term unemployment rate(as % of total unemployment)19.719.220.421.623.51.9p.p.13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)35.635.335.034.735.11.2%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9%Female32.332.231.731.331.71.4%Agriculture -3.2 0.0 -4.3 -1.1 -1.1 -1.1 p.p.Building and construction -0.6 -1.8 -1.2 0.64.9p.p.Services1.30.6 -0.5 0.70.9p.p.Manufacturing industry -0.2 -2.7 -4.1 -2.6 -1.6 p.p.	Femal	e 5.0	5.0	6.1	6.0	5.3	- 0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)4.54.55.75.94.5 -1.3 p.p.Older (55-64)4.14.95.45.95.9 -0.1 p.p. 12. Long-term unemployment rate 719.220.421.623.51.9p.p.(as % of total unemployment)19.719.220.421.623.51.9p.p. 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) 35.635.335.034.735.11.2%Male38.337.937.837.637.90.9% Female 32.332.231.731.331.71.4%Agriculture - 3.20.0 -4.3 -1.1 -1.1 -1.1 p.p.Building and construction -0.6 -1.8 -1.2 0.64.9p.p.Services1.30.6 -0.5 0.70.9p.p.Manufacturing industry -0.2 -2.7 -4.1 -2.6 -1.6 p.p.	Young (15-24) 8.8	7.6	9.3	7.6	8.8	1.2	p.p.
Older (55-64) 4.1 4.9 5.4 5.9 5.9 -0.1 p.p. 12. Long-term unemployment rate - - - - - - 0.1 p.p. 12. Long-term unemployment rate - - 0.1 p.p. (as % of total unemployment) 19.7 19.2 20.4 21.6 23.5 1.9 p.p. 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) 35.6 35.3 35.0 34.7 35.1 1.2 % Male 38.3 37.9 37.8 37.6 37.9 0.9 % female 32.3 32.2 31.7 31.3 31.7 1.4 % 14. Sectoral employment growth - - - - 1.4 % Services 1.3 0.0 - - 1.1 - 1.1 p.p. Building and construction -0.6 - 1.8 - 1.2 0.6 4.9 p.p.	Prime age (25-54) 4.5	4.5	5.7	5.9	4.5	- 1.3	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate 19.7 19.2 20.4 21.6 23.5 1.9 p.p. 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) 35.6 35.3 35.0 34.7 35.1 1.2 % Male 38.3 37.9 37.8 37.6 37.9 0.9 % Female 32.3 32.2 31.7 31.3 31.7 1.4 % 14. Sectoral employment growth -3.2 0.0 -4.3 -1.1 -1.1 p.p. Building and construction -0.6 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 4.9 p.p. Services 1.3 0.6 -0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry -0.2 -2.7 -4.1 -2.6 -1.6 p.p.	Older (55-64) 4.1	4.9	5.4	5.9	5.9	- 0.1	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) 15.7 15.2 20.4 21.0 23.3 1.9 p.p. 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) 35.6 35.3 35.0 34.7 35.1 1.2 % Male 38.3 37.9 37.8 37.6 37.9 0.9 % 14. Sectoral employment growth - - - 1.1 - 1.1 % Building and construction -0.6 - 1.8 - 0.6 4.9 p.p. Services 1.3 0.6 - 0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry - 0.2 - 2.7 - 4.1 - p.p.	12. Long-term unemployment rate	107	10.2	20.4	21.6	22 F	10	nn
Male 33.3 35.6 35.6 34.7 35.7 1.2 % Male 38.3 37.9 37.8 37.6 37.9 0.9 % Female 32.3 32.2 31.7 31.3 31.7 1.4 % 14. Sectoral employment growth Agriculture -3.2 0.0 -4.3 -1.1 -1.1 p.p. Building and construction -0.6 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 4.9 p.p. Services 1.3 0.6 -0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry -0.2 -2.7 -4.1 -2.6 -1.6 p.p.	(as % or total unemployment	25.6	19.2	20.4	21.0	23.5	1.9	p.p. %
Female 32.3 32.2 31.7 31.3 31.7 1.4 % 14. Sectoral employment growth -3.2 0.0 -4.3 -1.1 -1.1 p.p. Building and construction -0.6 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 4.9 p.p. Services 1.3 0.6 -0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry -0.2 -2.7 -4.1 -2.6 -1.6 p.p.	Mal	e 383	37.9	37.8	37.6	37.9	0.9	/0
14. Sectoral employment growth Agriculture - 3.2 0.0 - 4.3 - 1.1 - 1.1 p.p. Building and construction - 0.6 - 1.8 - 1.2 0.6 4.9 p.p. Services 1.3 0.6 - 0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry - 0.2 - 2.7 - 4.1 - 2.6 - 1.6 p.p.	Femal	e 32.3	32.2	31.7	31.3	31.7	1.4	%
Agriculture - 3.2 0.0 - 4.3 - 1.1 - 1.1 p.p. Building and construction - 0.6 - 1.8 - 1.2 0.6 4.9 p.p. Services 1.3 0.6 - 0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry - 0.2 - 2.7 - 4.1 - 2.6 - 1.6 p.p.	14. Sectoral employment growth		52.12	5/	55	5/		,.
Building and construction -0.6 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 4.9 p.p. Services 1.3 0.6 -0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry -0.2 -2.7 -4.1 -2.6 -1.6 p.p.	Agricultur	e – 3.2	0.0	- 4.3	- 1.1	- 1.1		p.p.
Services 1.3 0.6 -0.5 0.7 0.9 p.p. Manufacturing industry -0.2 -2.7 -4.1 -2.6 -1.6 p.p.	Building and construction	n – 0.6	- 1.8	- 1.2	0.6	4.9		p.p.
Manufacturing industry - 0.2 - 2.7 - 4.1 - 2.6 - 1.6 p.p.	Service	s 1.3	0.6	- 0.5	0.7	0.9		p.p.
	Manufacturing industr	y – 0.2	- 2.7	- 4.1	- 2.6	- 1.6		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Denmark

				Ann	ual % cha	ange			
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	4.4	3.8	3.8	2.1	3.7	4.1	4.8	2.9	3.6
Compensation of employees per hour worked	4.1	4.0	4.2	3.1	2.8	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	4.5	3.8	3.6	3.3	2.8	3.3	2.8	2.3	2.9
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	4.5	3.2	1.8	0.3	1.2	4.0	1.1	- 1.0	1.0
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	1.9	0.9	- 0.1	- 1.9	- 1.4	1.5	- 2.6	- 3.7	- 0.3
Wages and salaries	3.7	1.6	3.1	2.0	4.6	4.6	5.6	3.3	5.0
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wages share (% of GDP at current market prices)	67.1	67.8	67.6	66.6	66.0	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	12.3	12.6	13.4	13.0	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	87.7	87.4	86.6	87.0	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	70.5	70.3	69.8	70.6	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	9.4	10.0	10.6	10.2	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	3.0	2.6	2.8	2.8	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	- 0.1	0.5	1.9	1.8	2.4	0.1	3.6	4.0	2.6
Hourly labour productivity	- 0.6	0.9	2.2	2.6	1.5	:	:	:	:
GDP	0.7	0.5	0.7	1.9	3.1	0.1	4.2	4.5	3.3
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	5.0	4.8	4.7	4.5	4.2	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	1.1	- 0.4	- 1.6	- 1.7	- 0.8	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	2.3	2.5	2.2	0.9	1.0	0.6	1.1	1.2	1.2
GDP deflator	2.5	2.3	1.9	2.2	2.6	2.5	3.8	2.8	1.3
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	- 3.1	7.2	- 3.0	1.3	0.6	0.8	0.0	- 1.5	9.2
Industry excluding construction	4.2	2.9	3.0	1.4	1.5	9.8	1.9	- 4.2	0.5
of which: manufacturing	4.6	3.6	3.9	2.1	1.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	8.8	2.6	- 0.9	- 4.2	6.4	8.9	10.0	3.8	3.4
Trade, transport and communication	2.6	2.4	0.5	- 0.1	- 3.4	- 0.4	- 2.4	- 6.1	- 3.7
Finance and business services	7.5	6.7	1.5	- 0.6	4.3	5.8	4.0	2.5	5.1
Non-market-related services	4.9	3.4	2.9	2.7	2.4	3.9	2.3	:	:
Market-related sectors	4.0	3.2	1.2	- 0.1	1.3	4.8	1.6	- 2.2	1.0
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	4.5	4.1	3.8	2.0	3.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	3.9	3.2	1.8	1.8	3.5	2.9	6.5	3.0	4.6
Industry excluding construction	4.6	3.5	4.5	2.3	3.5	3.9	6.4	2.5	3.2
of which: manufacturing	4.9	3.3	4.4	2.2	3.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	2.1	3.4	2.0	1.5	4.4	5.2	6.9	2.2	3.4
Trade, transport and communication	3.3	3.8	2.5	0.8	2.9	3.1	5.0	2.1	2.3
Finance and business services	5.4	6.6	3.2	0.5	3.2	3.7	3.4	3.2	2.8
Non-market-related services	4.8	3.6	4.7	3.5	3.3	4.0	2.7	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	7 2	_ 3 7	5.0	0.5	2.9	2.0	65	46	_12
Industry excluding construction	0.4	0.5	1.5	0.8	2.0	- 5 3	4.4	6.9	2.7
of which: manufacturing	0.3	- 0.2	0.5	0.1	2.0	:	:	:	;
Construction	- 6.2	0.8	3.0	5.9	- 1.8	- 3.4	- 2.7	- 1.5	0.0
Trade, transport and communication	0.7	1.4	2.0	0.9	6.5	3.5	7.6	8.7	6.2
Finance and business services	- 2.0	- 0.1	1.7	1.0	- 1.1	- 2.0	- 0.6	0.6	- 2.1
Non-market-related services	- 0.1	0.2	1.7	0.8	0.9	0.1	0.5	1.3	1.9
Market-related sectors	0.2	0.8	2.1	1.3	2.3	- 1.0	3.5	4.8	1.9
						I			

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Germany

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	81 284	81 535	81 596	81 563	81 529	0.0	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	54 998	54 870	54 695	54 501	54 765	0.5	%
as % of total population	67.7	67.3	67.0	66.8	67.2	0.4	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	39 221	39 229	39 414	39 280	40 409	2.9	%
Male	21 850	21 770	21 770	21 701	22 202	2.3	%
Female	17 371	17 459	17 644	17 579	18 206	3.6	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	71.3	71.5	72.1	72.1	73.8	1.7	p.p.
Young (15-24)	50.4	50.0	49.5	47.5	49.7	2.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	85.6	85.7	86.1	85.9	86.4	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	42.8	43.2	45.1	47.5	52.0	4.5	p.p.
Male	/8.8	/8./	79.0	79.0	80.6	1.6	p.p.
Foung (15-24)	53.4 03.5	52.7	52.2	50.5	52.5	2.0	p.p.
Older (55.64)	52.0	95.5 52.7	95.2	92.9	95.0 61.2	0.7	p.p.
Female	63.7	64.2	65.0	65.1	66.9	4.0	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24)	47.3	47.3	46.7	44 A	46.8	2.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	77.5	78.0	78.8	78.8	79.0	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	33.6	33.8	35.8	37.9	43.1	5.2	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	65.7	65.4	64.9	64.3	65.4	1.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	46.5	45.4	44.0	41.3	42.0	0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	79.4	78.8	78.1	77.2	77.4	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	37.7	38.4	39.4	41.4	45.4	4.0	p.p.
Male	72.6	71.8	70.9	70.0	71.2	1.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	48.6	46.9	45.0	42.7	43.7	1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	86.9	85.7	84.4	83.1	83.7	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	46.1	47.1	47.7	49.8	53.5	3.7	p.p.
Female	58.7	58.8	58.9	58.5	59.6	1.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	44.3	43.8	43.0	39.8	40.2	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	71.7	71.8	71.6	71.1	71.0	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	29.3	29.8	31.2	33.1	37.5	4.4	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	36 145	35 869	35 523	35 022	35 837	815	Th.
Male (as % of total)	55.7	55.4	55.0	54.9	54.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	44.3	44.6	45.0	45.1	45.2	0.1	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0.4	- 0.6	- 1.0	0.4	- 0.2		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	0.5	- 0.8	- 1.0	- 1.4	2.3		p.p.
Female	- 0.5	- 1.4	- 1.6	- 1.5	2.1		p.p.
8 Self employed (% of total employment)	4.8	4.8	- 0.1	- 1.3	6.1	0.5	p.p.
Male	5.6	5.8	6.2	6.7	7.2	0.5	p.p.
Female	3.6	3.7	3.9	4.1	4.7	0.6	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	12.4	12.0	12.2	12.5	14.3	1.8	p.p.
Male	12.2	11.8	12.2	12.7	14.5	1.8	p.p.
Female	12.7	12.3	12.3	12.2	14.1	1.9	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	19.9	20.3	21.2	21.9	23.4	1.6	p.p.
Male	4.7	5.2	5.5	5.9	6.9	1.0	p.p.
Female	39.0	39.2	40.4	41.3	43.4	2.1	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	7.4	8.2	9.0	9.5	9.5	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	7.8	9.3	11.0	13.0	15.5	2.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	7.2	8.0	9.3	10.2	10.4	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	12.0	11.2	12.6	12.8	12.8	0.0	p.p.
Male	6.3	7.1	8.2	8.7	8.9	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	9.0	11.1	13.7	15.4	16.8	1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	/.1	8.1	9.4	10.5	10.6	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	11.4	10.6	12.4	12.9	12.6	- 0.3	p.p.
Female Young (15-24)	8.9	9.4	10.1	10.5	10.3	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime and (25.54)	0.4	7.5	٥. I 0. 1	0.2	14.0	5.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	17.8	12 1	13.0	9.0 12.6	12.2	0.4	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	12.0	12.1	15.0	12.0	15.0	0.5	ρ.ρ.
(as % of total unemployment)	50.4	47.9	50.0	51.8	53.1	1.3	pp
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	37.8	37.4	36.9	36.9	36.9	- 0.1	% %
Male	42.3	41.9	41.4	41.5	41.6	0.2	%
Female	31.9	31.7	31.2	31.2	30.9	- 0.9	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	- 1.2	- 2.2	- 2.7	- 0.9	- 2.3		p.p.
Building and construction	- 6.2	- 6.1	- 4.8	- 3.1	- 4.7		p.p.
Services	1.3	0.5	- 0.1	1.3	0.6		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	0.4	- 2.2	- 2.6	- 1.5	- 1.5		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Germany

10001					Ann	ual % cha	ange			
Different measures of wage/fabor costs:Vert we were were were were were were wer		2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Compensition per employee 1.6 1.4 1.5 0.2 0.1 0.4 0.4 0.1 Houry blacur costs (Eurostal labour cost index) 2.5 2.5 1.1 0.8 1.0 0.7 1.0 0.0 Negotated wages (euro area only) : : : : : 1.0 0.0 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0	Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensiton of employees per hour worked2.42.21.5-0.50.11.21.00.00.0Negritated wages (surb at labour costs0.80.80.7-1.0-0.90.5-1.0 <td< td=""><td>Compensation per employee</td><td>1.6</td><td>1.4</td><td>1.5</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.2</td><td>0.1</td><td>0.4</td><td>0.4</td><td>0.1</td></td<>	Compensation per employee	1.6	1.4	1.5	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.4	0.1
Houry beak resultNegatiated wages (auro area only)Image of the sector of the sec	Compensation of employees per hour worked	2.4	2.2	1.6	- 0.5	0.1	:	:	:	:
Nep discreta waves only:::.:: <t< td=""><td>Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)</td><td>2.5</td><td>2.1</td><td>2.5</td><td>1.1</td><td>0.8</td><td>1.0</td><td>0.7</td><td>1.0</td><td>0.6</td></t<>	Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	2.5	2.1	2.5	1.1	0.8	1.0	0.7	1.0	0.6
Nominal unit labour costs0.080.080.07-1.0-0.00.00.0-0.0	Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs definition-0.4-0.4-0.7-0.4-0.7-0.4-0.0-0.4-0.8 <th< td=""><td>Nominal unit labour costs</td><td>0.8</td><td>0.8</td><td>0.7</td><td>- 1.0</td><td>- 0.9</td><td>0.6</td><td>- 1.6</td><td>- 1.4</td><td>- 1.4</td></th<>	Nominal unit labour costs	0.8	0.8	0.7	- 1.0	- 0.9	0.6	- 1.6	- 1.4	- 1.4
Wages and salaries1.5-0.3-0.10.1-0.9-0.40.80.1 <td>Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator</td> <td>- 0.4</td> <td>- 0.7</td> <td>- 0.4</td> <td>- 1.7</td> <td>- 1.4</td> <td>- 0.2</td> <td>- 2.0</td> <td>- 1.7</td> <td>- 1.8</td>	Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 0.4	- 0.7	- 0.4	- 1.7	- 1.4	- 0.2	- 2.0	- 1.7	- 1.8
Compension per employee adjusted by total factor productivity:: <th< td=""><td>Wages and salaries</td><td>1.5</td><td>- 0.3</td><td>- 0.1</td><td>0.1</td><td>- 0.9</td><td>- 0.4</td><td>- 0.8</td><td>- 1.0</td><td>- 1.4</td></th<>	Wages and salaries	1.5	- 0.3	- 0.1	0.1	- 0.9	- 0.4	- 0.8	- 1.0	- 1.4
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market price)65.965.465.465.463.263.263.251.	Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Strature of indirect conts in total labour costs) ANNUAL72.72.773.73.75.8 <th75.8< th=""><th75.8< th="">75.875.8<!--</td--><td>Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)</td><td>65.9</td><td>65.4</td><td>65.4</td><td>64.2</td><td>63.4</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td></th75.8<></th75.8<>	Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	65.9	65.4	65.4	64.2	63.4	:	:	:	:
Share of indirect coxts intotal labour costs)22827.377.377.377.377.377.5	Structure of labour costs									
Total waye (as % of total labour cots)77.07.37.37.57	Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	22.8	22.7	22.7	22.5	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs) 2.22 2.23 2.20 2.18 2.1 <th2.1< th=""> 2.1 2.1</th2.1<>	Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	77.2	77.3	77.3	77.5	:	:	:	:	:
Engloyer' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs) 22. 22.1 22.0 21.8 ::	Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	64.2	64.2	64.3	65.5	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs) 0.7	Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	22.2	22.1	22.0	21.8	:	:	:	:	:
Memo item: according to which wave Jewe Jewe Jewe Jewe Jewe Jewe Jewe Je	Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	:	:	:	:	:
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)0.80.80.60.81.31.2-0.52.11.91.5Hourly labour productivity1.81.51.20.91.6::<	Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Hourly labour productivity1.81.51.20.91.61.1.11.51.1GDP1.20.1-0.21.61.0-0.51.81.51.1GDP definition (armonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)1.0-0.1-1.2-0.4-0.61.21.30.90.91.5Underlying inflation (accuding energy and unprocessed food)1.21.61.00.80.50.80.40.20.5Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costsSectoral breakdown of unit labour costsAgriculture and fishery-4.95.6-4.6-1.32.64.21.0-1.24.2Industry excluding construction0.90.8-1.5-3.7-3.2-1.0-4.3-2.9-4.2of which: mandfacturing0.51.5-3.7-3.2-1.0-4.3-2.9-4.2of which: mandfacturing0.51.52.01.10.80.91.0-0.7-3.2Trade, transport and communication-0.7-0.21.5-1.1-0.3-2.9-1.3-1.3Finance and business services1.61.81.90.00.00.00.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery-0.21.30.0-2.2-0.1-0.4-1.91.10.81.41.80.8Non-market-related services1.61.41.50.3-0.41.20.0 </td <td>Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)</td> <td>0.8</td> <td>0.6</td> <td>0.8</td> <td>1.3</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>- 0.5</td> <td>2.1</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>1.5</td>	Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.8	0.6	0.8	1.3	1.2	- 0.5	2.1	1.9	1.5
GDP 1.2 0.1 -0.2 1.6 1.0 -0.5 1.8 1.5 1.1 ECFIN NAIRU estimate 8.1 8.3 8.4 8.6 8.7 :<::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	Hourly labour productivity	1.8	1.5	1.2	0.9	1.6	:	:	:	:
ECFIN NAIRU estimate 8.1 8.3 8.4 8.6 8.7 ::	GDP	1.2	0.1	- 0.2	1.6	1.0	- 0.5	1.8	1.5	1.1
Output gap (%) 1.0 -0.1 -1.2 -0.4 -0.6 : ::<	ECFIN NAIRU estimate	8.1	8.3	8.4	8.6	8.7	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100):: <t< td=""><td>Output gap (%)</td><td>1.0</td><td>- 0.1</td><td>- 1.2</td><td>- 0.4</td><td>- 0.6</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td></t<>	Output gap (%)	1.0	- 0.1	- 1.2	- 0.4	- 0.6	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food) 1.2 1.6 0.9 1.6 1.0 1.3 0.9 0.9 1.1 GDP deflator 1.2 1.5 1.0 0.8 0.5 0.8 0.4 0.2 0.5 Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs -4.9 5.6 -4.6 -13.8 2.6 4.2 1.0 1.2 4.2 Industry excluding construction 0.9 0.8 -1.5 -3.7 -3.2 -1.0 -4.3 -2.9 -4.2 Of which: manufacturing 0.5 1.3 -1.6 -3.9 -7.3 : : : : : 1.2 1.6 0.3 1.4 6.9 -3.8 -3.7 -3.2 Inde, transport and communication -0.7 -0.2 1.5 2.0 1.1 0.8 9.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.	Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator 1.2 1.5 1.0 0.8 0.5 0.8 0.4 0.2 0.5 Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs <t< td=""><td>Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)</td><td>1.2</td><td>1.6</td><td>0.9</td><td>1.6</td><td>1.0</td><td>1.3</td><td>0.9</td><td>0.9</td><td>1.1</td></t<>	Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	1.2	1.6	0.9	1.6	1.0	1.3	0.9	0.9	1.1
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs Agriculture and fishery -4.9 5.6 -4.6 -13.8 2.6 4.2 1.0 1.2 4.2 Industry excluding construction 0.9 0.8 -1.5 -3.7 -3.2 -1.0 -4.3 -2.9 -4.2 of which: manufacturing 0.5 1.3 -1.6 -3.9 -7.3 :	GDP deflator	1.2	1.5	1.0	0.8	0.5	0.8	0.4	0.2	0.5
Actional breakdown of unit ratioal costs-4.95.6-4.6-1.3.82.64.21.01.24.2Industry excluding construction0.90.8-1.5-3.7-3.2-1.0-4.3-2.9-4.2of which: manufacturing0.51.3-1.6-3.9-7.3::	Soctoral broakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculate interior1.31.31.31.41.41.41.121.131.13 </td <td>Agriculture and fishery</td> <td>_49</td> <td>5.6</td> <td>-46</td> <td>- 13.8</td> <td>2.6</td> <td>4.2</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>1 2</td> <td>4.2</td>	Agriculture and fishery	_49	5.6	-46	- 13.8	2.6	4.2	1.0	1 2	4.2
Match ()1.31.31.41.41.51.41.51.41.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.51.61.71.61.81.71.11.81.81.71.81.81.71.81.81.71.81.81.71.81.81.71.11.71.11.71.11.8<	Industry excluding construction	0.9	0.8	- 1.5	- 3.7	- 3.2	- 1.0	- 4 3	- 2.9	- 4.2
Or Mind: Manufacturing 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.7 0.8 Trade, transport and communication -0.7 -0.2 1.5 -2.1 -1.5 -0.3 -2.2 -1.9 -1.3 Finance and business services 1.6 0.8 1.7 0.5 0.4 1.2 0.0 -0.4 : Market-related sectors 0.2 0.2 0.2 -2.0 -1.5 -0.1 -2.2 -1.7 -1.9 Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee .0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 1.0 0.0	of which: manufacturing	0.5	1 3	- 1.6	_ 3.9	-73		-,.J		
Trade, transport and communication-1.6-1.6-1.6-1.5-0.3-2.2-1.9-1.3Finance and business services1.61.52.01.10.80.91.00.70.8Non-market-related services1.60.81.70.50.41.20.0-0.4:Market-related services0.20.20.2-2.0-1.5-0.1-2.2-1.7-1.9Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee	Construction	1.0	-03	1.6	- 1 3	- 1 4	69	- 3.8	- 3 7	- 3.2
Indice Trance and business services1.01.	Trade transport and communication	- 0.7	- 0.2	1.5	- 2.1	- 1.5	- 0.3	- 2.2	- 1.9	- 1.3
Non-market-related services1.01.01.10.11.10.11.20.00.11.20.00.11.20.00.11.20.00.11.20.00.11.9Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee1.61.41.50.30.20.20.20.20.20.00.00.00.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery-0.21.30.0-2.22.11.20.81.41.80.8of which: manufacturing1.81.72.12.01.71.20.81.41.80.8of which: manufacturing1.81.72.12.01.71.21.80.30.01.00.00.0Trade, transport and communication1.61.01.4-1.00.70.51.01.00.8Finance and business services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity1.30.43.86.29.7-1.3-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2Gorishich: man	Finance and business services	1.6	1.5	2.0	1.1	0.8	0.9	1.0	0.7	0.8
Market-related sectors 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 1	Non-market-related services	1.6	0.8	1.7	0.5	0.4	1.2	0.0	- 0.4	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee1.61.41.50.30.20.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery-0.21.30.0-2.2-0.2-0.6-0.5-0.10.9Industry excluding construction1.91.52.22.11.20.81.41.80.8of which: manufacturing1.81.72.10.3-0.4-0.1-0.30.00.00.0Trade, transport and communication1.61.81.90.3-0.4-1.4-0.10.00.8Non-market-related services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Agriculture and fishery5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.80.5-3.1-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.43.86.29.71.51.71.4-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.43.86.29.71.51.51.71.4-1.51.51.71.4-1.51.51.51.51.71.40.11.5	Market-related sectors	0.2	0.2	0.2	- 2.0	- 1.5	- 0.1	- 2.2	- 1.7	- 1.9
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employeeTotal industries1.61.41.50.30.20.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery-0.21.30.0-2.2-0.2-0.6-0.5-0.10.9Industry excluding construction1.91.52.22.11.20.81.41.80.8of which: manufacturing1.81.72.12.01.71.4-0.1-0.30.0Toade, transport and communication1.61.81.90.3-0.41.4-0.10.30.0Toade, transport and communication1.61.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:1Agriculture and fishery5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.3-2.0:1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7:::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.3Industry excluding construction0.62.10.31.61.01.83.93.53.3Industry excluding construction0.62.10.31.61.01.43.9										
Total industries1.61.41.50.30.20.00.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery-0.21.30.0-2.2-0.2-0.6-0.5-0.10.9Industry excluding construction1.91.52.22.11.20.81.41.80.8of which: manufacturing1.81.72.12.01.71.1.4-0.1-0.30.0Trade, transport and communication1.61.81.90.3-0.4-1.4-0.1-0.30.0Finance and business services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7:::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.3of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7:::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.33.3Trade, transport	Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Agriculture and fishery-0.21.30.0-2.2-0.2-0.6-0.5-0.10.9Industry excluding construction1.91.52.22.11.20.81.41.80.8of which: manufacturing1.81.72.12.01.7::::::Construction1.61.81.90.3-0.4-1.4-0.1-0.30.0Trade, transport and communication1.61.01.4-1.00.70.51.01.00.8Finance and business services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7::::::Construction0.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2.5 <td>Total industries</td> <td>1.6</td> <td>1.4</td> <td>1.5</td> <td>0.3</td> <td>0.2</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td>	Total industries	1.6	1.4	1.5	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Industry excluding construction1.91.52.22.11.20.81.41.80.8of which: manufacturing1.81.72.12.01.7::::::Construction1.61.81.90.3-0.4-1.4-0.1-0.30.0Trade, transport and communication1.61.01.4-1.00.70.51.01.00.8Finance and business services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7:::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.3Trade, transport and communication2.21.3-0.11.12.20.73.23.02.1Finance and business services-0.10.2-0.6-1.10.1-0.40.30.40.1Non-market-related services-0.50.9-0.6-1.10.1-0.40.30.40.1Non-market-rel	Agriculture and fishery	- 0.2	1.3	0.0	- 2.2	- 0.2	- 0.6	- 0.5	- 0.1	0.9
of which: manufacturing1.81.72.12.01.71::<	Industry excluding construction	1.9	1.5	2.2	2.1	1.2	0.8	1.4	1.8	0.8
Construction1.61.81.90.3-0.4-1.4-0.1-0.30.0Trade, transport and communication1.61.01.4-1.00.70.51.01.00.8Finance and business services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivityAgriculture and fishery5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7::::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.33.3Trade, transport and communication2.21.3-0.11.12.20.73.23.02.1Finance and business services-0.10.2-0.6-1.10.1-0.40.30.40.1Non-market-related services-0.50.9-0.6-0.4-1.6-1.7-1.2-1.7-1.9Market-related sectors1.61.11.52.42.40.63.42.92.7	of which: manufacturing	1.8	1.7	2.1	2.0	1.7	:	:	:	:
Irade, transport and communication1.61.01.4-1.00.70.51.01.00.8Finance and business services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivityAgriculture and fishery5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7:::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.3Trade, transport and communication2.21.3-0.11.12.20.73.23.02.1Finance and business services-0.10.2-0.6-1.10.1-0.40.30.40.1Non-market-related services-0.50.9-0.6-0.4-1.6-1.7-1.2-1.7-1.9Narket-related sectors1.61.11.52.42.40.63.42.92.7	Construction	1.6	1.8	1.9	0.3	- 0.4	- 1.4	- 0.1	- 0.3	0.0
Finance and business services1.51.71.40.00.90.51.31.10.9Non-market-related services1.11.71.10.1-1.2-0.6-1.3-2.0:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivityAgriculture and fishery5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7::::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.33.3Trade, transport and communication2.21.3-0.11.12.20.73.23.02.1Finance and business services-0.10.2-0.6-1.10.1-0.40.30.40.1Non-market-related services-0.50.9-0.6-0.4-1.6-1.7-1.2-1.7-1.9Market-related sectors1.61.11.52.42.40.63.42.92.7	Irade, transport and communication	1.6	1.0	1.4	- 1.0	0.7	0.5	1.0	1.0	0.8
Non-market-related services 1.1 1.7 1.1 0.1 -1.2 -0.6 -1.3 -2.0 : Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity 5.0 -4.0 4.8 13.5 -2.7 -4.6 -1.5 -1.3 -3.1 Industry excluding construction 1.0 0.6 3.7 6.0 4.5 1.8 6.0 4.8 5.2 of which: manufacturing 1.3 0.4 3.8 6.2 9.7 : <td< td=""><td>Finance and business services</td><td>1.5</td><td>1.7</td><td>1.4</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.9</td><td>0.5</td><td>1.3</td><td>1.1</td><td>0.9</td></td<>	Finance and business services	1.5	1.7	1.4	0.0	0.9	0.5	1.3	1.1	0.9
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity 5.0 -4.0 4.8 13.5 -2.7 -4.6 -1.5 -1.3 -3.1 Agriculture and fishery 1.0 0.6 3.7 6.0 4.5 1.8 6.0 4.8 5.2 Industry excluding construction 1.0 0.6 3.7 6.0 4.5 1.8 6.0 4.8 5.2 of which: manufacturing 1.3 0.4 3.8 6.2 9.7 :	Non-market-related services	1.1	1.7	1.1	0.1	- 1.2	- 0.6	- 1.3	- 2.0	:
Agriculture and fishery5.0-4.04.813.5-2.7-4.6-1.5-1.3-3.1Industry excluding construction1.00.63.76.04.51.86.04.85.2of which: manufacturing1.30.43.86.29.7:::::Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.3Trade, transport and communication2.21.3-0.11.12.20.73.23.02.1Finance and business services-0.10.2-0.6-1.10.1-1.40.40.40.4Non-market-related services-0.50.9-0.6-0.4-1.6-1.7-1.2-1.7-1.9Market-related sectors1.61.11.52.42.40.63.42.92.7	Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Industry excluding construction 1.0 0.6 3.7 6.0 4.5 1.8 6.0 4.8 5.2 of which: manufacturing 1.3 0.4 3.8 6.2 9.7 : : : : Construction 0.6 2.1 0.3 1.6 1.0 -7.8 3.9 3.5 3.3 Trade, transport and communication 2.2 1.3 -0.1 1.1 2.2 0.7 3.2 3.0 2.1 Finance and business services -0.1 0.2 -0.6 -1.1 0.1 -0.4 0.3 0.4 0.1 Non-market-related services -0.5 0.9 -0.6 -0.4 -1.6 -1.7 -1.2 -1.7 -1.9 Market-related sectors 1.6 1.1 1.5 2.4 2.4 0.6 3.4 2.9 2.7	Agriculture and fishery	5.0	- 4.0	4.8	13.5	- 2.7	- 4.6	- 1.5	- 1.3	- 3.1
of which: manufacturing 1.3 0.4 3.8 6.2 9.7 :	Industry excluding construction	1.0	0.6	3.7	6.0	4.5	1.8	6.0	4.8	5.2
Construction0.62.10.31.61.0-7.83.93.53.3Trade, transport and communication2.21.3-0.11.12.20.73.23.02.1Finance and business services-0.10.2-0.6-1.10.1-0.40.30.40.1Non-market-related services-0.50.9-0.6-0.4-1.6-1.7-1.2-1.7-1.9Market-related sectors1.61.11.52.42.40.63.42.92.7	of which: manufacturing	1.3	0.4	3.8	6.2	9.7	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication 2.2 1.3 -0.1 1.1 2.2 0.7 3.2 3.0 2.1 Finance and business services -0.1 0.2 -0.6 -1.1 0.1 -0.4 0.3 0.4 0.1 Non-market-related services -0.5 0.9 -0.6 -0.4 -1.6 -1.7 -1.2 -1.7 -1.9 Market-related sectors 1.6 1.1 1.5 2.4 2.4 0.6 3.4 2.9 2.7	Construction	0.6	2.1	0.3	1.6	1.0	- 7.8	3.9	3.5	3.3
Finance and business services -0.1 0.2 -0.6 -1.1 0.1 -0.4 0.3 0.4 0.1 Non-market-related services -0.5 0.9 -0.6 -0.4 -1.6 -1.7 -1.2 -1.7 -1.9 Market-related sectors 1.6 1.1 1.5 2.4 2.4 0.6 3.4 2.9 2.7	Trade, transport and communication	2.2	1.3	- 0.1	1.1	2.2	0.7	3.2	3.0	2.1
Non-market-related services -0.5 0.9 -0.6 -0.4 -1.6 -1.7 -1.2 -1.7 -1.9 Market-related sectors 1.6 1.1 1.5 2.4 2.4 0.6 3.4 2.9 2.7	Finance and business services	- 0.1	0.2	- 0.6	- 1.1	0.1	- 0.4	0.3	0.4	0.1
Market-related sectors 1.6 1.1 1.5 2.4 2.4 0.6 3.4 2.9 2.7	Non-market-related services	- 0.5	0.9	- 0.6	- 0.4	- 1.6	- 1.7	- 1.2	- 1.7	- 1.9
	Market-related sectors	1.6	1.1	1.5	2.4	2.4	0.6	3.4	2.9	2.7

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Estonia

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	1 361	1 356	1 350	1 349	1 343	- 0.4	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	916	913	911	910	910	0.0	%
as % of total population	67.3	67.3	67.5	67.4	67.7	0.3	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	641	632	639	636	638	0.3	%
Male	328	325	326	322	319	- 0.9	%
Female	313	307	313	314	319	1.4	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	70.0	69.3	70.1	70.0	70.1	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	36.5	34.2	37.1	34.8	34.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	86.3	85.4	85.7	86.5	86.1	- 0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	53.0	20.9	75.0	20.0	20.9	3.3	p.p.
Voung (15.24)	/4.0	/4./	/3.0	/4.4	20.7	- 0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25.54)	42.1	40.2	43.2	41.4	29.7 20.7	- 1.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	62.2	64.1	64.5	60.9	62.9	2.0	p.p.
	65.5	64.3	65.7	65.9	66.9	0.9	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24)	30.1	28.0	30.8	27.8	29.8	2.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	82.8	80.9	82.1	83.2	83.3	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	45.8	49.9	50.3	51.6	55.9	4.3	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	61.0	62.0	62.9	63.1	64.5	1.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	28.0	28.1	29.2	27.1	29.1	2.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	76.0	76.8	77.8	78.8	79.5	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	48.5	51.6	52.3	52.4	56.2	3.8	p.p.
Male	65.0	66.5	67.3	66.4	67.0	0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	33.9	34.5	35.9	32.8	33.1	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	78.7	80.2	81.0	81.6	81.9	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	57.0	58.3	58.6	56.3	59.4	3.1	p.p.
Female	57.4	57.9	59.0	59.9	62.0	2.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	21.8	21.5	22.6	21.8	25.1	3.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	73.5	73.5	74.9	76.3	77.4	1.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	42.4	46.7	47.4	49.6	53.6	4.0	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	559	566	5/3	574	587	13	Th.
Male (as % of total)	51.0	51.1	51.0	50.2	49.6	- 0.6	p.p.
7 Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	49.1	48.9	49.0	49.8	2.0	0.6	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (IES age 15-64)	0.0	1.5	1.5	0.0	2.0		p.p.
Male	1.2	1.2	1.5	- 1.6	2.5		p.p.
Female	0.6	0.8	1.5	1.7	3.4		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	4.7	4.7	5.6	6.0	5.0	- 0.9	p.p.
Male	6.4	6.2	7.4	7.7	6.9	- 0.9	D.D.
Female	2.8	3.1	3.8	4.3	3.4	- 0.9	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	2.5	2.7	2.5	2.6	2.7	0.1	p.p.
Male	3.3	4.0	3.3	3.5	3.9	0.4	p.p.
Female	2.2	2.1	2.5	2.2	2.2	0.1	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	7.3	6.9	7.3	6.9	6.6	- 0.2	p.p.
Male	4.8	4.6	5.0	4.8	4.1	- 0.7	p.p.
Female	10.0	9.2	9.7	9.1	9.0	- 0.1	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	12.4	10.3	10.0	9.7	7.9	- 1.8	p.p.
Young (15-24)	23.3	17.9	21.1	22.1	16.2	- 5.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	11.9	10.1	9.3	8.8	7.6	– 1.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	8.6	7.7	6.9	5.7	4.6	- 1.1	p.p.
Male	12.6	10.8	10.2	10.4	8.8	- 1.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	19.4	14.2	17.0	20.8	16.6	- 4.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	12.7	10.9	9.5	9.4	8.2	- 1.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	8.3	9.0	9.1	/./	5./	- 2.0	p.p.
Female Young (15-24)	12.2	9.7	9.9	0.9 21.6	15.7	- 1.8	p.p.
Prime age (25.54)	27.0	23.4	20.0	21.0	7.0	- 5.9	p.p.
Older (55-64)	7.5	5.1	5.8	4.0	/.0	- 1.3	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	1.5	0.4	5.0	4.0	4.2	0.2	ρ.ρ.
(as % of total unemployment)	48.0	51.9	46.3	52.5	53.5	1.1	pp
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	40.2	40.1	39.7	39.8	39.9	0.3	%
Male	41.7	41.4	41.3	41.3	41.3	0.0	%
Female	38.6	38.6	38.0	38.2	38.5	0.7	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	- 3.0	1.8	- 9.7	- 5.3	- 7.0		p.p.
Building and construction	- 1.5	- 1.0	10.2	7.8	2.6		p.p.
Services	1.9	4.1	0.8	- 3.4	4.6		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	3.6	- 4.3	4.5	5.0	- 1.3		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Estonia

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	7.8	10.4	10.3	11.1	11.7	9.8	9.9	12.6	15.1
Compensation of employees per hour worked	9.2	10.2	9.3	9.5	13.2	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	12.7	12.6	9.1	6.5	10.7	9.3	10.7	9.0	13.9
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	2.1	4.2	4.9	3.0	3.7	3.3	2.4	4.1	5.8
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 3.3	- 0.1	2.8	0.0	- 2.3	- 0.4	- 3.3	- 3.8	- 0.8
Wages and salaries	1.3	9.1	6.5	12.6	14.5	16.4	12.6	12.7	16.3
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	56.9	57.0	58.6	58.1	57.7	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	26.9	27.2	26.9	26.7	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	73.1	72.8	73.1	73.3	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	25.5	25.8	25.4	25.3	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.4	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	5.6	5.9	5.2	7.8	7.7	6.3	7.3	8.1	8.8
Hourly labour productivity	6.0	5.6	5.1	7.2	7.1	:	:	:	:
GDP	6.5	7.2	6.7	7.8	9.8	7.2	9.9	10.6	11.1
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	11.0	11.1	10.5	9.7	8.7	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	- 0.9	- 0.5	- 1.1	- 0.9	0.4	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	4.6	2.6	1.8	2.5	2.6	3.2	2.4	2.3	2.5
GDP deflator	5.6	4.4	2.1	3.1	6.2	3./	5.9	8.2	6.6
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	14.2	5.9	- 0.2	11.3	4.3	22.8	- 4.2	- 10.0	5.9
Industry excluding construction	1.4	2.3	1.9	0.6	0.5	- 2.1	1.9	1.1	1.0
of which: manufacturing	3.6	3.9	1.3	0.6	- 0.1	- 0.8	1.9	- 0.2	- 0.5
Construction	9.9	- 13.3	15.4	7.5	10.6	10.5	- 0.6	7.2	10.7
Trade, transport and communication	- 4.6	0.7	2.6	0.7	2.8	0.9	1.8	3.9	5.7
Finance and business services	11.5	12.7	9.7	4.6	5.6	7.6	4.0	5.2	14.6
Non-market-related services	3.6	9.0	11.5	8.2	6.6	6.6	3.4	:	:
Market-related sectors	2.6	3.0	3.9	2.1	3.8	2.8	2.8	3.4	5.4
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	8.0	10.3	10.3	11.1	11.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	13.1	2.7	7.3	19.8	8.4	11.8	- 18.1	1.5	43.7
Industry excluding construction	10.1	21.0	7.9	2.4	13.7	7.0	16.6	17.2	14.9
of which: manufacturing	10.5	23.7	7.1	6.0	13.5	11.0	13.6	17.3	12.6
Construction	14.8	7.2	11.0	10.9	20.2	23.6	7.5	23.1	14.5
Trade, transport and communication	4.1	3.5	14.8	11.8	8.1	3.1	6.0	12.1	11.3
Finance and business services	27.1	0.8	15.8	28.9	5.6	2.6	12.9	- 4.3	16.8
Non-market-related services	- 0.2	10.2	7.7	12.0	10.1	16.5	6.6	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 1.0	- 3.0	7.5	7.6	3.9	- 9.0	- 14.5	12.8	35.7
Industry excluding construction	8.6	18.3	5.9	1.8	13.1	9.3	14.4	15.9	13.7
of which: manufacturing	6.7	19.1	5.7	5.4	13.6	11.8	11.5	17.6	13.2
Construction	4.5	23.7	- 3.8	3.2	8.7	11.9	8.2	14.8	3.4
Trade, transport and communication	9.1	2.8	11.9	11.0	5.1	2.1	4.2	7.8	5.3
Finance and business services	14.0	- 10.6	5.6	23.2	0.0	- 4.7	8.6	- 9.0	1.9
Non-market-related services	- 3.7	1.2	- 3.3	3.5	3.4	9.3	3.2	1.8	0.6
Market-related sectors	8.1	7.2	7.1	8.4	8.1	4.5	7.9	10.0	10.2

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Greece

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	10 504	10 542	10 578	10 616	10 657	0.4	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	7 100	7 111	7 119	7 129	7 132	0.0	%
as % of total population	67.6	67.5	67.3	67.2	66.9	- 0.2	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	4 492	4 566	4 640	4 740	4 763	0.5	%
Male	2 714	2 739	2 771	2 801	2 811	0.3	%
Female	1 778	1 827	1 870	1 939	1 952	0.7	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	63.3	64.2	65.2	66.5	66.8	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	36.5	36.2	34.7	36.7	33./	- 3.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	77.8	/8.8	/9.8	81.1 41.2	81.5	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)		40.9	42.7	79.0	43.2	2.0	p.p.
Voung (15-24)	20.2	20.3	78.3	/ 9.0	37.0	- 3.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	94.1	94.1	94.3	94.6	94.6	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	57.8	58.2	60.5	58.9	60.8	1.9	p.p.
Female	49.7	51.0	52.2	54.1	54.5	0.4	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24)	33.8	33.1	31.2	33.5	30.5	- 3.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	61.6	63.4	65.2	67.5	68.2	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	23.9	25.2	26.4	25.2	27.1	1.9	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	56.3	57.5	58.7	59.4	60.1	0.7	p.p.
Young (15-24)	26.3	26.5	25.3	26.8	25.0	- 1.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	70.6	71.6	72.9	73.5	74.0	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	38.3	39.2	41.3	39.5	41.6	2.1	p.p.
Male	71.4	72.3	73.4	73.7	74.2	0.5	p.p.
Young (15-24)	30.7	31.4	30.9	32.4	30.1	- 2.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	88.5	88.7	89.2	89.3	89.5	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	55.3	55.9	58.7	56.4	58.7	2.4	p.p.
Female	41.5	42.9	44.3	45.2	46.1	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24)	21.7	21.4	19.7	21.3	19.8	- 1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	52.8	54.5	56.4	57.5	58.4	0.9	p.p.
Older (55-64)	22.8	24.0	25.6	24.0	25.9	1.9	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	3 999	4 087	4 182	4 235	4 287	52	Th.
Male (as % of total)	62.9	62.4	62.1	61.7	61.5	- 0.2	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	37.1	37.6	37.9	38.3	38.5	0.2	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	- 0.3	0.1	1.3	2.9	1.4		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	0.1	2.2	2.3	1.3	1.2		p.p.
Male	0.2	1.4	1.8	0.7	0.9		p.p.
Female	- 0.2	3.5	3.2	2.2	1.8	0.2	p.p.
8. Sell employed (% of total employment)	22.5	25.0	23.0	21.7	21.5	- 0.2	p.p.
Fomolo	25.0	20.1	20.2	16.6	24.0	- 0.5	p.p.
9 Temporary employment (as % total)	17.0	17.5	17.8	12.0	11.0	- 0.1	p.p.
S. Temporary employment (as % total)	11.6	10.5	9.7	10.5	10.1	- 0.1	p.p.
Female	11.0	13.6	13.7	14.1	14.3	0.4	p.p.
10 Part-time (as % of total employment)	3.8	4.2	4.0	4.1	4.5	0.2	p.p.
Male	2.0	2.0	1.9	2.0	2.1	0.1	p.p.
Female	6.9	7.8	7.5	8.2	9.0	0.8	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	10.8	10.3	9.7	10.5	9.8	- 0.7	p.p.
Young (15-24)	28.2	26.9	26.9	26.9	26.0	- 0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	9.3	9.1	8.7	9.5	9.1	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	4.1	4.1	3.2	4.3	3.8	- 0.5	p.p.
Male	7.3	6.8	6.2	6.6	6.1	- 0.5	p.p.
Young (15-24)	21.7	20.0	18.8	19.2	18.8	- 0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	5.9	5.8	5.4	5.6	5.4	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	4.3	3.9	3.1	4.2	3.3	- 0.9	p.p.
Female	16.2	15.6	15.0	16.2	15.3	- 0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24)	35.8	35.2	36.8	36.5	34.9	– 1.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	14.4	14.0	13.5	14.8	14.3	- 0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	4.6	4.6	3.2	4.9	4.4	- 0.5	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate		F1 4		50.0	F0.4		
(as % of total unemployment)	51.5	51.4	55.0	53.2	52.1	- 1.1	p.p.
15. worked nours (average actual weekly hours)	42.2	41.8	41.9	41.9	41.9	0.2	%
Male	43.8 20 F	43.4	43.5	43.0	43.8	0.3	%
14 Sectoral employment growth	39.5	39.0	39.1	39.0	30.9	- 0.3	70
Agriculture	_ 5.0	-36	_ 3.0	_ 2 0			nn
Building and construction	- 5.0	- 3.0	- 5.0	- 2.0	•		p.p.
Sarvicas	0.9	1 <u>4</u>	2.7	6.6			p.p.
Manufacturing industry	- 0.3	- 3.1	- 2.5	- 1 1	- 1.5		p.p.
	0.5	5.1	2.5		1.5		-ч.ч

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Greece

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	5.7	10.0	4.6	5.8	6.1	:	:	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	7.3	8.5	5.6	10.7	5.9	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	6.0	7.1	2.7	8.9	:	3.3	:	:	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	0.2	6.0	1.2	4.0	3.8	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 1.6	2.1	- 2.2	0.6	0.0	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	65.5	66.6	64.6	64.6	64.5	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	22.5	21.9	21.2	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	77.5	78.1	78.8	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	70.8	71.3	71.7	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	22.5	22.1	21.7	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	0.1	- 0.1	- 0.3	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	5.4	3.7	3.4	1.7	2.2	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour productivity	5.2	3.7	3.4	3.0	2.0	:	:	:	:
GDP	5.1	3.8	4.8	4.7	3.7	:	:	:	:
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	9.8	9.8	9.6	9.9	9.7	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	0.0	0.2	1.0	1.9	1.9	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	3.8	3.9	3.1	3.4	3.2	3.6	3.1	3.1	3.0
GDP deflator	1.8	3.8	3.5	3.4	3.7	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	10.7	12.6	7.1	8.6	14.3	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	- 0.4	1.5	- 1.3	7.6	1.1	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	1.6	1.4	- 0.8	9.1	3.4	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 7.9	9.9	3.5	6.4	13.8	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	- 5.0	4.1	2.7	1.8	8.3	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	4.9	10.8	2.4	7.9	0.2	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	1.9	4.2	2.9	7.5	1.0	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	3.8	9.9	4.4	5.3	1.5	:	:	:	:
Agriculture and fishery	11.5	14.6	6.2	11.1	10.1	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	3.2	7.5	5.0	6.6	2.4	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	5.3	7.3	5.3	8.7	6.0	:	:	:	:
Construction	3.9	6.9	5.2	6.9	1.7	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	3.2	7.1	5.3	4.8	2.6	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	2.0	10.9	2.0	4.5	0.0	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	3.9	11.4	4.1	2.2	5.4	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	0.7	18	-08	23	-37				
Industry excluding construction	3.7	5.9	6.3	- 0.9	1.3	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	3.6	5.8	6.2	- 0.4	2.5	:	:	:	:
Construction	12.8	- 2.8	1.7	0.5	- 10.7	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	8.6	2.8	2.5	2.9	- 5.3	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	- 2.8	0.1	- 0.4	- 3.2	- 0.2	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	1.9	7.0	1.2	- 4.9	4.4	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	5.9	2.9	3.0	1.3	- 2.8	:	:	:	:

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons

0	•
- Nn	oin
$\sim r$	*****
_	

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers	40 427	41 063	41 753	42 440	43 142	1.7	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	27 742	28 231	28 729	29 227	29 755	1.8	%
as % of total population	68.6	68.8	68.8	68.9	69.0	0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	17 942	18 681	19 428	20 073	20 743	3.3	%
Mal	e 10 905	11 225	11 558	11 834	12 155	2.7	%
Female	e /03/	/ 456	/ 8/0	8 239	8 588	4.2	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	04.7	00.2 42.7	07.0	00.7	09.7 17.7	1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 76.6	78.2	79.6	4J.2 80.6	47.7 80.9	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64) 41.9	42.7	43.8	44.4	45.9	1.5	p.p.
Mal	78.4	79.1	79.9	80.4	80.9	0.6	D.D.
Young (15-24) 48.2	48.8	49.5	50.2	52.3	2.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 91.7	92.1	92.5	92.5	92.4	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64) 61.2	62.1	62.9	62.7	63.2	0.5	p.p.
Femal	e 50.9	53.1	55.1	56.8	58.3	1.5	p.p.
Young (15-24) 37.7	38.5	39.2	39.8	42.9	3.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 61.3	64.1	66.5	68.3	69.0	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64) 23.7	24.4	25.7	27.2	29.7	2.5	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	57.8	58.5	59.8	61.1	63.3	2.2	p.p.
Young (15-24) 34.0	34.0	34.4	35.2	38.3	3.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	ן (5.5 סבר (70.2	/ 1.4	/2./	/4.4	1./	p.p.
01der (55-64	, 39.2 77 c	59.0 72.6	72.0	72.8	45.1	1.9	p.p.
Voung (15-24) 40.2	39.7	39.9	<u>40 8</u>	/J.Z 	2.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 85.9	85.7	85.9	86.1	86.9	0.8	p.p.
Older (55-64) 57.7	58.4	59.2	58.9	59.7	0.8	p.p.
Femal	43.1	44.4	46.3	48.3	51.2	2.9	D.D.
Young (15-24) 27.5	28.0	28.6	29.3	32.8	3.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 52.9	54.4	56.6	58.9	61.5	2.6	р.р.
Older (55-64) 21.7	22.0	23.3	24.6	27.4	2.8	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	16 039	16 527	17 188	17 861	18 834	973	Th.
Male (as % of total) 62.8	62.3	61.6	60.8	60.0	- 0.9	p.p.
Female (as % of total) 37.2	37.7	38.4	39.2	40.0	0.9	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	3.2	2.4	2.6	2.6	3.6		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	4.2	3.0	4.0	3.9	5.4		p.p.
IVIdi Eomol	2 3.4 5 5 5	2.2	2.8	2.7	4.0		p.p.
8 Self employed (% of total employment)	2 3.3	4.5	11 1	11.0	11.7	0.2	p.p.
Malu	- 14.0	13.4	12.6	12.6	12.8	0.2	p.p.
Femal	9.7	8.9	8.7	8.6	8.9	0.3	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	32.3	31.9	31.8	32.5	33.4	0.9	D.D.
Male	e 30.7	29.9	30.0	30.6	31.7	1.1	p.p.
Femal	e 34.7	34.9	34.6	35.2	35.7	0.5	р.р.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	7.9	7.9	8.1	8.7	12.2	3.5	p.p.
Male	e 2.7	2.5	2.5	2.7	4.3	1.6	p.p.
Female	e 16.7	16.8	17.0	17.9	24.0	6.1	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	10.3	11.1	11.1	10.7	9.2	- 1.5	p.p.
Young (15-24) 21.1	22.3	22.7	22.0	19.7	- 2.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 9.3	10.3	10.3	9.8	8.0	- 1.8	p.p.
Older (55-64) 6.4	/.3	/.0	/.1	6.1	- 1.0	p.p.
Main Vourse (15.24	- /.5	0.1 19 F	0.Z	8.U	16.7	- 1.0	p.p.
Toung (15-24 Prime age (25-54) 64	6.9	7 1	6.9	50.7	- 1.0	р.р. р.р.
Older (55-64) 5.7	6.0	5.9	6.0	5.0	- 0.6	p.p.
Femal	, <u> </u>	15.7	15.3	14.5	12.2	- 2.3	p.p.
Young (15-24) 26.9	27.3	27.0	26.4	23.4	- 2.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 13.7	15.1	14.9	13.8	10.9	- 2.9	p.p.
Older (55-64) 8.3	10.1	9.4	9.4	7.5	- 1.9	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment) 36.1	33.7	33.7	32.0	24.5	- 7.5	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	38.7	38.5	38.4	38.2	38.6	1.0	%
Mal	e 40.5	40.3	40.2	40.2	41.3	2.7	%
Female Female	e 35.4	35.5	35.3	35.1	34.6	- 1.4	%
14. Sectoral employment growth		0.0	A /	0.4	0.7		
Agriculture Puilding and construction	- 0.9	0.9	0.4	- 0.1	0.7		p.p.
Building and construction	· 9.4	7.2	2.0	0.1	9.2 2 /		p.p.
Manufacturing industr	/ 16	2.5	- 0.9	-10	0.4		p.p.
	1.5	0.7	0.5	1.0	0.7		р.р.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Spain

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	3.6	3.3	3.3	3.3	2.1	0.6	3.3	2.5	3.2
Compensation of employees per hour worked	4.2	4.0	4.0	3.8	3.1	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	5.6	5.3	4.8	4.0	3.7	3.9	3.9	3.4	3.2
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	3.3	3.0	2.9	2.8	2.3	1.4	2.2	2.8	2.7
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 0.9	- 1.4	- 1.0	- 1.2	- 2.1	- 2.9	- 2.1	- 1.6	- 1.7
Wages and salaries	3.8	3.9	2.7	3.4	2.5	1.7	3.1	2.1	3.2
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	64.5	63.7	63.3	62.8	61.8	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	26.3	26.3	26.4	26.6	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	73.7	73.7	73.6	73.4	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	24.6	25.0	25.0	24.9	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.7	1.2	1.4	1.7	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.5	- 0.1	- 0.8	1.1	- 0.3	0.5
Hourly labour productivity	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.8	0.5	:	:	:	:
GDP	3.5	2.7	3.0	3.1	3.4	2.2	4.3	3.2	3.9
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	12.0	11.4	10.7	10.0	9.3	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	2.3	1.3	0.4	- 0.2	- 0.5	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	2.6	3.9	3.0	2.8	2.7	2.8	2.6	2.5	2.8
GDP deflator	4.2	4.4	4.0	4.1	4.4	4.4	4.3	4.5	4.4
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	2.0	0.4	0.7	1.9	2.3	- 6.9	1.4	5.6	7.4
Industry excluding construction	1.9	1.6	2.4	2.3	2.0	3.5	2.4	1.1	1.0
of which: manufacturing	2.9	2.0	2.0	2.5	3.1	:	:	:	:
Construction	4.9	4.9	5.3	4.7	4.9	5.6	4.7	3.8	5.5
Trade, transport and communication	4.5	4.0	3.4	3.9	0.7	1.6	0.6	1.0	- 0.3
Finance and business services	3.3	3.2	2.1	0.7	2.2	1.8	2.2	1.5	3.3
Non-market-related services	2.7	2.9	3.7	3.1	2.9	4.0	2.9	3.9	:
Market-related sectors	3.5	3.3	3.1	2.9	2.2	2.9	2.3	1.7	2.0
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	3.6	3.3	3.3	3.3	2.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	1.5	- 0.2	0.2	0.8	0.8	- 10.9	0.2	5.3	6.9
Industry excluding construction	3.2	3.3	4.2	3.9	2.5	1.8	2.9	2.2	2.9
of which: manufacturing	3.3	3.3	4.1	3.9	3.3	:	:	:	:
Construction	4.0	4.0	4.3	3.7	1.4	0.0	2.1	1.0	2.2
Trade, transport and communication	4.0	3.3	2.7	2.9	2.2	0.3	2.6	2.7	2.8
Finance and business services	3.6	2.5	2.0	2.5	2.8	2.4	4.0	2.8	1.9
Non-market-related services	3.5	4.0	4.0	4.0	2.7	2.5	2.9	3.1	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 0.4	- 0.5	- 0.5	- 1.1	- 1.4	- 4.3	- 1.2	- 0.2	- 0.5
Industry excluding construction	1.3	1.7	1.7	1.5	0.5	- 1.6	0.6	1.2	1.9
of which: manufacturing	0.5	1.3	2.1	1.3	0.2	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 0.9	- 3.3	- 5.2	- 2.4	- 2.7	- 3.2
Trade, transport and communication	- 0.5	- 0.7	- 0.6	- 1.0	1.4	- 1.2	2.0	1.7	3.2
Finance and business services	0.3	- 0.6	- 0.1	1.7	0.6	0.6	1.7	1.3	- 1.3
Non-market-related services	0.7	1.0	0.3	0.8	- 0.2	- 1.5	0.0	- 0.8	1.1
Market-related sectors	0.1	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.3	- 2.3	0.2	0.3	0.4

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons

F	ran	ce
F	ran	ce

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (¹)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers. 5	7 616	57 908	58 509	58 850	59 224	0.6	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64) 3	7 619	37 787	38 184	38 451	38 683	0.6	%
as % of total population	65.3	65.3	65.3	65.3	65.3	0.0	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers. 2	5 814	26 060	26 514	26 736	26 882	0.5	%
Male 1	3 968	14 103	14 248	14 305	14 335	0.2	%
Female 1	1 846	11 957	12 267	12 432	12 548	0.9	%
4. Activity rate (as % or population 15-64)	00.0	69.0	09.4	09.5	09.5	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	86.1	86.1	86.2	86.5	86.7	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	32.6	35.6	38.8	39.6	40.0	0.5	p.p.
Male	75.1	75.5	75.5	75.3	75.1	- 0.2	D.D.
Young (15-24)	39.2	41.0	42.1	42.5	42.5	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	94.0	93.9	93.5	93.5	93.5	0.0	р.р.
Older (55-64)	36.9	40.5	43.2	43.5	43.1	- 0.3	p.p.
Female	62.3	62.6	63.5	63.9	64.1	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	32.3	32.7	34.1	34.4	34.3	- 0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	78.4	78.6	79.2	79.8	80.2	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	28.5	31.0	34.6	35.9	37.1	1.3	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	62.7	62.9	63.3	63.1	63.1	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	29.3	29.9	30.6	30.4	30.1	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	79.4	79.4	79.5	79.6	/9.8	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	30.7	33./	36.8	37.3	37.9	0.6	p.p.
Male Young (15.24)	22.0	09.0	24.0	24.0	22.0	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	88.3	87.6	34.0 87.1	86.9	87.0	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	34.9	38.1	40.9	41.0	40.7	-03	p.p.
Eemale	55.7	56.4	57.3	57.4	57.6	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	25.7	25.9	27.1	26.7	26.3	- 0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	70.8	71.5	72.0	72.5	72.9	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	26.7	29.6	32.9	33.8	35.2	1.4	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.) 2	3 584	23 784	24 161	24 277	24 425	148	Th.
Male (as % of total)	55.1	54.7	54.2	54.0	53.8	- 0.2	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	44.9	45.3	45.8	46.0	46.2	0.2	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	1.8	0.6	0.1	0.0	0.3		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	2.4	0.8	1.6	0.5	0.6		p.p.
Male	2.5	0.1	0.8	0.1	0.3		p.p.
Female	2.2	1.7	2.6	1.0	1.0	0.0	p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	5.5	5.4	5.8	5.4	5.5	0.2	p.p.
Fomolo	0.9	7.0	7.5	0.0	7.1	0.5	p.p.
9 Temporary employment (as % total)	5.7 1/1 Q	5.0 1/1 1	3.9 12.7	3.7 12.9	3.7 13.3	0.0	p.p.
Male	13.6	12.5	12.7	11.5	12.6	0.4	p.p.
Female	16.3	16.0	14.2	14.0	14.0	0.0	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	16.3	16.1	16.4	16.5	17.1	0.6	p.p.
Male	4.9	4.9	5.2	5.1	5.4	0.4	p.p.
Female	30.3	29.6	29.7	29.9	30.6	0.7	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	8.4	8.9	9.5	9.6	9.5	- 0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	18.0	18.9	19.7	21.0	21.5	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	7.7	7.8	7.8	8.0	8.0	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	5.8	5.3	5.2	5.7	5.4	- 0.3	p.p.
Male	7.0	7.9	8.6	8.7	8.7	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	16.0	17.5	19.2	20.0	20.1	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	6.0	6.7	6.8	7.0	7.0	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	5.5	5.9	5.3	5.6	5./	0.0	p.p.
Voung (15.24)	20.5	10.0	10.5	10.5	10.5	0.0	p.p.
Prime and (25-54)	9.7	9.0	9.0	9.7	9.1	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	6.4	4.6	5.1	5.8	5.2	- 0.6	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	0.1	1.0	3.1	5.0	5.2		19.19.
	36.8	32.7	39.5	40.5	41.3	0.8	p.p.
(as % of total unemployment)	38.1	37.6	36.4	36.6	36.8	0.5	%
(as % of total unemployment) 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)		40.6	39.3	39.6	39.9	0.6	%
(as % of total unemployment) 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) Male	41.1						
(as % of total unemployment) 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) Male Female	41.1 34.4	33.9	32.7	32.9	33.0	0.4	%
(as % of total unemployment) 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) Male Female 14. Sectoral employment growth	41.1 34.4	33.9	32.7	32.9	33.0	0.4	%
(as % of total unemployment) 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) Male Female 14. Sectoral employment growth Agriculture	41.1 34.4 - 1.6	33.9 - 1.8	32.7 - 1.7	32.9	33.0 1.3	0.4	% p.p.
(as % of total unemployment) 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) Male Female 14. Sectoral employment growth Agriculture Building and construction	41.1 34.4 - 1.6 3.0	33.9 - 1.8 1.5	32.7 - 1.7 0.8	32.9 1.2 2.1	33.0 1.3 2.1	0.4	% p.p. p.p.
(as % of total unemployment) 13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours) Male Female 14. Sectoral employment growth Agriculture Building and construction Services	41.1 34.4 - 1.6 3.0 2.1	33.9 - 1.8 1.5 1.3	32.7 - 1.7 0.8 0.7	32.9 1.2 2.1 0.6	33.0 1.3 2.1 0.7	0.4	% p.p. p.p. p.p.

(1) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments France

10001		Annual % change								
Different measures of wage/labor costs: view view <th></th> <th>2001</th> <th>2002</th> <th>2003</th> <th>2004</th> <th>2005</th> <th>05-Q1</th> <th>05-Q2</th> <th>05-Q3</th> <th>05-Q4</th>		2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
compensition of employees 2.4 3.4 2.8 3.4 2.8 1	Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensiton of employees per hour worked3.63.63.73.72.71.71.71.81.7Hourly idour costs (Euroxit above cost idential of per defaure2.33.01.8<	Compensation per employee	2.4	3.4	2.8	3.4	2.8	:	:	:	:
Houry labour costs (Eurostat labour costs index)4.88.82.53.03.03.02.82.83.5Negotiated wages (auro area only)::<	Compensation of employees per hour worked	3.6	6.2	3.3	3.4	2.7	:	:	:	:
Negative ways (sum are only):: <th< td=""><td>Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)</td><td>4.8</td><td>3.8</td><td>2.5</td><td>3.0</td><td>3.1</td><td>3.3</td><td>2.9</td><td>2.8</td><td>3.5</td></th<>	Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	4.8	3.8	2.5	3.0	3.1	3.3	2.9	2.8	3.5
Nominal unit labour costsCas	Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs definited by GDP definition0.0	Nominal unit labour costs	2.3	3.0	1.8	1.1	1.8	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries3.03.01.53.21.2 <th< td=""><td>Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator</td><td>0.3</td><td>0.6</td><td>- 0.1</td><td>- 0.6</td><td>0.0</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td></th<>	Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.3	0.6	- 0.1	- 0.6	0.0	:	:	:	:
Compension per employee adjusted by total factor productivity:::<::<:<	Wages and salaries	3.9	3.0	1.5	3.2	:	3.0	2.6	2.5	2.7
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market price)66.066.366.366.166.466.457.57.57.57.Structure of labour costs32.0:::<	Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costsNetSize <td>Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)</td> <td>66.0</td> <td>66.3</td> <td>66.2</td> <td>66.1</td> <td>66.4</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td>	Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	66.0	66.3	66.2	66.1	66.4	:	:	:	:
Share of indirect cots in total labour cots)320::: <td>Structure of labour costs</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Structure of labour costs									
Total abour costs ANNUAL68.081.0 <td>Share of indirect costs in total labour costs</td> <td>32.0</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td>	Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	32.0	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs) SA 82.00 F7.800	Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	68.0	68.10u	68.00u	68.00u	:	:	:	:	:
Employer's social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)i.e.i.	Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	58.4	58.20u	57.90u	57.80u	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (a % of total labour costs) 440 4400 4400 4900 i.i.	Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	27.6	27.50u	27.50u	27.10u	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: set events with a set of the s	Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	4.4	4.40u	4.60u	4.90u	:	:	:	:	:
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed) 0.1 0.4 1.0 3.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1 2.3 1.0 1.1 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1	Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments c	an be as	sessed					
Hourly labour productivity1.0	Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.1	0.4	1.0	2.3	0.9	:	:	:	:
GDP 1.9 1.0 1.1 2.3 1.2 1.4 1.7 1.1 0.8 ECFIN NARU estimate 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.7 1.0	Hourly labour productivity	1.0	3.1	1.5	2.4	1.0	:	:	:	:
ECFIN NARIU estimate 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.6 9.4 1: ::<:::	GDP	1.9	1.0	1.1	2.3	1.2	1.4	1.7	1.1	0.8
Output gap (%) 2.1 1.2 -0.1 0.0 -0.7 1 </td <td>ECFIN NAIRU estimate</td> <td>9.7</td> <td>9.7</td> <td>9.7</td> <td>9.6</td> <td>9.4</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td>	ECFIN NAIRU estimate	9.7	9.7	9.7	9.6	9.4	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100):: <t< td=""><td>Output gap (%)</td><td>2.1</td><td>1.2</td><td>- 0.1</td><td>0.0</td><td>- 0.7</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td></t<>	Output gap (%)	2.1	1.2	- 0.1	0.0	- 0.7	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food) 1.5 2.2 2.2 2.4 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.0 1.1 GDP deflator 2.0 2.4 1.9 1.7 1.9 1.8 1.7 1.9 1.9 Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs	Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator 2.0 2.4 1.9 1.7 1.9 1.8 1.7 1.9 1.8 Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs :	Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	1.5	2.2	2.2	2.4	1.2	1.3	1.3	1.0	1.1
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costsAgriculture and fishery6.6-1.5::1.20.71.1-0.71.01.0Industry excluding construction1.20.9:::1.1-0.7-1.0-0.1of which: manufacturing1.20.7-1.5-1.1-0.6:: </td <td>GDP deflator</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>2.4</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>1.7</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>1.8</td> <td>1.7</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>1.9</td>	GDP deflator	2.0	2.4	1.9	1.7	1.9	1.8	1.7	1.9	1.9
Agriculture and fishery6.6-1.5::::1.21.4.82.1.018.0Industry excluding construction1.20.9::::-1.1-3.7-2.0-1.0of which: manufacturing1.20.7-1.5-1.1-0.6::<	Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Industry excluding construction 1.2 0.9 :: :: :. -1.1 -0.7 -2.0 -1.0 of which: manufacturing 1.2 0.7 -1.5 -1.1 -0.6 ::	Agriculture and fishery	6.6	- 1.5	:	:	:	2.7	14.8	21.0	18.0
of which: manufacturing1.20.7-1.5-1.1-0.6:: <td>Industry excluding construction</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>0.9</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>- 1.1</td> <td>- 3.7</td> <td>- 2.0</td> <td>- 1.0</td>	Industry excluding construction	1.2	0.9	:	:	:	- 1.1	- 3.7	- 2.0	- 1.0
Construction 2.7 4.2 : : 1.4 4.45 5.8 5.7 Trade, transport and communication 2.5 1.0 : : 1.2 2.5 0.8 1.7 1.2 Finance and business services 4.6 2.6 1.5 2.7 3.6 3.6 : 1.0 1.6 2.8 Non-market-related services 2.6 4.6 : : 1.5 0.5 1.5 0.5 1.5 0.5 1.8 2.27 Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee 2.8 2.8 2.2 : : 0.0 <	of which: manufacturing	1.2	0.7	- 1.5	- 1.1	- 0.6	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication 2.5 1.0 :: :: :: 2.5 0.8 1.7 1.2 Finance and business services 4.5 2.6 :: :: :: 2.0 1.0 1.6 2.8 Non-market-related services 2.6 4.6 :: :: :: 2.7 3.6 3.6 :: Market-related sectors 2.2 2.5 1.5 0.5 :: 1.5 0.5 1.8 2.2 Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee	Construction	2.7	4.2	:	:	:	4.4	4.5	5.8	5.7
Finance and business services4.52.62.62.62.62.62.62.62.72.73.63.62.7Market-related services2.22.51.50.51.50.51.50.51.50.51.82.2Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee2.82.82.22.51.50.00.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery5.45.32.2.2.52.31.52.31.51.21.4Industry excluding construction2.53.72.53.72.32.31.72.12.5of which: manufacturing1.11.32.53.73.73.33.12.53.72.33.33.03.0Trade, transport and communication2.41.41.42.52.52.33.03	Trade, transport and communication	2.5	1.0	:	:	:	2.5	0.8	1.7	1.2
Non-market-related services 2.6 4.6 : : : 1.7 3.6 3.6 : Market-related sectors 2.2 2.5 1.5 0.5 1.5 1.2 1.4 1.4 1.5 1.2 1.5 1.2 1.5<	Finance and business services	4.5	2.6	:	:	:	2.0	1.0	1.6	2.8
Market-related sectors 2.2 2.5 1.5 0.5 1.5 0.5 1.8 2.2 Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee -	Non-market-related services	2.6	4.6	:	:	:	2.7	3.6	3.6	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee2.82.82.2::0.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery5.45.3:::1.51.21.4Industry excluding construction2.53.7:::2.31.72.12.5of which: manufacturing1.22.92.73.73.3::::1.5Construction3.11.3:::1.33.32.73.33.03.3Trade, transport and communication2.41.4:::1.52.33.03.3Finance and business services1.62.5::1.62.52.33.03.3Non-market-related services3.84.0:::1.64.33.5:Agriculture and fishery-1.16.9-13.82.5:0.0-11.6-16.4-14.1Industry excluding construction1.32.84.14.8:3.55.64.33.6of which: manufacturing0.02.24.24.93.9::::::Industry excluding construction0.4-2.7-1.60.8:1.1-1.7-2.3-2.5Orightich: manufacturing0.02.24.24.93.9:::::::::::<	Market-related sectors	2.2	2.5	1.5	0.5	:	1.5	0.5	1.8	2.2
Total industries2.82.82.2::::0.00.00.00.0Agriculture and fishery5.45.3::::::2.71.51.21.4Industry excluding construction2.53.7::::::2.31.72.12.5of which: manufacturing1.22.92.73.73.3::	Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Agriculture and fishery5.45.3::::::1.51.21.4Industry excluding construction2.53.7::::::2.31.72.12.5of which: manufacturing1.22.92.73.73.3::	Total industries	2.8	2.8	2.2	:	:	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Industry excluding construction2.53.7:::1.22.31.72.12.5of which: manufacturing1.22.92.73.73.3:: <td>Agriculture and fishery</td> <td>5.4</td> <td>5.3</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>2.7</td> <td>1.5</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>1.4</td>	Agriculture and fishery	5.4	5.3	:	:	:	2.7	1.5	1.2	1.4
of which: manufacturing1.22.92.73.73.3::	Industry excluding construction	2.5	3.7	:	:	:	2.3	1.7	2.1	2.5
Construction3.11.3::::::3.32.73.33.0Trade, transport and communication2.41.4::::::2.52.33.03.3Finance and business services1.62.5::::::2.91.92.32.3Non-market-related services3.84.0::::::3.64.33.5::Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity-1.16.9-13.822.5::0.0-11.6-16.4-14.1Industry excluding construction1.32.84.14.8::3.55.64.33.6of which: manufacturing0.02.24.24.93.9::::::::Construction0.4-2.7-1.60.8::-1.1-1.7-2.3-2.5Trade, transport and communication-0.10.4-0.31.1::0.01.51.22.1Finance and business services-2.8-0.13.51.9::0.81.00.7-0.5Non-market-related services1.1-0.6-0.41.1::0.90.6-0.1-0.3Non-market-related services-1.1-0.6-0.41.1::0.90.6-0.1-0.3Non-market-related services-0.50.81.33.0::1.11.60.80.5	of which: manufacturing	1.2	2.9	2.7	3.7	3.3	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication2.41.4::::::2.52.33.03.3Finance and business services1.62.5::::::2.91.92.32.3Non-market-related services3.84.0::::::3.64.33.5::Sectoral breakdown of labour productivityAgriculture and fishery-1.16.9-13.822.5::0.0-11.6-16.4-14.1Industry excluding construction1.32.84.14.8::3.55.64.33.6of which: manufacturing0.02.24.24.93.9::::::::::Construction0.4-2.7-1.60.8::-1.1-1.7-2.3-2.5Trade, transport and communication-0.10.4-0.31.1::0.01.51.22.1Finance and business services-2.8-0.13.51.9::0.81.00.7-0.5Non-market-related services1.1-0.6-0.41.1::0.90.6-0.1-0.3Non-market-related services-0.50.81.33.0::1.11.60.80.5	Construction	3.1	1.3	:	:	:	3.3	2.7	3.3	3.0
Finance and business services1.62.5:::1.92.32.3Non-market-related services3.84.0:::1.64.33.5:Sectoral breakdown of labour productivityAgriculture and fishery-1.16.9-13.822.5:0.0-11.6-16.4-14.1Industry excluding construction1.32.84.14.8:3.55.64.33.6of which: manufacturing0.02.24.24.93.9:::::Construction0.4-2.7-1.60.8:-1.1-1.7-2.3-2.5Trade, transport and communication-0.10.4-0.31.1:0.01.51.22.1Finance and business services-2.8-0.13.51.9:0.81.0-0.7-0.5Non-market-related services1.1-0.6-0.41.1:0.90.6-0.1-0.3Market-related services-0.50.81.33.0:1.11.60.80.5	Trade, transport and communication	2.4	1.4	:	:	:	2.5	2.3	3.0	3.3
Non-market-related services 3.8 4.0 : : : 3.6 4.3 3.5 : Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity - <td< td=""><td>Finance and business services</td><td>1.6</td><td>2.5</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>:</td><td>2.9</td><td>1.9</td><td>2.3</td><td>2.3</td></td<>	Finance and business services	1.6	2.5	:	:	:	2.9	1.9	2.3	2.3
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity -11 6.9 -13.8 22.5 : 0.0 -11.6 -16.4 -14.1 Industry excluding construction 1.3 2.8 4.1 4.8 :: 3.5 5.6 4.3 3.6 of which: manufacturing 0.0 2.2 4.2 4.9 3.9 ::	Non-market-related services	3.8	4.0	:	:	:	3.6	4.3	3.5	:
Agriculture and fishery-1.16.9-13.822.5:0.0-11.6-16.4-14.1Industry excluding construction1.32.84.14.8:3.55.64.33.6of which: manufacturing0.02.24.24.93.9:::::Construction0.4-2.7-1.60.8:-1.1-1.7-2.3-2.5Trade, transport and communication-0.10.4-0.31.1:0.01.51.22.1Finance and business services-2.8-0.13.51.9:0.81.00.7-0.5Non-market-related services1.1-0.6-0.41.1:0.90.6-0.1-0.3Market-related sectors-0.50.81.33.0:1.11.60.80.5	Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Industry excluding construction 1.3 2.8 4.1 4.8 :: 3.5 5.6 4.3 3.6 of which: manufacturing 0.0 2.2 4.2 4.9 3.9 ::	Agriculture and fishery	- 1.1	6.9	-13.8	22.5	:	0.0	- 11.6	- 16.4	- 14.1
of which: manufacturing 0.0 2.2 4.2 4.9 3.9 :	Industry excluding construction	1.3	2.8	4.1	4.8	:	3.5	5.6	4.3	3.6
Construction0.4- 2.7- 1.60.8:- 1.1- 1.7- 2.3- 2.5Trade, transport and communication- 0.10.4- 0.31.1:0.01.51.22.1Finance and business services- 2.8- 0.13.51.9:0.81.00.7- 0.5Non-market-related services1.1- 0.6- 0.41.1:0.90.6- 0.1- 0.3Market-related sectors- 0.50.81.33.0:1.11.60.80.5	of which: manufacturing	0.0	2.2	4.2	4.9	3.9	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication -0.1 0.4 -0.3 1.1 : 0.0 1.5 1.2 2.1 Finance and business services -2.8 -0.1 3.5 1.9 : 0.8 1.0 0.7 -0.5 Non-market-related services 1.1 -0.6 -0.4 1.1 : 0.9 0.6 -0.1 -0.3 Market-related sectors -0.5 0.8 1.3 3.0 : 1.1 1.6 0.8 0.5	Construction	0.4	- 2.7	- 1.6	0.8	:	- 1.1	- 1.7	- 2.3	- 2.5
Finance and business services - 2.8 - 0.1 3.5 1.9 : 0.8 1.0 0.7 - 0.5 Non-market-related services 1.1 - 0.6 - 0.4 1.1 : 0.9 0.6 - 0.1 - 0.3 Market-related sectors - 0.5 0.8 1.3 3.0 : 1.1 1.6 0.8 0.5	Trade, transport and communication	- 0.1	0.4	- 0.3	1.1	:	0.0	1.5	1.2	2.1
Non-market-related services 1.1 - 0.6 - 0.4 1.1 : 0.9 0.6 - 0.1 - 0.3 Market-related sectors - 0.5 0.8 1.3 3.0 : 1.1 1.6 0.8 0.5	Finance and business services	- 2.8	- 0.1	3.5	1.9	:	0.8	1.0	0.7	- 0.5
Market-related sectors -0.5 0.8 1.3 3.0 : 1.1 1.6 0.8 0.5	Non-market-related services	1.1	- 0.6	- 0.4	1.1	:	0.9	0.6	- 0.1	- 0.3
	Market-related sectors	- 0.5	0.8	1.3	3.0	:	1.1	1.6	0.8	0.5

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Ireland

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers	. 3 859	3 926	3 991	4 060	4 149	2.2	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	2 601	2 661	2 711	2 762	2 831	2.5	%
as % of total population	67.4	67.8	67.9	68.0	68.2	0.2	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers	. 1783	1 825	1 866	1 919	2 004	4.4	%
Mai	e 1045	1 059	1 079	1 109	1 149	3.7	%
Femal	e /39	/65	/8/	811	854	5.4	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	1) 52.1	52.0	5.50	69.5 52.4	70.8	1.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-5/	+) 55.1 1) 78.9	79.1	79.1	79.9	80.9	1.0	p.p.
Older (55-64	r) 78.5 1) 48.1	49.2	50.2	50.8	53.0	23	p.p.
Mal	le 79.9	79.2	79.3	79.9	80.6	0.7	D.D.
Young (15-24	1) 57.4	55.7	56.0	55.9	56.5	0.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	4) 91.8	91.2	91.0	91.8	92.1	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) 66.2	66.6	66.3	66.9	67.7	0.7	p.p.
Femal	e 57.1	57.8	58.3	59.0	60.8	1.8	p.p.
Young (15-24	48.8	48.2	48.4	48.8	49.8	1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	1) 66.0	66.9	67.2	68.0	69.6	1.6	p.p.
Older (55-64	4) 29.4	31.5	33.7	34.5	38.2	3.7	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	65.8	65.5	65.5	66.3	67.6	1.4	p.p.
Young (15-24	49.4	47.6	47.5	47.8	48.7	1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	+) /6.3	/6.0	/5.9	/6.8	77.9	1.1	p.p.
Older (55-64	+) 40.8	46.1	49.0	49.4	76.0	2.1	p.p.
Voung (15-2)	e 70.0	50.6	50.5	50.7	51.5	0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	1) 88.6	87.4	87.0	87.8	88.4	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) 64.8	65.1	64.7	65.0	65.8	0.8	p.p.
Femal	le 54.9	55.4	55.7	56.5	58.3	1.8	D.D.
Young (15-24	45.4	44.4	44.4	44.6	45.9	1.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	1) 64.0	64.7	64.8	65.9	67.4	1.5	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) 28.8	30.7	33.2	33.7	37.3	3.6	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	1 712	1 742	1 776	1 830	1 915	85	Th.
Male (as % of tota	<i>l)</i> 58.5	57.9	57.7	57.5	57.2	- 0.3	p.p.
Female (as % of tota	<i>l)</i> 41.5	42.1	42.3	42.5	42.8	0.4	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	3.0	1.8	2.0	3.1	4.7		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	3.1	1.8	2.0	3.1	4.6		p.p.
Mai	e 2.6	0.7	1.5	2.9	4.0		p.p.
Perilar	e 3.9	3.3 10.4	2.5	3.3	5.5	0.4	p.p.
a. Sen employed (% of total employment)	10.4 A 15.1	10.4	14.9	10.3	9.9 14.6	- 0.4	p.p.
Femal	e 37	3.8	3.9	3.8	3.8	- 0.1	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	5.2	5.3	5.1	4.1	3.7	- 0.5	p.p.
Mai	le 4.4	4.5	4.4	3.7	3.1	- 0.6	p.p.
Femal	e 6.2	6.3	6.0	4.7	4.3	- 0.4	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	16.2	16.2	16.5	16.5	13.4	- 3.1	p.p.
Mal	e 6.1	6.0	6.1	5.6	5.0	- 0.6	p.p.
Femal	e 30.6	30.4	30.8	31.2	24.5	- 6.7	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	4.0	4.5	4.7	4.5	4.3	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24	1) 7.1	8.5	9.1	8.8	8.6	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	4) 3.3	3.8	4.1	3.9	3.7	- 0.2	p.p.
Ulder (55-64	4) 2.8	2.3	2.4	2.6	2.1	0.2	p.p.
Wall Young (15.2)	e 4.1	4.7	5.0	4.9	4.0	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	+) 7.0 1) 3.5	9.1 4.2	9.7 A A	9.4 4 3	8.9 4 0	-0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) 2.2	2.3	2.4	2.9	2.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Femal	le 3.8	4.1	4.3	4.1	4.0	- 0.1	D.D.
Young (15-24	1) 6.9	7.9	8.3	8.6	7.8	- 0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	1) 3.1	3.3	3.6	3.1	3.2	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) 2.0	2.7	1.6	2.3	2.3	0.0	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemploymen	t) 33.0	30.2	32.9	35.0	33.6	- 1.4	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	38.5	38.0	37.5	37.3	37.3	- 0.1	%
Mai	e 42.7	42.2	41.6	41.5	41.5	0.1	%
Femal	e 32.3	32.0	31.6	31.4	31.4	0.1	%
14. Sectoral employment growth		1.0	2.2	24	1 7		
Agricultur Puilding and construction	e - 3./	- 1.6	- 3.2	- 2.4	- 1.3		p.p.
Building and construction	0.0 20	2.4	4.ð 2 1	2.6	14.2 5 A		p.p.
Manufacturing indust		- 4 0	- 1 9	- 1.6	- 2.4		p.p.
wanaractaring moust	, 0.5	- 4.0	- 1.5	- 1.0	-2.4		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Ireland

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	7.4	5.1	5.6	5.5	5.1	:	:	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	8.7	6.6	7.2	6.0	6.7	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	8.5	4.0	5.5	5.0	:	4.7	4.2	4.1	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	4.2	0.8	3.1	4.1	5.2	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 1.4	- 4.1	1.0	1.8	2.0	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries	5.3	- 0.2	3.3	4.2	:	3.6	4.1	3.5	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	54.2	52.0	52.8	54.2	55.6	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	oments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	3.1	4.3	2.4	1.3	- 0.1	- 1.7	- 0.5	- 0.1	0.6
Hourly labour productivity	3.7	5.5	3.7	1.7	0.6	:	:	:	:
GDP	6.2	6.1	4.4	4.5	4.7	2.6	4.5	4.7	5.3
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	5.0	4.4	4.1	3.9	3.8	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	3.8	3.3	1.7	0.3	- 1.3	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	4.3	5.1	4.3	2.1	1.5	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.5
GDP deflator	5.7	5.0	2.0	2.2	3.1	1.8	3.6	4.1	4.1
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	- 2.1	- 9.8	- 3.4	5.1	0.1	:	:	:	:
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	7.4	5.1	5.6	5.5	:	0.0	0.0	0.0	:
Agriculture and fishery	8.3	- 2.1	6.9	12.8	:	10.4	10.0	8.4	7.2
Industry excluding construction	4.8	1.8	5.4	6.9	:	6.3	3.7	3.2	2.2
of which: manufacturing	3.8	2.9	5.6	7.1	3.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	8.7	9.8	4.6	2.4	:	5.2	6.1	4.3	7.3
Trade, transport and communication	2.6	1.6	4.0	4.9	:	4.0	3.8	3.9	3.5
Finance and business services	12.7	3.2	5.1	5.6	:	2.3	4.6	3.4	5.5
Non-market-related services	9.5	8.6	7.0	4.4	:	2.5	4.0	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	;	;	;	;	;	:	:	:	;
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	6.1	14.1	9.3	1.9	3.6	:	:	:	
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Italy

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	57 229	57 382	57 399	57 442	58 077	1.1	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	38 646	38 676	38 692	38 292	38 588	0.8	%
as % of total population	67.5	67.4	67.4	66.7	66.4	- 0.2	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	23 429	23 631	23 797	24 014	24 099	0.4	%
Male	9 14 264	14 345	14 429	14 274	14 360	0.6	%
Female	9 165	9 287	9 368	9 740	9 739	0.0	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	60.6	61.1	61.5	62.7	62.5	- 0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24) 36.6	35.5	34.6	36.1	33.8	- 2.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) /5.1	/5./	/6.3	77.5	//.4	- 0.1	p.p.
Ulder (55-64) 29.2	30.2	31.5	31.8	32.6	0.7	p.p.
IVIAIG	2 /4.1	74.3	74.7	74.9	74.6	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25.54)) 40.6) 00.7	59.9	59.Z	40.5	30.7 01.2	- 1.0	p.p.
Printe age (25-54) Older (55-64)) 90.7	91.0	91.5	91.4	91.2	- 0.2	p.p.
Female Female	42.3	43.0	44.4	50.6	50.4	- 0.3	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24	32.6	31.0	29.9	31.7	28.7	- 3.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	59.3	60.3	60.9	63.6	63.6	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 16.9	18.1	19.3	20.4	21.5	1.1	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	54.8	55.5	56.1	57.6	57.6	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24	26.3	25.8	25.2	27.6	25.7	- 2.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 69.2	70.1	70.7	72.2	72.3	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 28.0	28.9	30.3	30.5	31.4	0.9	p.p.
Male	68.5	69.1	69.6	70.1	69.9	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24) 30.4	30.3	29.7	32.1	30.4	- 1.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)) 85.5	86.0	86.5	86.7	86.6	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)) 40.4	41.2	42.8	42.2	42.7	0.5	p.p.
Female	41.1	42.0	42.7	45.2	45.3	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)) 22.1	21.3	20.6	23.1	20.8	- 2.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 52.8	54.0	54.9	57.8	57.9	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)) 16.3	17.3	18.5	19.6	20.8	1.2	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	21 169	21 478	21 710	22 060	22 214	155	Th.
Male (as % of total)) 62.4	62.1	61.9	60.5	60.6	0.1	p.p.
7 Employment growth (%) (national accounts)) <u>37.</u> 0	37.9	38.1	39.5	39.4	- 0.1	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LES age 15-64)	2.0	1.7	1.5	1.6	0.2		p.p.
Male	1.0	1.0	0.8	- 0.6	0.8		p.p.
Female	3.8	2.2	1.5	5.2	0.5		D.D.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	11.3	11.0	10.7	17.7	17.1	- 0.6	p.p.
Male	13.5	13.1	12.7	19.9	19.4	- 0.5	p.p.
Female	e 7.7	7.5	7.4	14.2	13.6	- 0.6	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	9.8	9.9	9.9	11.8	12.3	0.5	р.р.
Male	e 8.3	8.4	8.2	9.9	10.5	0.5	p.p.
Female	e 11.9	12.0	12.2	14.5	14.7	0.2	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	8.3	8.5	8.4	12.5	12.7	0.2	p.p.
Male	9 3.3	3.3	3.0	4.4	4.3	- 0.1	p.p.
Female	e 16.6	16.9	17.3	24.9	25.6	0.7	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	9.1	8.6	8.4	8.0	7.7	- 0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24	28.2	27.2	27.1	23.5	23.9	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 7.9	7.5	7.2	6.9	6.7	- 0.2	p.p.
Ulder (55-64	4.3	4.1	3.8	4.1	3.5	- 0.6	p.p.
Male Vourse (15.24)	. /.1	b./	0.5	b.4	6.2 21 F	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)) <u>2</u> 5.0	24.0	24.Z	20.0	21.5	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55.64)) J.8	3.0	2.4	J.2	2.6	- 0.2	p.p.
Female	4.5	11 5	11 3	10.5	10.1	- 0.0	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24	32.2	31.4	30.9	27.2	27.4	0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 11.1	10.5	10.0	9.2	8.9	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64) 4.1	4.4	4.3	4.0	3.2	- 0.8	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment,) 62.2	59.6	58.1	49.1	49.9	0.8	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	39.2	38.4	38.3	38.1	38.1	0.1	%
Male	41.4	40.5	40.5	41.0	41.0	- 0.1	%
Female	35.5	34.6	34.5	33.5	33.5	0.1	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	e 0.7	- 2.8	- 6.5	- 0.7	- 4.1		p.p.
Building and construction	· 0.0	2.5	3.0	2.2	2.9		p.p.
Manufacturing industri	2.4	0.8	0.7	- 1 1	-16		p.p.
	0.2	0.0	0.7	1.1	1.5		P.P.

(1) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Italy

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	2.9	2.2	2.4	3.1	2.5	2.1	1.3	2.2	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	3.8	4.0	3.7	2.6	4.7	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	3.1	3.6	3.9	2.3	2.8	3.6	1.7	2.4	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.1	0.2	0.9	- 0.6	0.7	1.7	0.3	0.6	:
Wages and salaries	4.8	1.9	0.9	2.2	3.9	4.0	2.8	3.4	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	61.4	61.6	61.9	61.6	62.2	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	30.9	31.0	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	69.1	69.0	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	62.5	62.7	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	29.5	29.5	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.4	1.5	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	- 0.2	- 1.3	- 1.4	0.7	- 0.2	- 1.4	- 0.4	- 0.2	:
Hourly labour productivity	0.1	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.3	0.4	:	:	:	:
GDP	1.8	0.3	0.0	1.1	0.0	- 0.5	0.3	0.1	0.0
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	9.3	9.0	8.8	8.5	8.1	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	2.1	1.1	0.0	- 0.2	- 1.4	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	2.1	2.8	2.7	2.3	2.0	2.1	2.1	1.9	1.8
GDP deflator	3.0	3.4	3.1	2.9	2.1	1.8	1.4	1.8	3.2
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	5.8	1.9	3.5	- 11.8	2.5	8.8	9.3	- 4.5	0.5
Industry excluding construction	3.3	4.0	5.1	1.4	3.2	5.0	0.7	3.6	3.2
of which: manufacturing	3.6	4.3	5.4	2.3	3.0	5.2	0.2	2.8	3.2
Construction	0.8	3.1	3.8	3.4	3.9	8.2	6.5	0.0	1.5
Trade, transport and communication	0.9	3.8	5.3	2.3	0.6	4.3	0.4	- 2.3	0.5
Finance and business services	3.5	4.2	2.0	3.7	4.1	3.6	6.7	2.9	3.0
Non-market-related services	4.1	3.3	4.6	2.0	3.1	0.4	- 2.3	:	:
Market-related sectors	2.5	3.5	4.1	2.0	2.3	4.4	2.6	0.6	1.8
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	2.9	2.2	2.4	3.1	2.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	2.5	1.5	5.3	0.9	4.5	5.5	5.3	5.0	2.0
Industry excluding construction	2.9	2.3	2.1	3.9	2.2	2.0	2.3	1.9	2.4
of which: manufacturing	2.9	2.2	2.1	4.1	2.5	2.2	2.3	1.8	2.4
Construction	1.8	2.9	3.5	4.0	1.6	1.2	3.7	2.0	0.1
Trade, transport and communication	1.4	2.6	2.4	3.3	2.0	4.8	1.3	0.9	1.1
Finance and business services	0.8	1.4	0.8	2.2	1.7	1.1	4.7	- 0.6	1.3
Non-market-related services	4.7	2.0	2.6	2.7	3.7	1.5	- 2.5	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 3.1	- 0.4	1.8	14.3	1.9	- 3.0	- 3.7	9.9	1.5
Industry excluding construction	- 0.4	- 1.6	- 2.8	2.5	- 0.9	- 2.9	1.6	- 1.6	- 0.8
of which: manufacturing	- 0.7	- 2.1	- 3.1	1.8	- 0.5	- 2.9	2.1	- 1.0	- 0.7
Construction	1.0	- 0.2	- 0.2	0.6	- 2.1	- 6.5	- 2.7	2.1	- 1.3
Trade, transport and communication	0.5	- 1.1	- 2.8	1.0	1.3	0.5	1.0	3.3	0.6
Finance and business services	- 2.6	- 2.7	- 1.2	- 1.5	- 2.3	- 2.4	- 1.9	- 3.3	- 1.7
Non-market-related services	0.6	- 1.3	- 1.9	0.7	0.5	1.1	- 0.2	0.0	1.3
Market-related sectors	- 0.5	- 1.1	- 1.7	1.2	- 0.4	- 1.8	0.0	0.7	- 0.4

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Cyprus

	2001	1	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 p	oers. 67	73	679	688	711	727	2.3	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	44	14	447	458	476	494	3.8	%
as % of total population	n 6	6.0	65.8	66.6	66.9	67.9	1.0	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 p	oers. 31	4	317	331	345	358	3.5	%
1	Viale 17	⁷⁵	174	180	191	199	4.1	%
Fer A Activity rate (as % of population 15.64)	male 13	59 70 7	143	150	154	159	3.2	%
4. Activity rate (as % or population 15-64)	7 5-24) /	11 0	70.9	/2.5	/2.6	12.4 12.4	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25	5-54) 8	33.5	84.7	85.8	86.1	85.7	- 0.5	p.p.
Older (5	5-64) 5	51.5	50.7	52.9	52.5	52.0	- 0.5	p.p.
1	Male 8	31.8	80.9	81.8	83.0	82.9	- 0.1	p.p.
Young (15	5-24) 4	13.9	40.0	42.5	45.2	46.6	1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25	5-54) 9	95.7	95.1	95.2	95.2	95.3	0.1	p.p.
Older (55	5-64) 6	8.8	69.7	73.5	73.8	73.0	- 0.9	p.p.
Fei	male 6	50.4	61.6	63.0	62.8	62.6	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15	5-24) 4	1.3	39.1	41.3	38.0	39.1	1.1	p.p.
Prime age (25	5-54) 7	2.0	74.3	76.4	77.6	76.5	- 1.1	p.p.
Older (55	5-64) 3	35.3	32.4	33.3	32.1	33.1	1.0	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	6	57.8	68.7	69.2	69.1	68.5	- 0.6	p.p.
Young (1)	5-24) 3	59.5 0 0	37.2	37.2	37.3	36.7	- 0.6	p.p.
Prime age (2:	5-54) 8	50.8 19 E	82.0	82.8	82.7	81.8	- 0.9	p.p.
Older (5:	M_{2} (4) M_{2	+0.0 70 /	49.3	50.0	50.2	50.3 70.2	0.1	p.p.
Young (15	5-24) 3	9.4 89.0	37.5	40.0	42.1	40.9	- 1.2	p.p.
Prime age (25	5-54) 9	93.6	93.7	92.5	92.8	91.9	- 0.8	p.p.
Older (5	5-64) 6	58.8	66.7	67.6	70.1	70.3	0.2	p.p.
Fei	male 5	57.0	59.1	60.1	59.0	58.3	- 0.8	D.D.
Young (15	5-24) 3	37.0	34.8	37.0	33.1	33.5	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25	5-54) 6	68.7	71.7	73.2	73.1	72.1	- 0.9	р.р.
Older (55	5-64) 3	32.4	32.4	33.3	30.4	31.2	0.9	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	30)1	307	317	329	338	9	Th.
Male (as % of t	otal) 5	56.5	55.4	54.9	55.9	56.1	0.3	p.p.
Female (as % of t	otal) 4	13.5	44.6	45.1	44.1	43.9	- 0.3	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)		2.2	1.1	1.1	1.5	1.5		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)		5.2	2.0	3.3	3.7	2.8		p.p.
1	Viale	2.4	0.0	2.4	5.6	3.3		p.p.
Per	naie 1	9.2	4.0	4.4	1.4	12.2	0.5	p.p.
a. Sen employed (% of total employment)	Mələ 1	5.0	13.0	13.0	12.9	12.4	- 0.5	p.p.
Fei	male i	7.6	80	7.7	8.0	8.8	0.7	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	1	0.8	9.1	12.6	13.0	14.0	1.0	p.p.
//	Male	7.0	5.7	8.1	8.6	9.0	0.4	p.p.
Fei	male 1	4.8	12.8	17.1	17.6	19.5	1.9	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)		7.3	6.2	7.6	7.5	7.5	0.0	p.p.
	Male	3.5	2.9	3.4	3.1	3.0	- 0.1	p.p.
Fei	male 1	2.2	10.9	12.6	12.6	13.2	0.5	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)		3.9	3.6	4.1	4.7	5.3	0.6	p.p.
Young (1	5-24)	5.6	5.9	8.6	9.9	13.3	3.4	p.p.
Prime age (25	5-54)	3.3	3.2	3.5	4.0	4.5	0.5	p.p.
Older (5	5-64)	5.9	2.9	5.4	4.3	3.2	- 1.2	p.p.
/ Noune /11	Viale	2.7	2.9	3.6	3.6	4.1	0.5	p.p.
Found (1: Prime age (2)	5-24) I	2.2	0.3	5.9	7.0	12.2	5.2	p.p.
Older (5	5-54)	2.2	1.5	2.9	5.1	3.5	- 1.4	p.p.
Fei	male	5.5	4.5	4 7	6.0	6.7	0.7	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (1	5-24) 1	0.5	11.1	10.5	13.0	14.3	1.3	p.p.
Prime age (25	5-54)	4.6	3.5	4.2	5.9	5.7	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (5	5-64)	8.3	0.0	0.0	5.6	5.8	0.2	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate								
(as % of total unemploym	nent) 2	21.2	20.1	24.0	27.4	23.4	- 4.1	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	3	88.5	38.3	38.0	39.7	39.2	– 1.3	%
1	Male 4	10.2	40.1	40.0	41.9	41.3	- 1.4	%
Fei	male 3	36.4	36.0	35.6	36.9	36.3	- 1.6	%
14. Sectoral employment growth		2.6						
Agricul	iture –	2.0	- 1.6	- 0.8	- 1.7	:		p.p.
Building and construct	uon	5.0	6.5	6.8	2.9			p.p.
Ser Manufacturics ind	vices	3.3 3 E	1.5	0.9	2.0	:		p.p.
เพลานาละเปรีเทต เกิดเ	ustry –	5.5	- 3.1	- 1.7	- 0.6	- 0.5		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Cyprus

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	1.0	4.1	9.3	3.5	4.4	0.9	1.2	3.2	2.6
Compensation of employees per hour worked	- 2.4	8.0	8.1	2.5	4.3	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	5.7	5.6	6.3	4.5	4.0	:	:	:	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	- 0.8	3.1	8.4	1.1	2.1	0.1	1.2	2.9	1.8
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 3.9	0.8	3.2	- 1.3	- 0.7	- 2.9	- 1.5	0.1	- 0.9
Wages and salaries	0.1	3.1	5.8	1.5	1.4	- 0.2	- 1.7	3.4	4.2
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	59.8	60.7	64.9	64.7	64.7	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	13.6	13.8	15.4	15.5	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	86.4	86.2	4.56b	84.5	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	86.4	86.2	4.56b	84.5	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	13.6	13.8	14.4	15.5	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	0.0	0.0	0.00b	0.0	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	pments	can be as	sessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	1.9	1.0	0.9	2.3	2.2	0.8	0.0	0.4	0.8
Hourly labour productivity	- 4.6	1.7	- 0.2	1.4	2.2	:	:	:	:
GDP	4.1	2.1	1.9	3.9	3.8	3.9	3.5	3.9	3.7
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	4.3	4.3	4.4	4.7	4.9	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	2.5	1.2	- 0.6	- 1.1	- 0.9	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	1.6	2.1	3.1	0.8	0.8	1.8	1.3	- 0.1	0.2
GDP deflator	3.2	2.2	5.0	2.4	2.8	3.1	2.7	2.7	2.7
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	-6.5	6.3	36.7	0.3	- 0.6	- 25.8	- 3.3	14.9	- 1.3
Industry excluding construction	4.2	- 2.7	3.6	3.1	9.7	10.9	6.9	4.0	4.6
of which: manufacturing	- 0.6	2.3	1.9	2.6	5.2	:	:	:	:
Construction	17.0	9.9	4.1	- 6.4	2.8	1.3	- 0.9	– 1.3	1.0
Trade, transport and communication	- 0.6	5.1	4.4	- 1.1	2.7	4.2	4.8	0.0	- 1.0
Finance and business services	4.8	6.8	4.9	0.2	3.5	4.6	- 1.0	0.5	- 1.0
Non-market-related services	1.5	4.5	12.7	2.3	2.5	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	2.1	5.6	6.0	- 0.6	1.7	3.2	2.4	0.7	- 0.1
Sectoral breakdown of componentian per omployee									
Total inductries	0.1	5 5	5 5	1 2	2 1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	2.5	- 2.6	/3.3	5.5	6.8	-73	5.7	11 /	0.0
Industry excluding construction	5.0	- 2.0	43.5	2.5	6.8	- 7.5	5.7	11.4	2.0
of which: manufacturing	2.3	6.2	6.3	2.2	0.0 4 4				
Construction	9.2	7.9	0.0	- 5.8	3.1	. 20	. 0.2	- 1 1	2.0
Trade transport and communication	- 2 3	5.7	- 0.5	1.9	3.4	5.0	4.4	1.1	- 0.2
Finance and business services	3.8	10.3	2.0	- 1.6	3.4	2.5	- 1 3	0.6	1.6
Non-market-related services	- 1.8	3.0	11.3	1.9	2.2	:	:	:	:
Contract has a balances of the barrier and the distribution									
Agriculture and fishery	0.6	0 /	10	F 1	7.4	2E 1	0.2	2.1	1 5
Industry excluding construction	0.8	6 1	4.0	_ 0 0	- 2.6	0.7	- 1 7	_ 2 /	- 2 5
of which: manufacturing	2.0	3.0	43	0.9	-0.8			2.4	
Construction	- 6 7	-18	- 4 0	0.5	0.0	. 07	. 11	. 0.2	
Trade, transport and communication	- 1.7	0.5	- 4.7	3.1	0.5	0.7	- 0.4	1.0	0.9
Finance and business services	- 0.9	3.3	- 2.7	- 1.8	- 0.1	- 2.0	- 0.2	0.0	2.6
Non-market-related services	- 3.2	- 1.4	- 1.3	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 0.8	- 1.0	0.0	0.2
Market-related sectors	- 0.7	1.0	- 2.4	1.2	0.6	1.5	0.4	0.4	1.0

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Latvia

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	2 364	2 344	2 330	2 319	2 306	- 0.6	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	1 594	1 590	1 588	1 587	1 583	- 0.3	%
as % of total population	67.4	67.8	68.2	68.4	68.7	0.2	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	1 080	1 094	1 099	1 106	1 101	- 0.4	%
Male	556	564	564	568	568	0.0	%
Female	525	530	535	537	534	- 0.7	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	67.8	68.8	69.2	69.7	69.6	- 0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	37.0	39.0	38.4	37.2	37.7	0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	86.3	85.7	86.3	86.3	85.6	-0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	41.5	40.3	47.9	74.2	23.7	1.4	p.p.
Voung (15.24)	/2.0	74.1	74.1	/4.5	/4.4	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	42.1	44.0 89.2	44.4 89.7	43.3	45.0 89.5	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	52.9	57.3	56.1	60.3	61.0	0.8	p.p.
Eemale	63.2	63.9	64 7	65.3	65.1	- 0.2	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24)	31.7	33.4	32.2	31.0	31.1	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	83.3	82.3	83.1	83.1	82.0	- 1.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	33.2	38.2	41.8	46.2	48.2	2.1	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	58.8	60.4	61.8	62.3	63.3	1.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	28.9	30.9	31.5	30.5	32.6	2.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	75.6	76.1	77.7	77.9	78.4	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	37.2	41.7	44.2	47.8	49.7	1.9	p.p.
Male	62.1	64.3	66.1	66.4	67.6	1.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	32.6	36.4	37.0	36.5	38.8	2.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	77.2	78.0	80.7	80.4	81.7	1.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	45.9	50.6	51.5	56.0	55.4	- 0.6	p.p.
Female	55.8	56.9	57.9	58.6	59.3	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24)	25.1	25.3	25.6	24.4	26.3	1.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	74.4	74.3	74.9	75.5	75.4	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	30.4	35.2	38.9	42.0	45.5	3.5	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	938	960	981	989	1 002	14	In.
Male (as % of total)	50.6	51.0	21.3	21.3	21.4	0.2	p.p.
7 Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	43.4	49.0	40.0	40.0	48.0	- 0.2	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (IFS, age 15-64)	2.2	24	22	0.7	1.5		p.p.
Male	1.4	3.3	2.8	0.7	1.7		p.p.
Female	3.1	1.6	1.6	0.7	0.9		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	5.7	5.9	5.7	6.0	5.6	- 0.4	p.p.
Male	6.3	6.4	6.7	6.9	6.4	- 0.5	p.p.
Female	5.1	5.5	4.7	5.1	4.8	- 0.3	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	6.7	13.8	11.2	9.5	8.4	- 1.1	p.p.
Male	8.5	16.9	13.2	11.6	10.6	- 1.0	p.p.
Female	5.0	10.6	9.1	7.3	6.2	- 1.1	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	9.3	9.0	9.6	9.7	7.6	- 2.1	p.p.
Male	7.9	7.0	7.4	7.1	5.6	– 1.5	p.p.
Female	11.0	11.1	12.0	12.3	9.8	- 2.6	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	12.9	12.2	10.5	10.4	8.9	- 1.5	p.p.
Young (15-24)	21.8	20.8	18.0	18.1	13.5	- 4.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	12.3	11.1	10.0	9.7	8.4	- 1.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	10.3	9.9	/.8	8.6	7.5	- 1.0	p.p.
Male Young (15-24)	14.2	13.3	10.0	10.6	9.1	- 1.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	13.5	10.5	10.0	10.3	86	- 4.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	13.5	12.5	82	7.0	9.0	22	p.p.
Eemale	11.5	11.0	10.2	10.2	8.7	- 1 5	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24)	20.8	24.2	20.6	21.2	15.5	- 5.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	10.8	9.8	9.9	9.1	8.1	- 1.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	8.4	7.9	7.0	9.0	5.6	- 3.4	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment)	54.9	45.1	41.6	43.7	45.8	2.1	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	42.7	41.8	41.7	41.0	41.4	0.8	%
Male	44.3	43.5	43.1	42.6	43.0	0.8	%
Female	41.1	40.1	40.1	39.3	39.6	0.8	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	5.5	3.6	- 10.1	- 8.7	- 5.5		p.p.
Building and construction	19.4	- 11.4	19.2	21.1	6.5		p.p.
Services	1.2	3.9	2.2	2.0	3.1		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	- 2.8	- 2.7	5.6	- 3.4	- 0.9		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Latvia

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	3.4	4.0	11.1	15.1	14.4	13.9	13.8	15.0	13.7
Compensation of employees per hour worked	3.7	5.8	11.2	18.1	15.7	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	7.4	7.9	9.7	11.2	15.1	13.8	13.4	16.0	16.9
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	- 2.2	- 0.8	5.5	7.2	5.4	7.3	2.9	4.6	5.7
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 3.9	- 4.2	1.9	0.3	- 3.3	0.5	- 5.6	- 3.9	- 5.1
Wages and salaries	6.7	0.5	16.7	19.0	13.9	18.4	11.6	13.7	14.5
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	52.6	50.0	51.4	51.6	50.5	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	22.1	22.1	21.4	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	77.9	77.9	78.6	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	71.8	71.7	72.4	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	21.8	21.8	20.8	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	0.3	0.3	0.7	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	5.7	4.8	5.4	7.4	8.5	6.2	10.5	10.0	7.5
Hourly labour productivity	6.2	5.2	4.4	10.3	8.0	:	:	:	:
GDP	8.0	6.5	7.2	8.5	10.2	7.6	11.2	11.4	10.6
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	12.8	12.2	11.5	10.6	9.6	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	- 0.2	- 0.5	- 0.7	- 0.4	1.0	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	1.7	3.6	3.6	6.8	9.0	6.7	9.1	8.8	11.4
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	7.6	8.5	- 8.4	2.3	- 10.1	6.7	- 9.6	- 7.1	- 9.1
Industry excluding construction	- 10.0	- 7.0	- 5.3	0.1	2.7	8.6	5.1	7.6	7.4
of which: manufacturing	- 10.3	- 5.4	5.7	3.4	7.0	8.3	4.3	7.2	7.3
Construction	6.5	- 14.8	1.6	12.9	1.0	0.0	2.5	12.0	12.8
Trade, transport and communication	– 1.3	- 10.3	- 2.6	- 0.3	- 1.0	3.8	1.1	1.6	5.7
Finance and business services	- 17.4	1.9	- 5.6	12.9	4.6	12.9	6.9	9.7	8.5
Non-market-related services	8.3	2.8	0.4	6.8	8.2	16.9	10.8	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	4.9	7.2	3.9	5.6	1.7	3.2	5.0
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	3.3	0.3	0.7	10.9	9.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	8.0	9.4	- 0.6	17.4	- 1.9	19.0	0.2	16.8	4.7
Industry excluding construction	1.4	2.8	- 3.9	10.4	9.9	12.6	18.4	15.0	10.4
of which: manufacturing	1.7	5.9	6.1	15.4	14.7	13.3	14.7	14.1	11.6
Construction	- 4.1	5.6	- 2.6	5.1	10.2	0.1	21.5	21.5	26.6
Trade, transport and communication	7.1	- 4.5	2.4	5.9	10.4	7.8	10.7	11.5	16.8
Finance and business services	- 4.6	3.0	- 2.8	18.3	20.8	33.9	32.3	37.2	12.2
Non-market-related services	8.7	- 0.2	4.9	13.1	8.1	20.8	12.0	:	:
Costeral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	0.4	0.9	86	1/1 7	Q 1	11 5	10.8	25.7	15.3
Industry excluding construction	12.7	10.6	1.5	10.3	7.0	3.7	12.7	6.8	2.8
of which: manufacturing	13.4	11.9	0.4	11.6	7.2	4.6	10.0	6.5	4.0
Construction	- 10.0	24.0	- 4.1	- 6.9	9.0	0.2	18.5	8.6	12.3
Trade, transport and communication	8.5	6.5	5.1	6.2	11.6	3.9	9.5	9.7	10.5
Finance and business services	15.5	1.1	3.0	4.8	15.5	18.6	23.7	25.1	3.4
Non-market-related services	0.4	- 2.9	4.4	5.9	- 0.1	3.3	1.0	- 1.5	0.5
Market-related sectors	7.6	7.3	4.6	7.1	10.1	5.6	12.9	12.9	8.7
						I			

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Lithuania

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers	. 2 796	3 453	3 445	3 434	3 424	- 0.3	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	2 311	2 303	2 305	2 311	2 322	0.5	%
as % of total population	82.7	66.7	66.9	67.3	67.8	0.5	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers	. 1609	1 602	1 611	1 596	1 587	- 0.6	%
Mai	e 816	813	814	811	807	- 0.5	%
Femal	e /92	/90	/9/	/85	/80	- 0.7	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	09.6	69.6 21.0	69.9	69.1	68.4 25.1	- 0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-5/	+) 52.0 1) 88.5	88.5	30.0 88.8	20.2	23.1	- 1.1	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) <u>44</u> 9	46.8	50.6	52.6	52.8	0.0	p.p.
Mal	le 73.7	73.6	73.5	72.8	72.1	- 0.7	p.p.
Young (15-24	1) 37.7	35.1	34.2	31.1	29.7	- 1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	4) 89.7	90.5	90.5	90.6	90.1	- 0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) 59.1	59.8	62.0	63.7	64.0	0.2	p.p.
Femal	e 65.8	65.8	66.5	65.6	64.9	- 0.7	p.p.
Young (15-24	1) 27.6	26.7	25.8	21.5	20.6	- 0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	1) 87.4	86.7	87.2	86.8	85.8	- 1.0	p.p.
Older (55-64	4) 33.9	37.1	41.8	44.1	44.4	0.3	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	57.3	59.9	61.1	61.2	62.6	1.5	p.p.
Young (15-24	4) 22.5	23.7	22.5	20.3	21.1	0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	4) 73.9	/6.9	/8.9	/9.4	81.0	1.6	p.p.
Older (55-64	4) <u>38.9</u>	41.6	44.8	47.1	49.2	2.1	p.p.
Wall Young (15.2)	e 58.7	02.7	04.0 26.2	04.7	00.1 24.7	1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-5/	+) 24.2 1) 73.1	27.1	20.5	24.0	24.7	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64	+) / J. T 1) 49.4	51.4	55.3	57.6	59.0	1.0	p.p.
Femal	le 56.0	57.2	58.4	57.0	59.0	1.1	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24	1) 21.1	20.5	18.5	16.5	17.3	0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	1) 74.5	75.8	78.0	77.3	78.8	1.5	p.p.
Older (55-64	4) 31.0	34.1	36.8	39.3	41.7	2.4	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	1 324	1 379	1 409	1 413	1 454	41	Th.
Male (as % of tota	<i>l)</i> 49.1	50.2	50.3	51.0	50.9	- 0.1	p.p.
Female (as % of tota	<i>l)</i> 50.9	49.8	49.7	49.0	49.1	0.1	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	- 3.3	4.0	2.3	- 0.1	2.6		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	- 2.8	4.1	2.2	0.3	2.9		p.p.
Mai	e – 2.9	6.5	2.4	1.6	2.7		p.p.
Femal	e – 2.7	1.9	1.9	- 1.0	3.1	0.0	p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	13.5	14.2	14.4	12.8	11.9	- 0.9	p.p.
Iviai Formal	e 17.1	17.0	17.5	10.4	14.2	- 1.0	p.p.
9 Temporary employment (as % total)	5.8	73	7.2	63	5.5	- 0.9	p.p.
Mal	e 7.6	9.8	9.7	8.8	7.6	- 1.1	p.p.
Femal	e 4.2	4.9	4.8	3.9	3.6	- 0.4	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	9.6	10.6	9.2	8.3	6.8	- 1.5	p.p.
Mal	e 8.0	9.3	7.1	6.4	4.9	– 1.5	p.p.
Femal	e 11.2	11.9	11.4	10.3	8.8	- 1.5	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	16.5	13.5	12.4	11.4	8.3	- 3.1	p.p.
Young (15-24	1) 31.3	23.3	25.1	22.5	15.9	- 6.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	4) 16.5	13.2	11.2	10.4	7.8	- 2.6	p.p.
Older (55-64	4) 13.5	11.1	11.5	10.4	6.8	- 3.6	p.p.
Mai	e 18.6	14.2	12.7	11.0	8.2	- 2.8	p.p.
Young (15-24	4) 35.8	22.7	22.9	22.9	16.7	- 6.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	+) 18.5	13.8	10.0	9.9	7.5	- 2.4	p.p.
Older (55-64	+) 10.5	14.1	10.9	9.0	2.7	- 1.9	p.p.
Voung (15-2)	1) 227	23.0	28.2	23.4	16.0	- 7.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	i) 14.7	12.6	10.6	11.0	82	- 2.8	p.p.
Older (55-64	1) 8.4	7.9	11.9	11.0	6.2	- 4.9	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemploymen	t) 57.4	53.3	48.2	51.4	52.2	0.8	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	38.3	37.8	37.4	37.9	38.1	0.7	%
Mal	e 39.7	38.8	38.5	38.9	39.4	1.2	%
Femal	e 37.0	36.6	36.2	36.7	36.7	0.1	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agricultur	e – 10.6	7.1	2.6	- 11.5	- 9.0		p.p.
Building and constructio	n 1.3	9.9	14.9	8.5	14.0		p.p.
Service	es – 1.3	2.2	1.0	3.5	4.2		p.p.
Manufacturing industr	y – 4.3	1.2	1.5	- 3./	0.1		р.р.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Lithuania

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	3.8	5.1	8.9	8.2	8.7	6.1	7.4	8.1	12.8
Compensation of employees per hour worked	4.8	6.0	9.7	9.4	7.9	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	1.1	4.3	3.9	4.5	11.5	11.6	8.5	11.6	13.9
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	- 5.7	2.4	0.8	1.0	3.8	4.2	1.2	2.9	6.8
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 5.3	2.2	1.9	- 1.7	2.0	- 1.4	- 4.5	- 2.9	0.9
Wages and salaries	1.6	13.4	12.5	6.8	8.5	4.8	3.0	9.6	16.7
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	53.3	54.6	55.2	54.0	52.3	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	28.2	28.2	28.2	28.4	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	71.8	71.8	71.8	71.6	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	66.5	66.6	66.5	66.6	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	27.8	27.7	27.8	28.0	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	pments o	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	10.1	2.7	8.0	7.1	4.7	1.8	6.2	5.1	5.6
Hourly labour productivity	10.0	4.4	9.3	5.9	1.9	:	:	:	:
GDP	6.4	6.8	10.5	7.0	7.5	4.4	8.5	8.0	8.7
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	14.1	14.1	13.3	11.8	10.0	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	- 2.5	- 1.5	2.0	1.8	2.4	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	- 0.5	0.2	- 1.1	2.8	5.9	5.6	6.0	6.0	5.8
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	31.3	- 11.9	6.5	10.1	0.2	15.2	4.2	- 9.9	- 5.6
Industry excluding construction	- 8.4	- 0.6	0.0	- 0.3	3.4	7.8	- 0.6	1.8	4.6
of which: manufacturing	- 9.5	- 3.5	4.2	2.3	2.9	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 4.3	9.5	- 2.1	11.3	13.8	13.6	17.7	9.3	15.0
Trade, transport and communication	- 1.2	13.8	1.1	0.2	5.5	2.3	0.1	8.2	11.7
Finance and business services	6.7	9.3	3.7	3.1	11.6	20.6	10.7	10.3	7.0
Non-market-related services	1.4	6.8	2.8	5.7	5.6	5.2	4.1	:	:
Market-related sectors	- 5.5	2.4	1.5	0.2	4.0	4.2	1.5	3.7	7.2
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	7.0	8.9	9.1	8.2	8.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	39.8	- 11.2	12.0	23.2	11.8	40.3	19.7	- 1.4	- 3.5
Industry excluding construction	8.3	- 0.2	14.1	13.4	7.8	6.2	8.4	4.1	11.9
of which: manufacturing	6.9	- 6.5	17.1	15.8	11.0	:	:	:	:
Construction	1.6	12.9	4.6	8.0	10.0	- 4.7	26.1	10.2	8.4
Trade, transport and communication	6.9	21.4	7.4	3.8	14.2	5.6	6.8	21.0	23.5
Finance and business services	26.2	- 12.1	11.5	5.6	7.4	28.7	17.2	- 8.8	- 1.9
Non-market-related services	1.3	12.5	6.5	7.2	5.2	2.5	1.0	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	6.5	0.9	5.2	11.9	11.6	21.8	14.8	9.5	2.2
Industry excluding construction	18.2	0.3	14.1	13.8	4.3	- 1.4	9.0	2.3	6.9
of which: manufacturing	18.1	- 2.1	12.4	13.1	7.9	:	:	:	:
Construction	6.2	3.1	6.8	- 3.0	- 3,3	- 16.2	7.1	0.8	- 5.7
Trade, transport and communication	8.2	6.7	6.2	3.6	8.3	3.2	6.7	11.8	10.6
Finance and business services	18.3	- 19.6	7.5	2.4	- 3.8	6.7	5.9	- 17.3	- 8.3
Non-market-related services	- 0.1	5.4	3.6	1.4	- 0.4	- 2.6	- 3.0	0.4	4.5
Market-related sectors	12.9	1.0	8.5	8.5	6.0	3.3	9.1	5.5	5.4
						I			

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Luxembourg

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	433	435	442	445	452	1.6	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	294	295	298	299	304	1.7	%
as % of total population	67.9	67.8	67.4	67.2	67.3	0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	189	193	194	197	203	3.0	%
Male	113	115	113	115	116	0.9	%
Female	/5	/8 65.4	81	84 65 0	80	2.4	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	34.0	36.0	30.0	28.0	28.8	0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	79.6	81.1	81.4	82.9	83.9	1.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	25.6	27.9	29.5	29.5	34.0	4.5	p.p.
Male	76.4	77.2	75.3	76.2	75.8	- 0.3	D.D.
Young (15-24)	36.0	40.0	28.0	28.0	30.8	2.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	94.1	95.1	94.2	95.1	95.1	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	33.3	36.4	40.9	36.4	41.7	5.3	p.p.
Female	51.7	53.4	54.7	56.4	57.0	0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	32.0	32.0	28.0	28.0	26.9	- 1.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	64.6	67.0	68.3	70.3	72.5	2.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	14.3	18.2	22.7	22.7	26.1	3.4	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	62.9	63.4	62.8	62.5	63.5	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24)	32.0	32.0	26.0	24.0	25.0	1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	/8.6	79.1	78.9	79.0	80.5	1.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	25.6	27.9	29.5	29.5	31.9	2.4	p.p.
Voung (15-24)	36.0	36.0	73.5	72.0	75.2	- 1 1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	93.1	93.1	92.0	92.2	93.2	1.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	33.3	36.4	40.9	36.4	37.5	1.1	p.p.
Female	51.0	51.4	52.0	51.7	53.6	2.0	D.D.
Young (15-24)	32.0	28.0	24.0	20.0	23.1	3.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	63.6	64.0	65.3	66.3	68.6	2.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	14.3	18.2	22.7	22.7	26.1	3.4	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	185	187	187	187	193	6	Th.
Male (as % of total)	60.0	59.9	58.8	58.8	58.0	- 0.8	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	40.0	40.1	41.2	41.2	42.0	0.8	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	5.5	2.9	1.8	2.3	2.9		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	2.8	1.1	0.0	0.0	3.2		p.p.
Male	1.8	0.9	- 1.8	0.0	1.8		p.p.
Female	4.2	1.4	2.7	0.0	5.2	0.1	p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	2.2	2.1	5.9	4.8	4.7	- 0.1	p.p.
Female	2.7	1.3	5.2	3.0	J.4 1 Q	- 0.1	p.p.
9 Temporary employment (as % total)	4.3	4.3	3.2	4.8	4.9	0.5	p.p.
Male	3.7	4.0	2.5	4.1	5.0	0.9	p.p.
Female	5.3	4.7	4.1	5.8	5.8	0.0	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	11.4	11.8	13.4	16.6	17.6	1.0	p.p.
Male	1.8	1.8	1.8	2.7	2.7	0.0	p.p.
Female	25.7	26.7	29.9	36.4	38.3	1.9	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	2.1	2.8	3.7	5.1	4.5	0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	5.9	11.1	13.3	14.3	13.3	- 1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	1.3	2.5	3.0	4.7	4.1	- 0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	6.3	6.3	p.p.
Male	1.7	2.1	3.0	3.7	3.5	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	0.0	10.0	0.0	0.0	12.5	12.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	1.0	2.1	2.1	3.1	2.0	- 1.0	p.p.
Eamalo	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	1 1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	0.0	12.5	14.7	28.6	14.3	- 14 3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	1.6	4.5	43	5.6	5.4	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	0.0	,	2.0		0.0		1.10.
(as % of total unemployment)	28.4	27.4	24.9	20.8	26.3	5.5	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	38.6	38.6	37.8	38.2	37.9	- 0.8	%
Male	41.9	41.7	40.7	41.4	41.2	- 0.5	%
Female	33.7	33.9	33.4	33.3	33.0	- 0.9	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	- 2.5	0.0	0.0	- 2.6	1.1		p.p.
Building and construction	5.0	3.3	1.4	2.1	3.2		p.p.
Services	6.5	3.5	2.6	2.7	3.5		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	1.5	- 0.9	- 2.4	- 0.3	0.0		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Luxembourg

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	3.5	3.9	1.8	4.1	4.6	:	:	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	4.8	4.5	3.3	6.4	4.7	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	5.2	3.5	4.2	2.6	6.0	6.9	5.8	3.3	7.8
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	6.5	3.2	1.6	2.1	3.5	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	6.4	0.5	- 3.0	1.1	0.6	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	60.2	59.9	58.0	59.4	58.8	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	15.5	15.6	15.6	15.6	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	84.5	84.4	84.4	84.4	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	71.7	71.6	71.6	71.5	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	14.0	14.1	14.1	14.2	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	- 2.9	0.7	0.2	1.9	1.1	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour productivity	- 2.0	1.2	1.5	4.0	1.1	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.5	3.6	2.0	4.2	4.0	1.4	3.6	5.4	5.7
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	3.0	3.4	3.7	4.2	4.6	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	1.6	0.7	- 1.6	- 1.5	- 1.5	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	0.1	2.7	4.8	1.0	4.2	2.0	3.3	4.6	6.5
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	20.9	- 4.4	20.4	- 0.2	:	26.1	10.8	15.6	4.0
Industry excluding construction	5.4	- 1.9	1.7	- 2.4	:	3.5	3.8	4.0	1.0
of which: manufacturing	7.1	1.1	2.3	- 3.4	0.7	:	:	:	:
Construction	4.8	- 3.7	6.5	6.0	:	14.7	8.4	10.1	0.7
Trade, transport and communication	2.2	3.1	2.2	2.0	:	4.8	2.3	1.4	- 2.1
Finance and business services	9.4	3.2	- 0.5	2.0	:	7.6	5.8	1.4	- 3.3
Non-market-related services	2.9	6.3	3.8	4.3	:	3.7	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	6.0	2.1	1.3	1.9	- 2.9	6.5	4.6	2.3	- 2.0
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	3.3	3.8	1.9	4.0	:	:	:	:	:
Agriculture and fishery	3.6	1.0	6.0	- 0.6	:	4.3	6.9	6.6	1.9
Industry excluding construction	0.5	3.5	6.0	1.5	:	3.7	4.6	4.9	2.9
of which: manufacturing	1.6	4.3	5.3	1.2	3.2	:	:	:	:
Construction	5.0	2.4	4.5	4.4	:	0.2	4.5	4.5	2.7
Trade, transport and communication	4.1	3.7	3.0	4.4	:	4.3	5.3	5.0	3.1
Finance and business services	3.3	3.5	- 1.8	4.4	:	4.5	5.6	5.1	1.5
Non-market-related services	4.1	3.2	2.5	4.0	:	4.6	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 14.3	5.6	- 12.0	- 0.4	- 8.2	- 17.3	- 3.5	- 7.7	- 2.0
Industry excluding construction	- 4.7	5.6	4.2	4.0	0.0	0.2	0.8	0.9	2.0
of which: manufacturing	- 5.1	3.2	2.9	4.7	2.5	:	:	:	:
Construction	0.1	6.3	- 1.8	- 1.5	5.1	- 12.7	- 3.6	- 5.1	2.0
Trade, transport and communication	1.9	0.6	0.8	2.4	3.3	- 0.5	2.9	3.5	5.3
Finance and business services	- 5.5	0.2	- 1.2	2.4	1.1	- 2.9	- 0.1	3.7	4.9
Non-market-related services	1.2	- 3.0	- 1.2	- 0.3	1.5	0.8	2.1	2.7	0.0
Market-related sectors	- 2.5	1.8	0.0	2.5	1.6	- 2.1	0.9	2.8	4.7

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Hungary

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	10 038	10 013	9 980	9 944	9 932	- 0.1	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	6 852	6 849	6 836	6 826	6 815	- 0.2	%
as % of total population	68.3	68.4	68.5	68.6	68.6	0.0	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	4 085	4 090	4 141	4 127	4 180	1.3	%
Male	2 246	2 239	2 251	2 239	2 260	0.9	%
Female	9 1 839	1 851	1 891	1 888	1 920	1.7	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	59.6	59.7	60.6	60.5	61.3	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24) 34.6	32.6	30.9	27.9	27.1	- 0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) //.1	77.0	//.8	77.9	/8./	0.9	p.p.
Older (55-64)	24.2	20.4	29.8	32.1	54.3	2.3	p.p.
Wale Young (15-24	207.2	25.0	07.0	21.4	20.2	0.7	p.p.
Primo ago (25.54)	y 39.2	21.2	24.0	31.4 85.0	20.3	- 1.1	p.p.
Older (55-64	35.5	36.9	39.0	39.6	42.3	2.7	p.p.
Female Female	52.4	52.7	53.0	54.0	55 1	1 1	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24) 29.9	29.3	27.3	24.3	23.8	- 0.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	70.1	69.8	71.0	70.9	72.1	1.2	p.p.
Older (55-64) 15.1	18.0	22.4	25.8	27.7	1.9	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	56.2	56.2	57.0	56.8	56.9	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24) 30.7	28.5	26.8	23.6	21.9	- 1.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 73.1	73.0	73.7	73.6	73.7	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 23.5	25.6	29.0	31.0	33.0	1.9	p.p.
Male	62.9	62.9	63.5	63.1	63.1	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)) 34.4	31.2	29.8	26.3	24.4	– 1.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)) 79.4	79.8	80.1	80.5	80.3	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	34.1	35.5	37.8	38.4	40.5	2.2	p.p.
Female	e 49.8	49.8	50.9	50.7	51.0	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24) 26.9	25.8	23.8	20.8	19.2	- 1.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 67.0	66.5	67.4	67.0	67.2	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64) 14.8	17.7	21.7	25.0	26.7	1.7	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	3 850	3 851	3 897	38/5	38/9	4	In.
Male (as % of total)) 24.0	54.5 45.4	54.Z	54.Z	54.Z	- 0.1	p.p.
7 Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0 3	45.4	45.0	45.8	45.8	0.1	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (IES_age 15-64)	12	0.0	1.5	- 0.6	0.0		p.p.
Male	0.6	- 0.1	0.6	- 0.5	0.0		p.p.
Female	2 1.8	0.1	2.0	- 0.7	0.3		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	8.1	7.8	7.6	7.7	7.3	- 0.5	p.p.
Male	e 10.0	9.6	9.4	9.5	8.8	- 0.7	p.p.
Female	e 6.0	5.7	5.4	5.7	5.5	- 0.2	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	7.4	7.2	7.5	6.8	7.0	0.2	p.p.
Male	e 8.0	7.8	8.3	7.5	7.5	0.0	p.p.
Female	e 6.8	6.6	6.6	6.1	6.4	0.4	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	3.1	3.1	3.7	4.4	3.9	- 0.5	p.p.
Male	e 1.8	1.8	2.2	3.0	2.5	- 0.5	p.p.
Female	e 4.7	4.6	5.6	6.0	5.6	- 0.4	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	5.7	5.8	5.9	6.1	7.2	1.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 11.3	12.6	13.3	15.6	19.3	3.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 5.2	5.2	5.3	5.5	6.4	0.9	p.p.
Older (55-64)	2.8	3.2	2.7	3.2	4.0	0.8	p.p.
Wale Young (15-24	· 0.5	12.2	12.0	16.2	10 7	0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	, 12.2	5.4	5.5	5.3	6.0	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	, 3.7	3.9	3.5	3.5	0.0	1.0	p.p.
Female	<u>5.0</u>	5.5	5.6	6.1	7.2	1.0	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24) 10.1	11.9	13.0	14.4	19.0	4.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 4.5	4.8	5.0	5.6	6.8	1.2	p.p.
Older (55-64) 1.6	2.0	2.8	3.0	3.3	0.3	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment) 45.3	43.4	41.3	44.0	45.1	1.1	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	40.7	41.0	40.8	40.6	40.3	- 0.7	%
Male	42.1	42.2	42.3	41.9	41.5	- 1.0	%
Female	39.1	39.3	39.1	39.0	38.8	- 0.4	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	- 3.1	- 1.1	- 10.8	- 4.9	- 4.9		p.p.
Building and construction	0.0	0.0	10.9	3.1	1.7		p.p.
Service	- 0.1	0.5	3.9	0.5	1.1		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	/ 2.7	- 0.2	- 3.6	- 3.6	- 2.8		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.
Indicator board on wage developments Hungary

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	16.1	12.6	9.5	9.8	9.1	:	:	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	19.5	12.9	11.6	8.8	9.9	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	14.9	13.6	5.8	8.3	7.6	9.2	6.7	6.6	7.6
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	11.6	8.5	7.2	3.7	5.4	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	3.1	- 0.2	0.6	- 0.4	2.3	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	61.4	61.0	62.0	62.0	63.1	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	31.4	31.5	30.7	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	68.6	68.5	69.3	9.50p	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	58.7	:	65.8	5.30p	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	28.8	28.5	28.1	7.60p	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	2.6	2.9	2.6	2.90p	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	nments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	4.1	3.8	2.1	5.9	3.6	3.8	4.6	3.9	4.1
Hourly labour productivity	6.2	3.4	3.5	6.0	3.8				
GDP	43	3.8	3.4	5.2	3.6	32	45	. 4 5	43
ECEIN NAIRU estimate	5.7	5.4	5.4	5.5	5.9				
Output gap (%)	- 0.2	- 0.7	- 1.4	- 0.9	- 0.7		•	•	
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	9.1	5.2	4.7	6.8	3.5	3.5	3.6	3.5	3.2
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	5.8	4.9	6.4	2.7	3.3	2.8	2.3	2.2
GDP deflator	8.3	8.7	6.7	4.1	2.9	2.3	1.1	3.8	2.6
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs		~~ ~	10 5						
Agriculture and fishery	- 10.4	20.7	- 12.5	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	12.3	5.9	- 2.1	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	9.3	- 1.4	0.7	0.5	2.0	:	÷	:	:
Construction	8.9	9.8	0.0	:	:	:	:	:	:
Frage, transport and communication	11.2	5.8	4.5	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	17.9	26.1	5.6	:	:	:		:	:
Mon-market-related services		20.0	.0	•	•	•	•	•	•
	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	17.7	18.9	4.9	10.7	:	:	:	:	:
Agriculture and fishery	15.5	6.4	- 6.4	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	10.8	8.1	7.4	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	9.1	2.0	11.2	9.8	9.1	:	:	:	:
Construction	14.1	23.6	- 12.7	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	16.2	11.4	8.6	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	21.8	31.7	- 2.9	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	25.1	30.0	4.8	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	28.8	- 11.8	7.0	64.8	- 17.1	- 6.2	- 8.2	- 18.1	- 6.5
Industry excluding construction	- 1.4	2.0	9.6	8.0	8.8	4.0	10.0	10.0	9.9
of which: manufacturing	- 0.2	3.4	10.5	9.3	7.0	:	:	:	:
Construction	4.7	12.5	- 12.7	0.6	13.1	6.7	13.9	15.1	12.9
Trade, transport and communication	4.5	5.4	3.9	4.5	1.8	3.2	1.8	1.1	2.1
Finance and business services	3.2	4.4	- 8.1	0.8	4.1	4.6	3.6	5.7	4.1
Non-market-related services	5.2	1.6	- 3.0	0.4	2.6	3.5	3.3	2.6	2.0
Market-related sectors	4.0	3.6	3.0	8.5	3.4	3.3	4.7	3.8	4.3

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Malta

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	393	396	399	400	402	0.6	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	267	269	271	272	274	0.6	%
as % of total population	67.9	68.0	68.0	68.0	68.1	0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	157	158	159	158	159	0.5	%
Male	e 110	109	109	110	109	- 0.5	%
Female	e 4/	49	49	49	51	3.6	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	58.8	58.5	58.7	58.2	58.1	- 0.1	p.p.
Foung (15-24 Prime age (25-54) 64.4	56.6	50.0	55.4	54.5 65.8	- 0.9	p.p.
Older (55-64) 04.5	30.6	33.7	32.0	21.7	- 1.2	p.p.
Mala	, <u>27.3</u> a <u>82.1</u>	80.3	80.2	80.2	79.0	- 1.2	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24) 66.7	60.7	58.9	60.5	56.0	- 4 5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 94.1	93.3	93.3	93.3	93.4	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 47.4	52.6	54.5	54.5	55.0	0.5	p.p.
Female	35.3	36.6	36.6	36.0	37.1	1.1	D.D.
Young (15-24) 62.1	56.8	53.8	50.4	52.9	2.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 33.7	36.3	36.6	37.1	37.6	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64) 9.5	10.7	13.1	10.7	11.9	1.2	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	54.7	54.4	54.2	54.0	53.9	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24) 52.5	50.8	47.1	46.3	45.1	- 1.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 61.3	61.7	61.8	62.0	62.3	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64) 27.5	30.0	32.5	31.7	30.5	– 1.2	p.p.
Male	e 76.9	74.7	74.5	75.1	73.7	- 1.4	p.p.
Young (15-24) 53.3	52.5	48.4	50.0	48.0	- 2.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 90.6	88.6	88.1	89.0	89.0	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 47.4	51.3	54.5	53.2	48.8	- 4.5	p.p.
Female	e 33.1	33.8	33.6	32.7	33.6	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24) 51./	49.2	44.4	42.0	44.5	2.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 32.5	34.2	34.8	34.7	35.0	0.9	p.p.
6 Employed percent (age 15.64, 1.000 perc.)) 9.5 146	10.7	13.1	10.7	13.1	2.4	p.p. Th
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.) Male (as % of total	140	69.1	69.0	69.7	69.0	-07	nn.
Female (as % of total) 30.1	30.9	30.8	30.1	31.0	0.9	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	1.8	- 0.6	-1.0	0.8	1.6	0.5	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	2.8	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.3		p.p.
Male	e 4.0	- 1.7	0.2	1.0	- 0.7		p.p.
Female	2.3	2.8	0.0	- 2.2	3.4		р.р.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	8.2	9.6	9.2	9.2	9.0	- 0.2	p.p.
Male	e 9.7	11.9	11.1	11.5	11.1	- 0.4	p.p.
Female	e 4.5	4.4	5.5	4.5	6.6	2.0	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	4.1	4.2	3.6	3.8	4.5	0.6	p.p.
Male	e 3.2	3.3	3.0	3.0	3.6	0.7	p.p.
Female	e 6.1	6.0	4.8	5.7	6.2	0.5	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	6.8	7.8	8.8	8.3	9.3	1.0	p.p.
Male	2.9	3.5	3.4	3.9	4.2	0.3	p.p.
Female	e 15.9	18.2	21.0	19.2	21.3	2.1	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	/.6	/.5	7.6	/.3	/.3	0.0	p.p.
roung (15-24 Prime age (25-54) 18.4	13.5	16.8	16.4	17.Z	0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54 Older (55-64) 4.6	5.0	2.0	4.9	2.3	0.4	p.p.
Male	0.0	2.0	6.9	5.7	5.8	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 20.0	13 5	17.8	17.3	14 3	- 3.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 3.8	5.0	5.6	4.7	4.6	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64) 0.0	2.5	0.0	2.4	11.4	9.0	D.D.
Female	9.3	9.2	9.1	8.8	8.8	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24) 16.7	13.4	17.5	16.7	15.9	- 0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 3.6	5.7	4.9	6.3	5.5	- 0.9	р.р.
Older (55-64) 0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	- 10.0	- 10.0	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment) 43.3	44.1	41.6	46.7	46.4	- 0.3	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	34.6	39.8	37.7	40.0	39.2	- 2.1	%
Male	e 36.5	41.5	39.9	41.6	41.2	- 0.8	%
Female	e 30.2	35.7	32.8	36.2	34.4	- 5.0	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	2 :	:	:	:	:		p.p.
Building and construction	1 :	:	:	:	:		p.p.
Service	5 :	:	:	:	:		p.p.
ivianutacturing industry					:		p.p.

 $(^1)$ 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Malta

				Ann	ual % cha	ange			
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	4.8	2.2	3.3	1.6	1.4	- 0.3	1.9	0.9	0.5
Compensation of employees per hour worked	8.9	2.7	5.6	- 2.6	4.5	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	3.1	2.4	3.8	5.3	2.0	:	:	:	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	6.8	1.3	7.0	2.3	0.5	0.2	2.2	1.5	- 1.1
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	4.1	0.6	2.5	0.4	- 2.2	0.9	- 1.1	- 4.5	- 3.8
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	58.5	58.3	59.3	61.3	60.3	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	:	:	8.9	7.8	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	:	:	91.1	92.2	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	7.4	7.8	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	nments	can he a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	- 1.4	0.9	- 3.4	- 0.7	0.9	- 0.6	0.3	2.4	1.6
Hourly labour productivity	1.6	1.4	- 1.0	- 4.7	4.0				
GDP	0.3	1.5	- 2.5	- 1.5	2.5	1.0	1.7	4.1	2.4
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	7.3	7.4	7.5	7.5	7.4	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	2.8	3.5	- 0.4	- 3.1	- 2.3	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	2.5	2.6	1.9	2.7	2.5	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	2.3	2.7	1.9	2.8	2.0	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	2.1	1.9	4.4	1.6	2.7	0.6	3.3	3.2	2.8
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and husiness convises			:	:					
Non market related services	:	:	:	:	:		:	:	:
Market-related services	•	•	•	•			•		•
Market-related sectors	•	•	•	•			•	•	•
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	5.3	0.6	- 1.0	0.9	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
						1			

Work status of persons Netherlands

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	15 837	15 964	16 037	16 119	16 108	- 0.1	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	10 801	10 871	10 920	10 960	10 943	- 0.2	%
as % of total population	68.2	68.1	68.1	68.0	67.9	- 0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	8 190	8 319	8 350	8 398	8 414	0.2	%
Male Female	3 579	3 668	4 644	3 7/17	4 6 1 8 3 7 9 6	- 0.7	% %
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	75.8	76.5	76.5	76.6	76.9	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	73.8	73.7	72.9	71.6	71.0	- 0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	84.3	84.8	85.3	85.9	86.4	0.5	р.р.
Older (55-64)	40.2	43.3	45.5	46.9	48.1	1.2	p.p.
Male	84.3	84.5	84.0	83.9	83.7	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	74.4	74.4	73.5	72.0	71.2	- 0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	94.0	93.6	93.5	93.7	93.8	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	51.9	55.8	58.2	59.1	59.5	0.4	p.p.
Female	67.1	68.3	68.7	69.2	70.0	0.8	p.p.
Foung (15-24) Prime age (25-54)	73.1	73.0	72.3	71.1	70.8	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	28.4	30.6	32.6	34.4	36.5	2.1	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	74.1	74.4	73.6	73.1	73.2	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	70.4	70.0	68.3	65.9	65.2	- 0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	82.8	82.8	82.6	82.5	82.9	0.4	р.р.
Older (55-64)	39.6	42.3	44.3	45.3	46.1	0.9	p.p.
Male	82.8	82.4	81.1	80.2	79.9	- 0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	71.2	70.6	68.9	66.3	65.5	- 0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	92.7	91.8	90.6	90.2	90.3	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	51.1	54.6	56.7	56.9	56.9	0.0	p.p.
Female	65.3	66.2	66.0	65.8	66.4	0.6	p.p.
Foung (15-24) Prime age (25-54)	09.5 72.5	72.6	07.8	05.4 74.6	04.9 75 5	- 0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	28.0	29.9	31.8	33.4	35.2	1.8	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	8 005	8 089	8 042	8 014	8 014	0	Th.
Male (as % of total)	56.5	56.1	55.7	55.5	55.0	- 0.5	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	43.5	43.9	44.3	44.5	45.0	0.4	р.р.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	2.1	0.5	- 0.6	- 1.4	- 0.3		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	2.4	1.0	- 0.6	- 0.3	0.0		p.p.
Male	1.5	0.2	- 1.3	- 0.7	- 0.8		p.p.
Female	3.6	2.1	0.3	0.1	1.0	0.0	p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	7.2	7.1	7.1	/.3	7.5	0.2	p.p.
Fomale	7.0 6.4	6.2	5.0	6.1	6.5	0.5	p.p.
9 Temporary employment (as % total)	14 3	14.2	14.4	14.6	15.4	0.0	p.p.
Male	11.8	11.9	12.7	13.3	14.1	0.9	p.p.
Female	17.4	17.0	16.3	16.3	16.9	0.6	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	41.9	43.6	44.6	45.1	45.7	0.6	p.p.
Male	19.3	20.5	21.3	21.5	21.8	0.3	p.p.
Female	71.2	73.0	74.0	74.6	75.0	0.4	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	2.2	2.8	3.7	4.6	4.7	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	4.6	5.0	6.3	7.9	8.2	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	1.8	2.3	3.3	4.0	4.1	0.1	p.p.
Older(55-64) Male	1.5	2.2	3.5	4.3	4.1	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	4.3	5.1	6.3	7.9	8.1	0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	1.4	2.0	3.1	3.7	3.8	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	1.5	2.1	2.6	3.8	4.4	0.6	p.p.
Female	2.8	3.1	3.9	4.8	5.1	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	4.9	4.8	6.3	8.1	8.4	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	2.4	2.8	3.4	4.2	4.5	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	1.5	2.1	2.4	2.9	3.7	0.8	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate		20.0	27.6	2/1	10.2	6.2	n =
(ds % of lotal unemployment)	22.1	20.0	27.0	54. I 21 5	40.3 21 6	0.2	p.p. %
Male	37.5	36.9	36.8	36.8	37.0	0.5	%
Female	24.7	24.7	24.6	24.5	24.7	0.6	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	0.4	0.0	- 2.0	- 2.4	- 1.8		p.p.
Building and construction	2.2	- 0.4	- 3.8	- 5.0	- 2.8		p.p.
Services	2.6	1.0	0.1	- 0.7	0.2		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	- 0.6	- 2.3	- 3.2	- 3.8	- 3.5		p.p.
						-	

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Netherlands

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	5.0	4.3	3.8	3.1	2.0	2.2	2.2	1.9	1.9
Compensation of employees per hour worked	5.2	5.6	3.7	3.1	1.8	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	5.3	5.4	4.4	3.3	1.8	2.9	2.8	2.3	0.8
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	5.2	4.8	3.3	0.0	0.6	1.6	0.1	0.2	0.4
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.1	0.9	0.7	- 0.9	- 1.0	- 0.3	- 1.4	- 1.0	- 1.3
Wages and salaries	5.8	- 0.5	- 1.1	- 0.2	0.1	- 0.4	0.1	0.2	0.5
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	66.2	66.6	67.2	66.8	66.2	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	20.9	22.1	22.6	23.4	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	79.1	77.9	77.4	76.6	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	68.4	67.5	67.0	66.3	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	19.3	20.5	21.0	21.8	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6	•	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	- 0.1	- 0.4	0.5	3.2	1.5	0.6	2.1	1.7	1.5
Hourly labour productivity	- 0.1	0.7	0.5	3.3	1.3	:	:	:	:
GDP	1.9	0.1	- 0.1	1.7	1.1	- 0.3	1.6	1.6	1.6
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	2.9	2.9	3.0	3.3	3.5	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	2.0	- 0.1	- 1.9	- 1.8	- 2.3	:	:	:	:
Headline Inflation (narmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
CDR deflator	. 5 1		. 25			. 1.0	. 15	. 1.1	. 17
	5.1	5.0	2.5	0.5	1.0	1.5	1.5	1.1	1.7
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	3.8	10.1	- 1.5	- 3.0	- 3.5	- 3.9	- 4.0	- 1.5	- 1.6
Industry excluding construction	- 0.7	1.9	- 1.1	- 2.5	2.6	3.2	0.5	2.9	3.2
of which: manufacturing	4.8	2.6	2.3	- 1.4	1.0	:	:	:	:
Construction	6.0	8.2	5.3	- 1.6	- 1.8	4.2	- 5.8	- 3.3	- 1.8
Trade, transport and communication	I./	- 3.1	2.6	- 0.3	- 1.2	- 0.1	0.0	- 2.1	- 2.1
Non-market-related services	5.1	0.4	2.7	1.5	1.6	0.5	- 0.5	0.9	1.5
Market-related services	5.6	7.2	1.6	-0.6	0.4	1 1	- 0.4	0.0	. 0.5
	5.0			0.0				0.0	0.0
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	4.9	4.3	3.8	3.1	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	– 1.9	8.5	4.7	4.0	- 0.7	0.7	– 1.5	0.3	0.5
Industry excluding construction	4.5	5.2	3.9	3.8	3.2	3.4	3.4	2.9	3.0
of which: manufacturing	4.7	5.1	3.9	3.8	4.2	:	:	:	:
Construction	5.6	5.0	4.9	4.8	3.0	3.4	2.9	2.8	2.8
Finance and business services	4.5	5.2	4.0	2.5	2.5	5.0	2.7	2.5	2.5
Non-market-related services	5.2	4.0	4.4	2.6	1.4	1.5	1.7	1.2	
Non market related services	5.2	4.0	5.1	2.0	1.5	1.5	1.0	1.0	•
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 5.5	- 1.5	6.2	7.3	3.0	4.8	2.6	1.8	2.1
Industry excluding construction	5.2	3.2	5.1	6.4	0.5	0.2	2.9	0.0	- 0.2
of which: manufacturing	- 0.1	2.4	1.6	5.2	3.1	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 0.3	- 2.9	- 0.4	6.5	4.9	- 0.8	9.3	6.3	4.7
Trade, transport and communication	2.7	6.5	1.4	3.6	3.7	3.0	2.7	4.7	4.5
Finance and Dusiness services	0.7	- 1.1	1./	٥.1 م	0.8	1.2	2.0	0.3	- 0.4
Market-related services	- 0.6	- 0.1	- 0.9	0.3	- U. I 1 Q	- 0.8	- 0.6 7 0	0.2	1.0
	2.0	2.2	2.4	-1.0	1.5	1.4	2.5	2.1	1.0

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Austria

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	7 963	7 893	7 907	8 045	8 109	0.8	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	5 404	5 357	5 373	5 485	5 516	0.6	%
as % of total population	67.9	67.9	68.0	68.2	68.0	- 0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	3 835	3 835	3 871	3 911	3 994	2.1	%
Male	2 140	2 111	2 122	2 141	21//	1.7	%
remaie	71.0	1 / 23	1 /49	1 / / 0	1816	2.6	%
4. Activity fate (as % of population 15-64)	54.5	71.0	54.9	57.5	72.4 50.2	1.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	85.5	86.6	87.3	86.3	86 A	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	30.1	30.8	31.8	29.9	33.0	3.1	p.p.
Male	79.5	79.6	79.8	78.5	79.3	0.8	D.D.
Young (15-24)	59.2	59.9	60.1	61.7	63.6	1.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	93.7	94.3	94.7	92.9	92.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	42.1	42.2	42.7	40.6	43.0	2.4	p.p.
Female	62.5	63.7	64.4	64.2	65.6	1.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	49.7	50.3	49.7	53.3	54.8	1.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	77.2	79.0	80.1	79.6	79.9	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	18.9	20.1	21.6	19.9	23.5	3.7	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	68.4	68.7	69.0	67.8	68.6	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24)	51.4	51.7	51.1	51.9	53.1	1.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	82.7	83.0	84.1	82.6	82.6	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	28.0	29.1	30.1	28.8	31.0 75.4	3.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	55.8	56.0	55.7	55.9	56.8	0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	90.9	91.1	91.2	89.4	89.1	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	40.1	39.6	40.2	38.9	41.4	2.5	p.p.
Female	60.1	61.3	61.7	60.7	62.0	1.3	D.D.
Young (15-24)	47.0	47.4	46.5	47.9	49.4	1.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	74.5	76.2	77.1	75.8	76.1	0.3	р.р.
Older (55-64)	18.0	19.3	20.6	19.3	22.9	3.6	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	3 696	3 682	3 706	3 716	3 786	70	Th.
Male (as % of total)	55.9	55.0	54.8	55.0	54.7	- 0.3	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	44.1	45.0	45.2	45.0	45.3	0.3	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0.6	- 0.1	0.1	0.0	0.6		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	0.4	- 0.4	0.7	0.3	1.9		p.p.
Male	- 0.3	- 1.9	0.2	0.6	1.3		p.p.
9 Solf amployed (% of total amployment)	5.2	5.2	1.Z	- 0.1	2.0	0.1	p.p.
a. Sen employed (% of total employment)	5.6	5.5	5.5	7.0	73	-0.1	p.p.
Female	4 7	4.8	4 9	6.2	6.4	0.2	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	8.1	7.5	7.0	9.7	9.1	- 0.6	p.p.
Male	7.1	7.6	7.1	10.2	9.3	- 0.9	p.p.
Female	9.4	7.3	6.7	9.0	8.8	- 0.2	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	16.7	18.4	18.6	19.4	20.8	1.4	p.p.
Male	3.8	4.5	4.3	4.5	5.6	1.1	p.p.
Female	33.1	35.4	36.0	37.7	39.1	1.4	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	3.6	4.2	4.3	4.8	5.2	0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	5.7	6.2	7.0	9.7	10.3	0.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	3.2	3.5	3.7	4.2	4.4	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	4.9	5.4	5.5	3.8	3.5	- 0.3	p.p.
Male Young (15-24)	5.1	4.0	4.0	4.4	4.9	0.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	2.9	3.4	7.4	3.8	4.0	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	4.9	6.1	5.8	4 1	3.8	- 0.3	p.p.
Female	4.2	4.4	4.7	5.3	5.5	0.2	D.D.
Young (15-24)	5.3	5.7	6.5	10.1	9.9	- 0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	3.5	3.6	3.8	4.8	4.9	0.1	р.р.
Older (55-64)	4.8	3.9	4.5	3.0	2.6	- 0.4	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment)	26.1	27.6	28.9	27.5	25.2	- 2.3	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	39.0	38.9	38.4	39.3	38.7	- 1.4	%
Male	42.1	42.1	41.7	43.3	42.7	- 1.3	%
Female	34.9	34.7	34.3	34.0	33.5	– 1.5	%
14. Sectoral employment growth	1 1	0.5	0.7	2.2			
Agriculture Puilding and construction	- 1.1	- 0.5	- 0.7	- 3.2	:		p.p.
Building and construction	- 5.5	- 3.1	0.5	- 1.0			p.p.
Manufacturing industry	0.1	- 2.6	- 1 5	- 0.8	- 1 7		p.p.
wanaractaring industry	0.1	2.0	1.5	0.0	1.7		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Austria

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	1.2	2.1	1.9	2.1	2.4	2.5	2.5	2.4	6.4
Compensation of employees per hour worked	1.4	1.8	2.2	2.3	2.8	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	2.5	3.0	2.1	- 0.6	4.0	3.7	4.4	4.2	3.9
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	1.0	1.0	0.6	- 0.3	1.1	0.6	0.9	1.5	1.3
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 0.8	- 0.3	- 0.8	- 2.2	- 0.9	– 1.9	- 1.1	- 0.2	- 0.5
Wages and salaries	1.0	0.3	1.9	1.3	:	1.8	2.1	2.5	6.4
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	71.9	71.7	70.9	69.4	68.7	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.2	1.1	1.3	2.5	1.3	1.9	1.5	0.8	5.1
Hourly labour productivity	0.3	1.0	1.3	2.2	1.3	:	:	:	:
GDP	0.8	1.0	1.4	2.4	1.9	1.7	1.8	1.5	2.2
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	4.0	4.2	4.4	4.6	4.9	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	0.7	- 0.4	- 1.2	- 0.7	- 1.0	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	2.3	1.7	1.3	2.0	2.1	2.4	2.1	2.2	1.8
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	1.8	1.3	1.4	1.9	2.0	2.5	2.1	1.7	1./
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	- 1.3	- 1.1	3.7	- 10.4	:	10.4	5.4	:	18.4
Industry excluding construction	- 0.7	- 1.5	0.0	- 3.2	:	- 1.5	- 3.0	:	- 2.7
of which: manufacturing	0.2	- 0.3	- 0.1	- 3.5	- 3.2	:	:	:	:
Construction	1.2	- 0.6	- 3.2	0.4	:	2.9	- 1.9	:	1.5
Trade, transport and communication	1.1	- 0.3	0.9	0.4	:	2.9	4.8	:	3.1
Finance and business services	3.2	4.3	0.1	1.5	:	- 0.1	2.6	:	0.8
Non-market-related services	2.2	2.5	2.6	2.2	:	1.8	2.3	:	:
Market-related sectors	0.7	0.6	- 0.1	- 1.2	:	0.3	0.6	:	1.0
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	1.2	2.0	1.9	2.1	:	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	0.0	- 1.3	2.6	- 0.4	6.9	2.7	3.0	3.1	7.1
Industry excluding construction	2.2	2.8	1.5	1.9	:	2.6	2.8	3.0	7.2
of which: manufacturing	2.1	2.8	1.4	1.8	1.9	:	:	:	:
Construction	0.8	3.8	1.4	2.1	:	2.8	2.8	2.9	6.7
Trade, transport and communication	1.5	2.8	1.2	2.0	:	2.5	2.5	2.5	6.3
Finance and business services	1.4	1.8	1.9	2.0	:	2.2	2.4	2.3	6.1
Non-market-related services	0.2	0.6	3.1	2.4	:	2.1	2.1	2.2	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	1.4	- 0.2	- 1.1	11.2	:	- 7.0	- 2.3	:	- 9.6
Industry excluding construction	2.9	4.4	1.5	5.3	:	4.2	6.0	:	10.2
of which: manufacturing	1.9	3.0	1.5	5.6	5.3	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 0.4	4.4	4.8	1.7	:	0.0	4.8	:	5.2
Trade, transport and communication	0.4	3.1	0.3	1.6	:	- 0.4	- 2.2	:	3.2
Finance and business services	- 1.8	- 2.4	1.8	0.5	:	2.3	- 0.2	:	3.4
Non-market-related services	- 2.0	- 1.8	0.6	0.2	:	0.2	- 0.2	:	3.4
Market-related sectors	0.9	2.1	1.5	3.2	:	2.0	1.9	:	5.4

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Poland

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	30 842	31 063	30 953	31 123	31 258	0.4	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	25 986	26 160	26 030	26 142	26 211	0.3	%
as % of total population	84.3	84.2	84.1	84.0	83.9	- 0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	17 030	16 894	16 643	16 728	16 874	0.9	%
Male	91/1	9 1 2 6	9 006	9 077	9 191	1.3	%
Female	/ 859	/ /68	/ 638	/ 651	/ 682	0.4	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	20.7	04.0	03.9 26.4	64.0 25.0	25.7	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	81.9	81.5	81.4	81.9	82.5	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	30.2	29.1	30.1	29.6	30.5	0.9	p.p.
Male	71.5	70.6	70.0	70.1	70.8	0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	43.1	41.6	40.5	39.7	39.5	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	87.7	87.2	87.1	87.8	88.7	0.9	p.p.
Older (55-64)	39.6	38.7	39.7	39.1	40.9	1.8	p.p.
Female	59.7	58.7	58.0	57.9	58.1	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)	36.4	34.1	32.2	32.0	31.8	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	76.2	75.8	75.8	76.0	76.4	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	22.2	20.9	21.9	21.4	21.5	0.1	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	53.4	51.5	51.2	51.7	52.8	1.1	p.p.
Fourig (15-24) Prime age (25-54)	24.0	21.7	21.2	21.7	22.5	0.8	p.p.
Older (55-64)	27.4	26.1	26.9	26.2	27.2	1.4	p.p.
Male	59.2	56.9	56.5	57.2	58.9	1.7	p.p.
Young (15-24)	26.6	24.2	23.9	24.8	25.4	0.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	75.4	73.0	73.0	73.9	76.1	2.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	35.6	34.6	35.2	34.1	35.9	1.7	p.p.
Female	47.7	46.2	46.0	46.2	46.8	0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	21.5	19.3	18.4	18.6	19.6	1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	63.0	61.9	62.1	62.6	63.1	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	20.4	19.0	19.8	19.4	19.7	0.3	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	13 866	13 471	13 324	13 503	13 834	331	Th.
Male (as % of total)	54.8	54.6	54.6	54.8	55.2	0.4	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	45.2	45.4	45.4	45.2	44.8	- 0.4	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (lational accounts)	- 2.2	- 3.0	- 1.2	1.3	2.3		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LF3, age 13-04)	- 2.0	- 3.2	- 1.1	1.3	2.4		p.p.
Female	- 1.5	- 2.5	- 1.1	0.8	1.4		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	18.3	18.3	17.4	16.7	16.0	- 0.7	D.D.
Male	20.4	20.6	20.3	19.3	18.6	- 0.7	р.р.
Female	15.8	15.4	14.0	13.5	12.8	- 0.7	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	11.7	15.3	19.3	22.6	25.6	3.0	p.p.
Male	12.3	16.3	20.7	23.6	26.4	2.8	p.p.
Female	10.9	14.3	17.8	21.5	24.6	3.1	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	9.2	9.6	9.4	9.8	9.8	0.0	p.p.
Male	1.2	7.5	/.2	7.2	/.0	- 0.2	p.p.
11 Unomployment rate (barmoniced: 15 74)	10.2	12.3	12.1	12.9	13.3	0.3	p.p.
Voung (15-24)	39.5	19.9	/1.8	39.6	36.9	- 1.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	15.5	17 3	17 1	16.7	15.7	- 1.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	9.3	10.2	10.7	11.4	10.8	- 0.6	p.p.
Male	16.9	19.1	19.0	18.2	16.6	- 1.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	38.2	41.9	40.9	37.7	35.7	- 1.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	14.0	16.3	16.2	15.8	14.3	– 1.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	10.1	10.8	11.2	12.6	12.2	- 0.4	p.p.
Female	19.8	20.9	20.4	19.9	19.1	- 0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24)	41.0	43.3	43.1	41.9	38.3	- 3.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	17.3	18.4	18.0	17.7	17.4	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	8.2	9.2	9.9	9.3	8.4	- 0.9	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	50.2	540	56.0	5/1	577	26	nn
13 Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	20.2	24.8 20.2	20.0 20.1	24. T	21.7	- 0.2	p.p. %
Male	42.4	42.4	42.6	42.7	42.5	- 0.4	/0
Female	37.6	37.6	37.6	37.5	37.4	- 0.2	%
14. Sectoral employment growth	57.0	57.10	57.10	57.15	21		,.
Agriculture	:	:	:	:	:		p.p.
Building and construction	- 10.7	- 8.9	- 8.5	:	:		p.p.
Services	1.8	- 1.1	0.1	:	:		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	- 5.3	- 4.5	- 1.2	1.5	1.4		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Poland

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	10.1	2.3	1.8	1.9	0.5	:	:	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	9.9	1.8	2.8	3.0	1.9	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	19.9	2.2	3.8	3.7	3.9	3.9	2.4	5.1	4.5
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	6.5	- 2.2	- 3.1	- 1.9	- 0.4	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	2.9	- 4.3	- 3.5	- 5.7	- 3.2	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries	- 7.8	1.3	2.4	4.2	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	66.4	64.1	61.9	58.1	57.1	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	:	:	:	23.7	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	6.37e	6.76e	:	76.3	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	50.8	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	5.99e	5.49e	:	12.5	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	7.64e	7.75e	:	11.2	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develor	oments c	an be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	3.4	4.5	5.1	3.9	0.9	1.4	- 0.8	:	:
Hourly labour productivity	4.1	4.3	4.8	4.2	0.9	:	:	:	:
GDP	1.1	1.4	3.8	5.3	3.2	3.7	1.2	3.5	5.0
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	16.0	17.1	17.9	18.3	18.1	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	- 0.8	- 2.2	- 1.3	0.7	0.4	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	3.5	2.2	0.4	4.0	2.8	3.6	4.5	1.8	1.5
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	42.5	- 12.8	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	11.6	- 10.3	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	-4.4	- 7.4	- 8.3	- 9.8	2.9	:	:	:	:
Construction	9.8	- 10.6	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	10.1	- 10.0	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	19.5	0.1	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	16.9	- 3.4	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	15.9	- 3.7	- 10.3	•	•	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	39.1	- 11.6	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	17.1	- 7.0	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	0.2	- 2.0	2.5	1.1	5.9	:	:	:	:
Construction	13.8	- 10.6	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	18.8	- 3.6	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	19.8	- 1.3	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	9.6	- 0.1	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
	-24	1 २	74 9	65					
Industry excluding construction	- 2.4 4 9	3.7	9.6	10.5					
of which: manufacturing	4.5	5.8	11.8	12.1	. 29				
Construction	3.6	- 0.1	6.1	10.1	:				•
Trade, transport and communication	7.9	7.2	0.8	5.0					
Finance and business services	0.3	- 1.4	1.5	2.2	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	- 6.3	3.4	5.4	1.0	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	1.2	3.1	22.6	7.2	:	:	:	:	:

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Portugal

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	10 284	10 357	10 436	10 504	10 563	0.6	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	6 950	6 993	7 038	7 084	7 115	0.4	%
as % of total population	67.6	67.5	67.4	67.4	67.4	- 0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	5 009	5 082	5 133	5 170	5 222	1.0	%
Male	e 2718	2 753	2 759	2 768	2 778	0.4	%
Female	2 2 2 9 0	2 329	2 3 / 4	2 403	2 443	1./	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	/2.1	/2./	72.9 AE A	/3.0	/3.4	0.4	p.p.
Found (15-24 Prime age (25-54) 47.5	47.7	45.4 85.0	45.0	43.0	- 0.8	p.p.
Older (55-64) 519	53.4	54.0	53.2	53.8	0.6	p.p.
Male	79.6	80.0	79.6	79.1	79.0	- 0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 52.4	53.0	49.2	47.9	46.9	- 1.0	D.D.
Prime age (25-54) 92.6	92.5	92.3	92.2	92.4	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64) 63.6	64.3	65.2	62.8	62.4	- 0.4	p.p.
Female	e 64.8	65.5	66.5	67.0	67.9	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24) 42.1	42.3	41.5	39.5	38.9	- 0.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 78.2	78.4	79.7	80.6	81.8	1.2	p.p.
Older (55-64) 41.5	43.8	44.1	44.8	46.1	1.3	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	69.0	68.8	68.1	67.8	67.5	- 0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24) 42.9	42.2	38.8	37.1	36.1	- 1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 82.3	81.5	80.9	81.1	80.8	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64) 50.2	51.4	51.7	50.3	50.5	0.2	p.p.
IVIAI Voure (15.24	2 //.0	/6.5	/5.0	/4.2	/3.4	- 0.8	p.p.
Foung (15-24 Prime age (25-54) 48.7	47.8	43.1	41.4 97.4	40.5	- 0.9	p.p.
Older (55-64) 50.1	61.9	67.1	59.0	58.2	- 0.9	p.p.
Female Female	, 01.0 61.3	61.4	61.4	61.6	61.7	0.0	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-24) 37.0	36.5	34.5	32.5	31.4	- 1 1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 74.7	74.0	74.3	74.9	74.9	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64) 40.2	42.2	42.4	42.5	43.7	1.1	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	4 796	4 812	4 792	4 806	4 800	- 7	Th.
Male (as % of total) 54.8	54.7	54.2	54.0	53.8	- 0.2	p.p.
Female (as % of total) 45.2	45.3	45.8	46.0	46.2	0.2	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	1.7	0.4	- 0.4	0.1	0.0		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	1.5	0.3	- 0.4	0.3	- 0.1		p.p.
Male	e 1.3	0.2	- 1.3	- 0.1	- 0.6		p.p.
Female	e 1.8	0.5	0.6	0.8	0.4		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	15.4	15.1	15.1	14.4	14.1	- 0.3	p.p.
Male	e 15.0	14.7	14.6	14.1	13.6	- 0.6	p.p.
Female	e 15.9	15.5	15.7	14.7	14.7	0.1	p.p.
9. lemporary employment (as % total)	20.3	21.5	20.6	19.9	19.6	- 0.3	p.p.
IVIdit Ecmol	2 10.4	19.9	19.0	18.7	18.7	0.0	p.p.
10 Part time (as % of total employment)	22.0	23.5	22.4	21.2	20.3	- 0.8	p.p.
Mali		4 1	4.2	3.9	3.8	- 0.7	p.p.
Female	- 13.4	13.3	14.0	13.3	13.2	0.0	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	4.0	5.0	6.3	6.7	7.6	0.9	D.D.
Young (15-24) 9.4	11.6	14.5	15.3	16.0	0.8	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 3.5	4.5	5.8	6.0	7.3	1.2	р.р.
Older (55-64) 3.2	3.7	4.3	5.6	6.2	0.6	p.p.
Male	3.2	4.1	5.4	5.9	6.7	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24) 7.1	9.7	12.3	13.5	13.6	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 2.6	3.5	4.9	5.1	6.2	1.0	p.p.
Older (55-64) 3.2	3.6	4.8	6.0	6.8	0.7	p.p.
Female	e 5.0	6.0	7.2	7.6	8.7	1.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 12.2	13.9	16.9	17.7	19.1	1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 4.5	5.6	6./	/.1	8.4	1.4	p.p.
12 Long-term unemployment rate) 3.1	3.5	3.8	5.0	5.2	0.2	p.p.
(as % of total upomployment) 200	2/1 0	2/ 0	11.2	191	30	nn
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	, 30.0 38.8	28.6	34.5	38.4	-10.1 3 <i>R J</i>	0.1	p.p. %
	40.5	40.5	40.0	40.2	40.2	0.0	%
Female	36.6	36.4	36.0	36.1	36.3	0.3	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	e 0.0	0.7	2.7	:	:		p.p.
Building and construction	n – 1.0	- 1.4	- 3.0	:	:		p.p.
Service	s 3.1	1.4	- 0.3	:	:		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	/ 0.3	- 1.9	- 0.8	- 4.7	- 4.5		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Portugal

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	5.3	4.4	3.1	2.4	2.9	:	:	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	5.2	4.5	4.0	2.0	3.0	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	5.4	5.4	2.4	3.3	2.0	2.7	1.5	2.7	1.7
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	5.1	4.0	3.9	1.4	2.6	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	1.3	0.1	1.1	- 1.3	- 0.2	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	71.4	71.8	73.1	72.2	72.9	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	20.1	20.1	20.1	20.1	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	79.9	79.9	79.9	79.9	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	71.3	71.3	71.3	71.3	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	19.4	19.4	19.4	19.4	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.3	0.4	- 0.7	1.0	0.3	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour productivity	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.0	0.5	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.0	0.8	- 1.1	1.1	0.3	:	:	:	:
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	5.3	5.6	6.0	6.2	6.7	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	2.8	1.6	- 0.9	- 1.2	- 1.9	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	3.7	3.9	2.7	2.8	2.7	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	5.0	3.4	1.9	1.9	- 0.6	:	:	:	:
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	- 1 4	42							
Agriculture and fishery	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	5.5	4.1	2.4	9.1	2.9	:	:	:	:
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	0.5	0.6	0.5	7.0	3.6	:	:	:	:
Construction	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
NB: Available on an annual basis only.									

Work status of persons Slovenia

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 per	5. 1992	1 995	1 996	1 997	2 000	0.2	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	1 399	1 401	1 405	1 405	1 402	- 0.2	%
as % of total population	70.3	70.2	70.4	70.4	70.1	- 0.3	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 per	s. 953	950	943	981	991	1.0	%
Ма	le 517	515	513	531	535	0.9	%
Fema	le 437	435	430	451	456	1.2	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	68.1	67.8	67.1	69.8	70.7	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 37.2	36.7	35.2	40.3	40.5	0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 88.0	88.1	87.5	88.6	88.8	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 26.6	25.3	24.2	29.9	32.1	2.2	p.p.
IVIa Vouror (15.2	1e 72.9	/2.6	72.0	/4.5	/5.1	0.6	p.p.
Brime and (25 E	4) 40.5	40.4	59.0 00.6	45.0	44.0	- 0.5	p.p.
Pline age (25-5 Oldor (55-6	4) 91.1	91.2	90.0	91.0	91.1	0.1	p.p.
Fema	4) <u>57.5</u>	63.0	62.1	42.5	45.2	2.7	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-2	4) 33.6	32.5	30.4	35.5	36.4	0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) <u>84</u> 6	84.9	84.3	86.1	86.4	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 16.0	14.5	15.1	18.0	18.7	0.6	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	63.8	63.4	62.6	65.3	66.0	0.7	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 30.5	30.5	29.1	33.8	34.1	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 83.6	83.4	82.5	83.8	83.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 25.3	24.4	23.4	29.1	30.7	1.5	p.p.
Ma	le 68.6	68.2	67.3	70.0	70.4	0.4	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 34.2	34.5	33.6	38.8	37.9	- 0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 87.0	86.7	85.6	86.4	86.3	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 35.6	35.2	33.3	40.9	43.4	2.5	p.p.
Fema	le 58.8	58.6	57.6	60.5	61.3	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 26.7	26.5	24.1	28.6	29.7	1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 80.1	80.0	79.3	81.2	81.2	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 15.8	14.3	14.4	17.8	18.4	0.6	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	893	889	879	918	925	8	Th.
Male (as % of tota	al) 54.5	54.4	54.5	54.3	54.2	- 0.1	p.p.
Female (as % of tota	45.5	45.6	45.4	45.7	45.7	0.1	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0.5	1.5	- 0.2	0.4	0.7		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	1./	- 0.4	- 1.1	4.4	0.8		p.p.
IVIA	le 2.5	- 0.8	- 1.0	4.1	0.6		p.p.
8 Self employed (% of total employment)	7 1	- 0.2	- 1.4	4.9	6.1	0.2	p.p.
6. Sen employed (76 of total employment)	/.1	9.3	8.4	77	8.2	0.5	p.p.
Fema	le 40	3.9	3.6	3.6	3.6	0.0	p.p.
9 Temporary employment (as % total)	12 9	14 1	13.6	17.6	17.2	- 0.4	p.p.
Ma	le 12.0	12.4	12.4	16.4	15.4	- 1.0	p.p.
Fema	le 14.0	16.0	14.9	18.9	19.2	0.3	D.D.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	5.4	5.3	5.5	7.9	7.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Ма	le 4.4	4.2	4.4	6.5	6.1	- 0.4	p.p.
Fema	<i>le</i> 6.5	6.7	6.8	9.6	9.9	0.3	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	6.2	6.3	6.7	6.3	6.5	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 18.2	16.8	17.3	16.1	15.9	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 4.9	5.3	5.7	5.4	5.6	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 4.8	3.6	3.3	2.6	4.6	2.0	p.p.
Ma	<i>le</i> 5.6	5.9	6.3	5.8	6.1	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 15.6	14.6	15.5	13.7	15.1	1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 4.5	5.0	5.6	5.0	5.2	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 5.2	3.9	3.5	3.8	4.0	0.2	p.p.
Fema	le 6.8	6.8	7.1	6.8	7.0	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 20.5	18.3	20.7	19.4	18.5	- 0.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 5.4	5.8	6.0	5.8	6.1	0.3	p.p.
Ulder (55-6	4) 1.4	1.5	4.3	1.2	1.2	0.0	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	t) 60.4	FF C	E2 0	E1 /	17 5	_ 1 0	nn
13 Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	// 00.4	22.0	22.0 70.9	21.4 /0.2	47.5	- 4.0	p.p.
13. Worked Hours (average actual weekly hours)	40.8	40.8	40.8	40.2	40.Z	0.0	70
Fema	le 397	39.7	39.6	38 9	38.7	- 0.6	0/0
14. Sectoral employment growth		55.7	55.0	50.5	50.7	0.0	/0
Aaricultu	re – 3.3	- 2.6	- 1.8	- 2.4	- 2.0		p.p.
Building and construction	on 0.0	- 1.0	- 0.1	- 0.5	4.7		p.p.
Service	es 1.6	4.9	1.2	1.9	2.1		p.p.
Manufacturing indust	ry 0.4	- 1.9	- 2.2	- 0.9	- 1.9		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Slovenia

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	11.6	8.5	7.8	7.7	5.0	:	:	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	11.8	11.9	7.6	10.7	4.2	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	13.0	4.2	8.1	7.3	5.0	5.8	4.0	3.0	7.2
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	9.2	6.5	9.2	6.3	1.8	:	:	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.4	- 1.3	- 1.0	0.6	0.8	:	:	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	75.8	75.3	74.4	74.7	75.3	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	19.2	19.4	19.3	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	80.8	80.6	80.7	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	65.4	65.2	65.3	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	14.5	14.6	14.3	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	4.7	4.8	5.0	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	2.2	1.9	2.9	3.7	3.1	2.2	4.6	2.8	2.9
Hourly labour productivity	1.8	5.1	2.5	6.5	2.1	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.7	3.5	2.7	4.2	3.9	2.8	5.4	3.6	3.7
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	6.4	6.2	6.1	6.0	6.0	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	- 0.3	- 0.5	- 1.6	- 1.1	- 0.9	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	8.6	7.5	5.7	3.7	2.5	2.8	2.2	2.3	2.6
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	7.4	8.4	6.3	3.7	1.3	2.0	1.4	0.7	1.2
GDP deflator	8.7	7.9	5.8	3.2	1.0	1.6	1.9	0.3	0.2
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	0.2	- 4.4	14.7	- 6.4	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	0.7	- 0.9	- 1.4	0.7	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	6.4	2.4	1.7	2.9	- 0.5	:	:	:	:
Construction	2.9	5.3	2.3	8.6	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	2.7	5.1	- 0.7	4.1	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	5.5	11.5	1.6	2.7	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	6.3	1.7	2.6	2.0	:	:	:	:	:
Market-related sectors	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	5.8	4.7	4.2	5.3	:	:	:	:	:
Agriculture and fishery	- 0.1	11.5	- 2.3	6.8	:	:	:	:	:
Industry excluding construction	5.5	5.7	4.4	6.1	:	:	:	:	:
of which: manufacturing	11.1	9.4	8.1	8.2	4.7	:	:	:	:
Construction	0.6	7.5	6.0	9.6	:	:	:	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	5.3	7.9	3.1	6.4	:	:	:	:	:
Finance and business services	5.7	- 5.3	3.1	4.3	:	:	:	:	:
Non-market-related services	7.4	3.7	3.5	3.3	:	:	:	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fichery	-03	16.6	_ 1/1 9	1/1 1	_17	_ 1 2	_ 1 9	_ 2 2	_17
Industry excluding construction	4.8	6.7	5.9	5.3	4.3	1.3	6.0	4.0	7.2
of which: manufacturing	4.4	6.8	63	5.2	5.2				
Construction	- 2.3	2.0	3.6	0.9	- 0.7	- 1.9	6.1	- 4.2	- 3.1
Trade, transport and communication	2.5	2.7	3.8	2.2	3.3	2.9	3.5	3.3	3.8
Finance and business services	0.2	- 15.0	1.4	1.6	0.4	2.5	1.5	1.1	- 0.2
Non-market-related services	1.0	2.0	0.8	1.2	1.8	1.2	2.2	2.1	0.9
Market-related sectors	3.2	2.6	3.4	4.3	3.0	2.2	4.4	2.6	3.7

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Slovak Republic

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	5 379	5 384	5 389	5 370	5 380	0.2	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	3 723	3 728	3 733	3 792	3 824	0.9	%
as % of total population	69.2	69.2	69.3	70.6	71.1	0.5	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1000 pers.	2 623	2 605	2 6 1 4	2 643	2 636	- 0.2	%
Female	1201	1 192	1 198	1 205	1 184	- 1 7	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	70.4	69.9	70.0	69.7	68.9	- 0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24) 45.5	43.3	41.1	39.3	36.6	- 2.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)) 89.0	88.6	89.5	88.9	88.0	– 1.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	25.4	26.9	28.5	31.7	35.0	3.3	p.p.
Male	e 77.4	76.7	76.7	76.5	76.5	- 0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24)) 49.8	47.5	44.9	42.9	40.8	- 2.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 94.0	93.4	94.1	93.8	93.8	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	43.2	46.2	48.1	51.7	55.0	3.3	p.p.
Young (15-24	2 05.7 A 1 3	39.2	37.2	35.7	32.5	- 1.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	, 41.5) 83.9	83.9	84.8	84.1	82.1	- 1.9	p.p.
Older (55-64) 10.8	11.0	12.4	14.7	18.1	3.4	D.D.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	56.8	56.8	57.7	57.0	57.7	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24) 27.7	27.0	27.4	26.3	25.6	- 0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)) 74.8	75.0	76.0	74.7	75.3	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64) 22.3	22.8	24.6	26.8	30.3	3.5	p.p.
Male	e 62.0	62.4	63.3	63.2	64.6	1.4	p.p.
Young (15-24) 28.8	28.7	29.3	27.9	28.0	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 79.0	79.5	80.5	80.0	81.4	1.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	57.7	59.0	41.1 52.2	43.8	47.9	4.0	p.p.
Young (15-24	266	25.3	25.4	24.6	23.1	- 1 5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54	70.6	70.6	71.5	69.3	69.1	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64	9.8	9.6	11.2	12.6	15.6	3.0	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	2 116	2 118	2 155	2 160	2 207	47	Th.
Male (as % of total)) 53.8	54.2	54.3	54.9	55.6	0.7	p.p.
Female (as % of total)) 46.2	45.8	45.7	45.1	44.4	- 0.7	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0.6	- 0.5	1.8	- 0.3	2.1		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	0.9	0.1	1.7	0.2	2.2		p.p.
Male	e 0.5	0.9	1.8	1.4	3.4		p.p.
8 Self employed (% of total employment)	9 1.4	- 0.8	6.8	- 1.1	0.0	0.8	p.p.
Male	2.0 2.7.8	8.4	9.1	11.4	12.8	1.4	p.p.
Female	3.0	3.3	4.1	5.0	5.0	0.0	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	4.8	4.7	4.7	5.4	4.9	- 0.5	p.p.
Male	e 4.9	5.0	5.0	5.8	5.0	- 0.8	p.p.
Female	e 4.6	4.4	4.4	4.9	4.8	- 0.2	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	2.2	1.8	2.2	2.5	2.4	- 0.1	p.p.
Male	e 1.2	1.0	1.1	1.3	1.2	- 0.1	p.p.
Female	9 3.5	2.7	3.6	4.0	3.9	- 0.1	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	19.3	18.7	17.6	18.2	16.4	- 1.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)) 59.2) 15.9	57.7 15.7	55.5 15 1	16 1	30.T	- 3.0	p.p.
Older (55-64) 12.3	15.1	13.7	15.4	13.3	- 2.1	p.p.
Male	19.8	18.6	17.4	17.4	15.5	- 1.9	p.p.
Young (15-24) 42.1	39.6	34.8	34.8	31.2	- 3.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)) 16.0	14.9	14.5	14.7	13.3	– 1.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)) 12.8	15.7	14.6	15.3	13.0	- 2.3	p.p.
Female	9 18.7	18.7	17.7	19.2	17.2	- 2.0	p.p.
Young (15-24	35.6	35.4	31.6	31.0	28.9	- 2.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 15.8	15.9	15.7	17.6	15.8	- 1.7	p.p.
12 Long-term unemployment rate	8.9	12.3	9.3	14.1	13.5	- 0.6	p.p.
(as % of total unemployment	586	65 3	65.2	64.8	72 1	73	nn
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	41.6	40.8	40.6	40.8	41.0	0.5	۳۰p. %
Male	42.6	41.6	41.4	41.8	42.0	0.6	%
Female	40.4	39.9	39.6	39.5	39.7	0.5	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	- 3.8	- 7.1	- 9.6	- 11.8	:		p.p.
Building and construction	- 3.9	0.5	4.0	1.3	:		p.p.
Service	5 2.0	0.5	3.1	0.1	:		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	0.1	- 1.8	1.1	0.8	0.8		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Slovak Republic

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	6.3	9.3	6.0	10.8	5.0	3.9	4.4	5.9	6.1
Compensation of employees per hour worked	6.5	12.1	9.4	4.1	3.1	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	7.4	16.2	10.0	5.5	9.9	9.8	9.0	10.9	10.2
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	3.0	3.9	3.3	4.6	1.1	0.9	1.2	1.2	1.3
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 1.1	- 0.1	- 1.3	0.0	- 1.3	- 1.7	- 1.5	- 0.8	- 0.9
Wages and salaries	6.5	10.4	10.4	9.7	10.0	10.0	7.7	9.7	11.9
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	49.6	50.0	49.0	49.4	48.9	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	27.5	:	26.4	26.3	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	72.5	3.59b	73.6	73.7	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	62.2	2.62b	61.9	62.8	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	26.3	5.39b	25.5	25.1	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.2	1.02b	0.9	1.2	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments c	an be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	3.2	5.2	2.6	5.9	3.8	3.0	3.2	4.6	4.8
Hourly labour productivity	3.9	8.3	7.1	1.9	2.8	:	:	:	:
GDP	3.8	4.6	4.5	5.5	6.0	5.4	5.4	6.3	7.4
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	19.4	19.0	17.1	15.9	15.1	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	- 0.9	- 1.0	- 2.4	- 2.4	- 1.6	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	7.2	3.5	8.4	7.5	2.8	2.8	2.6	2.2	3.7
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	6.0	4.5	/.4	6.5	1.7	2.6	1.8	1.2	1.2
GDP deflator	4.2	4.0	4.7	4.0	2.4	2.0	2.7	1.9	2.2
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	- 7.5	- 16.9	6.4	10.5	- 10.6	- 9.7	- 14.7	- 1.3	- 9.1
Industry excluding construction	3.9	8.0	- 4.5	4.0	7.0	- 1.0	1.6	- 5.2	- 4.9
of which: manufacturing	- 4.0	9.6	4.1	- 0.6	- 2.8	- 0.2	- 3.9	- 4.4	- 10.1
Construction	9.3	- 18.8	29.5	15.0	0.3	5.9	- 2.7	- 2.8	- 7.9
Trade, transport and communication	- 6.9	25.2	10.0	7.7	3.5	17.1	4.7	7.7	2.7
Finance and business services	7.7	- 5.9	5.9	8.3	29.9	- 4.4	4.9	5.7	36.1
Non-market-related services	- 4.2	9.5	24.0	16.2	11.8	7.1	7.0	:	:
	5.4	5.5	5.0	2.9	2.0	5.4	1.9	1.0	4.2
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	4.5	10.9	11.2	13.1	11.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	9.0	3.7	19.0	25.6	1.7	8.2	2.4	4.8	1.5
Industry excluding construction	10.0	11.2	14.7	8.9	15.3	4.9	4.6	4.2	6.0
of which: manufacturing	6.8	9.3	9.2	10.3	5.5	5.7	4.6	4.4	5.8
Construction	4.0	1.9	18.3	13.4	5.6	0.7	- 0.8	4.7	5.5
Trade, transport and communication	- 3.3	10.0	7.1	18.7	4.9	8.8	10.1	11.9	7.4
Finance and business services	0.3	14.0	- 0.8	3.8	28.7	10.0	/.3	/.3	8.1
Non-market-related services	0.5	13.0	13.1	14.4	9.1	3.2	4.4	•	-
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	17.8	24.8	11.8	13.6	13.8	19.8	20.0	6.3	11.6
Industry excluding construction	5.8	2.9	20.0	4.8	7.7	6.0	2.9	9.9	11.5
of which: manufacturing	11.3	- 0.3	5.0	11.0	8.6	6.0	8.9	9.1	17.8
Construction	- 4.9	25.4	- 8.6	- 1.4	5.2	- 4.9	2.0	7.6	14.6
Trade, transport and communication	3.9	- 12.1	- 2.6	10.3	1.3	- 7.1	5.1	3.9	4.6
Finance and business services	- 6.9	21.1	- 6.3	- 4.2	- 0.9	15.1	2.3	1.5	- 20.6
Non-market-related services	11.0	3.2	- 8.8	- 1.6	- 2.5	- 3.6	- 2.5	- 2.3	- 1.6
IVIAI KEL-FEIATEO SECTORS	3.2	3.4	5.3	5.0	4.0	3.4	4.5	5.6	2.6

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Finland

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 per	s. 5166	5 180	5 193	5 205	5 225	0.4	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	3 450	3 458	3 464	3 467	3 476	0.3	%
as % of total population	66.8	66.8	66.7	66.6	66.5	- 0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 per	s. 2 588	2 592	2 580	2 574	2 597	0.9	%
Ма	le 1344	1 339	1 337	1 332	1 338	0.5	%
Fema	1243	1 253	1 243	1 242	1 259	1.3	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	/ 5.0 /) 52.1	74.9	74.5	/4.2	74.7	0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) <u>52.1</u> 4) <u>88.0</u>	88.0	87.5	49.7	87.7	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 50.3	52.1	53.7	54.9	56.6	1.7	p.p.
Ma	le 77.6	77.0	76.8	76.4	76.6	0.1	D.D.
Young (15-2	4) 53.3	52.1	51.4	50.6	50.9	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 90.9	90.5	90.1	90.1	90.3	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 51.3	52.9	55.3	55.5	56.9	1.3	p.p.
Fema	le 72.4	72.8	72.2	72.0	72.8	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 50.9	50.9	49.9	48.8	50.4	1.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 85.0	85.5	84.8	84.5	85.1	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 49.4	51.3	52.3	54.2	56.4	2.2	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	68.1	68.1	67.7	67.6	68.4	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 41.7	40.6	39.7	39.4	40.5	1.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-5 Older (EE 6	4) 81.4 4) 45.7	81.6	81.1	81.0	81.7	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-6	$\frac{4}{6}$ $\frac{45.7}{70.8}$	70.0	49.7	69.7	70.3	0.5	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 43.0	41.0	40.1	39.3	40.4	1.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 84.6	83.8	83.3	83.8	84.4	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 46.7	48.6	51.0	51.4	52.8	1.4	p.p.
Fema	le 65.4	66.2	65.7	65.5	66.5	1.0	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 40.7	40.3	39.2	39.4	40.7	1.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 78.2	79.2	78.9	78.2	79.0	0.8	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 45.0	47.2	48.2	50.5	52.6	2.1	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	2 350	2 354	2 345	2 345	2 377	33	Th.
Male (as % of tota	al) 52.2	51.7	51.7	51.8	51.6	- 0.2	p.p.
Female (as % of tota	al) 47.8	48.4	48.3	48.2	48.4	0.2	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	1.5	1.0	0.1	0.4	1.7		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	1.3	0.2	- 0.4	0.0	1.4		p.p.
Ma	le 0.9	- 0.9	- 0.3	0.1	1.1		p.p.
8 Self employed (% of total employment)	83	7.9	- 0.0	- 0.1	8.0	0.1	p.p.
Ma	le 10.1	9.7	9.7	9.8	9.9	0.2	p.p.
Fema	le 6.2	6.0	5.9	5.9	5.9	0.0	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	16.4	16.0	16.3	16.1	16.4	0.4	p.p.
Ма	<i>le</i> 12.8	12.5	12.6	12.6	12.8	0.2	p.p.
Fema	<i>le</i> 19.9	19.5	20.0	19.5	20.0	0.4	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	11.8	12.4	12.6	13.2	13.3	0.1	p.p.
Ма	le 7.4	7.8	8.0	8.4	8.6	0.2	p.p.
Fema	<i>le</i> 16.6	17.2	17.4	18.3	18.2	0.0	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	9.1	9.1	9.0	8.8	8.4	- 0.4	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 19.9	21.0	21.7	20.8	20.0	- 0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-5 Older (55-6	4) 7.4	/.3	7.2	7.3	6.8 7.0	- 0.5	p.p.
Oldel (55-0	4) <u> </u>	9.1	9.2	8.7	82	- 0.5	<u>p.p.</u>
Young (15-2	4) 19.4	21.3	22.0	22.2	20.6	- 1.6	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 6.9	7.4	7.5	7.0	6.5	- 0.5	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 9.1	8.2	7.7	7.5	7.2	- 0.3	p.p.
Fema	le 9.7	9.1	8.9	8.9	8.6	- 0.3	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 20.1	20.8	21.5	19.2	19.3	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 8.0	7.3	7.0	7.5	7.2	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 9.0	7.9	7.7	6.9	6.7	- 0.2	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment	(<i>t</i>) 28.0	25.2	25.5	24.3	26.1	1.8	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	37.5	37.2	37.1	37.0	37.1	0.1	%
Ma	le 39.7	39.5	39.5	39.2	39.2	-0.1	%
14 Sectoral employment growth	ie 35.0	54./	54.5	54.5	54.0	0.4	70
Aaricultu	re _ 3.9	_ 37	- 1 8	-20	- 3 9		nn
Building and construction	-16	_ 0.7	- 1.8	- 2.0	- 5.9		p.p.
Servic	es 2.5	2.3	1.0	1.3	2.0		p.p.
Manufacturing indust	ry 0.7	- 2.0	- 2.4	- 2.5	0.4		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Finland

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	4.7	1.8	2.8	3.5	2.9	2.6	2.4	5.8	5.0
Compensation of employees per hour worked	6.0	2.4	3.5	3.7	3.0	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	6.7	4.7	3.9	2.3	4.0	3.6	3.7	4.1	3.6
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	3.5	1.1	1.1	0.5	2.5	0.5	0.9	2.3	2.0
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.5	- 0.1	1.5	- 0.1	0.9	0.2	- 0.7	0.3	0.4
Wages and salaries	3.6	1.0	2.3	2.8	3.3	0.5	0.8	6.1	3.4
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	60.9	61.1	62.4	62.2	63.1	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	22.9	22.7	22.2	22.2	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	77.1	77.4	77.9	77.9	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	66.4	66.5	67.0	67.0	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	21.3	21.1	20.6	20.6	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	1.1	0.7	1.7	3.1	0.4	2.1	1.5	3.4	2.8
Hourly labour productivity	2.0	1.1	2.3	3.2	0.4	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.6	1.6	1.8	3.5	2.1	3.6	3.0	3.9	2.6
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	9.3	8.6	8.1	7.7	7.4	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	0.6	- 0.4	- 1.0	- 0.3	- 1.1	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	2.7	2.0	1.3	0.1	0.8	0.2	0.9	1.0	0.9
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	2.9	2.2	1.3	- 0.1	0.3	- 0.1	0.6	0.4	0.4
GDP deflator	3.0	1.3	- 0.4	0.6	1.6	0.3	1.6	1.9	1.6
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	8.4	- 5.2	3.3	3.7	- 5.9	- 1.9	24.6	- 5.0	2.7
Industry excluding construction	7.0	- 2.6	- 1.1	- 3.0	5.4	- 0.8	- 3.7	- 0.9	5.7
of which: manufacturing	2.6	- 4.0	- 2.7	- 2.6	3.9	:	:	:	:
Construction	7.7	1.3	1.4	2.1	5.0	7.0	8.0	7.5	2.6
Trade, transport and communication	2.3	1.1	- 1.6	- 1.9	1.5	2.6	- 0.1	0.8	- 1.3
Finance and business services	9.0	2.0	2.2	3.3	2.6	3.3	1.2	3.6	0.3
Non-market-related services	3.1	3.3	4.2	3.5	2.9	1.8	3.2	:	:
Market-related sectors	5.5	- 0.5	- 0.4	- 0.8	4.3	1.4	- 0.1	0.8	2.2
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	4.6	1.9	2.9	3.6	3.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	9.2	2.1	5.8	5.5	- 3.6	0.1	9.4	9.8	10.7
Industry excluding construction	6.4	1.6	2.6	4.4	3.2	4.6	1.3	6.5	3.7
of which: manufacturing	6.6	1.5	2.5	4.7	3.0	:	:	:	:
Construction	5.7	1.6	2.8	2.9	3.9	4.5	3.8	3.4	6.9
Trade, transport and communication	4.7	1.9	2.4	3.0	3.0	3.4	1.8	4.0	4.7
Finance and business services	3.9	0.8	3.5	4.3	4.5	5.9	4.6	3.9	5.8
Non-market-related services	3.0	2.7	3.6	3.5	3.4	0.0	1.0	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	0.8	7.7	2.4	1.6	2.4	2.0	- 12.2	15.6	7.7
Industry excluding construction	- 0.5	4.2	3.7	7.6	- 2.1	5.4	5.2	7.4	- 1.9
of which: manufacturing	3.9	5.6	5.3	7.5	- 0.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 1.9	0.3	1.4	0.8	- 1.1	- 2.3	- 3.9	- 3.8	4.2
Trade, transport and communication	2.3	0.7	4.0	5.0	1.5	0.7	1.9	3.2	6.1
Finance and business services	- 4.6	- 1.2	1.3	1.0	1.8	2.6	3.4	0.3	5.6
Non-market-related services	- 0.1	- 0.6	- 0.6	- 0.1	0.5	- 1.7	- 2.1	1.2	0.6
Market-related sectors	- 0.1	2.0	3.0	4.5	- 0.2	2.8	2.6	4.1	2.7

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Sweden

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 per	s. 8 889	8 930	8 970	9 006	9 041	0.4	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	5 739	5 776	5 821	5 855	5 898	0.7	%
as % of total population	64.6	64.7	64.9	65.0	65.2	0.2	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 per	s. 4 468	4 482	4 501	4 519	4 613	2.1	%
Ма	<i>le</i> 2 331	2 330	2 341	2 353	2 411	2.5	%
Fema	<i>le</i> 2 137	2 153	2 160	2 165	2 203	1.7	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	77.9	77.6	77.3	77.2	78.2	1.0	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 50.0	49.1	47.7	47.2	49.9	2.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 88.0	87.7	87.7	87.7	88.8	1.2	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 70.0	/1.2	71.9	72.7	/2./	0.0	p.p.
IVIa Vourer (15.2	1e 79.9	/9.4	/9.2	/9.1	80.5	1.4	p.p.
During (15-2	4) 50.0	40.5	47.2	47.0	49.0	1.9	p.p.
Pline age (25-5 Older (55-6	4) 90.4 1) 72.1	05.0	74.9	90.0	91.7 76.4	0.7	p.p.
Cider (55-6	4) 75.1 lo 75.7	74.5	74.9	75.0	70.4	0.7	p.p.
Vouna (15.2	/e /5./	/5.0	/ 3.4	/5.1	75.9 50.9	0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) <u>50.1</u> (1) <u>85.5</u>	49.0	40.2	47.3	20.8 85.9	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 66.9	68.2	68.9	69.8	69.0	- 0.8	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	74.0	73.6	72.9	72.1	72.3	0.2	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 44.2	42.8	41.2	39.1	39.0	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 84.6	84.2	83.5	83.0	83.5	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 66.7	68.0	68.5	69.2	69.5	0.4	p.p.
Ma	le 75.7	74.9	74.2	73.6	74.3	0.7	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 43.7	41.7	40.4	38.7	38.2	- 0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 86.6	85.9	85.3	85.0	86.1	1.2	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 69.5	70.4	70.8	71.2	72.4	1.2	p.p.
Fema	le 72.3	72.2	71.5	70.5	70.2	- 0.3	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 44.7	43.8	42.1	39.7	39.7	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 82.4	82.4	81.7	80.9	80.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 64.0	65.6	66.3	67.0	66.7	- 0.3	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	4 249	4 252	4 242	4 221	4 263	43	Th.
Male (as % of tota	al) 52.0	51.7	51.7	51.9	52.2	0.3	p.p.
Female (as % of tota	al) 48.0	48.3	48.3	48.1	47.8	- 0.3	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	1.9	0.2	- 0.3	- 0.5	0.7		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	4.9	0.1	- 0.2	- 0.5	1.0		p.p.
IVIa Fama	le 5.2	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 0.3	1.6		p.p.
P Solf amployed (% of total amployment)	7e 4.0	0.8	- 0.3	- 0.8	6.0	0.0	p.p.
a. Sen employed (% of total employment)	J.5	7.9	7.9	8.4	8.2	- 0.2	p.p.
Fema	le 3.8	7.5	3.4	3.4	3.5	0.1	p.p.
9 Temporary employment (as % total)	14.9	14.9	14.9	15.4	15.7	0.1	p.p.
Ma	le 12.5	12.4	12.5	13.3	13.6	0.4	p.p.
Fema	le 17.3	17.3	17.2	17.3	17.6	0.4	D.D.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	19.7	20.0	22.0	22.8	23.5	0.7	p.p.
Ma	le 9.4	9.8	10.0	10.8	10.4	- 0.4	p.p.
Fema	<i>le</i> 30.9	31.1	34.9	35.7	37.7	2.0	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	4.9	4.9	5.6	6.3	7.8 p	:	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 11.7	12.8	13.7	17.1	21.9	4.9	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 3.9	4.0	4.8	5.4	6.0	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 4.7	4.5	4.7	4.8	4.4	- 0.4	p.p.
Ма	<i>le</i> 5.2	5.3	6.0	6.5	7.9 p	:	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 12.5	14.0	14.5	17.8	21.9	4.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 4.2	4.4	5.1	5.6	6.1	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-6	4) 5.0	5.2	5.6	5.8	5.2	- 0.7	p.p.
Fema	le 4.5	4.6	5.2	6.1	7.7 p	:	p.p.
Young (15-2	4) 10.7	11.9	12.6	16.1	21.8	5.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-5	4) 3.6	3.7	4.3	5.2	5.9	0.7	p.p.
Ulder (55-6	4) 4.3	3.7	3.8	4.0	3.4	- 0.6	р.р.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	(t) 20.9	10.0	17 7	10.2	15 E	_ 3 0	nn
13 Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	20.8	25 0	25 /	25 /	25.6	- 5.6	p.p. %
	1e 38.8	33.9	35.4	35.4	28.5	1.0	%
Fema	le 33.0	30.4	37.9	37.9	30.3	0.1	0/0
14. Sectoral employment growth		52.0	52.7	52.7	52.7		/0
Agricultu	re – 7.4	- 2.4	- 3.9	0.1	:		p.p.
Building and construction	on 6.4	0.8	- 1.5	- 0.9	:		p.p.
Servic	es 2.2	0.9	0.2	- 0.2	:		p.p.
Manufacturing indust	ry 1.1	- 2.7	- 2.6	- 1.9	- 1.0		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Sweden

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	4.5	2.9	3.0	3.7	3.4	3.4	3.4	3.7	4.5
Compensation of employees per hour worked	6.3	4.6	4.5	2.2	3.6	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	5.2	3.3	4.9	3.2	2.9	:	:	:	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	5.4	1.0	1.0	- 0.6	1.3	2.4	0.1	0.6	2.6
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	3.2	- 0.6	- 1.0	- 1.4	0.2	1.5	- 0.8	- 0.3	0.8
Wages and salaries	3.8	1.1	1.1	2.8	3.7	2.2	3.7	3.8	4.8
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	70.8	70.6	70.2	69.1	69.2	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	33.5	33.5	33.5	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	66.5	66.5	66.5	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	57.5	57.5	57.5	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	29.6	29.6	29.6	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	3.9	3.9	3.9	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	- 0.8	1.8	2.0	4.3	2.0	1.0	3.3	3.1	2.0
Hourly labour productivity	0.6	3.3	3.2	2.9	2.2	:	:	:	:
GDP	1.1	2.0	1.7	3.7	2.7	1.1	3.3	3.5	2.9
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	5.6	5.4	5.4	5.4	5.1	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	0.3	- 0.3	- 1.2	- 0.1	- 0.1	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	2.1	1.6	2.0	0.8	1.1	0.9	1.0	0.8	1.8
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	- 15.2	0.3	- 3.3	4.9	11.6	1.5	12.6	25.9	14.6
Industry excluding construction	- 2.4	- 2.5	- 0.5	- 6.3	2.1	1.3	- 1.5	– 1.3	0.1
of which: manufacturing	8.0	- 4.9	- 2.3	- 6.9	- 0.7	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 2.3	5.0	2.7	1.9	0.3	1.7	1.9	0.4	4.5
Trade, transport and communication	- 5.6	1.9	0.2	- 0.6	0.8	1.9	0.6	0.6	0.5
Finance and business services	0.1	1.4	- 1.2	0.2	1.9	3.8	2.5	3.1	5.3
Non-market-related services	- 4.9	5.5	5.0	2.2	0.3	1.5	1.2	:	:
Market-related sectors	6.3	- 0.7	- 0.9	- 2.2	1.8	2.5	0.8	1.4	2.6
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	-4.6	3.9	3.4	3.7	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery	- 4.1	6.1	0.4	6.1	3.8	2.4	6.6	8.2	6.4
Industry excluding construction	- 4.8	4.6	4.4	4.0	2.6	2.8	4.8	5.2	4.7
of which: manufacturing	4.5	3.5	4.0	4.2	2.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 3.3	3.7	1.0	6.8	4.4	5.8	7.7	5.0	6.4
Trade, transport and communication	- 5.7	4.3	3.7	3.0	2.2	4.4	4.3	3.7	3.6
Finance and business services	- 3.0	1.2	1.8	3.2	3.2	5.5	5.2	5.0	4.6
Non-market-related services	- 5.4	5.4	4.7	3.7	0.8	0.9	1.9	:	:
Soctoral broakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	12 1	5 9	20	1 1	7.0	1.0	5.2	1/1 1	71
Industry excluding construction	_ 2 /	ס.ס 7 2	ло Л	11.1	- 7.0 4 8	1.0	- 3.5 6.4	- 14.1	1.1
of which: manufacturing	- 3.2	8.8	6.4	12.0	3.6				-1.0
Construction	- 1.0	- 1 3	- 1.6	4.8	4 1	२ 9	5.8	4.6	19
Trade, transport and communication	- 0.1	2.4	3.5	3.6	3.1	2.4	3.7	3.0	3.1
Finance and business services	- 3.2	- 0.1	3.1	3.0	1.3	1.6	2.7	1.9	0.7
Non-market-related services	- 0.5	- 0.1	- 0.3	1.4	0.5	- 0.7	0.7	1.1	1.2
Market-related sectors	- 1.3	3.2	3.5	6.1	2.7	1.7	4.2	3.1	1.8

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons United Kingdom

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers	57 820	57 964	58 135	58 285	58 421	0.2	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	37 786	37 991	38 177	38 364	38 530	0.4	%
as % of total population	65.4	65.5	65./	65.8	66.0	0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers	28 417	28 575	28 / 15	28 846	28 997	0.5	%
Femal	13 026	13 152	13 212	13 332	13 452	0.2	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	75.2	75.2	75.2	75.2	75.3	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 64.1	63.7	63.0	62.9	61.9	- 1.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 83.6	83.7	83.7	83.7	84.1	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64) 54.1	55.3	57.2	57.9	58.5	0.6	p.p.
Male	82.6	82.3	82.3	82.0	81.9	- 0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 67.9	66.7	66.0	65.4	64.7	- 0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 91.3	91.3	91.3	91.0	91.1	0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 64.6	65.3	67.5	68.1	68.3	0.2	p.p.
Female Voung (15-24	60.0	60.7	60.0	60.5	08.8 59.1	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 76.2	76.4	76.4	76.7	77.4	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64) 43.9	45.6	47.3	47.9	49.0	1.0	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	71.4	71.3	71.5	71.6	71.7	0.0	p.p.
Young (15-24) 56.6	56.1	55.3	55.4	54.0	- 1.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 80.4	80.4	80.6	80.8	81.2	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64) 52.2	53.4	55.4	56.2	56.9	0.7	p.p.
Male	e 78.0	77.6	77.7	77.8	77.6	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24) 58.9	57.6	56.9	56.6	55.3	- 1.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 87.5	87.4	87.6	87.7	87.8	0.1	p.p.
Ulder (55-64) 61.7	62.6	64.8	65.7	66.0	0.3	p.p.
Female Voung (15-24	9 65.0) 54.3	54 5	53.7	5/ 1	52.5	- 1 5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 73.5	73.7	73.8	74.2	74.8	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64) 43.0	44.5	46.3	47.0	48.1	1.0	D.D.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	26 982	27 097	27 277	27 485	27 610	125	Th.
Male (as % of total) 53.9	53.7	53.7	53.6	53.4	- 0.2	p.p.
Female (as % of total) 46.1	46.3	46.3	46.4	46.6	0.2	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	0.8	0.8	1.0	1.0	1.0		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	0.9	0.4	0.7	0.8	0.5		p.p.
Mal	e 0.8	0.1	0.7	0.5	0.1		p.p.
Perilan 9 Solf omployed (% of total omployment)	2 1.1	0.8	0.7	1.0	0.9	0.1	p.p.
Mal		11.6	12.3	12.6	12.6	0.0	p.p.
Femal	2 5.1	5.2	5.7	5.5	5.7	0.2	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	6.6	6.3	6.0	5.9	5.6	- 0.3	p.p.
Mal	e 5.9	5.5	5.2	5.3	5.1	- 0.2	p.p.
Female	e 7.5	7.1	6.7	6.4	6.2	- 0.2	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	24.3	24.5	24.8	24.9	24.4	- 0.5	p.p.
Mal	e 7.9	8.5	8.9	9.1	9.1	0.0	p.p.
Female	e 43.3	43.1	43.3	43.2	41.9	- 1.2	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (narmonised: 15-74)	5.0	5.1	4.9	4./	4./	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 11.0	4.0	3.8	3.5	12.0	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64) 3.5	3.4	3.2	2.8	2.8	- 0.1	p.p.
Mal	, <u>5.5</u> 5.5	5.6	5.5	5.0	5.1	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 13.3	13.7	13.9	13.3	14.5	1.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 4.2	4.3	4.1	3.7	3.6	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64) 4.4	4.2	4.0	3.5	3.4	- 0.8	
Female	e 4.4	4.5	4.3	4.2	4.3	0.1	p.p.
Young (15-24) 10.2	10.2	10.5	10.6	11.0	0.4	p.p.
Prime age (25-54) 3.5	3.6	3.4	3.2	3.2	0.0	p.p.
Ulder (55-64	, 2.1	2.4	2.1	1.9	1.8	- 0.1	p.p.
(as % of total unemployment) 25.3	21.7	21.4	20.4	21.0	0.5	pp
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	36.3	35.9	35.7	35.7	35.7	0.0	%
Male	e 41.5	40.9	40.7	40.5	40.4	- 0.4	%
Female	e 30.0	29.9	29.8	29.9	30.2	0.8	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agricultur	e – 12.7	- 9.4	- 4.9	2.6	:		p.p.
Building and construction	0.5	0.4	4.6	4.7	:		p.p.
Service	s 2.0	2.0	1.8	1.5	:		p.p.
Manutacturing industr	- 4.3	- 4.9	- 4.6	- 3.7	- 4.6		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments United Kingdom

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 05-Q1 05-Q2 05-Q3 Different measures of wage/labour costs: 5.0 3.6 4.8 4.3 4.4 4.2 4.5	05-Q4 4.3 :
Different measures of wage/labour costs: 5.0 3.6 4.8 4.3 4.4 4.2 4.5	4.3 :
Compensation per employee 5.0 3.6 4.8 4.3 4.4 4.2 4.5	4.3 :
	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked4.94.94.74.35.1:::	
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index) 5.6 4.4 4.2 6.4 2.9 4.0 3.4 1.6	3.2
Negotiated wages (euro area only) : : : : : : : : : : :	:
Nominal unit labour costs 3.6 2.4 3.2 2.1 3.5 4.1 3.4 4.0	2.4
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator 1.3 - 0.7 0.3 0.0 1.5 1.2 1.3 2.3	1.0
Wages and salaries:: <th< td=""><td>:</td></th<>	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity : : : : : : : : : : :	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices) 74.5 73.8 73.9 74.8 : : :	:
Structure of labour costs	
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs 18.1 18.5 19.7 20.0 :	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL 81.9 81.5 80.3 80.0 : <th:< th=""> :</th:<>	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs) 69.0 69.0 69.0 69.0 : : : : :	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs) 15.7 16.1 17.6 18.1 : : : : :	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)2.52.42.12.0::::	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage developments can be assessed	
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed) 1.4 1.2 1.6 2.1 0.8 0.3 0.8 0.5	1.8
Hourly labour productivity 1.3 2.4 2.3 2.4 1.4 : <th:< th=""> : <th:< th=""></th:<></th:<>	:
GDP 2.2 2.0 2.5 3.1 1.8 1.3 1.8 1.8	2.4
ECFIN NAIRU estimate 5.5 5.2 5.0 4.8 4.7 : : :	:
Output gap (%) 0.9 0.2 0.1 0.5 - 0.4 : : :	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100) 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.3 2.0 1.7 1.9 2.4	2.1
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food) 1.2 1.5 1.3 1.1 1.4 1.2 1.4 1.7	1.5
GDP deflator 2.3 3.1 2.9 2.1 2.0 2.9 2.1 1.7	1.4
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs	
Agriculture and fishery : : : : : : : : : :	:
Industry excluding construction : : : : : : : : : :	:
of which: manufacturing 0.8 3.5 0.2 - 1.6 0.7 : : :	:
Construction : : : : : : : : : :	:
Trade, transport and communication : : : : : : : : : : :	:
Finance and business services : : : : : :	:
Non-market-related services : : : : : : : : :	:
Market-related sectors 3.1 3.7 2.3 : : : : :	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee	
Total industries 2.9 2.5 - 4.8 6.3 : 0.0 0.0 0.0	0.0
Agriculture and fishery : : : : : : : : : :	:
Industry excluding construction : : : : : : : : : :	:
of which: manufacturing 4.0 4.9 5.1 4.1 4.4 : <th:< th=""> <th:< th=""> <th:< th=""> <th< td=""><td>:</td></th<></th:<></th:<></th:<>	:
Construction : : : : : : : : : :	:
Trade, transport and communication : : : : : : : : : :	:
Finance and business services : <t< td=""><td>:</td></t<>	:
Non-market-related services : : : : : : : : : :	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity	
Agriculture and fishery 7.3 20.3 3.5 - 1.4 : <th:< th=""> : <th:< th=""> <</th:<></th:<>	:
Industry excluding construction 2.3 2.7 4.4 4.2 :	:
of which: manufacturing 3.2 1.4 4.9 5.8 3.6 : : :	:
Construction 1.2 3.5 0.5 - 1.3 : : : :	:
Trade, transport and communication 2.1 0.9 2.1 3.4 : <th:< th=""> : : :</th:<>	:
Finance and business services 2.0 -1.5 2.5 4.0 : <th:< th=""></th:<>	:
Non-market-related services 1.1 - 0.8 - 0.5 0.1 : : : :	:
Market-related sectors 1.8 0.5 2.3 3.1 : <th< td=""><td>:</td></th<>	:

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons European Union (25 countries)

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	438 676	441 374	443 080	444 685	447 106	0.5	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	299 787	300 973	302 054	302 818	304 681	0.6	%
as % of total population	68.3	68.2	68.2	68.1	68.1	0.0	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	205 623	207 429	209 258	210 553	213 339	1.3	%
Male	115 202	115 851	116 473	116 783	118 049	1.1	%
Female	90 421	91 578	92 786	93 770	95 291	1.6	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	68.6	68.9	69.3	69.5	70.0	0.5	p.p.
Found (15-24)	45.6	45.4	44.8	44.6	44.5	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55.64)	82.5 20.9	82.8	83.Z	63.5 12 9	83.9 AF 2	0.4	p.p.
Mala	39.0 77.2	77.3	42.9	43.0	45.5	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	//.Z // 1	49.0	48.3	48 1	48.1	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	91.8	91.8	91.9	91.8	92.1	0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	50.6	52.0	53.7	54.3	55 3	1.0	p.p.
Female	60.1	60.6	61.2	61.7	62.4	0.6	D.D.
Young (15-24)	42.0	41.7	41.3	41.1	40.9	- 0.2	D.D.
Prime age (25-54)	73.2	73.9	74.6	75.2	75.7	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	29.5	30.7	32.7	33.8	35.8	2.1	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	62.7	62.8	62.9	63.0	63.6	0.6	р.р.
Young (15-24)	37.8	37.4	36.7	36.4	36.2	- 0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	76.4	76.3	76.5	76.6	77.1	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	37.1	38.4	40.0	40.7	42.3	1.6	p.p.
Male	71.3	71.0	70.8	70.6	71.1	0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	41.1	40.5	39.5	39.2	39.1	- 0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	85.9	85.4	85.2	85.0	85.4	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	47.2	48.6	50.1	50.5	51.5	1.0	p.p.
Female	54.2	54.6	55.1	55.4	56.2	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24)	34.6	34.3	33.8	33.4	33.3	- 0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	66.8	67.3	67.8	68.2	68.9	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	27.6	28.8	30.6	31.4	33.6	2.2	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	187 988	188 948	190 063	190 850	193 835	2 985	Th.
Male (as % of total)	56.6	56.3	56.1	55.9	55.7	- 0.2	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	43.4	43.7	43.9	44.1	44.3	0.2	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (IES ago 15.64)	1.1	0.4	0.3	0.6	0.9		p.p.
Male	1.5	0.5	0.0	0.4	1.0		p.p.
Female	1.9	1 1	1.2	0.1	2.0		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	9.0	9.0	9.1	9.9	9.9	0.0	p.p.
Male	10.8	10.9	11.1	12.0	12.0	- 0.1	D.D.
Female	6.6	6.5	6.6	7.2	7.3	0.1	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	12.9	12.9	12.9	13.5	14.2	0.7	p.p.
Male	12.1	12.1	12.2	12.9	13.8	0.9	p.p.
Female	13.7	13.8	13.7	14.3	14.7	0.4	р.р.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	15.9	16.1	16.5	17.2	17.9	0.7	p.p.
Male	5.6	5.8	6.0	6.3	6.7	0.3	p.p.
Female	29.4	29.3	29.9	31.0	32.1	1.1	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	8.4	8.8	9.0	9.1	8.7	- 0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	17.0	17.5	18.1	18.5	18.7	0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	7.5	7.9	8.1	8.3	8.1	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	6.7	6.4	6.7	7.0	6.6	- 0.4	p.p.
Male	7.3	7.8	8.1	8.1	7.9	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	16.4	17.2	18.1	18.4	18.7	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	6.4	7.0	7.3	7.5	7.3	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	6.7	6.5	6.7	7.0	6.9	- 0.1	p.p.
Female Young (15-24)	9.8	10.0	10.2	10.3	9.8	- 0.5	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	8.8	9.0	9.1	93	9.0	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	6.6	6.3	6.6	6.9	6.2	-07	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.5	0.2	0.7	p.p.
(as % of total unemployment)	:	43.9	44.6	44.1	45.5	1.4	p,p,
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	38.0	37.4	37.4	37.4	37.5	0.3	%
Male	41.2	40.6	40.6	40.8	41.1	0.7	%
Female	33.6	33.2	33.1	33.0	33.0	0.0	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	:	:	:	:	:		p.p.
Building and construction	:	:	:	:	:		p.p.
Services	:	:	:	:	:		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	:	:	:	:	:		p.p.
						1	

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments European Union (25 countries)

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	3.9	3.2	3.1	2.9	2.5	1.8	1.7	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	4.7	4.3	3.6	2.8	2.9	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	4.7	3.8	3.4	3.4	2.7	3.1	2.9	2.4	2.5
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	2.9	2.4	2.1	1.0	1.6	1.7	0.5	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.3	- 0.4	- 0.2	- 1.1	- 0.4	- 0.5	- 1.3	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	67.9	67.6	67.4	66.8	66./	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.9	0.8	1.0	1.9	0.9	0.0	1.2	0.9	1.1
Hourly labour productivity	1.6	1.8	1.6	1.8	1.1	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.0	1.2	1.3	2.5	1.7	0.9	2.0	1.7	1.8
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	8.7	8.7	8.7	8.6	8.5	:	:	:	:
Headling inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 – 100)	1.4	0.4	- 0.5	- 0.2	- 0.7		•	•	
Linderlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	21	23	19	. 2 0	. 15	. 16	1 4	1 4	1 4
GDP deflator	2.6	2.8	2.3	2.0	2.0	2.2	1.9	1.7	2.5
	2.0	2.0	2.0		2.0				
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	6.9	1.5	3.1	- 7.4	4.1	2.2	2.6	:	:
Industry excluding construction	1.3	0.6	- 1.3	- 1.3	- 0.1	1.6	- 1.0	:	:
of which: manufacturing	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Construction	2.4	2./	1.3	2.8	3./	/.3	2.0	:	:
Figures and business services	1.1	1.5	- 0.1	1.0	1.0	1.7	0.4	:	•
Non-market-related services	2.5	3.2	- 0.5	2.0	2.0	2.1	0.8	•	•
Market-related services	1.8	1.6	- 0.3	0.4		1.7	0.2	•	•
			0.0				0.2	•	-
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	2.8	2.8	0.9	3.1	2.4	:	:	:	:
Agriculture and fishery	5.1	3.3	0.8	2.9	0.7	1.2	- 1.5	:	:
Industry excluding construction	2.4	2.5	1.6	3.2	2.0	1.7	1.8	:	:
of which: manufacturing	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Construction	2.9	3.4	1.4	3.9	2.4	1.3	1.7	:	:
Figures and business convices	2.8	2.4	0.4	2.8	2.5	1.9	1.9	:	:
Non-market-related services	2.0	3.5	0.7	3.4	2.5	2.1	1.7		•
Non market related services	2.7	5.5	0.5	5.4	2.5	2.1	1.7	•	•
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 1.7	1.8	- 2.3	11.2	- 3.3	- 1.0	- 4.0	- 3.2	- 4.5
Industry excluding construction	1.1	1.9	2.9	4.6	2.1	0.1	2.9	2.3	3.2
of which: manufacturing	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Construction	0.5	0.7	0.1	1.0	- 1.2	- 5.6	- 0.3	0.2	0.4
Trade, transport and communication	1.7	1.1	0.6	1.8	1.5	0.2	1.5	2.0	2.1
Finance and Dusiness services	- 0.3	- 0.7	1.1	0.8	0.3	0.6	0.9	0.2	- 0.4
Market-related services	- 0.2	0.2	- 0.6	0.2	- 0.2	- 0.1	0.T	- 0.7	- 0.3
	1.0	0.9	1.4	2.1	1.0		1.4	1.5	1.4

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons European Union (15 countries)

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	372 711	374 568	376 339	377 887	380 135	0.6	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	249 246	250 224	251 347	251 913	253 617	0.7	%
as % of total population	66.9	66.8	66.8	66.7	66.7	0.1	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	1/2 035	174 019	176 000	1// 304	1/9 8/4	1.4	%
Male	9/103	97 784	98 514	98 742	99 831	1.1	%
4 Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	74 952 69 0	70 235 69 5	77 465	78 562	00 043 70 9	0.5	70
4. Activity fate (as % of population 13-04) Young (15-24)	47.2	47.4	47.0	47.2	47.2	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	82.3	82.8	83.2	83.6	83.9	0.0	p.p.
Older (55-64)	41.0	42.4	44.3	45.3	47.0	1.6	p.p.
Male	78.0	78.3	78.5	78.5	78.8	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	50.7	50.9	50.4	50.5	50.6	0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	92.4	92.4	92.5	92.3	92.5	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	51.6	53.0	55.0	55.7	56.7	0.9	p.p.
Female	60.0	60.9	61.6	62.3	63.0	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24)	43.6	43.8	43.6	43.8	43.6	- 0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	72.3	73.2	74.0	74.8	75.3	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	30.8	32.2	34.1	35.3	37.6	2.3	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	63.9	64.2	64.3	64.5 20 F	65.0	0.6	p.p.
Foung (15-24) Prime age (25-54)	40.5	40.4	39.7	39.5	39.3	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	38.4	39.8	41.5	42.2	//.8 	17	p.p.
Mala	73.0	72.8	72.6	72.2	72.7	0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	43.9	43.6	42.5	42.4	42.2	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	87.4	86.9	86.5	86.2	86.4	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	48.3	49.8	51.4	52.0	52.9	0.9	p.p.
Female	54.9	55.5	56.1	56.6	57.4	0.8	p.p.
Young (15-24)	37.1	37.2	36.9	36.6	36.4	- 0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	66.7	67.3	67.9	68.5	69.2	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	28.8	30.2	31.9	32.9	35.3	2.4	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	159 328	160 535	161 643	162 417	164 943	2 526	Th.
Male (as % of total)	57.0	56.7	56.4	56.1	55.8	- 0.3	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	43.0	43.3	43.6	43.9	44.2	0.3	p.p.
Employment growth (%) (IES age 15-64)	1.4	0.0	0.4	0.6	0.7		p.p.
Male	1.0	0.0	0.7	0.5	1.0		p.p.
Female	2.2	1.5	1.4	1.1	2.1		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	8.2	8.2	8.4	9.3	9.4	0.1	p.p.
Male	10.0	10.1	10.2	11.4	11.4	0.0	p.p.
Female	5.9	5.8	5.9	6.7	6.9	0.2	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	13.5	13.2	13.0	13.4	14.0	0.6	p.p.
Male	12.6	12.3	12.1	12.6	13.4	0.8	p.p.
Female	14.6	14.4	14.1	14.4	14.7	0.3	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	17.6	17.7	18.2	19.0	19.8	0.8	p.p.
Male	5.7	6.0	6.2	6.6	7.0	0.4	p.p.
Female	33.3	33.0	33.6	34.8	36.0	1.2	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (narmonised: 15-74)	/.3	7.6	8.0	8. I	16.7	- 0.2	p.p.
Fourig (15-24) Prime age (25-54)	6.4	6.9	7.2	7.4	73	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	6.5	6.2	6.5	6.8	6.4	-03	p.p.
Male	6.1	6.6	7.0	7.2	7.0	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	13.4	14.4	15.6	16.0	16.7	0.7	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	5.4	6.0	6.4	6.6	6.6	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	6.4	6.2	6.6	6.8	6.7	- 0.1	p.p.
Female	8.7	9.0	9.3	9.3	8.9	- 0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	14.9	15.1	15.5	16.4	16.6	0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	7.7	8.0	8.3	8.4	8.2	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	6.5	6.3	6.3	6.8	6.1	- 0.7	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate		10.4	A4 E	40.0	44.0	0.0	
(as % of total unemployment)	: 27 E	40.1	41.5	40.9	41.8	0.9	p.p.
is. worked nours (average actual weekly nours)	37.5	30.8 70.2	30.8 //0.2	30.8 70 5	30.9 10.7	0.5	%0 0/2
Male Fomale	32.6	32.2	40.5	32.0	21 0	-03	/0 0/2
14. Sectoral employment growth	52.0	52.2	32.1	52.0	51.5	0.5	70
Agriculture	- 1.9	- 1.8	- 2.4	:	:		p.p.
Building and construction	1.5	0.4	1.1	:	:		p.p.
Services	2.0	1.5	1.1	:	:		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	- 0.2	- 2.1	- 2.0	- 2.1	- 1.9		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments European Union (15 countries)

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	3.2	2.9	2.9	2.7	2.5	1.6	1.6	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	3.8	4.1	3.3	2.6	2.9	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	2.7	2.4	2.2	1.1	1.7	1.7	0.4	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	0.2	- 0.3	- 0.1	- 0.9	- 0.2	0.0	- 1.0	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	67.6	67.3	67.2	66.7	66.6	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wage	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.5	0.5	0.7	1.6	0.8	- 0.1	1.2	0.9	1.0
Hourly labour productivity	0.9	1.5	1.2	1.6	1.1	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.0	1.1	1.1	2.3	1.5	0.7	1.9	1.6	1.6
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	8.0	7.9	7.8	7.7	7.5	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	1.4	0.5	- 0.5	- 0.2	- 0.8	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
CDR deflator	1.8	2.3	1.8	1.8	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.5
	2.4	2.7	2.5	2.0	1.5	1.7	1.5	1.4	2.2
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	3.1	1.1	2.8	- 8.3	6.0	3.9	5.5	:	:
Industry excluding construction	1.0	0.7	- 0.7	- 1.2	- 0.3	1.7	- 1.0	:	:
of which: manufacturing	1.8	1.5	0.3	- 1.3	- 1.4	:	:	:	:
Construction	2.3	2.8	1.1	2.7	3.7	7.2	2.1	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	1.2	1.4	0.1	1.0	0.9	1.6	0.4	:	:
Finance and business services	3.9	3.0	- 0.4	2.1	1.8	0.9	0.9	:	:
Mon-market-related services	2.5	5.Z	- 0.1	0.5	2.9	1.7	0.4	•	•
	1.5	1.7	- 0.1	0.5	•	1.0	0.4	•	•
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	2.4	2.6	1.0	2.9	2.2	:	:	:	:
Agriculture and fishery	2.8	3.3	0.5	1.5	2.7	2.4	0.9	:	:
Industry excluding construction	1.9	2.6	1.8	3.3	1.9	2.0	2.1	:	:
of which: manufacturing	2.6	2.8	2.8	3.3	2.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	2.2	2.9	1.5	3.5	2.2	0.8	1.4	:	:
Irade, transport and communication	2.4	2.3	0.5	2.6	2.4	1.8	2.0	:	:
Finance and business services	3.4	2.6	0.9	2.8	2.2	1.4	1.6	:	:
Non-market-related services	2.4	5.1	0.9	3.2	2.0	1.7	1.5		
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 0.4	2.2	- 2.2	10.6	- 3.1	- 1.5	- 4.3	- 2.5	- 3.9
Industry excluding construction	0.9	1.8	2.6	4.6	2.2	0.3	3.1	2.4	3.0
of which: manufacturing	0.9	1.3	2.5	4.6	4.2	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 0.1	0.1	0.4	0.8	- 1.4	- 5.9	- 0.7	0.2	0.5
Trade, transport and communication	1.2	0.8	0.4	1.6	1.5	0.2	1.6	2.0	2.2
Finance and business services	- 0.5	- 0.4	1.2	0.7	0.4	0.5	0.8	0.3	0.0
Non-market-related services	0.1	- 0.1	- 0.9	0.1	- 0.2	0.0	0.1	- 0.6	- 0.3
ואפו אבניי כומוכע זכנוטוז	0.7	0.0	1.2	2.4	1.0	- 0.2	1.4	1.4	1.5

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

Work status of persons Euro-zone

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 (¹)	Changes 2004-05 (1)	in
1. Population (total) 1 000 pers.	300 721	302 362	303 907	305 264	307 330	0.7	%
2. Population (working age: 15-64)	202 236	202 977	203 830	204 182	205 671	0.7	%
as % of total population	67.3	67.1	67.1	66.9	66.9	0.0	p.p.
3. Labour force (15-64) 1 000 pers.	136 510	138 253	140 042	141 183	143 536	1.7	%
Male	77 985	78 619	79 202	79 431	80 442	1.3	%
Female	58 525	59 634	60 840	61 753	63 094	2.2	%
4. Activity rate (as % of population 15-64)	67.5	68.1	68.7	69.1	69.8	0.6	p.p.
Young (15-24)	43.9	44.1	43.9	44.0	44.0	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	81.8	82.4	82.9	83.3	83.7	0.4	p.p.
Older (55-64)	37.5	38.8	40.6	41.6	43.5	2.0	p.p.
Male	77.1	77.4	77.7	77.8	78.2	0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	47.6	47.9	47.4	47.6	47.8	0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	92.7	92.7	92.7	92.7	92.8	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	48.4	49.8	51.5	52.3	53.5	1.1	p.p.
Female	57.9	58.8	59.7	60.5	61.4	0.9	p.p.
Young (15-24)	40.3	40.3	40.2	40.2	40.2	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	70.9	72.0	73.0	73.9	74.5	0.6	p.p.
Older (55-64)	27.0	28.2	30.1	31.3	34.0	2.7	p.p.
5. Employment rate (as % of population 15-64)	62.0	62.4	62.5	62.7	63.4	0.7	p.p.
Young (15-24)	37.2	37.1	36.5	36.2	36.2	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	76.0	76.2	76.3	76.5	76.9	0.5	p.p.
Older (55-64)	34.7	36.1	37.5	38.3	40.2	1.9	p.p.
Male	71.9	71.8	71.5	71.3	71.7	0.4	p.p.
Young (15-24)	40.9	40.7	39.7	39.4	39.5	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	87.3	86.8	86.3	86.0	86.2	0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	45.0	46.5	47.8	48.4	49.4	1.0	p.p.
Female	52.2	52.9	53.6	54.2	55.2	1.0	p.p.
Young (15-24)	33.4	33.3	33.2	32.8	32.9	0.1	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	64.7	65.5	66.1	66.9	67.6	0.7	p.p.
Older (55-64)	24.8	26.0	27.7	28.6	31.4	2.8	p.p.
6. Employed persons (age 15-64, 1 000 pers.)	125 469	126 558	127 479	128 082	130 475	2 393	Th.
Male (as % of total)	57.9	57.6	57.2	56.8	56.5	- 0.3	p.p.
Female (as % of total)	42.1	42.4	42.8	43.2	43.5	0.3	p.p.
7. Employment growth (%) (national accounts)	1.5	0.7	0.3	0.6	0.7		p.p.
Employment growth (%) (LFS, age 15-64)	5.1	0.9	0.7	0.5	1.9		p.p.
Male	4.9	0.3	0.0	- 0.1	1.3		p.p.
Female	5.4	1.7	1.7	1.2	2.6		p.p.
8. Self employed (% of total employment)	8.4	8.3	8.4	9.6	9.7	0.1	p.p.
Male	9.9	9.9	10.0	11.4	11.4	0.0	p.p.
Female	6.2	6.2	6.2	7.2	7.4	0.2	p.p.
9. Temporary employment (as % total)	15.1	14.8	14.6	15.2	15.9	0.7	p.p.
Male	14.1	13.8	13.6	14.2	15.2	1.0	p.p.
Female	16.3	16.2	15.8	16.3	16.8	0.5	p.p.
10. Part-time (as % of total employment)	16.0	16.1	16.5	17.4	18.6	1.2	p.p.
Male	5.1	5.3	5.4	5.8	6.3	0.6	p.p.
Female	30.9	30.8	31.3	32.8	34.6	1.8	p.p.
11. Unemployment rate (harmonised: 15-74)	7.9	8.3	8.7	8.9	8.6	- 0.3	p.p.
Young (15-24)	15.3	16.0	16.8	17.8	17.8	0.0	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	7.1	7.5	8.0	8.2	8.1	- 0.2	p.p.
Older (55-64)	7.5	7.1	7.5	7.9	7.6	- 0.3	p.p.
Male	6.3	6.9	7.4	7.6	7.4	- 0.2	p.p.
Young (15-24)	13.9	14.9	16.4	17.2	17.4	0.2	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	5.8	6.3	6.9	7.2	7.1	- 0.1	p.p.
Older (55-64)	7.1	6.7	7.3	7.6	7.6	0.0	p.p.
Female	9.9	10.1	10.5	10.5	10.0	- 0.5	p.p.
Young (15-24)	16.9	17.2	17.4	18.5	18.3	- 0.3	p.p.
Prime age (25-54)	8.8	9.0	9.4	9.5	9.2	- 0.3	p.p.
Older (55-64)	8.3	7.7	7.9	8.5	7.6	- 0.9	p.p.
12. Long-term unemployment rate							
(as % of total unemployment)	:	42.8	44.3	43.7	44.9	1.2	p.p.
13. Worked hours (average actual weekly hours)	37.9	37.1	37.2	37.3	37.3	0.0	%
Male	41.2	40.2	40.4	40.7	41.0	0.7	%
Female	33.3	32.7	32.8	32.6	32.4	- 0.6	%
14. Sectoral employment growth							
Agriculture	– 1.3	- 1.4	- 2.1	:	:		p.p.
Building and construction	1.6	0.4	0.8	:	:		p.p.
Services	2.1	1.4	1.0	:	:		p.p.
Manufacturing industry	0.4	- 1.5	- 1.5	- 1.8	- 1.6		p.p.

(¹) 2005: preliminary figures.

Indicator board on wage developments Euro-zone

	Annual % change								
	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	05-Q1	05-Q2	05-Q3	05-Q4
Different measures of wage/labour costs:									
Compensation per employee	2.8	2.8	2.5	2.3	1.9	1.3	1.4	:	:
Compensation of employees per hour worked	3.5	3.9	2.9	2.2	2.4	:	:	:	:
Hourly labour costs (Eurostat labour cost index)	3.9	3.5	3.1	2.4	2.4	2.7	2.6	2.3	2.3
Negotiated wages (euro area only)	2.6	2.7	2.4	2.2	:	2.2	:	:	:
Nominal unit labour costs	2.3	2.5	2.0	0.9	1.3	1.8	0.4	:	:
Real unit labour costs deflated by GDP deflator	- 0.1	- 0.2	- 0.2	- 1.1	- 0.7	- 0.2	– 1.3	:	:
Wages and salaries	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Compensation per employee adjusted by total factor productivity	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Adjusted wage share (% of GDP at current market prices)	65.8	65.6	65.5	64.9	64.7	:	:	:	:
Structure of labour costs									
Share of indirect costs in total labour costs	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Total wage (as % of total labour costs) ANNUAL	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Direct remuneration and bonuses (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Employers' social security contributions (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Other indirect costs (as % of total labour costs)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Memo items: determinants or benchmarks according to which wag	e develo	pments	can be a	ssessed					
Labour productivity (GDP/person employed)	0.4	0.3	0.4	1.5	0.7	- 0.4	1.0	0.7	0.6
Hourly labour productivity	0.9	1.3	0.9	1.3	0.9	:	:	:	:
GDP	2.0	0.9	0.8	2.1	1.3	0.5	1.9	1.4	1.4
ECFIN NAIRU estimate	8.6	8.5	8.5	8.4	8.3	:	:	:	:
Output gap (%)	1.6	0.6	- 0.5	- 0.3	- 0.9	:	:	:	:
Headline inflation (harmonised consumer price index 1996 = 100)	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Underlying inflation (excluding energy and unprocessed food)	1.9	2.5	2.0	2.1	1.5	1.7	1.5	1.4	1.5
GDP deflator	2.5	2.7	2.2	2.0	2.0	2.0	1.7	1.7	2.1
Sectoral breakdown of unit labour costs									
Agriculture and fishery	7.1	1.7	3.9	- 10.1	5.3	2.9	5.2	:	:
Industry excluding construction	1.8	1.0	0.8	- 1.3	- 0.4	1.6	-1.5	:	:
of which: manufacturing	1.8	1.4	0.4	- 1.0	- 1.8	:	:	:	:
Construction	1.5	2.9	2.3	1.9	3.1	6.8	1.5	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	1.5	1.7	1.9	0.4	0.6	1.7	0.1	:	:
Finance and business services	3.8	2.9	1.6	1.7	1.8	1.4	1.6	:	:
Non-market-related services	3.0	3.3	3.1	1.9	2.4	1.8	1.4	:	:
Market-related sectors	3.0	1.8	1.7	- 0.1	:	1.8	0.2	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of compensation per employee									
Total industries	1.9	2.5	2.3	2.1	1.9	:	:	:	:
Agriculture and fishery	0.4	2.8	0.9	0.8	1.7	1.7	0.6	:	:
Industry excluding construction	1.4	2.4	3.0	3.0	1.9	1.9	2.3	:	:
of which: manufacturing	2.5	2.5	2.4	3.3	2.5	:	:	:	:
Construction	0.8	2.2	1.4	2.4	1.6	0.6	1.3	:	:
Trade, transport and communication	1.8	2.2	1.8	1.7	2.1	1.8	1.9	:	:
Finance and business services	2.7	2.5	2.4	1.9	1.9	1.4	2.1	:	:
Non-market-related services	2.2	3.1	2.5	2.2	2.0	1.4	1.1	:	:
Sectoral breakdown of labour productivity									
Agriculture and fishery	- 6.3	1.1	- 2.9	12.1	- 3.4	- 1.2	- 4.4	- 2.8	- 4.6
Industry excluding construction	- 0.3	1.4	2.2	4.4	2.3	0.4	3.8	2.4	2.7
of which: manufacturing	0.6	1.1	2.1	4.3	4.4	:	:	:	:
Construction	- 0.6	- 0.7	- 0.9	0.5	- 1.5	- 5.9	- 0.2	0.2	- 0.4
Trade, transport and communication	0.2	0.5	- 0.2	1.3	1.5	0.1	1.7	2.1	1.9
Finance and business services	- 1.1	- 0.4	0.7	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.4	- 0.1	- 0.2
Non-market-related services	- 0.8	- 0.1	- 0.6	0.2	- 0.4	- 0.3	- 0.3	- 0.6	- 0.2
Market-related sectors	- 0.8	0.6	0.7	2.2	0.9	- 0.3	1.6	1.3	1.1

NB: Available on an annual basis only.

List of contents of European Economy

Basic editions

1, November 1978

- Annual Economic Report 1978–79
- Annual Economic Review 1978–79

2, March 1979

 European monetary system

 Texts of the European Council of 4 and 5 December 1978

3, July 1979

- Short-term economic trends and prospects
- The European monetary system
 - Commentary
 - Documents

4, November 1979

- Annual Economic Report 1979-80
- Annual Economic Review 1979–80

5, March 1980

- Short-term economic trends and prospects
- Adaptation of working time

6, July 1980

• Short-term economic trends and prospects — Borrowing and lending instruments looked at in the context of the Community's financial instruments

7, November 1980

- Annual Economic Report 1980–81
- Annual Economic Review 1980–81

8, March 1981

• Economic trends and prospects — The Community's borrowing and lending operations recent developments

9, July 1981

• Fifth medium-term economic policy programme — The main medium-term issues: an analysis

10, November 1981

- Annual Economic Report 1981-82
- Annual Economic Review 1981–82

11, March 1982

• Economic trends and prospects — Unit labour costs in manufacturing industry and in the whole economy

12, July 1982

 Documents relating to the European monetary system

13, September 1982

• The borrowing and lending activities of the Community in 1981

14, November 1982

- Annual Economic Report 1982-83
- Annual Economic Review 1982-83

15, March 1983

• Economic trends and prospects — Budgetary systems and procedures — Industrial labour costs — Greek capital markets

16, July 1983

 Business investment and the tax and financial environment — Energy and the economy: a study of the main relationships in the countries of the European Community — The foreign trade of the Community, the United States and Japan

17, September 1983

• The borrowing and lending activities of the Community in 1982

18, November 1983

- Annual Economic Report 1983-84
- Annual Economic Review 1983–84

19, March 1984

 Economic trends and prospects — Industrial labour costs — Medium-term budget balance and the public debt — The issue of protectionism

20, July 1984

 Some aspects of industrial productive performance in the European Community: an appraisal — Profitability, relative factor prices and capital/labour substitution in the Community, the United States and Japan, 1960–83 — Convergence and coordination of macroeconomic policies: some basic issues

21, September 1984

• Commission report to the Council and to Parliament on the borrowing and lending activities of the Community in 1983

22, November 1984

- Annual Economic Report 1984-85
- Annual Economic Review 1984–85

23, March 1985

• Economic trends and prospects 1984–85

24, July 1985

• The borrowing and lending activities of the Community in 1984

25, September 1985

 Competitiveness of European industry: situation to date — The determination of supply in industry in the Community — The development of market services in the European Community, the United States and Japan — Technical progress, structural change and employment

26, November 1985

- Annual Economic Report 1985-86
- Annual Economic Review 1985-86

27, March 1986

 Employment problems: views of businessmen and the workforce — Compact — A prototype macroeconomic model of the European Community in the world economy

28, May 1986

• Commission report to the Council and to Parliament on the borrowing and lending activities of the Community in 1985

29, July 1986

• Annual Economic Review 1986–87

30, November 1986

• Annual Economic Report 1986-87

31, March 1987

• The determinants of investment — Estimation and simulation of international trade linkages in the Quest model

32, May 1987

• Commission report to the Council and to Parliament on the borrowing and lending activities of the Community in 1986

33, July 1987

• The economy outlook for 1988 and budgetary policy in the Member States — Economic trends in the Community and Member States

34, November 1987

• Annual Economic Report 1987-88

35, March 1988

• The economics of 1992

36, May 1988

• Creation of a European financial area

37, July 1988

• Commission report to the Council and to Parliament on the borrowing and lending activities in the Community in 1987

38, November 1988

• Annual Economic Report 1988–89

39, March 1989

• International trade of the European Community

40, May 1989

• Horizontal mergers and competition policy in the European Community

41, July 1989

• The borrowing and lending activities of the Community in 1988 — Economic convergence in the Community: a greater effort is needed

42, November 1989

• Annual Economic Report 1989–90

43, March 1990

• Economic transformation in Hungary and Poland

44, October 1990

• One market, one money

45, December 1990

• Stabilisation, liberalisation and devolution

46, December 1990

• Annual Economic Report 1990–91

47, March 1991

 Developments on the labour-market in the Community — Quest — A macroeconomic model for the countries of the European Community as part of the world economy

48, September 1991

• Fair competition in the international market: Community State aid policy — The ecu and its role in the process towards monetary union

49, 1993

• Reform issues in the former Soviet Union

50, December 1991

• Annual Economic Report 1991–92

51, May 1992

• The climate challenge: Economic aspects of the Community's strategy for limiting CO₂ emissions

52, 1993

• The European Community as a world trade partner

53, 1993

• Stable money — sound finances: Community public finance in the perspective of EMU

54, 1993

• Annual Economic Report for 1993

55, 1993

 Broad economic policy guidelines and convergence report

56, 1994

Annual Economic Report for 1994

57, 1994

• Competition and integration — Community merger control policy

58, 1994

• 1994 broad economic policy guidelines — Report on the implementation of macrofinancial assistance to third countries

59, 1995

• Annual Economic Report for 1995

60, 1995

• 1995 broad economic policy guidelines

61, 1996

• Annual Economic Report for 1996

62, 1996

• 1996 broad economic policy guidelines

63, 1997

• Annual Economic Report for 1997

64, 1997

• 1997 broad economic policy guidelines

65, 1998

 Commission's recommendation concerning the third stage of economic and monetary union — Convergence report 1998 — Growth and employment in the stability-oriented framework of EMU

66, 1998

• 1998 broad economic policy guidelines

67, 1999

• 1999 Annual Economic Report

68, 1999

• 1999 broad economic policy guidelines

69, 1999

• The EU economy: 1999 review

70, 2000

 2000 broad economic policy guidelines — Convergence report 2000 — Proposal for a Council decision for the adoption by Greece of the single currency on 1 January 2001

71, 2000

• The EU economy: 2000 review

72, 2001

• 2001 broad economic policy guidelines

73, 2001

• The EU economy: 2001 review Investing in the future

Reports and studies

1-1993

• The economic and financial situation in Italy

2-1993

• Shaping a market economy legal system

3-1993

• Market services and European integration: the challenges for the 1990s

4-1993

• The economic and financial situation in Belgium

5-1993

• The economics of Community public finance

6-1993

• The economic and financial situation in Denmark

1-1994

• Applying market principles to government borrowing — Growth and employment: the scope for a European initiative

2-1994

• The economic and financial situation in Germany

3-1994

• Towards greater fiscal discipline

4-1994

• EC agricultural policy for the 21st century

5-1994

• The economics of the common agricultural policy (CAP)

6-1994

• The economic interpretation between the EU and eastern Europe

7-1994

• The economic and financial situation in Spain

1-1995

• The economic and financial situation in the Netherlands

2-1995

• Report on the implementation of macrofinancial assistance to the third countries in 1994

3-1995

• Performance of the European Union labour market

4-1995

• The impact of exchange-rate movements on trade within the single market

1-1996

• The economic and financial situation in Ireland. Ireland in the transition to EMU

2-1996

• The CAP and enlargement — Economic effects of the compensatory payments

3-1996

• Ageing and pension expenditure prospects in the western world

4-1996

• Economic evaluation of the internal market

1-1997

• The economic and financial situation in Portugal in the transition to EMU

2-1997

• The CAP and enlargement — Agrifood price developments in five associated countries

3-1997

• The European Union as a world trade partner

4-1997

• The welfare state in Europe — Challenges and reforms

5-1997

• Towards a common agricultural and rural policy for Europe

6-1997

• The joint harmonised EU programme of business and consumer surveys

1-1998

• Getting environmental policy right — The rational design of European environmental policy

2-1998

• The economic and financial situation in Austria

3-1998

• Income benefits for early exit from the labour market in eight European countries — A comparative study

1-1999

• The economic and financial situation in Finland

2-1999

• Income insurance in European agriculture

3-1999

• State aid and the single market

4-1999

• Liberalisation of network industries

5-1999

• Italy's slow growth in the 1990s

6-1999

• Generational accounting in Europe

1-2000

• The report on the implementation of the 1999 broad economic policy guidelines

2-2000

• Public debt and fiscal policy in EMU

3-2000

• Public finances in EMU - 2000

4-2000

• Performance of the European Union labour market — Joint harmonised EU programme of business and consumer surveys

1-2001

• Current issues in economic growth

2-2001

• Report on the implementation of the 2000 broad economic policy guidelines

3-2001

• Public finances in EMU — 2001

4-2001

• The budgetary challenges posed by ageing populations

5-2001

• The efficiency defence and the European system of merger control

Special editions

Special issue 1979

 Changes in industrial structure in the European economies since the oil crisis 1973–78 — Europe — its capacity to change in question

Special edition 1990

• The impact of the internal market by industrial sector: the challenge for the Member States

Special edition No 1/91

• The economics of EMU

Special edition No 2/91

• The path of reform in central and eastern Europe

Special edition No 1/92

• The economics of limiting CO₂ emissions

New numbering

2002

1-2002

• Report on the implementation of the 2001 broad economic policy guidelines

2-2002

• Economic forecasts — Spring 2002

3-2002

• Public finances in EMU — 2002

4-2002

• 2002 broad economic policy guidelines

5-2002

• Economic forecasts — Autumn 2002

6-2002

• The EU economy: 2002 review

Special Report No 1/2002

• Responses to the challenges of globalisation

Special Report No 2/2002

• European integration and the functioning of product markets

<u>2003</u>

1-2003

• Report on the implementation of the 2002 broad economic policy guidelines

2-2003

• Economic forecasts — Spring 2003

3-2003

• Public finances in EMU — 2003

4-2003

• Broad economic policy guidelines (for the 2003–05 period)

5-2003

• Economic forecasts — Autumn 2003

6-2003

• The EU economy: 2003 review

2004

1-2004

• Report on the implementation of the 2003–05 broad economic policy guidelines

2-2004

• Economic forecasts — Spring 2004

3-2004

• Public finances in EMU — 2004

4-2004

• The 2004 update of the broad economic policy guidelines (for the 2003–05 period)

5-2004

• Economic forecasts — Autumn 2004

6-2004

• The EU economy: 2004 review

Special Report No 1/2004

• EMU after five years

Special Report No 2/2004

• Convergence report 2004

Special Report No 3/2004

• Quality and efficiency in education

2005

1-2005

• Second report on the implementation of the 2003–05 broad economic policy guidelines

2-2005

• Economic forecasts — Spring 2005

3-2005

• Public finances in EMU — 2005

4-2005

• The broad economic policy guidelines (for the 2005–08 period)

5-2005

Economic forecasts — Autumn 2005

6-2005

• The EU economy: 2005 review

Special Report No 1/2005

• The contribution of wage developments to labour market performance

Special Report No 2/2005

· Indicators and policies to make work pay

Special Report No 3/2005

• Labour market and wage developments in 2004 with special focus on the risk of jobless growth

Special Report No 4/2005

• Ageing populations: underlying assumptions and projection methodologies to be used in the agerelated expenditure projections for EU-25 Member States (2004–50)

2006

Special Report No 1/2006

• The impact of ageing on public expenditure: projections for the EU-25 Member States on pensions, healthcare, long-term care, education and unemployment transfers (2004–50)

Special Report No 2/2006

- 2006 Convergence report on Lithuania
- 2006 Convergence report on Slovenia

Special Report No 3/2006

• Annual report on the euro area

Special Report No 4/2006

• Labour market and wage developments in 2005, with special focus on labour market adjustment in the euro area

2-2006

• Economic forecasts — Spring 2006

3-2006

• Public finances in EMU — 2006

5-2006

• Economic forecasts — Autumn 2006
Office des publications officielles des Communautés européennes

L-2985 Luxembourg

Office des publications officielles des Communautés européennes

L-2985 Luxembourg

Want to keep track of the European Union's activities?

On the Internet, consult the *Bulletin of the European Union*, the source of information on the Union's activities.

The *Bulletin of the European Union* provides a monthly insight into the activities of the European Commission and of the other Community institutions. It is published by the Secretariat-General of the Commission and appears 10 times a year in French, English and German. The Bulletin is supplemented by the *General Report on the Activities of the European Union*, which provides an overview of the activities of the previous year.

SALES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

Publications for sale produced by the Office for Official Publications of the European Communities are available from our sales agents throughout the world.

You can find the list of sales agents on the Publications Office website (http://publications.europa.eu) or you can apply for it by fax (352) 29 29-42758.

Contact the sales agent of your choice and place your order.

KC-AF-06-004-EN-C

Price (excluding VAT) in Luxembourg: EUR 50

European Economy (6 issues minimum per year): EUR 150 The annual subscription runs from 1 January to 31 December of each year. Payments to be made only to sales agents on the list (see inside back cover for details). These are surface mail rates; for air subscription rates please apply to the sales offices.

http://europa.eu/comm/economy_finance



Publications Office Publications.europa.eu

